HEALTH OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE
Wednesday, 29th January, 2020

10.45 am

Council Chamber, Sessions House, County Hall,
Maidstone

\_ /

Kent

County
Council

kent.gov.uk







Council

kent.gov.uk

AGENDA

HEALTH OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

Wednesday, 29th January, 2020, at 10.45 Ask for: Kay Goldsmith
am

Council Chamber, Sessions House, County Telephone: 03000 416512
Hall, Maidstone

Teal/coffee will be available 15 minutes before the start of the meeting
Membership

Conservative (11): Mr P Bartlett (Vice-Chairman), Mrs P M Beresford,
Mr A H T Bowles, Mr N J D Chard, Mrs L Game, Ms S Hamilton,
Mr P W A Lake, Ms D Marsh, Mr K Pugh and Mr | Thomas

Liberal Democrat (1) Mr D S Daley
Labour (1): Ms K Constantine

District/Borough Councillor C Mackonochie, Councillor J Howes, Councillor M
Representatives (4): Rhodes and Councillor P Rolfe

Webcasting Notice

Please note: this meeting may be filmed for the live or subsequent broadcast via the
Council’s internet site or by any member of the public or press present. The Chair will
confirm if all or part of the meeting is to be filmed by the Council.

By entering into this room you are consenting to being filmed. If you do not wish to have
your image captured please let the Clerk know immediately.

UNRESTRICTED ITEMS
(During these items the meeting is likely to be open to the public)

Item Timings*
1. Substitutes

2. Declarations of Interests by Members in items on the Agenda for this
meeting.

3. Minutes from the meeting held on 16 December 2019 (Pages 1 - 6)



4. NHS North Kent CCGs - Urgent Care Review Programme - Dartford,
Gravesham and Swanley CCG (Pages 7 - 228)

5. Wheelchair Services in Kent (Pages 229 - 252)

6. Procurement of Kent and Medway Neurodevelopmental Health Service
for Adults (Pages 253 - 278)

7.  Strategic Commissioner Update (Pages 279 - 338)
8. CCG Annual Assessment (Written Update) (Pages 339 - 354)

9. General Surgery reconfiguration at Maidstone and Tunbridge Wells
NHS Trust (Pages 355 - 370)

10. Proposed changes at Moorfields Eye Hospital (written update) (Pages
371 - 388)

11. Work Programme (Pages 389 - 394)

12. Date of next programmed meeting — Thursday 5 March 2020 at 10am

EXEMPT ITEMS

(At the time of preparing the agenda there were no exempt items. During any such items
which may arise the meeting is likely NOT to be open to the public)

*Timings are approximate

Benjamin Watts
General Counsel
03000 416814

21 January 2020
Please note that any background documents referred to in the accompanying papers

maybe inspected by arrangement with the officer responsible for preparing the relevant
report.



Agenda Item 3

KENT COUNTY COUNCIL

HEALTH OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

MINUTES of a meeting of the Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee held in the
Council Chamber, Sessions House, County Hall, Maidstone on Monday,
16 December 2019.

PRESENT: Mr P Bartlett  (Chairman), Mr A H T Bowles, Mr N J D Chard,
Ms K Constantine, Mr D S Daley, MrsL Game, MrP W A Lake, Ms D Marsh,
Mr K Pugh  (Vice-Chairman), Mr | Thomas,  Cllr J Howes, Clir M Rhodes,
Mr B J Sweetland and Mr A M Ridgers

ALSO PRESENT: Mr S Inett, Clir R Diment and Clir A Downing

IN ATTENDANCE: Mrs K Goldsmith (Research Officer - Overview and Scrutiny) and
Dr A Duggal (Deputy Director of Public Health)

UNRESTRICTED ITEMS

1. Membership
(Item 1)

The Clerk informed the Committee that Mrs Chandler was no longer a Member of the
Committee.

2. Election of Chairman
(Item 3)

1) Mr Chard nominated Mr Bartlett. He was seconded by Mr Pugh. There were
no further nominations.

2) RESOLVED that Mr Bartlett be elected Chair of HOSC.

3. Urgent item: Election of Vice-Chair
(Item 4)

1) As a result of Mr Bartlett being elected to the position of Chair, the Chair
agreed that this urgent item be added to the Agenda.

2) Mr Bartlett nominated Mr Pugh. He was seconded by Mr Chard. There were
no further nominations.

3) RESOLVED that Mr Pugh be elected Vice-Chair of HOSC.
4. Declarations of Interests by Members in items on the Agenda for this
meeting.

(Item 5)

Mr Chard declared a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest as a Director of Engaging Kent.

Page 1



5.

Minutes from the meeting held on 19 September 2019

(Item 6)

RESOLVED that the Committee agreed that the minutes from 19 September 2019
were correctly recorded, and that they be signed by the Chair.

6. North Kent CCGs - Urgent Care Review Programme - Dartford, Gravesham
and Swanley CCG

(Item 7)

1) The Chair welcomed Clir Downing and ClIr Diment from Bexley Council. They

2)

3)

4)

5)

6)

7)

had been invited to attend and participate in the meeting because the Bexley
health scrutiny committee had deemed the DGS CCG (Dartford, Gravesham
and Swanley Clinical Commissioning Group) urgent care proposals to be a
substantial variation of service for their residents. This would be the final
opportunity to have their views taken into consideration in the CCG’s Decision-
Making Business Case.

Kent County Council’s full Council would be considering an item at its meeting
on 17 December 2019 on the establishment of a Kent and Bexley Joint Health
Overview and Scrutiny Committee (JHOSC). The JHOSC would then consider
the CCG Governing Body’s decision in late January.

Dr MacDermott and Ms Adler introduced the item and provided a summary,
making especial reference to the public consultation that had taken place. The
CCG had received almost 16,500 responses to the survey, many of which
were received in the final 72 hours.

The public consultation demonstrated a preference for option 1 (an Urgent
Treatment Centre (UTC) at Gravesham Community Hospital). Option 2 was for
a UTC at Darent Valley Hospital.

Consistent themes throughout the consultation related to ease of access,
namely: proximity to site; amount of traffic; and parking availability. It was also
clear that communication would be needed with whichever option was chosen,
to ensure members of the public knew where to go with different medical
needs.

Ms Adler explained that the next steps would be for the CCG Governing Body
to consider the Decision-Making Business Case on 16 January 2020 and
make their final decision (the exact timing would be confirmed and circulated
to Members of the Committee). That decision would be communicated with the
Bexley and Kent JHOSC in late January. There was a hope that the new
urgent care model would be in place from July 2020.

Clir Diment explained that Bexley’s concerns were around the cross-boundary
movement of patients as a result of any change to current services. If option 1
were implemented, he was concerned that residents in the east of the county
would use the UTC at the Queen Mary’s Hospital in Bexley, which was already
very busy.

Page 2



8)

9)

10)

11)

12)

13)

14)

Ms Adler explained that the CCG had hoped to carry out some intensive work
within the Bexley boundary in order to better understand how people access
healthcare services and what the impact may be on Bexley services should a
Kent service close or relocate. Unfortunately, it had not been possible to do
that work before the end of the public consultation. The CCG were however
carrying out survey work at Bexley health services on 16 and 17 December as
well as in the new year. The information gathered would feed into the
Decision-Making Business Case.

The CCG had analysed what had happened in the past when Darent Valley
Hospital had been under pressure and there was no correlation with those
patients travelling west to access Bexley services. Dr MacDermott stated that
residents in West Kent tended to go south to the Sevenoaks Community
Hospital.

In response to the question about patient flow, it was clarified that Medway
Council had not deemed the changes to be a substantial variation of service
for their residents. They were not therefore involved in the JHOSC
arrangements for this issue.

Both options 1 and 2 would see the closure of the White Horse walk-in centre
(at Fleet Health Campus). Dr Sewell explained that the contract had expired,
and an interim 1-year contract was currently in place. That would expire in
June 2020. There was no intention to close Fleet Health Campus. Other
services were currently available at the site and would continue to be so.

Members questioned what would happen in the interim between the walk-in
clinic closing and the new UTC model being implemented. Dr Sewell explained
the walk-in centre could easily be relocated to Gravesham Community
Hospital, and there was room within the Minor Injuries Unit there. There would
however be additional patients at the Hospital. The challenge was for GPs to
see more patients in order to reduce the demand on the walk-in centre.

Dr Sullivan, local member for Northfleet and Gravesend West, addressed the
Committee. She felt that the walk-in centre had had a positive impact on the
local community. She was concerned around access issues, especially when
Northfleet became gridlocked, as it often did. The upcoming Ebbsfleet
development would also see an increase in population, and additional health
care services would be needed to meet their needs. She argued that the
correct infrastructure must be in place before any changes were made. She
reiterated the public preference for option 1 (as demonstrated in the public
consultation).

Dr MacDermott agreed that access to healthcare services was vital. There
were several workstreams underway, including the expansion of 111 services
and expanding access to GPs. It was accepted that transport and accessibility
were real issues. For example, in Gravesend Rural there were no bus
connections to Gravesend on Sundays or Bank Holidays. The lack of
accessibility was a wider issue and had to be addressed by many
organisations.

Page 3



15)

16)

17)

7.

Ms Adler explained that there been no final decision made yet in relation to the
urgent care options, but that the preferred model would take into account all
the information gathered during consultation exercises. The UTC model was
recognised and supported by NHS England.

The Chairman thanked the guests for attending the Committee, and their work
on the public consultation. He summarised the Committee’s views for inclusion
in the final Decision-Making Business Case document.

RESOLVED that the report be noted and asks that DGS CCG take the
following views into account in their Decision-Making Business Case.

The Committee highlighted:

e concern around parking and public transport

e questions as to whether the solution would properly accommodate the
rapid recent and future growth of Ebbsfleet and North Bexley

e concerns as to whether there were adequate staffing levels and

provision of consultants at the proposed sites

access to wider services at Darent Valley Hospital

the need to retain walk in GP services

the wider impact on both Erith and Queen Mary Hospitals in Bexley

it had noted the preference for option 1 from the public consultation

Dermatology Services update

(Item 8)

1)

2)

3)

4)

Mr Jeffery began by highlighting four brief points:

a. DMC Healthcare took over the running of Dermatology Services from
Medway Foundation Trust (MFT) in April 2019. The previous service
had been failing and needed significant work put into it.

b. The initial backlog focus had been on cancer services and cancer
patients, and this appeared to have been sorted.

C. The second focus was on dealing with the backlog transferred from
MFT, which had also been rectified.

d. The final focus was on the waiting times being experienced by current
patients which the CCG recognised were too high.

A Member asked what the Tele-Dermatology app was, as referred to on page
30 of the agenda. Mr Jeffery explained that it was a smart phone application
that allowed nursing staff to photograph skin and share that with consultants in
order to reduce waiting times.

Mr Inett explained that Healthwatch Kent had not received any feedback about
the service since July. There had been a recent public engagement event with
DMC Healthcare that had been well received.

Mr Inett and Mr Jeffery agreed that March 2020 was a realistic timeframe for
the Service to have stabilised. At that time, Healthwatch Kent and Healthwatch
Medway would undertake a piece of work to evaluate the Service, and Mr Inett
offered to bring this to HOSC once complete (likely in summer 2020).

Page 4



5) RESOLVED that the report be noted, and Medway CCG return to HOSC after
summer 2020 with an update on performance, accompanied by the service
evaluation by Healthwatch Kent and Healthwatch Medway.

8. Re-commissioning of Community Dental Care (written update)
(Item 9)

RESOLVED that the response from NHS England South East be noted.

9. Work Programme
(Item 10)

1) The Chair confirmed that the SECAmb item in March will include an update on
111 Services.

2) Mr Thomas requested that pharmacy services within hospitals be looked into
(in relation to the time taken to dispense drugs to those who have been
discharged but still occupy space in a ward whilst they wait for those drugs).
The Chair suggested asking relevant acute Trusts this question when they
attended HOSC for other items.

3) Mr Inett requested that Healthwatch Kent be involved in the Wheelchair
Services item on 29 January, which the Chair agreed to.

4) RESOLVED that the work programme be noted.

10. Future meeting dates
(Item 11)

RESOLVED that the future meeting dates be noted.

11. Date of next programmed meeting — Wednesday 29 January 2020
(Item 12)

Page 5



This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda Item 4
Item 4: Urgent Care Review Programme — Dartford, Gravesham & Swanley

By: Kay Goldsmith, Scrutiny Research Officer
To: Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee, 29 January 2020

Subject: North Kent CCGs: Urgent Care Review Programme - Dartford,
Gravesham and Swanley CCG

Summary: This has been deemed a substantial variation of service by both
Kent HOSC and Bexley Council’s COSC.

This report invites the Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee to
consider the information provided by NHS Dartford, Gravesham and
Swanley.

It provides background information which may prove useful to Members.

1) Introduction

a) Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley Clinical Commissioning Group (DGS
CCG) made the Kent HOSC aware of their Urgent Care Review programme in
2014. In line with NHS England requirements, the CCG proposes to bring
urgent care services, currently located across a number of sites, together
under a single Urgent Treatment Centre (UTC) model of care.

b) A public consultation ran from 12 August to 4 November 2019. The proposals
as presented were to create a new UTC at either Gravesham Community
Hospital or Darent Valley Hospital by autumn 2020.

2) Previous monitoring by HOSC

a) The Kent HOSC has received regular updates from DGS CCG on its Urgent
Care Review programme since 2014. The Committee determined that the
proposed changes amounted to a substantial variation to the local health
service in January 2019.

b) Bexley Council's Communities Overview and Scrutiny Committee (COSC)
also deemed the proposed changes to be a substantial variation to health
services for residents of Bexley.

c) In line with health scrutiny legislation, Kent County Council and Bexley
Council formed a joint health overview and scrutiny committee (JHOSC) for
the purpose of health scrutiny consultation with DGS CCG.

d) Due to timescales, the Kent HOSC received a report from DGS CCG on the
outcome of the public consultation at its meeting on 16 December 2019. Two
Councillors from Bexley Council also attended and contributed to the

Page 7



Item 4: Urgent Care Review Programme — Dartford, Gravesham & Swanley

discussion. That meeting was the final opportunity for Kent and Bexley
Councillors to have their views fed into the CCG’s Decision-Making Business
Case prior to the NHS making a decision

e) Following its discussion on the 16 December, the Committee resolved:

f)

...that the report be noted and asks that DGS CCG take the following
views into account in their Decision-Making Business Case.

The Committee highlighted:

e concern around parking and public transport

e questions as to whether the solution would properly accommodate the
rapid recent and future growth of Ebbsfleet and North Bexley

e concerns as to whether there were adequate staffing levels and
provision of consultants at the proposed sites

e access to wider services at Darent Valley Hospital

e the need to retain walk in GP services

e the wider impact on both Erith and Queen Mary Hospitals in Bexley

e it had noted the preference for option 1 from the public consultation

The CCG Governing Body considered the Decision-Making Business Case on
16 January 2020 and made their final decision.

g) Immediately prior to this HOSC meeting on 29 January 2020, the Bexley and

Kent JHOSC will have met to consider the decision of the CCG Governing
Body.

3) Next Steps

a) The Terms of Reference of the Bexley and Kent Urgent Care Review Joint

Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee required it to consider whether the
decision of the DGS CCG on 16 January 2020 should be referred to the
Secretary of State. The decision of the Joint Committee will be presented
verbally to the HOSC at its meeting on 29 January 2020.

b) As the power of referral was not delegated to the JHOSC, the Kent HOSC is

not bound the JHOSC’s recommendation and can determine its own response
to the CCG'’s final decision. The Committee may support the decision, not
support the decision, and/or comment on the decision.

As set out in the Protocol for the Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee in
the KCC Constitution, a substantial variation of service may only be referred
to the Secretary of State for Health where one of the following applies:

Page 8



Item 4: Urgent Care Review Programme — Dartford, Gravesham & Swanley

i.  The consultation with the HOSC on the proposal is deemed to have
been inadequate in relation to content or time allowed;

ii.  The reasons given for not consulting with the HOSC on a proposal are
inadequate; or

iii.  The proposal is not considered to be in the interests of the health
service of the area.

d) If the HOSC does not feel that any of the above apply to the matter under
discussion, it will not be able to make a legitimate referral. It will still be able to
monitor the implementation of the service and make comments and
recommendations directly to the relevant health provider or commissioner.

e) If the HOSC believes that one of the reasons above applies, it cannot make a
final determination at this meeting. It must agree which of the above grounds
provisionally apply and communicate this to the NHS in writing as soon as
possible along with the date it will meet to make its final determination. The
NHS must be given time to consider and respond to the Committee’s
decision.

f) The Committee will meet to consider the NHS response and any other
discussions that have taken place, prior to making its final determination.

g) Any referral to the Secretary of State must contain the following:
i.  Full evidence of the case for referral;

ii. Evidence that all other options for resolution have been explored,
along with all additional requirements for the submission of a referral
required by legislation and statutory guidance.

iii.  Where the referral is on the grounds that the Committee believes the
proposal is not in the interests of the health service of the area, a
summary of the evidence considered must be provided, including any
evidence of the effect or potential effect of the proposal on the
sustainability or otherwise of the health service of the area.

h) A decision to support the CCG Governing Body decision, or support with
gualifications and/or comments could be made at this meeting.

Page 9



Item 4: Urgent Care Review Programme — Dartford, Gravesham & Swanley

4. Recommendation

The Committee is asked to consider the decision of the DGS CCG Governing Body
on 16 January 2020, along with the recommendation(s) of the Bexley and Kent
JHOSC, and take one of the following actions:

a) Support the decision of the DGS CCG Governing Body and make any
additional comments the Committee deems appropriate; or

b) Specify concerns that the Committee has with the decision of the DGS CCG
Governing Body and invite the NHS to a future meeting of the Committee
where their response to these concerns will be considered ahead of a final
determination by the Committee as to whether or not to refer the decision to
the Secretary of State for one of the reasons set out in 3c (i-iii).

Background Documents

Kent County Council (2014) ‘Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee (10/10/2014)’,
https://democracy.kent.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?Cld=112&MId=5400&Ver=4

Kent County Council (2016) ‘Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee (26/01/2016)’,
https://democracy.kent.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?Cld=112&MId=6256&Ver=4

Kent County Council (2017) ‘Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee (27/01/2017)’,
https://democracy.kent.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?Cld=112&MId=7507&Ver=4

Kent County Council (2017) ‘Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee (14/07/2017)’,
https://democracy.kent.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?Cld=112&MId=7530&Ver=4

Kent County Council (2018) ‘Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee (23/11/2018)’,
https://democracy.kent.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?Cld=112&MId=7923&Ver=4

Kent County Council (2019) ‘Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee (25/01/2019)
https://democracy.kent.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?Cld=112&MId=7924&Ver=4

Kent County Council (2019) ‘Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee (23/07/2019)
https://democracy.kent.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?Cld=112&MId=8282&Ver=4

Kent County Council (2019) ‘Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee (16/12/2019)
https://democracy.kent.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?Cld=112&MId=8483&Ver=4

Page 10



https://democracy.kent.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=112&MId=5400&Ver=4
https://democracy.kent.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=112&MId=6256&Ver=4
https://democracy.kent.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=112&MId=7507&Ver=4
https://democracy.kent.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=112&MId=7530&Ver=4
https://democracy.kent.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=112&MId=7923&Ver=4
https://democracy.kent.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=112&MId=7924&Ver=4
https://democracy.kent.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=112&MId=8282&Ver=4
https://democracy.kent.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=112&MId=8483&Ver=4

Item 4: Urgent Care Review Programme — Dartford, Gravesham & Swanley

Contact Details

Kay Goldsmith

Scrutiny Research Officer
kay.goldsmith@kent.gov.uk
03000 416512

Page 11


mailto:kay.goldsmith@kent.gov.uk

This page is intentionally left blank



NHS

Dartford Gravesham
and Swanley

Clinical Commissioning Group

Improving NHS urgent care services in
Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley

Presentation of the decision making business case and the
Clinical Commissioning Group’s Governing Body decision
regarding the Urgent Treatment Centre model

Prepared for the Kent Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee

Submission Date: 20 January 2020
Compiled By: Gerrie Adler, Director of Strategic Transformation

Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley and Swale
Clinical Commissioning Groups

Page 13



1

11

1.2

13

1.4

1.5

Introduction

This update has been prepared for the Kent Health Overview and Scrutiny Overview
Committee (HOSC) by Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley Clinical Commissioning Group (DGS
CCG).

The Committee is presented with the urgent care review decision making business case,
formed following the completion of the 12 week full public consultation regarding potential
site options for a future Urgent Treatment Centre within the DGS CCG’s boundary.

The decision making business case was considered by the DGS CCG Governing Body on 16
January 2020 at an extra-ordinary Governing Body meeting held in public.

The Governing Body approved the model recommended in the decision making business case
for a networked urgent care services model with two linked Urgent Treatment Centres, one at
Gravesend Community Hospital, and one co-located with A&E at Darent Valley Hospital.

The Bexley and Kent Urgent Care Review Joint Health Overview and Scrutiny Overview
Committee (JHOSC) will consider the CCG’s Governing Body decision at a JHOSC meeting on 29
January 2020 before making recommendations to this Committee, and to the Bexley
Communities Overview and Scrutiny Committee on 5 February 2020.

2 The Decision Making Business Case

2.1

2.2

2.3

2.4

2.5

2.6

The decision making business case sets out the information and recommendations for the
CCG’s Governing Body to make informed decisions about the future configuration and siting of
urgent care services in Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley.

Included in the document is a summary of the case for change and the urgent care review
process as outlined in the pre-consultation business case.

The decision making business case provides an analysis of the feedback received from the
public consultation, including the intensive engagement exercise with Bexley residents.

The CCG received an unprecedented number of survey responses (online and hard copy), with
16,474 surveys returned, and over 25,000 free-text responses received.

The consultation responses, analysed by an independent third party organisation, were
considered by both the DGS Governing Body, and the Kent Health Overview Scrutiny
Committee, and there was unanimous agreement that the CCG had met its statutory
responsibility regarding the public consultation.

Bexley Communities Overview and Scrutiny Committee, made a formal decision on 16 October
2019, that the DGS CCG urgent care proposals represented a significant variation to the Bexley

Page 14



2.7

population. As this was close to the end of the public consultation period it was not possible
to plan additional formal engagement with Bexley residents before the end of the
consultation period. An intensive engagement exercise with Bexley residents and patients
using Bexley urgent care services took place after the period of purdah was lifted in December
2019 - January 2020. These engagement activities, and the feedback received, have been
analysed by the same independent third party organisation and form part of the decision
making business case.

The decision making business case recommends how the proposed site options could be
adjusted to best mitigate the concerns raised by local people and stakeholders. It is
recommended that these issues may be best mitigated by implementing a networked
urgent care services model with two linked Urgent Treatment Centres, one at Gravesend
Community Hospital, and one co-located with A&E at Darent Valley Hospital.

Current Urgent Care Services ] [ Consultation Model Options ] [ Proposed Mitigation Model ]

-

h

2.8

2.9

2.10

DGS

\ \ ) | { ) mitigation
R/ - ,, o
Commissioned -
Urgent Care ~ s ~

Pathways

Urgent Treatment Centre

| integrated with GP out-of-hours
services

(Gravesham Community Hospital)

\. p

DGS Commissioned Urgent Care

Walk-in Centre Networked Model of Care

(Fleet Health Campus)

DGS /
Commissioned
Urgent Care

Pathways

/S
——
\ Urgent Treatment Centre
O | integrated with GP out-of-hours
services
Consultation (Gravesham Cemmunity Hospital)
feedback L Y.

| Consultation
Minor Injuries Unit Option 1
|

7 AE and primary care
streaming service

.
Gravesham C ty Hospital
(Gravesham Community Hospital) (Darent Valley Hospital)

- > ya N
Consultation

A&E and primary care streaming feedback AZE and Urgent Treatment

— service mitigation Centre integrated with GP out-of-
q Consultation q
(Darent Valley Hospital) hours services

Option 2 Y- —[ ARE and Urgent Treatment 1 \ (Darent Valley Hospital)

(3 o) Centre integrated with GP out
Urgent Care b .
Ec of-hours services
hwi (Darent Valley Hospital)

[ GPout-of-hours base siteand | \
home visiting service
(Darent Valley and Gravesham
Community Hospitals)

The case suggests a phased approach to implementation to ensure the networked model of
care and/or service specification(s) meet the needs of the local population and can be
delivered in a safe and sustainable way.

The ambition is to implement the new Urgent Treatment Centres as quickly as possible, in line
with current contract expiry dates, whilst ensuring that quality and patient safety are not
compromised.

Based on the financial modelling the networked model of urgent care will be supported by
budget commitment that has a further 2% contingency assigned to it, and is profiled in line
with the phased implementation approach.

Page 15



3

3.1

3.2

3.3

4

4.1

The Decision of the CCG Governing Body

The DGS CCG Governing Body considered the decision making business case on 16 January
2020 at an extra-ordinary Governing Body meeting held in public.

The decisions of the DGS CCG Governing Body are as follows:

3.2.1 APPROVED - the implementation of the mitigated model of networked urgent care
services with two linked Urgent Treatment Centres, one at Gravesham Community
Hospital and one by Darent Valley Hospital (co-located with A&E) by the end of June
2020, as set out in the decision making business case

3.2.2 AGREED - further work on the detailed networked model, service specification(s) and
procurement process, as identified in the key implementation and programme plan in
the decision making business case, be undertaken over the coming months and refined
in collaboration with the current providers of urgent care services and other key
partners

3.2.3 AGREED - that the proposed networked model of urgent care is supported by a budget
commitment that has a further 2% contingency assigned to it, and is profiled in line with
the phased implementation approach.

The Governing Body also agreed on a number of actions to be incorporated in the phased
implementation of the networked model, these included (but were not limited to):

3.3.1 The establishment of a Clinical Reference Group to consider the development of a
robust clinical governance process ensuring the networked model of care provides a
service that is both safe and of high quality across two sites. Ongoing review of clinical
governance will be key to the networked model of care.

3.3.2 A communications and engagement plan to be developed to address the concerns
raised during the public consultation, and to support the phased implementation
approach.

Joint Health and Overview Scrutiny Committee Recommendation(s)

The Bexley and Kent Urgent Care Review JHOSC will consider the CCG Governing Body’s
decision regarding the future of urgent care services in Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley at a
meeting on 29 January 2020 before making recommendations to this Committee, and to the
Bexley Communities Overview and Scrutiny Committee on 5 February 2020.

Page 16



5 Summary

5.1

5.2

53

This update and decision making business case regarding the future configuration of urgent
care services within the DGS CCG boundary is presented to the Committee following
consideration by the DGS CCG Governing Body on 16 January 2020.

The CCG’s Governing Body approved the model recommended in the decision making
business case for a networked urgent care services model with two linked Urgent Treatment
Centres, one at Gravesend Community Hospital, and one co-located with A&E at Darent Valley
Hospital.

The Bexley and Kent Urgent Care Review Joint Health Overview and Scrutiny Overview
Committee (JHOSC) will consider the CCG’s Governing Body decision at a JHOSC meeting on 29
January 2020 before making recommendations to this Committee, and to the Bexley
Communities Overview and Scrutiny Committee on 5 February 2020.

Page 17



This page is intentionally left blank



NHS

Dartford Gravesham
and Swanley

Clinical Commissioning Group

Urgent Care Review

Decision making business case for the review of urgent care
services in Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley prepared for
the Clinical Commissioning Group Governing Body

January 2020

Page 19



Contents

EXECULIVE SUMIMIAIY ittt ettt e e e e et ettt e e e e s e st beeeeeeese s aabebeeaeeeesesannssbaaeeesssnsannnenes 5
T 1 agoTe [¥To1dTo] o HUU O T PO U ST P RO PUPOPPRUPRRIOt 10
Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley Clinical Commissioning Group ........ccccccueeeeecieeeeeeiieeeecieeeeeevenn. 10
[2LoY o101 =1 o o I PSP 10

CCG COMMISSIONE SEIVICES ..eeutietieieerieirteett et et e st eesiee st e st e e bt e sbeesbeesatesateeabeebe e beesbeesmeesaeeenseen 10
Geographical area covered and shared bouNdaries......cccccooeccivieieei e 11
(o] TU1 =X o a1 =0 1V d o PSP 12
Urgent care review DacKGroUNG ........cuviiiiiiiiii st sree e e ereeas 13
OVErVIEW Of UrZENT CArE FEVIEW ..oeeeiiieieiieie ettt ettt e e ettt e e e e ete e e e e ata e e e e easaeeesasaeeesnsaeeesnsaneenan 14
Purpose and scope of the Decision Making Busingss Case ........c.cceeeeueeeeiiiieeeeciiee e eeveee e 15
Case for change and proposed clinical MOdel ...........ooiiiiiiiiiee e e e 17
(0TI o] ool o T-1 V(TSP 17
Proposed clinical model for the fULUre ......c..eei i e 18
WOTKFOICE ..ttt b e s bt st s bt et e e s b e e sbeesaee st e eabeebeennes 19
Urgent care in Dartford, Gravesham and SWanley ..........cocoeiiioiee e 19
Shortlisting options for CONSUIATION ........eeiiiiiiic et e e 22
DLV ] oY oTa =T oY o] oY o] 4 (o] 3N PSP 22
Options appPraisal (I0NG TIST) ..ccueeeiiie ettt e e e e str e s b e e e bee e s abeesbaeeeaseesraeanes 23
Options appraisal (MEAIUM TIST).......ciiiiiiiieeie et et e be e e bee e s beesbaeebaeesbeeenes 23
Evaluation of the options (SNOItliSTING) ...cccveiiiiiee e e e 25
PUDIIC CONSUIATION ...ttt ettt st ettt b e s bt sae e st e et e e sbeesbeesaneeas 28
OVerview Of CONSUITATION ...c.eiiiiiie ettt sttt be e s s eaee s 28
Response to CoNSUILation ACHIVILY ....cccueeii i e e ree e e e erae e e 28
Engagement with Neighbouring areas ... e 28
Evaluation of public CONSUItAtioN PrOCESS .....cciiiiiiiiiiiiiee e e e 30
Public comments on the public consultation ProCess .......cccccveeeeiciieeccciie e e 32
Consultation findings and KEY thEMES........ooccuiiiiieiiee et e e e e et eeeaaeeeeas 32
Post consultation fEEADACK. ........c.ci i 35
Consideration of the consultation process and actiVity .......ccccceeieciieiieiiiiee e 35
Consideration by the CCG Governing Body .........cccciiiiiiiiieieciiee et eree e eere e e vee e e 35
Consideration by the Joint Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee ........cccceeevecieeevcieeeecnnen, 36

2

Page 20



Identifying appropriate MitiGatioN..........cuei i e e e e e e e naneaes 38

1Yo T o] o T o o U PSRRI 38
Post-consultation — options appraisal MEETING ........coeviiiiiieiiieeeccee e e 38
Assuring the Mitigated MOUEL........oouiiiiiee et e e e bae e e s e bae e e e serteeeesanes 40
Background O qUAlitY @SSUIANCE....ccccuieiieciiie ettt ettt rtee e e et e e e e eabae e e e eaba e e e eearaee e e nreeas 40
Post consultation assurance of the mitigated Model .........cceeiveiiiiiiiiie i, 40
Assessing the implications of the mitigated Model .........ccuieiiiiiiiiic e 42
Description of mitigated MOEl ........cvviiiiieii e 42
Patient STOMIES oo e 45

Y Yot 1Y 18V 4T o] [ Tor= 1 4[] o T3 TSR 47

o = =T o] F= T Y-SR 48
Gravesham Community HOSPItal ......eeeiiiiiiiiiiiie e e 48
Travel and access iIMPlICAtIONS.......iii i e bee e s e ebee e s s eabee e e esareeas 48
o [V E LTI T Y o] o= L u Lo s L3S 48
Vo] o T el=l T '] o] [Tor= Y o o R 49
Financial impact of mitigated MOAEl .......cocuiiiiieee e e e e e e saaeee e 51

An urgent care networked model of care over two sites (Gravesham Community Hospital and

Darent Valley HOSPITAI) .....eieciiiiiie ettt e e et et e e ba e e st e e s teeenaeesnreeennas 51
Business case pre-consultation and post-consultation modelling scenarios ..........cccceecvveeeenneen. 53
Sensitivities of financial modelling based on activity and an associated tariff.........cccccccccveeenns 54

T aTo 1T a Y=Y aN = 14 o] g T o] = o R 55

Outline programme implementation Plan..........coiiii e e eae e 55

Key implementation activities and programme plan ........ccccceeeciie e 55

Governance arrangements for implementation.........ccccuveeivciie e 57

IMPIEMENTALION FISKS ...veiiiiiiiie et e et e e e et e e e et a e e e eeabee e e esabeeeeennbaeaeenrenas 57

Communication and engagemMeENT PIaN.........oc it e et e e e et e e e et ae e e e nraeeeeas 57

Benefits of the Proposed CHANGES .........cooi i e e st e e e tae e e et e e e e esaareeaean 59
Feedback from CONSUITATION ....ccueiiiiiieei e s 59
Conclusion and recoMmMENAAtiONS .....cc.eeiiiiiiiiiei et eee s 62
(600} 3Tl (D13 o ) o SN PRUR U S VPP PPRPOPR 62
RECOMMENAATIONS ...ttt st e b e e st e e b e e e smr e e sabe e e sabeesaneesneeesareeenees 63
Yo 01T Lo Lol TR 64
Appendix A: Independent evaluation of consultation (November 2019) ........cccccoveevvieiieeecieeeennenn. 64
Appendix B: Refreshed Equality Impact Assessment (November 2019) .......cccceeeeeeeveeerveeccieeeenenn, 64

3

Page 21



Appendix C: Independent evaluation of intensive engagement with Bexley residents................... 64

Appendix D: Current Services (Minor Injuries Unit, Walk-in Centre, A&E) ......cccoceeeeerereeecreeeeennen. 64
Appendix E: Urgent Care Networked Model of Care over two sites (Gravesham Community
Hospital and Darent Valley HOSPItal) .......cccueiiiiiiiiicee et 64
Appendix F: Urgent Treatment Centre at Gravesham Community Hospital ........ccccoeeveeeivieenennneen. 64
Appendix G: Urgent Treatment Centre at Darent Valley Hospital co-located with ED .................... 64
4

Page 22



Executive summary

The decision-making business case sets out the information and recommendations for the CCG’s
Governing Body to make informed decisions about the future configuration and siting of urgent care
services in Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley.

Included in the document is a summary of the case for change and the urgent care review process as
outlined in the pre-consultation business case.

The document also provides an analysis of the feedback received from the public consultation and
recommendation about how the proposed site options could be adjusted to best mitigate the
concerns raised by local people and stakeholders during the consultation process. The
recommendation to mitigate these issues by implementing a networked urgent care services model
with two linked Urgent Treatment Centres, one at Gravesend Community Hospital and one co-
located with A&E at Darent Valley Hospital.

This executive summary provides a brief overview of the public consultation, analysis of the
responses and the post consultation process. It also describes the CCG’s preferred mitigation model
and the next steps.

Overview of the consultation

The formal consultation on the proposals for the location of the future Urgent Treatment Centre in
Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley ran for 12 weeks from 12 August to midnight on 4 November
2019.

The CCG received an unprecedented number of survey responses (online and hard copy), with
16,474 surveys returned.

The consultation process and consultation responses were analysed and evaluated by an
independent third party organisation and were published by the CCG as soon as the period of
purdah was lifted on 13 December 2019.

Overall, 80% of respondents supported the siting of an UTC at Gravesham Community Hospital vs.
5% supporting an UTC at Darent Valley Hospital.

e Respondents in DA11 (area around Gravesham Community Hospital) very highly endorsed
Option 1 as this option sits within their local postcode area, and is therefore much easier to
access for local residents. 85% of people who claim to live in this area ‘Strongly Agree’ that
Gravesham Community Hospital is the better site for the new UTC and 90% ‘Agree overall’.

e Residents of DA2 (area around Darent Valley Hospital) are more polarised in their opinion of
moving the UTC to Darent Valley Hospital. Less than half (43%) ‘Strongly Agree’ that it
would be the best option, while nearly a third (31%) ‘Strongly Disagree’ with this option.

Page 23



25,000 free-text responses were received within the survey and here are the range of issues or

concerns that were raised by the respondents that preferred each option:

For both groups, ease of journey was the main driver of site preference and ease of access
was the main concern, followed by parking issues, and concerns about other services at the
Darent Valley Hospital site

For respondents who preferred Gravesham Community Hospital the site was easier and
cheaper to reach, had better parking (availability and cost), and they shared concerns that
Darent Valley Hospital facilities are already overstretched and an UTC at the Darent Valley
Hospital site might lead to longer waiting times

For respondents who preferred Darent Valley Hospital proximity to site was important, and
co-location of services at the site was favoured.

Other feedback included:

Access needs of local communities, particularly residents who may not have English as a first
language or with access issues linked to deprivation or age (e.g. reliance on public transport)

Pressures on local services, particularly the rapid growth in some areas such as Ebbsfleet
Garden City, and specific concerns raised regarding the level of activity at Darent Valley
Hospital

Need for greater accessibility (especially appointments that are easier to access) and more
care provided in non-acute settings, in particular general practice

General comments were made about the need for increased and continuing CCG communications

when introducing new services and educating the public on the most appropriate way to access all

local health services.

An intensive engagement exercise with Bexley residents and patients using Bexley urgent care

services took place after the period of purdah was lifted in December 2019 — January 2020. These

engagement activities, and the feedback received, have been analysed by the same independent

third party organisation as reviewed the public consultation feedback. Key findings are as follows:

Accessibility and travel times were the main drivers for patients’ decisions when they need
urgent care

Bexley residents find Darent Valley Hospital relatively easily accessible by car and public
transport, despite concerns regarding parking at the site, and some patients believe that co-
location with the A&E department means an Urgent Treatment Centre would provide a
higher quality service and provide treatment “all in one place”

An Urgent Treatment Centre at Darent Valley Hospital is seen as a potential alternative
option rather than as a first choice as there are two well regarded Urgent Care Centres
within the Bexley boundary.

Page 24



e A third of Bexley respondents felt there would be no impact or very limited impact for them
as a result of the siting of a future Urgent Treatment Centre as they would be unlikely to use
any of the alternatives in Dartford, Gravesham or Swanley.

e Whilst there was no suggestion from the initial survey that patients might look towards Bexley
urgent care services, staff and doctors at both Erith Hospital and Queen Mary’s Hospital
commented that they saw a significant number of patients from Dartford, Gravesham and
Swanley due to referrals by NHS 111, local, perceived waiting times at Darent Valley Hospital
and pressures on local GP services.

Approach post-consultation

Following the public consultation, a process was undertaken to consider the issues from the
consultation and identify possible mitigation to the concerns raised through the public consultation
process as well as address the needs of the local urgent care system.

A Post Consultation - Options Appraisal Meeting, attended by CCG clinical, executive,
commissioning, finance and communications and engagement representatives, took place on 18
November 2019 to review the pre-consultation options appraisal process, consider the public
consultation activities and key themes emerging from the consultation, and agree the next steps.

The group agreed unanimously that a single site solution for urgent care across Dartford, Gravesham
and Swanley was unlikely to mitigate well placed concerns raised by the public during the
consultation.

It was also agreed that the overlap between urgent, local and primary care made it necessary to
consider the interdependence of these areas when identifying potential mitigations. The team also
acknowledged that certain developments in primary care which could support urgent care services
may take some time to materialise.

The CCG’s proposed mitigation to address public concerns identified through public consultation is
to provide the Urgent Treatment Centre model over two sites rather than at a single site, and for
services to be networked to ensure they operate in an integrated way, as part of an urgent care
system for Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley CCG’s local population.

Description of mitigated model

The recommended model for the provision of networked urgent care services would involve:

e An Urgent Treatment Centre at Gravesham Community Hospital and an Urgent Treatment
Centre at Darent Valley Hospital (co-located with A&E)

Page 25



Current Urgent Care Services Consultation Model Options Proposed Mitigation Model

-

.

DGS
Commissione:
Urgent Care
Pathways

Urgent Treatment Centre

,| integrated with GP out-of-hours
services

| (Gravesham Community Hospital)

)

- N ‘

DGS Commissioned Urgent Care

Walk-in Centre Networked Model of Care

(Fleet Health Campus)

) I

DGS
Commissioned
Urgent Care
Pathways

-
Urgent Treatment Centre
integrated with GP out-of-hours
services
(Gravesham Community Hospital)

Y,

_ s \

Consultation

= A&E and primary care
streaming service

(Darent Valley Hospital)

Minor Injuries Unit Option 1

— . Consultation
(Gravesham Community Hespital)

feedback |
mitigation

s

A&E and primary care streaming

- S -

d

Consultation A&E and Urgent Treatment

Centre integrated with GP out-of-
hours services

feedback

service mitigation

Consultation

Valley Hospital
(Darent Valley Hospital) Option 2 besc g ABE and Urgent Treatment (Darent Valley Hospital)
v N e Centre integrated with GP out- / . ),
— Urgent Care . -
e FEtharay= of-hours services
4 B .
[ GP out-of hours base site and \ (Darent Valley Hospital)

N home visiting service
(Darent Valley and Gravesham
Community Hospitals)

The rationale for the recommended networked model for urgent care is:

Urgent care is not being transformed in isolation, but the other programmes of work are
either still in their infancy or the benefits are not yet felt by the local population (e.g.
Primary Care Networks, improved/extended primary care access, movement of outpatient
clinics away from an acute setting)

There was general support for the Urgent Treatment Centre model, bringing together minor
ailments and minor injuries in one place.

The consultation responses highlight concerns regarding accessing the Darent Valley
Hospital site by car (including issues of congestion and parking availability on-site), and by
public transport (limited access for certain routes). Concerns regarding the cost of accessing
the Darent Valley Hospital site were also raised (parking, taxi costs). There were also public
concerns that long standing issues at Darent Valley Hospital had not been addressed
including, the perceived incapacity of the current infrastructure to cope with any additional
footfall, particularly in view of the anticipated growth within the area in the coming years.

The estimated impact of growth in the area may be clearer in the coming years

The transformation of the local health system, including the merger of eight CCGs into one
CCG and creation of the Integrated Care Partnerships can take place without additional
pressures in the system.

Careful consideration has been given to identify what urgent, local and primary care services should
be provided at each site, and the ways in which services could be networked to ensure the best

provision of urgent care possible for the local population within existing resources.

The service specification for an Urgent Treatment Centre as part of a two site networked model of

care will be adjusted if supported by the Governing Body.

Page 26



Outline programme implementation plan

If the Governing Body agrees to proceed with the mitigated model, it is expected that some
transition time would be required to set up governance arrangements and finalise plans to progress
implementation, but this time will be kept as short as possible to support early implementation.

A phased approach would be required to ensure the networked model of care and/or service
specification(s) meet the needs of the local population and can be delivered in a safe and sustainable
way.

The ambition, subject to the Governing Body’s approval, is to implement the new Urgent Treatment
Centres as quickly as possible whilst ensuring that quality and patient safety are not compromised.
We plan to have services in place by the end of June 2020 in line with the current contract expiry
dates.

Financial summary of an networked urgent care model

The recommended networked model for urgent care over five years 2020-2025 is modelled to be
£85m compared to the projected cost of the current urgent care service provision of £84m over the
same period. This excludes the potential impact of void estate charges at Fleet Health Campus.

The financial implications of implementing a phased networked model of urgent care is inherently
less risky than moving urgent care activity flows from Fleet Health campus (WIC activity) and
Gravesham Community Hospital (Minor Injuries Unit) to the Darent Valley Hospital site; which would
incur void estate charges at two sites.

The CCG in working with the emerging Primary Care Networks recognises that Fleet Health Campus
is a prime location for the development of a primary care hub providing future services, and this
would also potentially reduce the risk of incurring void estate charges.

Based on the financial modelling it is recommended that the proposed networked model of urgent
care is supported by budget commitment that has a further 2% contingency assigned to it, and is
profiled in line with the phased implementation approach.

The current modelling assumes implementation at the beginning of a financial year for ease of
comparison and illustration to enable a decision to be made regarding the best option to implement.

Page 27



Introduction

Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley Clinical Commissioning Group

Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley (DGS) Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) is one of eight CCGs in
Kent and Medway, covering 100 square miles from Gravesend on the River Thames in the north to
Dartford, Swanley and West Kingsdown in the west; New Ash Green in the south and the villages of
Meopham, Cobham and Higham in the east.

Population

The CCG serves a population of circa 276,421 people (NHS Digital — 1st December 2019). Please see
the percentage population distribution below based on the practice population - 12 practices in
Gravesend, 9 practices in Dartford and 5 practices in Swanley.

Percentage of DGS CCG Resident Population

14%

48%

38%

B Gravesham W Dartford W Swanley

CCG commissioned services
The CCG is responsible for commissioning:

e Urgent and emergency care, including the NHS 111 free urgent advice phone line, Accident
and Emergency (A&E) and ambulance services

e Planned hospital care

e Community health services such as district nurses and rehabilitation services

e Mental health services, including for children

e Maternity and new-born services

e Medicines prescribed by GPs, consultants and other NHS practitioners

e Primary medical care (GP) services.

The CCG does not commission dental services; community pharmacies; specialised healthcare such
as heart and brain surgery; neonatal services; secure psychiatric services; public health and health

10
Page 28



promotion services; prison health; or healthcare for serving members of the Armed Forces (except
emergency care). These are commissioned directly by NHS England.

There are currently 26 GP practices in the locality, and 7 Primary Care Networks (PCNs):

e Dartford Central PCN

e Dartford Model PCN

e Garden City PCN

e Gravesend Alliance PCN
e Gravesend Central PCN
e LMNPCN

e Swanley PCN

One acute hospital, Darent Valley Hospital (Dartford and Gravesham NHS Trust), and two community
hospitals, Gravesham Community and Livingstone Community Hospitals, lie within the CCG
boundary. Approximately 70% of acute activity flows to Dartford and Gravesham NHS Trust.

é

Chafford
durfleet Hundred [A1089]
Grays

CCG

rrrrrrrrrr

Istead Rise

Longfield
Bromley

cce

New Ash Meopham
Green

Eynsford

Shoreham

1alstead

Geographical area covered and shared boundaries

The CCG covers the geographical area shown in the map above and shares boundaries with two
London CCGs (Bexley CCG and Bromley CCG), and two Kent and Medway CCGs (Medway CCG and
West Kent CCG).

Areas of deprivation

DGS CCG has 808 postcodes, within 15 LSOA’s (Lower Layer Super Output Areas) that fall within the
top 10% most deprived in England. A Lower Layer Super Output Area is a geographic area designed
to improve the reporting of small area statistics in England and Wales®. These LSOA’s are located

1

https://www.datadictionary.nhs.uk/data_dictionary/nhs_business definitions/l/lower layer super output area d
e.asp?shownav=1

11
Page 29


https://www.datadictionary.nhs.uk/data_dictionary/nhs_business_definitions/l/lower_layer_super_output_area_de.asp?shownav=1
https://www.datadictionary.nhs.uk/data_dictionary/nhs_business_definitions/l/lower_layer_super_output_area_de.asp?shownav=1

within the DGS CCG boundary and are located in the urban areas to the north, around the towns of
Dartford, Swanscombe, Gravesend, Northfleet and Swanleyz.

This colour indicates 10%

deprived LSOA ' x E01024235
01024257

s Wood \ Boan %('443-35
Dlont o B £010243 X Ep1pzaa0e Shome
- Southioe!

¢ MHaatatie Srome Rajeway
Istoad Rse

Swanley Village Stx 0
. ' yu,',n‘
o Nen Barr
) v 2
“17'“ 7“/ Morton Kirty Cobharr
(-ku& Looghekd Hil
Sote 5t

ockanhl J/ Famingnan Meniey Stree!

Lowsr Highar

Meopham

el

More in-depth information regarding the population served by the CCG is available in the Pre-
Consultation Business Case®.

Population growth

Over the next twenty years the overall population of the local authorities in the DGS areas are
expected to increase. There are two sets of population projections available at district level; the ONS
projections (which take into account births, deaths and migration) and KCC’'s own housing-led
forecasts (which also take into account local housing plans). Generally, the KCC housing-led
forecasts suggest a higher level of population growth (19% for Kent as a whole between 2017 and
2037, compared with 15% using the ONS projections).

Using resident populations for the districts of Dartford, Gravesham, Sevenoaks and Swanley, the
following changes are predicted:

e The under-five and 0-19 populations will increase more slowly than the population as a whole.

e The population of 65+ is predicted to increase more significantly by 55% in Dartford, 44% in
Gravesham and 36% in Sevenoaks based on the ONS projections and 66%, 41% and 43%
respectively based on the KCC housing-led forecasts.

e This population increase is even greater in the 85+ group, with the ONS projections suggesting
increases of 78% in Dartford, 79% in Gravesham and 89% in Sevenoaks and the KCC housing-led

2 https://www.dartfordgraveshamswanleyccg.nhs.uk/about-dgs/publications/plans-reports-strategies/ccg-annual-
report-2018-19/

8 https://www.dartfordgraveshamswanleyccg.nhs.uk/get-involved/public-consultation-proposed-changes-to-nhs-
urgent-care-services-in-dartford-gravesham-and-swanley/

12
Page 30


https://www.dartfordgraveshamswanleyccg.nhs.uk/about-dgs/publications/plans-reports-strategies/ccg-annual-report-2018-19/
https://www.dartfordgraveshamswanleyccg.nhs.uk/about-dgs/publications/plans-reports-strategies/ccg-annual-report-2018-19/
https://www.dartfordgraveshamswanleyccg.nhs.uk/get-involved/public-consultation-proposed-changes-to-nhs-urgent-care-services-in-dartford-gravesham-and-swanley/
https://www.dartfordgraveshamswanleyccg.nhs.uk/get-involved/public-consultation-proposed-changes-to-nhs-urgent-care-services-in-dartford-gravesham-and-swanley/

forecasts 88%, 76% and 96% respectively4. Please note that both the ONS and KCC projected
increases for this age group have been revised downwards in the latest figures.

The development of the Ebbsfleet Garden City and significant housing growth in the DGS area over
the next ten years continues to be a significant organisational risk, both in terms of funding and
other elements of resourcing such as workforce and management time. This links to the increasing
public demand on healthcare services, alongside tighter financial allocations, which are making it
difficult to keep up with the population growth.

Urgent care review background

The NHS Five Year Forward View (5YFV) explained the need to redesign health systems, including the
urgent and emergency care services (UEC) in England for people of all ages. It stated that across the
NHS, UEC services will be redesigned to integrate between Emergency Departments (ED), traditional
GP out-of-hours services (OOH), Urgent Treatment Centres (UTC), NHS 111, and ambulance services;
highlighting the fact that ‘services need to be integrated around the patient’.

Under this model, organisations collaborate to deliver high quality clinical assessment, advice and
treatment and work to shared standards and processes, with clear accountability and leadership.
The Urgent and Emergency Care Review® and commissioning guidelines®,” detail how these models
of care can be achieved through a fundamental shift in the way urgent and emergency care services
are provided to people of all ages. Improving out-of-hospital services will mean more care can be
delivered closer to home, and hospital attendances and admissions will reduce.

The most recent NHS Long Term plan, released in January 2019, strengthens that direction of travel.
The plan includes a significant package of measures aimed at reducing pressures on ED. Many of the
measures build on previous initiatives, including the introduction of clinical streaming at the front
door to ED and the roll-out of NHS 111 services across the country.

The plan commits to rolling out UTCs across the country by 2020 so that urgent care outside
hospitals becomes more consistent for patients. UTCs will be GP-led facilities and will include access
to some simple diagnostics and offer appointments bookable via NHS 111 for patients who do not
need the expertise available in ED. Alongside this, the plan aims to improve the advice available to
patients over the phone and extend support for staff in the community by introducing a multi-
disciplinary clinical assessment service (CAS) as part of the NHS 111 service in 2019/20.

Change across the urgent and emergency care system provides:
e Better support for people to self-care.

e Help for people with urgent care needs to get the right advice in the right place, first time.

4 The latest KCC projections suggest that the number of people aged 85+ living in Kent will double between 2017 and 2037

gi.e. a 100% increase). Previous estimates suggest_ed a 130% increase over _the same period.
http://www.nhs.uk/NHSEngland/keogh-review/Documents/uecreviewupdate.FV.pdf

® http://www.nhs.uk/NHSEngland/keogh-review/Documents/safer-faster-better-v28.pdf

" https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2015/10/integrtd-urgnt-care-comms-standrds-oct15.pdf

13
Page 31


http://www.nhs.uk/NHSEngland/keogh-review/Documents/uecreviewupdate.FV.pdf
http://www.nhs.uk/NHSEngland/keogh-review/Documents/safer-faster-better-v28.pdf
https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2015/10/integrtd-urgnt-care-comms-standrds-oct15.pdf

e Highly responsive urgent care services outside of hospital so people no longer have to queue in
ED.

e Help for those people with more serious or life threatening emergency care needs to receive
treatment in centres with the right expertise and facilities in order to maximise chances of
survival and a good recovery

e Connecting all urgent and emergency care services together so the overall system becomes
more than just the sum of its parts.

Overview of urgent care review

The review of urgent care services in Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley has been an iterative process
which was first considered in 2013 with the publication of NHS England’s report on ‘The Keogh
Urgent and Emergency Care Review’ but which was first pursued at greater pace in mid-2016.

Since 2016, DGS CCG has carried out significant engagement activities with key stakeholders
including patients, the public and key stakeholders from across health and social care in North Kent
(including the Kent Health Overview Scrutiny Committee, Healthwatch, Engage Kent, local
councillors and MPs), for their views about urgent care services in all its forms. The feedback
received from the various engagement activities helped shape the programme going forwards.

In summary, the feedback identified that the current provision for urgent care services can be
confusing and fragmented; with the Minor Injuries Unit, Walk in Centre, GP out-of-hours service, and
the primary care streaming service operating from different sites, staffed by different types of
clinicians, treating different types of conditions, with access to different types of diagnostic
resources, and running different operating hours. The CCG’s proposals regarding urgent care will be
to implement an Urgent Treatment Centre Model which bring all urgent care services under one roof
thereby making it easier for local people to navigate.

The review of urgent care services in DGS CCG is just one of a number of developments taking place
within the CCG that we hope will deliver improved care for our patients as outlined in the diagram
below and explored in more detail in the Pre-Consultation Business Case available on the CCG’s
website®.

These developments are at various stages of design, planning and implementation:

8 https://www.dartfordgraveshamswanleyccg.nhs.uk/get-involved/public-consultation-proposed-changes-to-nhs-
urgent-care-services-in-dartford-gravesham-and-swanley/

14
Page 32


https://www.dartfordgraveshamswanleyccg.nhs.uk/get-involved/public-consultation-proposed-changes-to-nhs-urgent-care-services-in-dartford-gravesham-and-swanley/
https://www.dartfordgraveshamswanleyccg.nhs.uk/get-involved/public-consultation-proposed-changes-to-nhs-urgent-care-services-in-dartford-gravesham-and-swanley/

Development of Primary Care Networks
and GP Federation Delivered Services

Drevelopment of Bxtended access
|booksble appointments with
patient's registered GP
evenings/weskends)

Development of healthand wellbeing
services to address patients' needsin
a holisticway (including socialand
voluntary services)

Improving services for bookable

primary care clinical issuesto 3woid Improved access [booksble
unnecessary escalationto urgent/ appointments through registered GP
emergency care services|e.g. wound at local GP access"hub’)

care clinics)

Integrated Urgent Care Services

*NHS5111 [phone/ online) supported by Clinical Advice
Service
=3ingle point of access for urgent care
*GP gut-of-hours [basasite and home visits)
=lrgent Treatment Centre madel

In addition to these service level developments, Integrated Care Partnerships (ICP) are bringing
together health and care providers and local commissioners to improve services for the local
population. At the heart of the ICPs are neighbouring GP practices across Kent and Medway working
together to provide community, social care and primary care services to a geography of
approximately 30,000 to 50,000 patients. These groups are called Primary Care Networks
(PCNs). These developments are part of the NHS Long Term Plan to ensure that NHS planning and
delivery of services take account of the particular health needs of the local populations, providing
more “joined up” care and treatment closer to home for patients and communities within available
resources. The ICP will provide a number of services from April 2020, with a plan to go live fully in
April 2021.

Purpose and scope of the Decision Making Business Case

The decision-making business case (DMBC) is a technical and analytical document that sets out the
information necessary for the Governing Body to make informed decisions about the future
configuration and siting of urgent care services in Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley, following
public consultation on proposed changes and site options for the future Urgent Treatment Centre.

The DMBC builds on the robust process of evaluation to identify potential site options for the new
Urgent Treatment Centre outlined in the pre-consultation business case’, explores the findings from

o https://www.dartfordgraveshamswanleyccg.nhs.uk/get-involved/public-consultation-proposed-changes-to-nhs-
urgent-care-services-in-dartford-gravesham-and-swanley/

15
Page 33


https://www.dartfordgraveshamswanleyccg.nhs.uk/get-involved/public-consultation-proposed-changes-to-nhs-urgent-care-services-in-dartford-gravesham-and-swanley/
https://www.dartfordgraveshamswanleyccg.nhs.uk/get-involved/public-consultation-proposed-changes-to-nhs-urgent-care-services-in-dartford-gravesham-and-swanley/

the public consultation process, and outlines the ways in which the proposed site options could be
adjusted to best mitigate against the concerns raised by consultation respondents.

This document includes:
e A summary of the case for change and the Urgent Treatment Centre clinical model

e The decision-making process including the response to public consultation and the process
undertaken to arrive at a preferred option

e The implications of the preferred option in terms of activity, equalities, travel and access,
finance, capital, estates and workforce

e The benefits that will be realised and how they will be assessed and measured

e The next steps to support implementation and how clinical safety will be maintained in the
transition period.

16
Page 34



Case for change and proposed clinical model

Case for change

~ Services in our area are currently provided at different locations and treat
H“ different conditions. Patients don't always know where to go, or may
x B need to visit more than one location before they get the right treatment

Around 50% of people who go to A&E don’t have a serious or life
threatening condition. Some patients tell us they go to A&E because
they couldn’tsee a GP and didn’t know where else to get help

i
Current urgent care services do not meet new national standards set
out by NHS England
it
fihid

Our populationis growing (expected 22% increase by 2035) so we
need a service thatis designed to meet future demand

We need to make the best use of the specialist sKkills of our staff

The urgent care services in Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley need to change because:

Demand keeps on growing - It is estimated that the population of Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley
will have increased by 22 per cent by 2035 due to the number of new homes being built in the area.
The CCG needs to make sure its services can cope with this growth and meet future demand.

We need to make sure people are getting the right service — Over 50% of the people attending A&E
at Darent Valley Hospital do not have a serious or life-threatening condition and could have been
seen by a nurse or GP. Making sure people get the right treatment in the right place would relieve
pressure from A&E and improve the patient experience.

Current urgent care services can be confusing - Urgent care services within our area are currently
provided at different locations and treat different conditions. These services are staffed by different
types of clinicians with different levels of access to the equipment and/or diagnostic tests that mean
that patients cannot always be treated at one site and may need to be transferred between sites to
receive the most appropriate care. Patients don’t always know where to go, or may need to visit
more than one location before they get the appropriate treatment.

Best use of resources - There is a national NHS standard which says at least 95 per cent of patients
who attend A&E should be admitted to hospital, transferred to another care provider or discharged
within four hours. Like many other hospitals, Darent Valley Hospital is not always meeting this

17
Page 35



standard and our proposal for a new Urgent Treatment Centre is intended to relieve the pressures
on A&E to enable staff to focus on patients with a serious or life-threatening condition. This will also
ensure that we make the best use of the specialist skills of our staff.

Changing health needs of our population - The number of people who need medical and social care
due to ageing, mental health or long-term conditions is growing. We need to allocate resources to
make sure we are supporting their on-going needs as well as when they need urgent care.

Access - Access to appropriate services is important to the public and to clinicians. We appreciate
that waiting times for urgent care can be long and sometimes patients are referred between services
because they cannot be treated at the service they first attended. We also realise that urgent care
walk-in services are not always being accessed for reasons of clinical urgency, but also as a
convenient means of accessing primary care (i.e. services provided by GP practices). We want to
make sure there is more primary care capacity to allow patients to feel confident that they can
access primary care without needing to access more expensive services, such as urgent care walk-in
or emergency services if they don't need to.

Compliance with national standards - The urgent care services within Dartford, Gravesham and
Swanley, although well regarded by the public, do not meet the new national standards set out by
NHS England for Urgent Treatment Centres.

Proposed clinical model for the future
Our vision for the future is to develop high quality urgent care services that enable local people to
access the right treatment and care in the right service when they need it.

The UTC model essentially joins the existing urgent care services for minor illness and minor injury —
integrating the services currently provided separately by Minor Injuries Units (MIUs) and Walk-in
Centres (WICs). Urgent Treatment Centres will provide services in line with 27 national standards, to
ensure consistency across the country.

The new Urgent Treatment Centre (UTC) will play a pivotal part in ensuring patients get the right
care in the right type of service when needed. By providing fast and efficient care, it will reduce
unnecessary A&E attendances and help ensure the system better serves those with serious or life-
threatening emergencies. Supported by NHS 111 and the Clinical Advice Service (clinical advisors
supporting the NHS111 service), we envisage that the UTC will relieve pressures on the system and
provide a trusted alternative where patients with non-threatening illnesses and injuries can receive
quality care.

Our ambition is to deliver clinically sustainable, high quality urgent care services that are accessible
to DGS residents for a minimum of 12 hours a day, 7 days a week.

The UTC will also work alongside other parts of the urgent care network including primary care,
community pharmacists, ambulance and other community-based services to provide a locally
accessible and convenient alternative to A&E for patients who do not need emergency care.

18
Page 36



The UTC will be designed to assess and treat patients with a full range of minor illness and injuries,
but will also be equipped to manage critically ill or injured patients who may arrive at the UTC
unexpectedly or whose condition might rapidly deteriorate whilst in the service. Staff trained in
adult and paediatric resuscitation will be on-site at all times.

The service will also have access to a range of diagnostics not currently available at all sites providing
urgent care services (i.e. the Fleet Health Campus). Diagnostics will include bedside diagnostics,
urinalysis, electrocardiograms (ECG), and x-ray facilities.

Workforce

The workforce challenges that relate to the UTC model are outlined in the pre-consultation business
10

case .

A main challenge to current urgent care services, that will likely impact on the future model, is the
CCG’s proximity to London and the pull of workforce to the London areas. This means that it can be
challenging at times for the CCG to attract and recruit sufficient numbers of appropriately skilled
staff. The UTC model is led by a GP supported by a robust and effective multi-disciplinary workforce
ensuring patients are seen by the most appropriate healthcare professional.

Urgent care in Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley
There are a range of services within the CCG area offering elements of urgent care. In summary
these are as follows:

Walk-in Centre at Fleet Health Campus in Northfleet: Open 8am-8pm, 7 days per week. The service
is led by GPs offering consultations, minor treatments and advice on self-care. No appointment
necessary.

The Minor Injuries Unit at Gravesham Community Hospital in Gravesend: Open 8am-8pm, 7 days
per week. The service is led by nurses who offer treatment for less serious injuries. No appointment
necessary.

GPs: GPs provide many urgent care services to patients every day. We know that different GP
practices have different systems for booking appointments and that patients can’t always get an
urgent appointment on the same day.

GP out-of-hours: This service provides appointments outside of GP opening hours for patients
unable to wait for their GP practice to re-open. It is accessed by calling NHS 111 and offers
consultations at base sites or home visits.

GPs at A&E Department: Patients arriving at Darent Valley Hospital’s A&E department are assessed
and then treated by A&E staff and, if more appropriate, referred to the GP-led service also on the
hospital site.

10 https://www.dartfordgraveshamswanleyccg.nhs.uk/get-involved/public-consultation-proposed-changes-to-
nhs-urgent-care-services-in-dartford-gravesham-and-swanley/

19
Page 37


https://www.dartfordgraveshamswanleyccg.nhs.uk/get-involved/public-consultation-proposed-changes-to-nhs-urgent-care-services-in-dartford-gravesham-and-swanley/
https://www.dartfordgraveshamswanleyccg.nhs.uk/get-involved/public-consultation-proposed-changes-to-nhs-urgent-care-services-in-dartford-gravesham-and-swanley/

NHS 111: is the free number to call for non-emergency advice. The service is available 24 hours a
day, 7 days a week. The calls are answered by highly-trained advisors and patients can also speak to
a clinician when necessary. NHS 111 advisors can book an appointment for patients with out-of-
hours GPs and other medical services when they are needed.

Although elements of urgent care are delivered from a number of services, the main urgent care
services offering unplanned, walk-in services, and therefore those services affected by these
proposed changes are highlighted in orange below:

Walk-In Centre at Fleet Health Campus in Northfleet

\ j Minor Injuries Unit at Gravesham Community Hospital in

Gravesend

Services affected by the
proposals

Local GP surgeries

GP out-of-hours service

NHS 111

It is important to note that only the specific urgent care services at the sites outlined above will be
affected. The rest of the services at each site will be unaffected by these proposed changes.

The Fleet Health Campus continues to provide primary care services and patients registered with GP
practices on that site, or who access other types of services at that site, will continue to be able to
do so. There are plans to provide more services at that site in future, for example, some outpatient
clinics will be provided at the site rather than at the Darent Valley Hospital site.

Gravesham Community Hospital continues to offer the full range of adult and children’s community
services, outpatient clinics, long term condition services, rehabilitation services, x-ray and
phlebotomy services as well as over 100 intermediate and social care beds.

Darent Valley Hospital continues to offer the full range of acute services currently offered at the site
including the Accident and Emergency Department, outpatient and inpatient services, and diagnostic
facilities.

20
Page 38



‘Patient choice’ gives patients the freedom to choose where and how they receive NHS care and we
recognise that although people may reside in one CCG area, they may access services in another
area. The urgent care services on our boundaries are shown on the map below:

dayn(nox-rq
avaable at the weekend)

' Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley CCG
= Current urgent care services

: Gt e
o 2477
[ Fiiosinerteiiey ALE s
. GP-led 2477 urpent
Conuitant-led 2477 ARL e
servce and GP-od 247 setace
WQent Cane senice .
Sevenoaks Community (
Hospital
Nurse-led minoe injuncs o Maidstone
wivice am 10 8om seven wr. Hospatal
Cays & woek (N0 x-tay Comuitant-led 2477
avadable at the weekend) AL e
21

Page 39



Shortlisting options for consultation

Development of options

The original case for change and proposed clinical model for urgent care, which was presented to
the Kent Health Overview Scrutiny Committee in July 2017, consisted of a single option for face-to-
face walk-in services, that of Gravesham Community Hospital.

In April 2019, following the discontinuation of a procurement process, of which DGS face-to-face
urgent care services was a part, the CCG decided to also explore the potential of co-locating the
future UTC with the A&E on the Darent Valley Hospital site.

Based on the changing landscape, and the feedback the CCG received as part of the pre-consultation
engagement, the CCG’s long list of potential future site options was re-explored to ensure the CCG
had considered all viable options, and to ensure that the process by which the site options were
considered was clear and transparent. A four step options appraisal process was carried out

between April and May 2019:

A

STEP 4

Use the assessment of
viable options to
identify preferred
options to go forward
to public consultation
making sure to clearly
identify reasoning

STEP 3

Identify, review and
apply the desirable
criteriato assess and
decide the viable
options

STEP 2

Identify, review and
apply the essential
criteria to determine
which of the long-list of
site options are viable
and meet the ‘must-
have’ requirements

STEP 1

Identify, review and
agree the long-list of
potential site options
foran Urgent
Treatment Centre

The identification of the long-list of site options, and the essential and desirable criteria to be
applied to them were developed as outlined below:

Patient Participation Group

Public and stakeholder
engagement feedback

Clinical Cabinet develops

long list of site options,

essential and evaluation
criteria

(PPG) Chairs consider and
approve long list of site
options, essential and
evaluation criteria

r

On receipt of PPG Chair
feedback, Clinical Cabinet
confirms long list of site
options, essential and
evaluation criteria

Assessment of DGS Site
Options for Future Urgent
Treatment Centre Meeting
[multi-stakeholder) applies
essential and evaluation
criteria

Page 40

22



In its appraisal of potential site options, the CCG considered all sites within the CCG boundary that
could be reasonably made to accommodate an UTC without the need for significant investment, as
well as a ‘do nothing’ option for comparison purposes only, as remaining unchanged would not be a
viable option as it would not allow compliance with national mandate.

Options appraisal (long list)
The long-list of site options was as follows:

Dartford Swanscomb, =

o Bluewate = wwavesend
NODDIN € O Northfieet Gravesham Commurity Ho.

Livingstone Community ..

Eleet Health Campus

Option A - Do nothing

Option B - Fleet Health Campus

Option C - Livingstone Hospital

Option D - Gravesham Community Hospital
Option E - Darent Valley Hospital

Options appraisal (medium list)
Each long-list site option was considered against the essential criteria identified by the Clinical
Cabinet and supported by the PPG Chairs Group to ensure the site option was viable and met the
‘must have’ requirements of a future UTC:

# | Essential Criteria

1 | The site will support an UTC that is capable of complying with national mandate and
delivering the 27 standards and principles for UTCs as laid out by NHS England

2 | The site option is compliant with the disability discrimination act

3 | The site will support a fully compliant UTC without impacting detrimentally on existing
services at that site (e.g. where substantial variation to the way patients access existing

23
Page 41



services, such as relocation, might be required)

4 | An UTC is deliverable on the site within the required timeframe (by July 2020 at the earliest
and before autumn 2020 (Long Term Plan))

5 | The site option will support an UTC that represents value for money and affordability

The multi-stakeholder group applied the criteria to the long-list of site options, and although the
group expressed differing opinions regarding individual criterion, there was unanimous agreement
on which options failed to meet all essential criteria and this is shown in the table below:

Option A Option B [o]-11.1, X Option D Option E
Do Nothing Fleet Livingstone GCH DVH
1 The site will support an UTC that is capable of v 6/9 v 1/9 v 8f9 v 8f9
complying with national mandate and delivering
the 27 standards and principles for UTCs as laid out = 3/9 x7/9
by NHS England
Y g 1/9
2 The site option is compliant with the disability v 9/9 v 1/9 v 8f9 v 8f9
discrimination act
* 6/9
1/9
Mot scored
1/9
3 The site will support a fully compliant UTC without x9/9 x99 v 9/9 v 89
impacting detrimentally on existing services at
that site (e.g. where substantial variation to the 1/9
way patients access existing services, such as
relocation, might be required)
4 An UTCis deliverable on the site within the v 8/9 x99 v 8f9 v 8f9
required timeframe (by July 2020 at the earliest
and before autumn 2020 (Long Term Plan}) x1/9
5 The site option will support an UTC that represents v 1/9 x99 v 8f9 v 8f9
value for money and affordability
=8[9 1/9

The application of these essential criteria resulted in the elimination of Option B: Fleet Health
Campus (key concerns regarding value for money duplicating x-ray services to provide on-site, and
the resultant impact of that investment on access to the site and patient experience), and Option C:
Livingstone Community Hospital (key concerns regarding potential for site to deliver UTC given
current condition and backlog of estate maintenance issues, and impact on existing inpatient beds).

Option D: Gravesham Community Hospital and Option E: Darent Valley Hospital were found to be
viable options.

24
Page 42



Evaluation of the options (shortlisting)

Further analysis of the potential options for consultation was carried out using five desirable criteria
identified and listed in order of importance by the Clinical Cabinet. These were based on clinical
considerations and previous stakeholder feedback, and were supported by the PPG Chairs.

The desirable criteria for a future UTC site were as follows:

# | Desirable Criteria

Strategic fit
Alignment with existing commitments and other strategic plans that address local health
improvements

2 | Quality of care for all
Clinical effectiveness and responsiveness

3 | Access to care for all
Transport and other access issues

4 | Ability to deliver
Within nationally mandated timeframe

5 | Affordability and value for money

Maximum benefits for local population within available resources

The remaining options were assessed against the desirable criteria listed above and it was decided
by the multi-stakeholder group that both site options (Gravesham Community Hospital and Darent
Valley Hospital) should go forward to public consultation.

More in-depth information regarding the options appraisal process and the key differences between
the consultation site options is given in the Pre-Consultation Business Case™.

The key differences between these site options can be summarised in the flowcharts below (one for
each site option). The text boxes highlighted in yellow show the areas in which the site options may
provide different types of UTC services:

1 https://www.dartfordgraveshamswanleyccg.nhs.uk/get-involved/public-consultation-proposed-changes-to-
nhs-urgent-care-services-in-dartford-gravesham-and-swanley/

25
Page 43


https://www.dartfordgraveshamswanleyccg.nhs.uk/get-involved/public-consultation-proposed-changes-to-nhs-urgent-care-services-in-dartford-gravesham-and-swanley/
https://www.dartfordgraveshamswanleyccg.nhs.uk/get-involved/public-consultation-proposed-changes-to-nhs-urgent-care-services-in-dartford-gravesham-and-swanley/

‘lendsoy Asjes juaaeg e

'Y 0] PRI021IpaJ 2 ||l 2MAI2%
3yl ss2008 0] Juikil sjuanyed |y

—sjuaned Supdaooe dogs
Aayy “sanoy Suwuado Suunp uaas
20 ued eyl spuijed Jo 1aguuinu

“wdg - g se Apea se ag Aew syl

YD SIYIEI INAIIS YL UIYM

Suiguriosaud
P ——

-3 yoddns ppm JLn YL

IESEII
53] suoIjEIpIW 3UIInog
paquiosaud aqued sjuaned aunsuz

uznied puespieoqgdni Sulsuadsip
SNEY |1 JLN 24l sinoy
Funjesado Azewneyd apising

o33de|dul saaiasap dnosd e

Agaeau pajedo| sapewseyd
Apunuwiwod [eiaaas aue 2123y}
ng Aoewieyd 2ps-Uo ou 51 213y |

Fjeudosdde aiaym SUDIIEDIPIW
paquiasaad ag |1 sjuanned

lepdsoy
A3qep, Juaieq 1e uswpedag
'Y 241 01 [epdsoH Apunwiwoy
wieysanein woay juarped
ay3 podsues} 0] pajed 2q [jIm
IJDUBNQLUE Ue ‘uoijeeasa pides
sasnbal uworppuod sjuaiyed ey

lepdsoy
A3jleA Ju2ae] 1R IRY 2U3
0] paja2aipal aq ||IMm suailipuod
SNOIJ3S 3U0W 40} JUIW]B3I] pue
JUIWSSasse uldinbal syjuaied

Aes-wapdws
esasinbas 1o Auniul Jouiw e
J0J JUIWIESI] S3INba uoIpuad
4134341 3S JUBI3LIp B 553008
03 uaned e oy Juswaanbal
2 3 JaGuojou |1m 3u3yL

%

|EALIIE JO SInOy
Qg UIYIM10|5s Juswiulodde ue
U3AIS 30 puB |BALLIE 1O S3INUIW
ST UlYm passasse Ajjealun|
aq | sjuaned ul-y|ea USas
30 03 JEM pUB J1M 343 03 Ul-H|BM
013|ge 24 ||135 05| e || 1M SU311E

3w uswiuodde a3y
10 S3INUIW O UIYM U335 3q |[1m
sju3Ned “ARp WeSs 3y JL0 24l
18 JuawWwiUlodde ue yooq,uRIUL|D
2 yim yeads ued syuaned
‘a1enadosdde 51 —aued Juadin
Jol 553008 jolulod 3)5uls Ayl
aq [ (auljuo f suoyd) TTT SHN

AYS-U0 INAI2S Funueanls
212 Aewilg 3y} 0] paweal)s ag
A2y psow e IRy 1e Juasaad
oym sjuaijed puejuawpedap
By uo aunssaad 3y} 20npad 0}
AEyiun s1 Juawpedap 39y 243
LWI0J) S| |EI2N3S PAJED0| DN Y

Aes-xuied pue (903)
SWesFoIpied0s1a3)2 sIsh|eulan
‘SNIs0USeIp apIspag SuIpnjaul

a1s sndwe] yjjeaH 183)4
3y11e 3gejieae AJUa1ind Jou
S211s0USeIp J0 3fuel B 0155300y

\_,,.

UOIlBYISNSa] J1eIpaed pueynpe
Ul paulell wesAeudiosipiynw
AT paUE}s 331035 PR-dD

J3ysuely
|1un sjuaized SuljesoEEp pue
J11 &je3131a3 3feuew o3 paddinba
1ng safe ||e josiuained o Anful
PUBSS3U||I JOUIW B3] |1 JLN 5.
S537IE 01 321AIIS YIIYM JO 3UN5Un
suaned ol Aemyied paidljduwng

{wnuwuw)
Jeaf Jad shepggg fsiYgT uadg

JexdsoH
Alunwwo)
WeYSaAelD

12 pazeao| 21N

26

Page 44



Ekia
ul u23s 3q [ sanoy Suuado
J1n 2y} Jaye Sulpualle sjuaned
*AEp 3Y1 Jo pu= 3y 18 Aessaoau
JLUIY UAMOP-UNI U §1 34341

suiguiosaud
[—

-2 oddns L0 YL

[s13)BYUI
B3] suoieMpaw BuIInog
paOuasaud 3q ued syuaiied aunsus
o13ae|d ul sanipasap dnold
juaned puespieogdna Sursuadsip
BRELY || JLN 24yl sanoy
Sunesado Asewieyd apisaing

‘lendsoy 243 wiypsm uado
Aoeweyd aps-uo ue 51313y

sjeudosdde auaym suoIIEIIpaW
paquasaud aq || siusned

2OUB|NOLUE UE 10} WEM
PUuE ||E2 0] pa3U Y] INoYum
pue Ae[ap Jnoypm uawpedap
T2V 24l 01 pauiajsuel) Apjms
ag ued Juaned 3yl eyl s2unsu2
uoIedo-03 ‘uocijejersa prdes
salinbal uoippuod sjuaed e y

apsuo uawpedap gy 2yl 0}
‘UBIUID Jo1uas paoualadya ue
Aq ‘paweas)s 2q M sUoIpuod
SNOI35 3J0W 10} JUSWIEaI] pue
awssasse Fuldinbaa syuaned

Apd-xajdwis
esaqinbas o ‘funlul Jouiw e
J0J Ju3Wleau] saainbas uoiipual
4124141 3315 JUSJ3YIp B 553008
03 uznned e oy Juawadinbay
e 3 Ja8uo] ou 1w 3J34L

|EALLIE 1O SINOY
oM UIYIIM 0|5 Juawulodde ue
U2n|E 30 pue |naldle 10 S3INuUIw
ST Ul passasse Ajjeaiul)a
ag | suanied ul-y|epL US3S
20 01 JEM pUE 10 34 oJUl-yjem
031 3|ge 24 ||135 05| ||IM SIU313E4

W3 uswiuodde 3y
10 SHNUIW OF UIYIAM US3S 34 |1
SIUIIEA CABp IWES 3yl J1n Y3

12 uswiuiodde ue yooq/ueiula

B yum yeads ued sjuained
‘aiendosdde y —aue3 UGN
Jol55310e joluiod 3| Fuls ayl

aq Jpimfaunua f auoyd) TTT SHN

\_,,.

T'BY Y1 woy payy agq
0} 3Jnssaad wnwivew 3yl siayo
210421241 pue 311 2y} spiemoy
pa3p211p24 3q 03 Aanful/ssau)
Fuiuageaiyl 21 noypm sjuaiped
SMOJE S301AU35 318 AduaFiawa
pueju25in Jo WoIeI0}-00 Y|

Aes-wuie|d pue [503)
SLIEIF0Iple104133|3 SIsh|BULIN
‘sajsoudelp apispag Eupn|aul

s sndwer yiesH 13314
2U11e Ijge|ieas AjIUa4nD Jou
S21150USeIp J0 afuel B 0155300y

b_x

UOIIBYISNSad J143e | paed puejjnpe

Ul paulesy weay ueuldiasipijnw fe<—

A payels 321035 pR|-dD

J3ysuel)

[13un sjuzied Suilelolialap pue
|11 Ajeai3iad afeuew of paddinbs
ngsage )& 1o syuaiied o Aanlun

puUE SSIU||1 JOUW 18343 |1 DL 58
S530IE 03 FINIAISS YIIYM JO 3INsUn
sjuanned joy Aemyied paipduwns

sinoy 128uo)

Jead sad shepoge /sIygT usdp

2yerado Asw ng ‘{unuwiumw) e

|eydsoH
A3ajjen 1uaieq

3e juawedag 3y
ay3 yiim pajeso|-03 31N

27

Page 45



Public consultation

Overview of consultation

The formal consultation on the proposals for the siting of the future Urgent Treatment Centre in
Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley ran for 12 weeks from 12 August to midnight on 4 November
2019.

The consultation activity consisted of the distribution of printed and online consultation materials
including a survey, regular engagement with the public via digital and social media channels, ,
stakeholder briefings, open roadshow events, structured listening events, independently
commissioned work with communities with protected characteristic and sometimes described as
seldom heard.

The consultation process and consultation responses were analysed and evaluated by an
independent third party organisation and were published by the CCG on the CCG website as soon as
the period of purdah was lifted on 13 December 2019. Stakeholders and participants of the
consultation (who provided their details) were informed by email with a link to the post-consultation
report. This report is shown in Appendix A.

Response to Consultation Activity
The CCG received an unprecedented number of survey responses (online and hard copy), with
16,474 surveys returned containing approximately 25,000 free-text responses.

Over 21,000 consultation materials were printed and distributed. There was local news coverage of
the consultation, Facebook advertising, social media messages, and 1,166 members of the public
were engaged through a roadshow visiting 30 community venues including locations specifically
addressing hard to reach groups. Formal meetings were held with key stakeholder groups,
engagement with the public, patients, staff, local authorities, local councillors, MPs, GPs, and
members of the public from protected characteristic groups. Engage Kent was commissioned to
independently engage people with physical disabilities and residents of rural areas.

The CCG held three independently facilitated public listening events, one in Dartford, one in
Gravesham and one in Swanley. A total of 81 people attended. These events generally followed the
structure of a short presentation providing context and an overview of the proposals, followed by a
plenary Q&A session, and facilitated individual table discussions.

Engagement with neighbouring areas

The CCG engaged with neighbouring CCGs and the Health Overview Scrutiny Committees in those
neighbouring areas of Bexley, Bromley, Medway, and West Kent. Whilst all neighbouring boroughs
expressed interest in the proposed changes Bexley Communities Overview and Scrutiny
Committee (COSC), whose remit includes health and public health issues, expressed concern that the
DGS proposals represented a substantial variation to NHS health services for Bexley residents.

28
Page 46



The Bexley COSC was first contacted on 15 May 2019. The formal decision that the proposals
represented a significant variation to the Bexley population was made over 24 weeks later on 16
October 2019.

A ‘substantial variation’ of health services is not defined in Regulations, however the key feature is
that there is a major change to services experienced by patients and future patients*.

Since 16 October 2019, discussions were held with members of Bexley COSC and Kent HOSC
regarding the formation of a Joint Health Overview Scrutiny Committee (JHOSC) to consider the
CCG’s eventual decision regarding the siting of the future Urgent Treatment Centre.

The formation of a JHOSC was considered and supported by Kent County Council on 17 December
2019. As the COSC decision regarding substantial variation came towards the end of the public
consultation period and just before the onset of Purdah, it was not possible to carry out any focused
engagement before the end of the consultation period. To ensure that the CCG fully understands
the views of the Bexley population an additional period of intensive engagement was undertaken
consisting of:

e A survey conducted by the CCG Communications and Engagement team face-to-face
with 97 people interviewed over three sessions at the following sites:

o Erith Urgent Care Centre - (Tuesday 17 December (am) and Monday 06 January (pm)
o Queen Mary’s Hospital - Wednesday 18 December (am).

e Informal discussion with front-line staff and doctors delivering urgent care services in Bexley
based at both Urgent Care Centre sites.

e A targeted listening event, conducted by DGS CCG in partnership with Bexley CCG and
Healthwatch Bexley, was held on 09 January with a group of Bexley patients.

The key findings from this Bexley focused intensive engagement activities are as follows (Appendix
q):

e For Bexley respondents:

o Accessibility and travel times seem to be the main drivers for patients’ decisions when
they need urgent care

o Darent Valley Hospital is relatively easily accessible by car and public transport, and
some patients believe that co-location with the A&E department means an Urgent
Treatment Centre would provide a higher quality service and provide treatment “all in
one place”. Having said this, car parking at the Darent Valley Hospital site, was also
raised as a concern for Bexley residents.

12 http://cfps.org.uk.surface3.vm.bytemark.co.uk/domains/cfps.org.uk/local/media/uploads/33.pdf

29
Page 47


http://cfps.org.uk.surface3.vm.bytemark.co.uk/domains/cfps.org.uk/local/media/uploads/33.pdf

o An Urgent Treatment Centre at Darent Valley Hospital is seen as a potential alternative
option rather than as a first choice as there are two well regarded Urgent Care Centres
within the Bexley boundary.

o A third of Bexley respondents felt there would be no impact or very limited impact for
them as a result of the siting of a future Urgent Treatment Centre as they would be
unlikely to use any of the alternatives in Dartford, Gravesham or Swanley.

e Whilst there was no suggestion from the initial survey that patients might look towards Bexley

urgent care services, staff and doctors at both Erith Hospital and Queen Mary’s Hospital

commented that they saw a significant number of patients from Dartford, Gravesham and

Swanley, and this was attributed to pressures, difficulty in securing GP appointments, long waits

at Darent Valley Hospital and frequent referrals from NHS 111 and GPs. Recent GP closures in

Dartford were also cited.

Evaluation of public consultation process
The consultation process was independently evaluated. The independent review found that the

CCa:

“made considerable efforts to engage widely and reach relevant groups of

residents and stakeholders through an inclusive process, invited response

through a variety of channels, and can provide evidence to show how the

exercise met the key requirements and best practice” (Appendix A page 11)

The relevant requirements and standards in respect of public and stakeholder consultation, and the

CCG’s performance against those requirements and standards, along with the independent

evaluator commentary, are shown in the table below (Appendix A pages 12 and 13). All

requirements and standards relevant to engagement were found to have been met.

Requirement Comments
The Secretary of State for (NB. only one of these relevant to public engagement)
Health’s four tests

1. Strong public and patient
engagement

The response and participation level in this consultation was high,
and a variety of channels were provided through which people
gave views

Code of Practice

A. Consultations should be
clear and concise

The consultation document set out clear Options for location of
the new UTC

B. Consultations should have a
purpose

This consultation set out two clear Options for location of the new
service, and detail is provided on the governance and decision-
making process which will follow

C. Consultations should be
informative

A great deal of information was provided about the case for
change, the process for developing options and making decisions
and the relative strengths of each Option

D. Consultations are only part
of a process of engagement

This consultation builds on strong previous patient and public
engagement exercises, and used existing well-established
communication channels developed by the CCG and its partners

30
Page 48




E. Consultations should last for
a proportionate amount of
time

The consultation lasted for 12 weeks, which is considered
appropriate for public sector engagement exercises (set out in
Code of Practice)

F. Consultations should be
targeted

Both in respect of groups sharing protected characteristics - and
more broadly — groups likely to be high-level users of urgent care,
or face access issues were identified, and clear efforts made to
ensure that representatives and individual voices from these
groups provided insight to inform the consultation

G. Consultations should take
account of the groups being
consulted

This report provides a detailed analysis of the views of people
participating in the consultation, as well as including separate
independent reports focused on seldom heard groups and
mitigations to perceived weaknesses in the Options

Together, these provide a summary of views heard to inform the
CCG’s decision-making meeting and local authority scrutiny

H. Consultations should be
agreed before publication

This builds on a significant period of pre-consultation
development and engagement, and there was a rigorous,
inclusive process through which Options were evaluated (set out
in the consultation documents), and broad agreement by
commissioners and providers to proceed to consultation

I. Consultation should
facilitate scrutiny

The CCG has engaged widely during the development of the
Options and consultation plans, including with local authority
scrutiny - this report will form part of the papers for forthcoming
review

The consultation documents are clear about the relative strengths
of each Option and the broader challenges for urgent care in
Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley — this information enables
well- informed analysis through which proposals can be
scrutinised by stakeholders and residents

J. Government responses to Not relevant
consultations should be

published in a timely fashion

K. Consultation exercises Not relevant

should not generally be
launched during local
or national election periods.

Gunning Principles

1. Consultation must take
place when the proposal is still
at a formative stage

This is a genuine process to explore views between two
alternative Options for location of the UTC

2. Sufficient reasons must be
put forward for the proposal
to allow for intelligent
consideration and response

The consultation document and other materials provided a great
deal of clear, ‘in context’ information about the case for change
and relative strengths of different Options to enable well-
informed responses

3. Adequate time must be
given for consideration and
response

The consultation lasted for 12 weeks, which is considered
appropriate for public sector engagement exercises (set out in
Code of Practice)

4. Feedback from consultation
must be conscientiously taken
into account.

This report provides a detailed analysis of the views of people
participating in the consultation, as well as including separate
independent reports focused on seldom heard groups and
mitigations to perceived weaknesses in the Options

Together, these provide a summary of views heard to inform the

31
Page 49




CCG’s decision-making meeting and local authority scrutiny

Equality

Equalities impacts Likely impacts were identified before consultation began through
an Equalities Impact Assessment which was published by the CCG,
and this was repeated post-consultation

Engagement with seldom heard and equalities groups is
summarised in this report and as [Independent Evaluation
Report Appendix C] and an independent engagement exercise
with three specific communities commissioned, with report at
[Independent Evaluation Report Appendix D].

Public sector equality duty The consultation process was inclusive and participation levels
(PSED) high, notably by residents sharing protected characteristics:
minority ethnic communities, older people, people with
disabilities, faith communities (see demographic breakdown)

Public comments on the public consultation process
Comments from members of the public regarding the consultation process, suggested
improvements could be made to the publicising of the consultation and associated events, venue
selection, and data availability. Concerns were also raised regarding predetermination of the
consultation outcome, and concerns that proposals may represent cuts to services, or a step
towards privatisation of NHS services (Appendix A page 8).

Consultation findings and key themes
The findings from the independent analysis of the quantitative and qualitative data from the public
consultation are summarised below (Appendix A):

The consultation was characterised by a very large late surge in responses (last 72 hours of the 12
week consultation period), with an over-whelming majority in favour of the Gravesham Community
Hospital option.

Key information regarding consultation respondents:
e 91% of responses were in a personal capacity (therefore own and uninfluenced)

e The sample of respondents skews slightly towards women over 45 years old and apparently
towards those who identify as White British although 21% of respondents chose not to describe
their ethnic origin. 48% of respondents identified as ‘Christian’. Analysis of DGS CCG local
population ethnicity, based on the most recent census data (2011)13 shows 84% of people

identified themselves as English/Welsh/Scottish/Northern Irish/British, and 16% as other ethnic

backgrounds. In an attempt to provide a more up-to-date ethnicity profile for the local

populations

1 https://www.dartfordgraveshamswanleyccg.nhs.uk/members/ccg-staff-zone/equality-diversity-inclusion-tools/bme-
population-breakdowns/

32
Page 50



e 12% considered themselves to have a disability (predominantly physical disability)
e 46% of respondents have a caring responsibility (most likely of children)

e 68% of respondents have used the Minor Injuries Unit and over 50% have also used Fleet Health
Campus Northfleet and A&E at Darent Valley Hospital showing that all services are very
important to the local community

o 66% of respondents claim to have used a car when accessing urgent care services previously and
only 11% of people said they used public transport

Whilst it is important to consider the report in its entirety, there are a few key points that can
summarise the feedback received:

e There were four consistent key themes across both questionnaire and engagement events and
all relate to access:

o Proximity of the site (distance to travel to the service)

o Traffic
o Public transport

o Parking

e Overall, 80% of respondents supported the siting of an UTC at Gravesham Community Hospital
vs. 5% supporting an UTC at Darent Valley Hospital.

o Respondents in DA11l (area around Gravesham Community Hospital) very highly
endorsed Option 1 as this option sits within their local postcode area, and is therefore
much easier to access for local residents. 85% of people who claim to live in this area
‘Strongly Agree’ that Gravesham Community Hospital is the better site for the new UTC
and 90% ‘Agree overall’.

o Residents of DA2 (area around Darent Valley Hospital) are more polarised in their
opinion of moving the UTC to Darent Valley Hospital. Less than half (43%) ‘Strongly
Agree’ that it would be the best option, while nearly a third (31%) ‘Strongly Disagree’
with this option.

e 25,000 free-text responses were received. Analysis of free-text samples to establish if the
responses indicate different issues or concerns between the respondents that preferred each
option:

33
Page 51



o For both groups, ease of journey is the main driver of site preference and ease of access
is the main concern, followed by parking issues, and concerns about other services at
the site

o For respondents who preferred Gravesham Community Hospital the site was easier and
cheaper to reach, had better parking (availability and cost), and they shared concerns
that Darent Valley Hospital facilities are already overstretched and an UTC at the Darent
Valley Hospital site might lead to longer waiting times

o For respondents who preferred Darent Valley Hospital proximity to site was important,
and co-location of services at the site was favoured

Consultation responses did surge significantly in the last 72 hours of the 12 week consultation
period. Analysis of the preferences of early and late responders was carried out to better
understand the views of early and late consultation responders. The analysis revealed that
Gravesham Community Hospital was the preferred site regardless of the timing of the
respondent’s feedback:

o Late responders: 93% favoured Gravesham Community Hospital vs. 3% favouring Darent
Valley Hospital.

o Early responders: 75% favoured Gravesham Community Hospital vs. 22% in favour of
Darent Valley Hospital.

Other valuable comments made, all of which also relate to access issues, included feedback on
the following:

o Access needs of local communities, particularly residents who may not have English as a
first language or with access issues linked to deprivation or age (e.g. reliance on public
transport)

o Pressures on local services, particularly the rapid growth in some areas such as Ebbsfleet
Garden City, and specific concerns raised regarding the level of activity at Darent Valley
Hospital

o Need for greater accessibility (especially appointments that are easier to access) and
more care provided in non-acute settings, in particular general practice

General comments were made about the need for the CCG to communicate effectively when
introducing new services and educating the public on the most appropriate way to access all
local health services

34
Page 52



Post consultation feedback

After the consultation period, the CCG received a letter from Gravesham Borough Council, regarding
a resolution unanimously passed at the Gravesham Borough Council meeting on 17 December 2019.
The resolution echoed concerns raised by Gravesham Borough Councillors and members of the
public during the consultation period and featured within the consultation feedback considered in
the evaluation report.

Consideration of the consultation process and activity

The consultation process and activity were considered by the CCG’s Governing Body and the Kent
Health Overview Scrutiny Committee to determine whether the CCG had fulfilled its statutory
obligation regarding public consultation.

Consideration by the CCG Governing Body
The Consultation process and activity were considered at the Governing Body meeting on 28
November 2019.

The CCG Governing Body considered the following questions to assist its evaluation of the
consultation process:

e Did the consultation secure the involvement of key stakeholders?

e Was everyone given a reasonable opportunity to state their views?

e Was it possible to engage with a diverse set of views?

e Did anyone with a significant viewpoint fail to participate?

e How do the key themes and issues arising from the consultation impact on the decision making?
The Governing Body determined that:

e The consultation secured the involvement of key stakeholders.

e The consultation gave the public a reasonable opportunity to state their views.

e The consultation engaged with the public in such a way as to welcome a diverse set of views.

o All those likely to have significant viewpoints were welcomed to participate.

e Having considered all available information, and heard the concerns of consultation
respondents, that mitigations for the issues raised would be developed as part of the Decision
Making Business Case (DMBC) and implementation planning.

The CCG Governing Body agreed that the extent of consultation and engagement activity
undertaken during the consultation period, the number of responses received, and the consistency
of the themes coming through from the feedback gathered, meant the themes arising from the
consultation can reasonably be relied upon to be a fair representation of the views of the local

35
Page 53



population across its three constituent areas (Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley), as well as those in
the neighbouring areas who provided input.

Consideration by the Joint Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee

The Kent Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee (with two Bexley COSC members in attendance)
met on 16 December 2019 to review and consider the consultation process and to receive an update
on the next steps in the urgent care review..

The HOSC councillors (including Bexley COSC members in attendance) put a number of questions to
three members of the DGS CCG urgent care review team about the consultation process, the
consultation responses, the potential mitigations, and the next steps.

The HOSC Committee members reached unanimous agreement that Dartford, Gravesham and
Swanley CCG has discharged its statutory responsibility regarding the public consultation into the
location for an Urgent Treatment Centre. However, in view of the concerns expressed by Bexley
councillors that the proposals represented a substantial variation, the committee supported the
CCG’s plans for additional engagement with Bexley residents to inform the final Governing Body
decision.

The HOSC comments can be summarised as follows:

e The Committee recognised the access concerns raised in the public consultation responses and
the opportunities for Health and Kent County Council to work together with NHS and other
agencies to address access issues relating to road congestion and public transport

e The Committee discussed the two options and recognised the need to retain walk-in GP services
in Gravesham, and for the public to have access to the wide range of services available on the
Darent Valley Hospital site

e The Committee wanted the Governing Body decision to ensure that it addressed :
o the growth anticipated in Ebbsfleet and north Bexley
o the need for sufficient staffing and provision of clinicians to provide required services

o the tight timeframe for the implementation available so that people are not left without
services

e Bexley COSC attendees expressed concern that if the Gravesham Community Hospital site was
chosen for the Urgent Treatment Centre, that a greater number of people living in the West of
the CCG may choose to attend Bexley urgent care services (Erith Urgent Care Centre, and Queen
Mary’s Hospital Sidcup Urgent Care Centre) than travel east to Gravesham Community Hospital.

e The Committee raised a number of queries relating to the possibility of a two site Urgent
Treatment Centre model making use of both Gravesham Community Hospital and Darent Valley
Hospital

36
Page 54



e The Committee recognised the overwhelming consultation response in favour of Gravesham
Community Hospital.

The HOSC Committee members reached unanimous agreement that Dartford, Gravesham and
Swanley CCG has met its statutory responsibility regarding the public consultation into the location
for an Urgent Treatment Centre.

37
Page 55



Identifying appropriate mitigation

Approach

Following consultation, a process was undertaken to identify appropriate mitigation; mitigation that
might best address the needs of the local urgent care system, as well as address the concerns raised
through the public consultation process.

Post-consultation - options appraisal meeting
A Post Consultation - Options Appraisal meeting, attended by CCG clinical, executive, commissioning,
finance and communications and engagement representatives, took place on 18 November 2019 to

review:
(i) the pre-consultation options appraisal process
(ii) consider the public consultation activities and consultation response key themes
(iii) consider the outcome of travel mapping
(iv) review the refreshed Equality Impact Assessment
(v) agree next steps.

It was agreed by the group that the desirable criteria (applied to consultation options pre-
consultation) was still valid. The group considered concerns about how residents currently using the
Walk-in-Centre and Minor Injuries Unit located within Gravesham might be affected under a single
site UTC model as further developments in primary, local and urgent care are either:

. not yet consistently felt by the public,

° or the development is still in design stages (included but not limited to Primary Care
Networks, NHS111 and Clinical Advice Service, and Integrated Care Partnerships).

The group also considered the concerns expressed, regardless of preferred option, regarding access
issues at the Darent Valley Hospital site (congestion on roads, public transport, parking, parking
costs). The group acknowledged these concerns regarding access and also noted that solutions were
not yet in place.

The group considered public concerns re: growth in the DGS area and impact on services perceived
to be ‘already stretched’.

The group reached unanimous consensus that a single site solution for urgent care across
Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley was unlikely to mitigate well placed concerns raised during the
public consultation.

The group also agreed that the overlap between urgent, local and primary care made it necessary to
consider all urgent, local and primary care needs when identifying potential mitigations, and some
time may well be needed to consider the ways in which primary care developments can support the
future UTC model.

38
Page 56



The group discussed mitigating concerns raised in consultation by exploring the provision of urgent
care services (currently provided by Walk-in Centre, Minor Injuries Unit and A&E) from both sites
(Gravesham Community Hospital and Darent Valley Hospital) via a ‘networked model of care’. This
would help address the uncertainty in the current healthcare landscape as various important
healthcare developments and transformational work that are currently underway, continue to
progress and deliver the intended benefits to the local population; workforce and other resource
considerations.

Networked model of care

A networked model of care was first outlined in NHS England’s ‘Urgent Treatment Centres — FAQs to
support implementation’ document updated in August 2019, The relevant sections are provided
below:

“What options are there for services that may have exceptional reasons for not maintaining the
minimum service offer?

Designation as an UTC for services not offering the full specification should be considered exceptional.
NHS England and NHS Improvement regional teams will review any requests from localities for such
exceptions. To ensure patients have a clear understanding of the service offer expected at an UTC
anywhere in the country, these exceptions will not be commonly granted. There may be opportunities
for a limited offer to form part of an alternative community service, or to provide an enhanced offer
within, e.g. an extended access hub. All services should be clearly identified within an updated and
maintained DoS to enable effective referral from NHS 111 and 999 services.

Is it acceptable for services that do not meet the full UTC standards to operate as a ‘spoke’ service in

hub and spoke model?

Services are expected to meet all the UTC standards; however some localities may wish to explore

innovative ways of achieving the standards as part of a networked model of care. This could include

shared GP leadership across one or more sites or consultation via video link to clinicians in the CAS.

Proposals should stand up to the following checks to ensure the UTC vision is not compromised and

demonstrate:

How clinical care is improved;

How confusion is reduced;

How service offer is improved;

How patient flow is improved;

How the service offer ensures there is consistency of service provision in line with expected

standards; and

6. Consistent and fail-safe access protocols are in place where required — e.g. referral and reporting
process for X-ray if this is not on site.

Luh WNR

Regions should consider proposals on a site by site basis and proposals must be...approved through
regional governance structures including approval from regional clinical lead or clinical senate. If
accepted there should be clear sign posting on the DoS to the service offer and ongoing evaluation of
patient flow and periodic review to ensure the service continues to pass the checks above.”

14 https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2017/07/urgent-treatment-centres-fags-v2.0.pdf

39
Page 57



https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2017/07/urgent-treatment-centres-faqs-v2.0.pdf

Assuring the mitigated model

Background to quality assurance
The urgent care review has sought to meet all obligations in regards to statutory requirements and

assurance that accompany any change to NHS services.

Throughout the programme, the urgent care review has:

e Had a clinically-led options development process where clinical, finance and commissioner

expertise has been brought together to allow the CCG Governing Body to make the

recommendations on service options

e Actively engaged with patients and the public and their representatives, as well as local

authorities and their overview and scrutiny committees, providers and other CCGs.

There have been several different forms of assurance that have been undertaken during the urgent
care review, all of which are discussed in detail in the pre-consultation business case®™. The forms of
assurance to date can be summarised as follows:

Local Authority Health
Overview and Scrutiny
Committees

CCG Governing Body

Independent Lay Members

Clinical Audit

Post consultation assurance of the mitigated model

Healthwatch

Protected Learning Time
Meeting (GP
educationalfinformational
monthly meeting chaired by
the CCG Clinical Chair) and
Clinical Cabinet

Impact Assessments
(Equalities, Privacy, Quality)

Patient/Public Involvement

Peer Clinical Appraisal

MHS England

The Urgent Treatment Centre model has been assured as outlined above. The CCG’s proposed

mitigation to address public concerns identified through public consultation is to provide the Urgent
Treatment Centre model over two sites rather than at a single site, and for services to be networked

15 . . .
https://www.dartfordgraveshamswanleyccg.nhs.uk/get-involved/public-consultation-proposed-changes-to-nhs-urgent-

care-services-in-dartford-gravesham-and-swanley/

Page 58

40


https://www.dartfordgraveshamswanleyccg.nhs.uk/get-involved/public-consultation-proposed-changes-to-nhs-urgent-care-services-in-dartford-gravesham-and-swanley/
https://www.dartfordgraveshamswanleyccg.nhs.uk/get-involved/public-consultation-proposed-changes-to-nhs-urgent-care-services-in-dartford-gravesham-and-swanley/

to ensure they operate in an integrated way, as part of an urgent care system for Dartford,
Gravesham and Swanley CCG’s local population.

NHSE have been consulted and have considered the mitigations suggested within this paper.

If the mitigated model is supported by the Governing Body, the detailed networked model and
revised service specifications will be worked on over the coming months and will be refined in
collaboration with current providers of urgent care services, GP membership, including NHS 111,
primary and local commissioners and providers.

41
Page 59



Assessing the implications of the mitigated model

Description of mitigated model
This section describes the preferred option for the future Urgent Treatment Centre Networked
Model of Care in Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley.

The mitigated model is for the implementation of a networked model of urgent care ensuring all
networked services combined comply with the 27 national standards for Urgent Treatment Centres.

This model will be refined over time allowing the benefits of other developments such as the
extended and improved primary care access, Primary Care Networks, and the Integrated Care
Partnership to be realised.

The networked model will consist of the following networked services:

e Urgent Treatment Centre at Gravesham Community Hospital and Urgent Treatment Centre at
Darent Valley Hospital (co-located with A&E)

The reason the networked model of urgent care is preferred is as follows:

e Urgent care is not being transformed in isolation, but the other programmes of work are either
still in their infancy or the benefits are not yet felt by the local population (e.g. Primary Care
Networks, improved/extended primary care access, movement of outpatient clinics away from
an acute setting)

e There was general support for an Urgent Treatment Centre model.

e The consultation responses highlight concerns regarding accessing the Darent Valley Hospital
site by car (including issues of congestion and parking availability on-site), and by public
transport (limited access for certain routes). Concerns regarding the cost of accessing the site
were also raised (parking, taxi costs). The public consultation also identified that the current
infrastructure at Darent Valley hospital, was unlikely to cope with any additional footfall,
particularly in view of the anticipated growth within the area in the coming years.

e The impact of growth in the area is estimated but may be clearer in the coming years.

e The transformation of the local health system, including the merger of eight CCGs into one CCG
and creation of the Integrated Care Partnerships can take place without additional pressures in
the system.

e Concerns raised by Bexley councillors regarding potential increased use of Bexley urgent care
services by Dartford patients will be addressed through the implementation of urgent care
services across two sites (one of which is Darent Valley Hospital) and a robust communications
plan informing local residents about local NHS services (including urgent care).

The mitigated networked model of urgent care proposed is shown in the diagram below:

42
Page 60



(|endsoH Az)jep usieq)
$3)IAIBS SINOL
-J0-1n0 49 Yum pajesbayul angua)
juauneal | yuabin pue 39y

(jendsoH Ayunwiwo) weyssiels)
SINIIS
SIN0Y-J0-3N0 49 YIM pajeibaul
aI1jua) Juswiesl | uabin

21€7 JO [9pOo paxjiomiaN
a1e) Juabup) pauoissiiwe) §9¢

uonebiiw

yeqpasy
UoIE}[NSUO)
Alll.ll.ll...lu

Alul.lrrrrr.
uolebiyiw
Feqpaay
Loljeynsuad

[2po uonebmipy pasedoid

(|ewdsop Agjjep Juazeq)

33195 bulweans +
a1ed Arewnd pue 38y
skemyied
a1e) Juabip
pauoIssIWLIO)
$9d
(jendsoy Ajunwwo) weysanelo)
LELTITEH

5IN0Y-§o-1n0 4o Y3Im pajesdajul <

aljua) Juawijeal| juabin

suondg [apojy uoneynsuo)

Al...
ujweaa)s aied Arewnd pue 3y

T :o:ao
(jendsoH Agjjep Juade
:G_umu_:m:ou ﬁ _ u I __ )u Dv
IMIS
]

(s|evdseH Aunwiwo)
WEeYsanelD) pue A3||eA JuaIeq)
9210195 Burpsia awoy
pue 3315 aseq $IN0Y-§o-1no 49

(|evdsoH Ajlunwiwo?) Em;mgﬂg
Tuondp Jun saunlul Jouiy
Uoley|nsuo?)

(sndwe) yieay 1234) w,
anua) ul-ylem

shemuied
ale) uabin

PaUOISSILILIO)
594

SNAIRG 24e) Juabin) Juaun)

43

Page 61



Careful consideration has been given to identify what urgent, local and primary care services should
be provided at each site, and the ways in which services could be networked to ensure the best
provision of urgent care possible for the local population within existing resources.

The healthcare system is currently under significant change with the transformation of the eight
clinical commissioning groups into a single Kent & Medway Clinical Commissioning Group from April
2020, the implementation of an Integrated Care Partnership in 2021, and the development of
Primary Care Networks to improve the health of local populations.

The service specification for an Urgent Treatment Centre as part of a two site networked model of
care will be adjusted if supported by the Governing Body. It is clear that the DGS UTC model is
intended to achieve the following:

e Bring together the Walk-in Centre and Minor Injuries Unit into an Urgent Treatment Centre by
July 2020

e Avoid directing additional patients currently using the Walk-in Centre and Minor Injuries Unit in
Gravesham to the Darent Valley Hospital site thereby relieving additional pressure to road
congestion, or car parking availability at the acute trust site

e Rejuvenate the GP triage service (also referred to as GP streaming) at the front door of the A&E
at Darent Valley Hospital so that patients with issues most appropriately managed by primary
care do not add to A&E pressures or longer waiting times

e Integrate services across the two networked sites supported by an effective communications
and engagement campaign so that the public can have the best possible understanding of what
and how they can access services at each site

e Implement the direct booking system via NHS 111 and 999 at all networked services — this will
require specific software (i.e. EMIS)

e Identify if sites will operate as a ‘hub’ and ‘spoke’ networked model of care

e Close integration with GP out-of-hours services (including both base and home visiting elements)
so that transition from in-hours to out-of-hours services is seamless, maximises use of
technology to support effective service delivery, for example, Skype consultations

e The achievement of the 27 national standards for Urgent Treatment Centres across the network
(rather than at specific sites). Any networked services will share robust clinical governance
processes

e Focus on integration between urgent and local care (making every contact count™)
e Maximise use of technology to help address workforce challenges

e More joined up working with social care and mental health

e Explore opening hours at Gravesham Community Hospital site to support peak times of
attendances at A&E at Darent Valley Hospital as part of a networked model of care.

16 .
https://www.makingeverycontactcount.co.uk/

44
Page 62


https://www.makingeverycontactcount.co.uk/

Patient stories
Examples of patient journeys under the Urgent Treatment Centre model were outlined in the pre-

consultation business case, and remain relevant to the mitigated model.

With a two site

networked model of care patients will have a choice of which Urgent Treatment Centre to visit and

they may consider ease of access or proximity to A&E depending upon their clinical condition.

The Patient Current Model UTC Model
Paediatric Steve and Logan Steve and Logan
patient

Steve’s 3-year-old son, Logan, has been
restless and off his food all day. At
bedtime, Steve notices Logan has a rash
on his chest and arms.

Steve is worried about this so could
decide to use any of the current urgent
care services.

A paediatric patient may currently
access any urgent care service. The
service accessed may not be the right
site for the child to receive the
necessary or optimal care.

This may require paediatric patients to
be transferred between services.

A child taken to the MIU who may
require the care of a GP in relation to
minor illness will not be able to be
appropriately treated at the nurse led
and delivered MIU, conversely a child
brought to the WIC who may require
treatment for a minor injury would
need to be referred to the MIU or A&E
for diagnostics/treatment.

The WIC and MIU do not have
paediatric only waiting areas —
“DARENT VALLEY HOSPITAL” A&E is
equipped with a paediatric only waiting
room.

Steve’s 3-year-old son, Logan, has been
restless and off his food all day. At
bedtime, Steve notices Logan has a rash
on his chest and arms.

Steve is worried about this so phones
NHS 111 for advice. The NHS 111
advisor books Logan an appointment at
the Urgent Treatment Centre at 8pm.

Depending on where Steve lives in DGS,
Steve may have to travel to the new
UTC by car, public transport or foot.
Steve lives just a few streets from the
Urgent Treatment Centre so walks
there with Logan in his pushchair.

Steve explains to the GP that he is
worried Logan might have meningitis.
The GP reassures Steve that Logan’s
rash is due to chickenpox.

The GP gives Steve advice on how to
care for Logan while he has chickenpox,
and they leave the Urgent Treatment
Centre. Logan is in bed asleep by 9pm.

Under the UTC model a paediatric
patient can present at the UTC with any
minor illness or injury issue and be
assess and treated by a multi-
disciplinary team with immediate
access to simple diagnostics.

Patients will be able to leave the UTC
with prescribed medication where
necessary and if medications are not
available from dispensing cupboards
on-site, the UTC will have an on-site
pharmacy or access to a nearby

17 . . .
https://www.dartfordgraveshamswanleyccg.nhs.uk/get-involved/public-consultation-proposed-changes-to-nhs-urgent-

care-services-in-dartford-gravesham-and-swanley/

Page 63

45



https://www.dartfordgraveshamswanleyccg.nhs.uk/get-involved/public-consultation-proposed-changes-to-nhs-urgent-care-services-in-dartford-gravesham-and-swanley/
https://www.dartfordgraveshamswanleyccg.nhs.uk/get-involved/public-consultation-proposed-changes-to-nhs-urgent-care-services-in-dartford-gravesham-and-swanley/

community pharmacy.

Patient
presenting with
a mental health
issue

Mike

Mike is eighteen, and has a history of
depression, for which he has seen
CAMHS in the past, and now sees
MIND. He is having counselling, and
taking medication but things are
getting worse.

One night he returns at 6.30, and his
mother is worried about his mental
state.

Patients may present with mental
health issues at any urgent care
service. With so many access points it
is not always possible to ensure
consistency in the skills and experience
of staff to quickly recognise and
appropriately manage patients
presenting with mental health issues,
whether paediatric or adult.

Mike

Mike is eighteen, and has a history of
depression, for which he has seen
CAMHS in the past, and now sees
MIND. He is having counselling, and
taking medication but things are
getting worse.

One night he returns at 6.30, and his
mother is worried about his mental
state. She was previously given Kent
County Council’s Single Point of
Access telephone number for urgent /
out of hours issues 24/7 by Mike’s GP,
but her phone is uncharged, and she
decides to take him to the Urgent
Treatment Centre.

Triaged as a priority at the door, Mike
sees the Liaison Mental Health Nurse,
who establishes a plan to upgrade
Mike’s support via the CRISIS team, and
Mike and his mother leave for home at
10pm with firm arrangements for help
to be provided intensively in the
community over the next few weeks.

The UTC model encourages strong links
with other community urgent care
services, such as mental health crisis
support.

All Urgent Treatment Centres must
have direct access to local mental
health advice and services, such as
through the on-site provision of ‘core’
liaison mental health services where
services are co-located with acute
trusts or links to community-based
crisis services.

The
deteriorating
patient

Chen

English is not Chen'’s first language, and
when he calls 111 complaining of ‘belly
ache’, there are communication issues.
Under the current system, Chen could
be sign-posted to either the Walk-in
Centre at Gravesham Community
Hospital or the GP streaming service at
Darent Valley Hospital.

Deciding Chen may well have chest

Chen

English is not Chen’s first language, and
when he calls 111 complaining of ‘belly
ache’, there are communication issues,
and the 111 operator books him into
the Urgent Treatment Centre for
safety.

Once there, he is noted to be a pale,
sweating man in his 50s, who obviously
smokes. When asked to indicate the

Page 64

46




pain from his heart rather than
anything abdominal, staff at
Gravesham Community hospital would
have to call an ambulance for Chen to
be transferred to A&E.

Currently staff working at different
urgent care services will assess the
clinical risk of presenting patients and
may unnecessarily escalate patients to
the A&E because their services either
do not have the skilled staff required
(e.g. doctors or nurses with specific
skills), or the necessary equipment (e.g.
diagnostics) to appropriately care for
the patient if they were to deteriorate
suddenly.

Patients who deteriorate while
receiving care at one of the current
sites would need to be stabilised, and
would have to wait to be transferred by
ambulance to A&E.

site of his pain, he vigorously pats his
chest rather than his abdomen.

Deciding he may well have chest pain
from his heart rather than anything
abdominal, the Urgent Treatment
Centre team take him straight through
to the Emergency Department, where
they confirm that Chen has suffered a
heart attack. Chen receives immediate
skilled attention, as the A&E staff have
been freed from many lesser tasks by
the Urgent Treatment Centre, to focus
on those with life threatening
conditions.

Chen recovers and is able to leave
hospital leaves ten days later.

The new UTC model enables new larger
teams of multi-disciplinary clinical staff
to be based on one site with access to
more extensive diagnostics than are
currently provided at urgent care
services

If Chen attended the UTC at Darent
Valley Hospital, he would have been
transferred to A&E on site; if he went
to the UTC located at Gravesham
Community hospital, then he would be
transferred to the A&E department at
Darent Valley Hospital by an
ambulance.

Activity implications
Activity implications of the mitigated model are explored in the financial modelling section below.

A two site networked model will allow current Walk-in Centre and Minor Injuries Unit activity to be
seen at an Urgent Treatment Centre at the Gravesham Community Hospital site.

It is anticipated that an Urgent Treatment Centre at Gravesham Community Hospital will see
approximately 144 patients on average per day over the 5 year modelling period.

The model will not encourage increased urgent care footfall on the Darent Valley Hospital site, but
an Urgent Treatment Centre co-located with the A&E at Darent Valley Hospital, will allow patients to
be streamed to the Urgent Treatment Centre and will help ease the pressures in A&E.

It is anticipated that an Urgent Treatment Centre at Darent Valley Hospital will see approximately 68
patients on average per day over the 5 year modelling period.

47
Page 65



No assumptions have been made regarding the potential impact of NHS 111 developments on
urgent care face-to-face attendances at either Urgent Treatment Centre within the networked
model of care.

Estates plans
The CCG explored the estate implications of an Urgent Treatment Centre at both Gravesham
Community Hospital and Darent Valley Hospital within the pre-consultation business case'®.

Gravesham Community Hospital
Space at Gravesham Community Hospital is currently under utilised.

It has been established that the site can accommodate an Urgent Treatment Centre without
significant estate changes or service moves.

The siting of an Urgent Treatment Centre at Gravesham Community Hospital does mean that there
will be less vacant space at the site to accommodate other services that may be developed by
Primary Care Networks/GP Federation, although more space may be created by the movement of
other services on the site.

Darent Valley Hospital

Dartford and Gravesham NHS Trust have confirmed to the CCG that an Urgent Treatment Centre
service could be co-located with the A&E department at Darent Valley Hospital.

The current primary care streaming service would be absorbed in to the Urgent Treatment Centre
service. Darent Valley Hospital also hosts the main base site for the GP out-of-hours service and this
will need to be included in discussions.

It has been anticipated that the site can be made to accommodate an Urgent Treatment Centre
without significant estate changes but some service moves will be required.

Travel and access implications
Travel and access implications should remain as they currently are now with existing urgent care
services.

The CCG will work with Kent County Council and Dartford and Gravesham NHS Trust to address the
wider issues regarding transport and access to healthcare raised through the public consultation.

Equalities implications
The Equalities Impact Assessment (EIA) last undertaken during the pre-consultation stage was
refreshed following the successful completion of the twelve week public consultation. The refreshed

18 . . .
https://www.dartfordgraveshamswanleyccg.nhs.uk/get-involved/public-consultation-proposed-changes-to-nhs-urgent-
care-services-in-dartford-gravesham-and-swanley/

48
Page 66


https://www.dartfordgraveshamswanleyccg.nhs.uk/get-involved/public-consultation-proposed-changes-to-nhs-urgent-care-services-in-dartford-gravesham-and-swanley/
https://www.dartfordgraveshamswanleyccg.nhs.uk/get-involved/public-consultation-proposed-changes-to-nhs-urgent-care-services-in-dartford-gravesham-and-swanley/

EIA was reviewed and supported by the Equality and Diversity Working Group in November 2019
and is provided in Appendix B.

Engagement with protected characteristic groups echoed the feedback in the consultation
evaluation report regarding access, and highlighted some other important points for consideration
by the Governing Body:

e Access issues (including access to public transport for people without a car, limited disabled
parking at Darent Valley and Gravesham Community Hospitals, road congestion issues around
Darent Valley Hospital, cost of parking)

e Availability of GP appointments was a concern

e Limited British Sign Language translators for urgent care episodes

e  More visual materials would be helpful e.g. video with signer because of low literacy rates

e Consideration of the following points in the Urgent Treatment Centre’s service specification:
o Staff need awareness of treating patients in distress (Mental Health) - privacy issues

o Patients need to be assured regarding additional measures relating to privacy and dignity
when treating gender reassignment patients

o Adequate provision of privacy for breastfeeding mothers is required
o Translation for local people with English for Speakers of Other Languages (ESOL) needs

o For Jehovah witness patients, ensure an UTC has a “Cell machine” to re-cycle blood (in place
at Darent Valley Hospital)

o Staff awareness of religious practice (NICE guidance) and provision of a prayer room or
chaplaincy service should be made available.

o Gender equality training incorporated into all provider staff training and evidenced to the
CCG as part of the Equality Delivery System (EDS2) reporting.

o Improve staff awareness of entitlement to reclaim expenses.

Workforce implications

There are workforce implications to a two Urgent Treatment Centre site networked model of care.
Implications will include those identified in the pre-consultation business case™ and outlined earlier
within this paper:

19 . . .
https://www.dartfordgraveshamswanleyccg.nhs.uk/get-involved/public-consultation-proposed-changes-to-nhs-urgent-
care-services-in-dartford-gravesham-and-swanley/

49
Page 67


https://www.dartfordgraveshamswanleyccg.nhs.uk/get-involved/public-consultation-proposed-changes-to-nhs-urgent-care-services-in-dartford-gravesham-and-swanley/
https://www.dartfordgraveshamswanleyccg.nhs.uk/get-involved/public-consultation-proposed-changes-to-nhs-urgent-care-services-in-dartford-gravesham-and-swanley/

Proximity to London (London
pull on potential staff)

GP to lead service staffed

Encourage recruitment and by other healthcare
retention ‘ professionals

)‘

Refresher training for staff
to treat both minor illness
and injury

Skilled staff required to
safely and effectively
stream patients

Development of staff to
undertake
different/advanced practice
roles (e.g. Advanced Nurse
Practitioners, Clinical
Navigator roles)

The current workforce may well prefer the two site model as staff may continue to work at the same
site or a site very nearby. This will hopefully mean that they will have the same journey to work
whether this is by car, on foot or by public transport.

It is envisaged that new and existing staff will be deployed to support a new Urgent Treatment
Centre. Current urgent care skilled staff delivering services as part of the Minor Injuries Unit and
Walk-in Centre would be offered the opportunity to transfer to one of the two future Urgent
Treatment Centre sites.

It is hoped that the urgent care proposals will offer career development for some members of the
existing urgent care workforce.

The workforce model will be set out when the service specification is finalised and after the
Governing Body has considered the DMBC and decided on the future Urgent Treatment Centre
configuration.

50
Page 68



Financial impact of mitigated model

An urgent care networked model of care over two sites (Gravesham
Community Hospital and Darent Valley Hospital)

The proposed mitigation model of an urgent care networked model of care, at two sites over five
years 2020-2025 is modelled to be £85m compared to the projected cost of the current urgent care
service provision of £84m. This excludes the potential impact of void estate charges at Fleet Health
Campus.

Financial modelling assumptions have been based on patient activity with an assessment of what the
potential price would be for a unit of patient care activity in the proposed mitigated model of urgent
care (consistent with all options modelled).

The CCG recognises the potential complexity of patients that would be clinically appropriate for
transfer to a UTC, and in the proposed mitigation model, the unit price of urgent care activity at
Darent Valley Hospital is £100 compared to the £73 unit price used for Gravesham Community
Hospital. The £73 is an important benchmark to note as urgent care activity in a networked model
of care is classified as a type three A&E service which currently attracts a tariff price of £73 in
2019/20.

The financial modelling assumptions utilised are based on projected activity flows that assumes:

*  WIC activity at Fleet Health Campus flows to Gravesham Community Hospital
*  The impact of future demographic growth

* 1% tariff future annual tariff increases

* The impact of historical activity trends

* The impact of current A&E activity including primary care streaming converted to urgent
care activity flowing through the network model of care assumptions

* That current Darent Valley Hospital site activity related to urgent care does not change

* That tariff assumptions utilised for service provision, when considered in aggregate, is likely
to cover the total costs of providing the service.

51
Page 69



Current Urgent Care Services } [ Consultation Model Options 1 { Proposed Mitigation Model

| Urgent Treatment Centre

| DGS Commissioned Urgent Care
| Walk-in Centre ,| integrated with GP out-of-hours | anovk:’d Model t<are
(Fleet Health Campus) sarvices
(Gravesham Community Hospital) |
DGS
Commissioned
U:”'"l Coe Urgent Treatment Centre
Consultation Ay ¥ integrated with GP out-of-hours
‘ Minor Injuries Unit Option 3 — ARE and primary care AT
| g > : streaming service Consultation . .
‘ (Gravesham Community Hospital) (Darent Valley Hospital) feedback (Gravesham Community Hospital)
DGS £96m mitigation .
Commissioned | | 2020/2 ”
Urgent Care | > Y
Pathways ( Consultation
! A&E and pvimarylcavv streaming feedback A&E and Urgent Treatment
*| SV Consultation 2 mitigation Centre integrated with GP out-of-
£81,m | {Dareat Valley fHospiar) Option 2 i o hours services
/ (Darent Valley Hospital)
2020/25 .
‘ GP out-of-hours base site and
. home visiting service
i (Darent Valley and Gravesham £8cm
| Community Hospitals) | £90m 2020/25 5

5 2020/2
£6m financial reserve 25

A summary of the financial modelling undertaken to support the development of the mitigated
model is outlined in the table below:

Overall financial assessment

Urgent care models 5 year Key notes
projected
costs
2020/25
£m
Current urgent care provision 84.0 e Assumes current activity trends

(Darent Valley Hospital A&E,
Gravesham Community
Hospital Minor Injuries Unit
and Walk-in Centre)

Proposed mitigation model 85.0 e Assumes 33% non-ambulance A&E conversion

An urgent care networked rate at Darent Valley Hospital to Urgent Care

model of care over two sites Network on site.

(Gravesham Community e Operates a dual “Urgent Care Network” tariff

Hospital and Darent Valley that is site specific

Hospital) - £73 for Gravesham Community
Hospital site

- £100 for Darent Valley Hospital site
e 100% conversion of current A&E primary care

streaming at Darent Valley Hospital to Urgent
Care Network on site.

e Assumes all current activity flows to WiC are
now addressed by Gravesham Community
Hospital Urgent Care Network Site

52
Page 70




Urgent Treatment Centre and 89.8
A&E at Darent Valley Hospital

Includes a £6m reserve for additional
primary/local care services (if required)

£100 UTC tariff

33% non-ambulance A&E conversion rate to
UTC

100% conversion of current A&E primary care
streaming to UTC

Urgent Treatment Centre at 95.9
Gravesham Community
Hospital and A&E at Darent
Valley Hospital

Includes a £0.2m reserve for additional
resources required to address wound care
£100 UTC tariff

0% conversion of current A&E Darent Valley
Hospital activity

Business case pre-consultation and post-consultation modelling scenarios
The pre-consultation business case modelling focused on a single site model for each of the two
consultation site options over a 5 year period (i) Gravesham Community Hospital and (ii) Darent

Valley Hospital.

The full modelling can be accessed in the pre-consultation business case®’; however the summary

financial and activity modelling for each of the consultation options are detailed in attached

appendices:

Current Services
(Minor Injuries Unit, Walk-in Centre, A&E)

£84m projected 5 year cost
(Appendix D)

An Urgent Care Networked Model of Care over two sites | £85m projected 5 year cost

(Gravesham Community Hospital and Darent Valley Hospital)

(Appendix E)

An Urgent Treatment Centre at Gravesham Community Hospital

£96m projected 5 year cost
(Appendix F)

An Urgent Treatment Centre at Darent Valley Hospital co-located | £90m projected 5 year cost

with ED

(Appendix G)

20 . . .
https://www.dartfordgraveshamswanleyccg.nhs.uk/get-involved/public-consultation-proposed-changes-to-nhs-urgent-

care-services-in-dartford-gravesham-and-swanley/

53

Page 71



https://www.dartfordgraveshamswanleyccg.nhs.uk/get-involved/public-consultation-proposed-changes-to-nhs-urgent-care-services-in-dartford-gravesham-and-swanley/
https://www.dartfordgraveshamswanleyccg.nhs.uk/get-involved/public-consultation-proposed-changes-to-nhs-urgent-care-services-in-dartford-gravesham-and-swanley/

Sensitivities of financial modelling based on activity and an associated tariff

The business case modelling has been based on projected activity assumptions and current patient
activities. The CCG currently uses the NHS payment by results mechanism where activity has an
agreed contractual price that is either a national price or a locally agreed price.

The use of activity modelling with an associated price generates an aggregated overall financial price
that represents the commissioned cost of the service. Where the service is of a reasonable scale and
magnitude; the commissioned cost of the service should be reflective of the total actual costs of
service provision. The actual costs of a service should include the ability for a provider to generate a
financial margin that allows mitigation and management of any unknown operational issues that
they may arise such as major incidents.

There are inherent risks that the financial modelling derived for the scenarios may not be
representative of the actual costs that may be incurred by the provider of the service. This can be
assessed to a degree through the procurement approach by requesting the costing details of the
service to test whether the business modelling is an appropriate representation of service cost. The
assessment of service cost for direct input into a service, such as dedicated staffing and equipment is
relatively easy to receive assurance about; however non-direct overheads that are attributed to a
service such as management overheads, estate costs, IT costs and corporate overheads are
inherently more difficult.

A thorough procurement process will allow the CCG to test the validity of its modelling assumptions.
The ideal condition for procurement is when there is healthy competition from many providers
interested in providing the service specification. Where there is minimal or no competition to
provide the service, then it is often the case that the financial envelope for procurement set by the
CCG, based on its modelling assumptions, will be the eventual cost of the service.

The CCG will need to carefully consider the procurement route and market providers once an
approved option is decided upon.

54
Page 72



Implementation plan

Outline programme implementation plan
Any decision to proceed with the mitigated model is dependent on the Governing Body’s
consideration of the DMBC and their final decision.

Following decision-making, it is expected that some transition time would be required to set up
governance arrangements and finalise plans to progress implementation, but this time will be kept
as short as possible to support early implementation.

A phased approach would be required to ensure the networked model of care and/or service
specification(s) meet the needs of the local population and can be delivered in a safe and sustainable
way. This may be particularly important given the changing healthcare landscape. For example,
once 12 months of data is available from the new NHS 111 and Clinical Advice Service (in place from
April 2020), it will become clear how significantly greater levels of clinician input in to the Clinical
Advice Service will impact on patient flows to face-to-face urgent care services.

Key implementation activities and programme plan

The ambition is to implement the new Urgent Treatment Centres as quickly as possible whilst
ensuring that quality and patient safety are not compromised, and that services are in place by the
end of June 2020 in line with current contract expiry dates.

There must be no gap in service provision as the transition from Walk-in Centre and Minor Injuries
Unit, to Urgent Treatment Centre takes place. This will involve close collaboration between
commissioners and current urgent care providers including Springhead Health (formerly Fleet
Health), Kent Community Health NHS Foundation Trust, Dartford and Gravesham NHS Trust and
IC24, as well as estate teams at Gravesham Community Hospital, Darent Valley Hospital and Fleet
Health Campus.

Key issues for consideration will be as follows:

Phased Actions
Approach
Phase 1 1. Amend service specification drafted for a single site (including GP out-of-
hours base site and home visiting services), to accommodate a networked
February 2020 — model of care across two Urgent Treatment Centre sites, with the
June 2020 engagement of all relevant stakeholders. Amendments should include, but
not necessarily be limited to:
Establishment e Clinical leadership, staffing, and governance arrangements
of Networked e Streaming processes
Model of Urgent e Hours of operation to maximise system benefits
Care e Use of technology to support integration between services
e Performance monitoring and reporting
e Confirm urgent care tariff for each Urgent Treatment Centre site
e Explore the impact of a two Urgent Treatment Centre site with
providers of other healthcare services e.g. NHS 111 / 999,
ambulance service, mental health services, community services,

55
Page 73




as well as any impact on partners in social care and voluntary
services that will be required to have formal links with the Urgent
Treatment Centres.

e Communications and Engagement plan to support the re-location
of the Whitehorse Walk in Centre and establishment of UTC
network

Finalise estate arrangements to accommodate services on each site by July
2020.

Identify most appropriate procurement route to support Urgent Treatment
Centres at two sites from July 2020 in the short and long term
e Ensure operational teams identified to provide Urgent Treatment
Services in the short-term are able to manage services across two
sites.

Relocate walk-in services from Fleet Health Campus to Urgent Treatment
Centre at Gravesham Community Hospital
e Change classification from walk-in centre and minor injuries unit
to Urgent Treatment Centre(s).

Establish an Urgent Treatment Centre at Gravesham Community Hospital
offering walk-in services for minor illness and minor injury (8am — 8pm) and
an Urgent Treatment Centre co-located with the A&E at Darent Valley
Hospital.

Intensive comms and engagement activity to support the run up to changes
in July 2020 - ensuring that the public and all key stakeholders fully
understand the changes and what services are available within DGS, and
what they should do to access the right services for the care they need. Key
issues to address include:
e Relocation of walk-in services from Fleet Health Campus
e Change of name for urgent care service at Gravesham
Community Hospital
e What can patients expect from services at each site
e Engagement with existing staff regarding changes and journey
towards transition
e Specific comms and engagement with patients on the CCG border
with Bexley regarding local urgent care services.

Phase 2

July 2020
onwards

Refinement of
the Networked
Model of Care

Long-term provider arrangements for Urgent Treatment Centres across two
sites to be in place

Using data collected over the first 12 months of operation, explore the
following:
e Refinements to the urgent care networked model of care service
specification to maximise the benefits of the Urgent Treatment
Centre model (relieving maximum pressure from A&E and
ensuing patients can be appropriately cared for via other
networked services)
e Consider if patients attending urgent care services with primary /

56
Page 74




local care needs can be more appropriately cared for within
primary / local care

e In what ways Primary Care Network delivered services can best
address the needs of local populations and help support the
urgent care networked model.

3. Ongoing communications and engagement activity to increase public
awareness and understanding of what services are available in DGS and how
to use them appropriately.

4. Finalise how urgent care fits within the Integrated Care Partnership
arrangements.

Other 1. Workin partnership with Kent County Council and Darent Valley Hospital to
explore ways in which access to the site can be improved (including
congestion, public transport and availability of parking) to address concerns
identified through the urgent care public consultation. For residents in rural
areas, access to the Gravesham Community Hospital was also raised as a
concern and warrants review.

2. The CCG to review comms and engagement resources (including provision of
pictorial communications for non-English speakers and provision for deaf
population).

Governance arrangements for implementation

Clear, consistent and effective governance arrangements will be key to manage risks and
dependencies to support implementation. The governance arrangements will build on the structures
and processes that have been in place to support the urgent care review to date up to the end of
March 2020, and after that point will transfer from DGS CCG to Kent and Medway CCG.

The DGS CCG current Clinical Chair will continue to maintain oversight in their new role as Governing
Body member of the new Kent and Medway CCG from April 2020 onwards.

Implementation risks

The implementation of a networked model of care brings risks associated with the implementation
of the Urgent Treatment Centre model, and risks of operating an effective networked model across
sites. These risks will need to be carefully managed throughout implementation and beyond.

The expectation is for the implementation delivery group to identify and manage all associated risks
and report progress through the internal governance process.

Communication and engagement plan
As a result of the wide-reaching public consultation, awareness of the urgent care review is fairly
high amongst the general public, and key stakeholder groups including the Kent HOSC, Healthwatch,

57
Page 75




councillors, and MPs. This means there is an ‘open door’ with engaged audiences which will help to
achieve the communications and engagement aims going forward.

The primary aim is:

e Toinform and engage key audience groups including the public, provider organisations and
staff, in order to ensure shared understanding about what services are available at each site
and how are these urgent care services can be accessed by patients, .

In order to achieve this aim aims the urgent care review will:

e Provide appropriate information in a timely manner, via a range of channels, to meet the
needs of different audiences

e  Work with local partners and providers to maximise the impact of the communications and
engagement activity

e Make sure public information is consistent and clear; written and spoken in ‘plain English’
avoiding jargon and technical information and includes visual communications to take
account of groups with low literacy rates materials will be available in other languages on
request for those who do not speak English and in other formats on request to take account
of those with special needs

e Regularly review and evaluate the communications and engagement approach to ensure the
needs of all audiences are met.

58
Page 76



Benefits of the proposed changes

Feedback from consultation

The consultation received an unprecedented numbers of responses; 16,474 survey responses

resulting in approximately 25,000 free-text responses (the majority of which contained multiple

points of feedback).

Analysis identified that there were four consistent key themes across both questionnaire and

engagement events, regardless of the site preferred by the responder, and all themes identified

related to access. As a result of this greater understanding of the key issues affecting the local

population, the Urgent Treatment Centre configuration has been adjusted to mitigate, as far as

possible, the concerns raised:

The public told the CCG...

Proposed mitigations to the Urgent Treatment Centre
model...

Proximity of the site

People are concerned about how far
they might have to travel to access
urgent care services.

There will be two Urgent Treatment Centres within the DGS
CCG area, one at Gravesham Community Hospital (that can
be easily accessed by those patients who currently use the
Walk-in Centre at Fleet Health Campus, and those that access
the Minor Injuries Unit at Gravesham Community Hospital),
and one at Darent Valley Hospital for those patients who
currently access the A&E at Darent Valley Hospital, including
Bexley residents, with conditions that are not serious or life
threatening.

Traffic

People are concerned about how
traffic and congestion around
particular areas might affect how
long it might take them to access
urgent care.

As above.

No additional footfall will be directed towards Darent Valley
Hospital.

As discussed with the Kent HOSC, the CCG will work together
with Kent County Council and Dartford and Gravesham NHS
Trust to address access issues at the Darent Valley Hospital
site.

Public transport

People are concerned about the
availability of public transport to
allow ease of access to urgent care
when it is needed.

People are concerned about the cost
of using public transport.

As above.

Parking
People are concerned about the

availability of parking spaces,
including disabled parking spaces, at
the site of the Urgent Treatment

As above

No additional footfall will be directed towards Darent Valley
Hospital.

59
Page 77




Centre.

People are concerned about the cost
of parking.

The CCG will continue to work with Dartford and Gravesham
NHS Trust to address parking access issues at the Darent
Valley Hospital site.

Other important concerns raised:

Growth

People are worried about the
current and future anticipated
growth in the area, and that
healthcare services will be put under
additional pressure.

As above.

Growth has been included in the modelling undertaken to
support the DMBC mitigated model.

Growth is monitored by the CCG and the CCG engages with
other relevant agencies to ensure requirements on health
services are fully understood, and funding to support growth
in the area is accessed whenever possible.

Pressures at Darent Valley Hospital
People are worried about the
pressures on Darent Valley Hospital

The creation of a UTC at Gravesham Community Hospital will
avert the increased pressures on Darent Valley Hospital that
may result from additional footfall from Gravesend.

An Urgent Treatment Centre co-located on the Darent Valley
Hospital site to help relieve pressures in A&E by streaming
patients attending A&E with non-serious or life threatening
issues to primary care practitioners.

CCG Communication and
Engagement

People asked to have more
information from the CCG about
healthcare services and how to use
them appropriately

People from the deaf community
asked that urgent care services have
better provision to communicate
with them than they currently have
(provision of British Sign Language
translation)

People who do not speak English,
and those with low literacy levels
asked the CCG to provide
communications in visual forms to
help them better understand what is
being communicated

The CCG’s Communications and Engagement team will devise
a communications strategy to promote understanding about
the urgent care services available at each UTC site and how
are these urgent care services as well as other local NHS
services including Primary Care.

The CCG is committed to providing information in line with
its obligations under the Accessible Communications
Standards and will publicise the CCG offer to produce
information in alternative formats on request on all its
materials more widely.

The mitigated model will deliver the following benefits:

60
Page 78




An Urgent Treatment Centre in a town centre location, with good transport links, offering
treatment for minor illness and minor injury

An Urgent Care Treatment Centre co-located with an A&E department offering residents in
Dartford and Swanley increased access to urgent care services whilst also taking the pressure off
the emergency department to enable staff to attend to people with serious illnesses and
injuries. An Urgent Treatment Centre located at the Darent Valley Hospital site also addresses
the feedback received from Bexley residents.

Close integration with GP out-of-hours services will support a more seamless transition from in-
hours and out-of-hours services across two Urgent Treatment Centre sites

Allows streaming (triage to the appropriate service) across two Urgent Treatment Centre sites
within the networked model of care

Networked services offering high quality, more consistent urgent care services, and compliant
with the 27 national standards for urgent treatment centres

Ensures, as far as is possible, that current access to urgent care services is protected for
residents in all areas of the CCG boundary

A two Urgent Treatment Centre site model allows the CCG to address the particular needs of our
local populations as identified through the public consultation feedback - customising national
strategy to address local health inequalities and areas of deprivation within the CCG boundary.

Avoids directing any increased footfall to the Darent Valley Hospital site, but ensures that if
people attend with non-serious or life threatening issues, they can be seen by primary care
practitioners

Addresses concerns of neighbours in London Borough of Bexley, who have expressed concerns
that patients may access services within Bexley under a single site model, as DGS patients will
have the option to attend two Urgent Treatment Centres within the CCG boundary and may also
increase choice options for Bexley residents

Offering one stand-alone Urgent Treatment Centre networked with an Urgent Treatment Centre
co-located with an A&E addresses more directly the urgent care needs of local populations.

Greater integration of services as part of a networked model of care, supporting streaming
between services if appropriate

Introduce direct booking from NHS111 in to Urgent Treatment Centre(s).

61
Page 79



Conclusion and recommendations

Conclusions

Following the review of the pre-consultation options appraisal process and consideration of the
public consultation activities and key themes, the conclusion has been reached that a single site
solution across Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley was unlikely to mitigate the well placed concerns
raised by the public during the consultation, nor would it address the needs of the local urgent care
system.

To mitigate the issues raised by local people and stakeholders during the consultation it is
recommended that the Urgent Treatment Centre model be provided over two sites rather than at a
single site, and for services to be networked to ensure they operate in an integrated way and comply
with the 27 national standards, as part of the urgent care system for Dartford, Gravesham and
Swanley CCG’s local population.

The networked model will consist of the following networked services:

e Urgent Treatment Centre at Gravesham Community Hospital and Urgent Treatment Centre at
Darent Valley Hospital (co-located with A&E)

Careful consideration has been given to identify what urgent, local and primary care services should
be provided at each site, and the ways in which services could be networked to ensure the best
provision of urgent care possible for the local population within existing resources. These proposals
will be worked through in the refinement of the Urgent Treatment Centre service specification.

The healthcare system is currently under significant change with the transformation of the eight
clinical commissioning groups into a single Kent & Medway Clinical Commissioning Group from April
2020, the implementation of an Integrated Care Partnership in 2021, and the development of
Primary Care Networks to improve the health of local populations.

The service specification for an Urgent Treatment Centre, as part of a two site networked model of
care, could be adjusted to accommodate any future changes to the healthcare system to ensure
services are fully integrated.

A phased approach would be required to ensure the networked model of care and/or service
specification(s) meet the needs of the local population and can be delivered in a safe and sustainable
way

The ambition, subject to the Governing Body’s approval, is to implement the new Urgent Treatment
Centres as quickly as possible whilst ensuring that quality and patient safety are not compromised.
We plan to have services in place by the end of June 2020 in line with the current contract expiry
dates.

If the mitigated model is supported by the Governing Body, the detailed networked model and
revised service specifications will be worked on over the coming months and will be refined in
collaboration with current providers of urgent care services, GP membership, including NHS 111,
primary and local commissioners and providers.

62
Page 80



Recommendations

To approve the implementation of the mitigated model of networked urgent care services with
two linked Urgent Treatment Centres at both Gravesham Community Hospital and Darent Valley
Hospital (co-located with A&E) by the end of June 2020, as set out in the Decision Making
Business Case

To agree that further work on the detailed networked model, service specification(s) and
procurement process, as identified in the key implementation and programme plan in the
DMBC, be undertaken over the coming months and refined in collaboration with the current
providers of urgent care services and other key partners.

To agree that the proposed networked model of urgent care is supported by a budget
commitment that has a further 2% contingency assigned to it, and is profiled in line with the
phased implementation approach.

63
Page 81



Appendices

Appendix A: Independent evaluation of pa pa
. PIF PIF
consultation (November 2019) Urgent Care Supplementary

Consultation - Indepeanalysis vVCOMPLETE.

Appendix B: Refreshed Equality Impact R

PIF

APPENDIX B - Urgent
and Emergency Care

Assessment (November 2019)

Appendix C: Independent evaluation of A
PIF
Bexley response APPENDIX C-

Independent Evaluati

Appendix D: Current Services (Minor R
Injuries Unit, Walk-in Centre, A&E)

PIF

APPENDIX D -
Summary of financial

Appendix E: Urgent Care Networked A
. L3

Model of Care over two sites (Gravesham APPENDIXE -
Community Hospital and Darent Valley Summary of financial
Hospital)
Appendix F: Urgent Treatment Centre at A

. . PIF
Gravesham Community Hospital APPENDIX F -

Summary of financial

Appendix G: Urgent Treatment Centre at A
. . PIF
Darent Valley Hospital co-located with ED APPENDIX G -

Summary of financial

Page 82




1.1

1.2

verve

ADDITIONAL ANALYSIS POINTS

WHERE THESE POINTS COME FROM

The following points are based on additional analysis of free text comments provided in response
to Questions 5, 6 and 7.

This was undertaken after the main evaluation report was compiled. The purpose was to
compare the frequency of comments for those favouring Options 1 and 2 against the headline

themes to see if the data indicates different issues of interest or concern between these two
groups.

Qb5/6 — PREFERENCE FOR OPTION 1 / OPTION 2.

For both groups

O Ease of journey is the main driver for choice of UTC site, with this being the most commonly
stated reason for both those preferring Option 1 and those preferring Option 2.

For those preferring Option 1 - Gravesham Community Hospital

O Respondents that selected Gravesham as their preference claimed it was easier, as Darent

Valley Hospital is harder to access, mainly due to traffic and because it is further from where
they live

O Inresponse to this question parking is a significantly greater issue among those that selected
Option 1. This is due both to a lack of spaces and the cost of parking at the Darent Valley
site.

O Those that preferred Option 1 are more likely to believe that the facilities at Darent Valley are
overstretched by current patient numbers and that it may not be able to cope with the
added patient load the UTC would bring.

For those preferring Option 2 - Darent Valley Hospital

O There is an implication that those who chose the Darent Valley site as their preference did so
due to their proximity to the site

O Those that selected Option 2 were more likely to cite co-location with hospital facilities as a
reason, implying that respondents were in favour of the Darent Valley because they believe
the hospital has on site a more appropriate set facilities to respond to urgent care needs.

The Fold Space, REG VAT GB 858230025 E +44 207 017 2011 @ hello@vervecommunications.co.uk
20 Clyde Terrace Registered in England Company www.vervecommunications.co.uk
London SE23 3BA Number 05358457

Registered office:

24 Old Bond Street, London W1S 4AP

Page 83


mailto:hello@vervecommunications.co.uk

1.3

verve

Q7 — COMMENTS ON TOP 3 ISSUES: PARKING; ACCESS TO PUBLIC
TRANSPORT; WAITING TIMES

For both groups

(o]

Once again, access is the main issue, and most commonly stated by those that selected
both Option 1 and Option 2

In responses to this question, parking is an issue of equal concern among both groups

Concern about the level of level of service at the site they did not prefer is shared by both
those who prefer Option 1 and those who prefer Opftion 2.

For those preferring Option 1 - Gravesham Community Hospital

o

o

Once again, the cost and general anxiety about parking at Darent Valley Hospital are the
main reasons why parking is seen as an issue for respondents that preferred Option 1

Respondents who selected Gravesham are more likely to be worried about longer waiting
fimes

Not enough or good enough public tfransport links to the Darent Valley site is another
concern more commonly stated by those who preferred Option 1

The overall cost for the patient (both parking and overall perceived cost to get to the UTC) is
more likely to be cited by those in favour of Gravesham.

For those preferring Option 2 - Darent Valley Hospital

o

There were no comments in response to this question which were significantly higher for those
who preferred Option 2 — although it should be noted this was a small minority of
respondents.

Page 84



Independent
evaluation of
consultation

Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley
Clinical Commissioning Group

Author: Clive Caseley
Date: 19 November 2019




verve

hello@vervecommunications.co.uk

The Fold Space, REG VAT GB 858230025 E +44 207 017 2011
www.vervecommunications.co.uk

20 Clyde Terrace Registered in England Company
London SE23 3BA Number 05358457

Registered office: Page 86
24 Old Bond Street, London W1S ZAP


mailto:hello@vervecommunications.co.uk

verve

CONTENTS

1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
1.1 ABOUT THE CONSULTATION
1.2 ABOUT THE ENGAGEMENT
1.3 KEY FINDINGS

1.3.1 Quantitative analysis from the questionnaire
1.3.2 Comments and key themes
1.3.3 About local communities and successful service change
1.3.4 About urgent care and delivery of the UTC model
1.3.5 About the consultation process
2. THE CONSULTATION
2.1 CONTEXT

2.2 PRE-CONSULTATION ENGAGEMENT
2.3 DEVELOPMENT OF THE CONSULTATION OPTIONS
2.4 ABOUT THE CONSULTATION PROCESS

2.4.1 Best practice, statutory framework and compliance
2.4.2 Publicity

243 Information provided and channels to provide views
2.4.4 Roadshow meetings and events

2.4.5 Listening Events
2.4.6 Stakeholder meetings

2.4.7 Equalities — how EIA informed consultation
3.  EVALUATION
3.1 ABOUT THIS EVALUATION
3.1.1 The purpose of consultation

3.1.2 What this report aims to do
3.1.3 Methodology
3.2 THE CONSULTATION RESPONSE

3.2.1 Questionnaire responses received
3.2.2 Engagement by diverse communities
3.2.3 When responses were received

3.2.4 Volume of response

3.2.5 Responses from different parts of the CCG catchment
4.  FINDINGS AND ANALYSIS
4.1 HEADLINE FINDINGS

4.1.1 Does area of residence mattere

4.1.2 Does the late surge in response skew preferences?
4.2 ANALYSIS OF COMMENTS - WHAT DID PEOPLE SAY?

4.2.1 Q5/6 - Please state your reasons for your choice

422 Q7 - The top three issues ...

423 Q8 - We welcome any other ideas and suggestions ...

42.4 Feedback from Roadshow and Listening events

4.2.5 About accessibility
4.2.6 About urgent care and the UTC model
4.2.7 About the consultation process
4.3 MEETINGS / CORRESPONDENCE WITH STATUTORY CONSULTEES

Page 87

Independent evaluation of consultation- Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley Clinical Commissioning Group

O 0 0NN OO0 MMM

AW W W W W WWWNDNDNDNNDNDNDDMNNDDNDNDDN—= = = = = =2 2 = —= 2 —2 = —o —
O 0V 00 00 00 N W O O VO NNO MDD —= OOV OOWOOWLWOWOOWNNOG O MDM— — O 90



verve

5. APPENDICES
APPENDIX A — QUESTIONNAIRE
APPENDIX B — MATERIALS AND PUBLICITY
APPENDIX C — LISTENING EVENTS
APPENDIX D — CCG SUMMARY OF ENGAGEMENT WITH EQUALITIES GROUPS
APPENDIX E - ENGAGE KENT REPORT — SELDOM HEARD GROUPS
APPENDIX F — QUESTONNAIRE THEMES CODE FRAME

Page 88

Independent evaluation of consultation- Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley Clinical Commissioning Group

42
42
45
48
71
73
83



verve

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

ABOUT THE CONSULTATION

This document contains an independent analysis of responses to the consultation about the
future location of a new Urgent Treatment Centre (UTC) at either Gravesham Community Hospital
or Darent Valley Hospital (DVH).

Verve has analysed the data provided to us and in the following sections we have set out fo:

O Summarise the quantitative response received via the consultation questionnaire
e Set out the proportion of responses favouring each of the two options
e Summiarising the responses to other quantitative questions (e.g. services used)
e Where justified by the data, identifying where there may be significant differences of view
between different groups of respondents.

O Review free text responses received through the questionnaire and consider alongside
comments made through other channels (roadshow notes; written responses; meeting notes
and comments from Listening events)

e |dentify the main themes of comments, picking out those most commonly referenced
e Produced a high-level summary of the substantive points made by respondents during the
consultation.

Based on the information provide to us, we believe that the CCG made considerable efforts to
engage widely and reach relevant groups of residents and stakeholders through an inclusive
process, invited response through a variety of channels, and can provide evidence to show how
the exercise met the key requirements and best practice for public involvement.

ABOUT THE ENGAGEMENT

Overall the level of engagement and response to this consultation was very high:

O 16,474 questionnaires were completed or partially completed, either print or online

O 10,000 consultation documents were printed and distributed and a total of 10,200 posters
and postcards circulated to promote the consultation and events along with local news
coverage and Facebook advertising

O A total of 81 people attended three Listening events and a further 1,166 were engaged
through a roadshow visiting 30 community venues

O The roadshow included meetings and locations specifically addressing equalities (older
people; disability; parents of young children; BAME communities; faith communities) and
Engage Kent were commissioned independently to engage people with physical disabilities
and residents of rural areas

O Formal meetings were held with key stakeholder groups.

Written responses were invited from statutory and political stakeholders and eight were received.
Healthwatch were involved throughout the process from pre-consultation and options appraisal.

Page 89

Independent evaluation of consultation- Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley Clinical Commissioning Group



1.3

1.3.1

verve

KEY FINDINGS

QUANTITATIVE ANALYSIS FROM THE QUESTIONNAIRE

The preferences between Options and the following break-down of participants are based on
the whole questionnaire dataset (aggregating both printed and online responses).

Overall, 80% agreed or strongly agreed (NET agree) that the UTC should be located at
Gravesham vs. 5% (NET agree) that the UTC should be based at Darent Valley Hospital.

Option 1: Urgent Treatment Option 2: To create an
Centre at Gravesham Urgent Treatment Centre at
Community Hospital DarentValley Hospital

NET Agree
5%
NET Disagree 5%
73%
Have no view 1% 0%
Did not answer 14% 22%

Base: Total (16,474)

There seems to be a very strong preference for location at Gravesham among those who live
closer to the area, which people living close to DVH are more balanced in their preferences.

This consultation was characterised by a very large late surge in responses, with an over-
whelming majority in favour of Option 1. Of a sample of the late responders, around 93%
favoured Option 1. vs. 3% favouring Option 2.

However, even among the cohort of responses received earlier (based on a sample the same
size) 75% favoured Option 1. vs. 22% in favour of Option 2.

Page 90

Independent evaluation of consultation- Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley Clinical Commissioning Group



1.3.2

verve

COMMENTS AND KEY THEMES

The questionnaire asked for additional comments explaining the reasons for views on the two
Options; feedback on the impact of location, car parking, public fransport and waiting times;
and additional ideas and suggestions.

We have analysed samples of free fext comments provided through the questionnaire in detail.
Key themes were:

Total

58%

Ease of journey

Hospital facilities 38%

Parking 37%

Urgent care where it can service
most people

27%

Expense 13%

Change of site makes me

upset/distressed 10%

Other 8%

Base: (1,400)

In order to draw conclusions for this report, we have undertaken detailed analyses of samples of
free text comments provided through the questionnaire. Where this approach was adopted, we
used sample sizes large enough to enable reasonable conclusions to be drawn and have been
specific about the baseline number of responses considered in each case.

Parking _ 36% Proximity to me/location - 18%
service _ 31% Effect on/available services on site - 15%

Improve care services at non urgent - 9%

treatment centre locations
Access 29%

Parking . 8%
Public transport _ 23%
Transport to site . 8%

Expense - 12% Urgent care where it can service . 7%

most people

Urgent care where it can service
most people

i 9% .
Traffic - Keep both sites as they are/no change . 7%
. 5% Other . 5%

Base: (1000) Base: (600)

Page 91

Independent evaluation of consultation- Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley Clinical Commissioning Group



1.3.3

1.3.4

verve

In addifion to the questionnaire responses, qualitative data was received through the roadshow
and Listening events. As would be expected, these were more wide-ranging discussions and
provide feedback on a broader range of topics.

Analysis of these comments shows some preferences expressed for each Option and the greatest
number of comments, consistently with the questionnaire response, related to: proximity; traffic;
public transport; and parking.

ABOUT LOCAL COMMUNITIES AND SUCCESSFUL SERVICE CHANGE

There are a significant number of comments about the need to communicate effectively when
the new services when they are infroduced and general views about sign-posting, including the
NHS111 telephone service, and suggestions for where and how to publicise the most appropriate
local services for urgent care.

There are also a significant number of comments about the access needs of local communities,
particularly residents who may not have English as a first language or with access issues linked to
deprivation or age (e.g. reliance on public transport). There are some specific comments about
the need to integrate with mental healthcare.

The changing nature of the local population, particularly the rapid growth in some areas such as
Ebbsfleet Garden City and the resulting pressures on local services, is also a common theme.

ABOUT URGENT CARE AND DELIVERY OF THE UTC MODEL

Main messages relating to delivery of services in the new model include concern to ensure that
there are enough staff to deliver the new system, and aspects of quality and patient experience
including:

O The general pressure on services, including comments about the level of activity at Darent
Valley Hospital

O Opening hours and arrangements for out-of-hours urgent care

O Waiting fimes across all urgent care services

O The potential benefits of co-location of UTC with A&E services and having everything “in one
place”

O Triage especially on-site between UTC and A&E.

Within this, a common theme is the need for greater accessibility (especially easier
appointments) and more urgent care provided in non-acute settings, in particular general
practice. There were also calls for the retention of GP walk-in services, not necessarily limited to
urgent care.

Page 92

Independent evaluation of consultation- Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley Clinical Commissioning Group



verve

1.3.5 ABOUT THE CONSULTATION PROCESS

More broadly, there are comments about the consultation and decision-making process, with
themes including:

O That participants! at the events could have been better informed (e.g. with more data) and
the events could have been set up better (e.g. venues)

O Suspicion expressed that the outcome of the consultation has already been decided

O That the events and the consultation could have been publicised better.

That the proposal to develop UTCs may represent:

O Cutsto services or the availability of care
O A step toward privatisation of NHS services.

1 Please note, however, that overall feedback via evaluation sheets on the consultation events was positive
(79% rated excellent or good).

Page 93

Independent evaluation of consultation- Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley Clinical Commissioning Group



2.1

2.2

verve

THE CONSULTATION

CONTEXT

This document contains an independent analysis of responses to the consultation about the

future location of a new Urgent Treatment Centre (UTC) at either Gravesham Community Hospital

or Darent Valley Hospital.

Urgent care means care to treat illnesses and injuries that are not life threatening but require an
urgent clinical assessment or treatment on the same day.

The consultation ran for a period of 12 weeks between 12 August and 4 November 2019. The

consultation process was led by Dartford Gravesham and Swanley Clinical Commissioning Group

(CCG). More information about the consultation can be found on the CCG website:
https://www.dartfordgraveshamswanleyccg.nhs.uk/get-involved/public-consultation-proposed-

changes-to-nhs-urgent-care-services-in-dartford-gravesham-and-swanley/.

The consultation was part of a long-term programme, which developed proposals to create a
new UTC by autumn 2020, and detailed information on the underpinning case for change,
development of the clinical model and options, the NHS assurance process and engagement
before consultation is contained in the Pre-consultation Business Case document (PCBC).
http://www.dartfordgraveshamswanleyccg.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/sites/3/2019/09/Final-
DGS-CCG-Urgent-Care-PCBC-09.08.19-amended-03.09.19-v2.pdf

PRE-CONSULTATION ENGAGEMENT

As set out in the PCBC, the key engagement milestones were:

O February - May 2015: Dartford Gravesham and Swanley CCG and Swale CCG Patient and
Clinician Reference Groups

O November 2016: GP Engagement Event

O November 2016: Dartford Gravesham and Swanley CCG and Swale CCG Urgent and
Emergency Care ‘Whole Systems Event’

O 10 and 13 February 2017: Dartford Gravesham and Swanley Listening events (public and
stakeholders)

O June 2017: Intensive Stakeholder Engagement Piece

O July 2017: Kent Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee

O December 2018 to March 2019: Continued engagement with residents (4000 participated
and 2000 survey responses were received)

O March 2019: Briefings for local MPs

O April 2019: Engagement with the chairs of the Health Overview and Scrutiny Committees in
the surrounding boroughs where residents may also be affected.

Source: PCBC

Page 94

Independent evaluation of consultation- Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley Clinical Commissioning Group


https://www.dartfordgraveshamswanleyccg.nhs.uk/get-involved/public-consultation-proposed-changes-to-nhs-urgent-care-services-in-dartford-gravesham-and-swanley/
https://www.dartfordgraveshamswanleyccg.nhs.uk/get-involved/public-consultation-proposed-changes-to-nhs-urgent-care-services-in-dartford-gravesham-and-swanley/
http://www.dartfordgraveshamswanleyccg.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/sites/3/2019/09/Final-DGS-CCG-Urgent-Care-PCBC-09.08.19-amended-03.09.19-v2.pdf
http://www.dartfordgraveshamswanleyccg.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/sites/3/2019/09/Final-DGS-CCG-Urgent-Care-PCBC-09.08.19-amended-03.09.19-v2.pdf

2.3

verve

DEVELOPMENT OF THE CONSULTATION OPTIONS

Two options went forward to consultation. As set out in the consultation document, these were:

Option 1: To create an Urgent Treatment Centre by relocating services at the White Horse Walk-
in to join the Minor Injuries Unit at Gravesham Community Hospital

Option 2: To relocate both the Minor injuries Unit at Gravesham Community Hospital and the
services at the White Horse Walk-in to create an Urgent Treatment Centre alongside
the existing A&E department at Darent Valley hospital.

Both proposed options would bring together existing services provided at the Minor Injuries Unit at
Gravesham Community Hospital and the White Horse Walk-in Centre at Fleet Health Campus
onto a single site.

The PCBC describes the process by which consultation options were developed from a review of
potential configurations and the longlist of options which would meet the needs of the local
population. This structured process involved two stages:

1. April 2019: Development of essential and desirable criteria for shortlisting
These were proposed by the Clinical Cabinet and the Patient Participation Group (PPG)
Chairs Group representing patients in Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley ratified the longlist
of options and shortlisting criteria.

2. May 2019: Applying shortlisting criteria to develop options for consultation
This process involved senior clinicians, Healthwatch, patient representatives, members of the
CCG Executive team, an Equality and Diversity representative and senior staff.

The PCBC sets out how views representing patients and the public were taken into account
during development of options for consultation:

O Through the programme of engagement with residents (December 2018 to March 2019),
through which there was a high level of participation and which sought views on priorities
and alternative models and locations

O Through defining appraisal criteria, which involved Healthwatch and patient representatives

O Through a process of confirmation and agreement of the options to go forward o
consultation, which also involved Healthwatch and patient representatives.

Page 95

Independent evaluation of consultation- Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley Clinical Commissioning Group



2.4

241

verve

ABOUT THE CONSULTATION PROCESS

BEST PRACTICE, STATUTORY FRAMEWORK AND COMPLIANCE

We understand that this consultation was conducted under the following statutory framework:

O Involvement — NHS Act 2006 (amended)
o 51472 (CCGs), 242/244
e Planning, assuring and delivering service change for patients guidance (NHSE)
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/consultation-principles-guidance
O Secretary of State’s ‘4 tests’
O Equalities — Equality Act 2010
e 5149 public sector equality duty
e Other obligations including duty to reduce inequality
O Consultation
e Code of Practice - consultation principles (amended 2018)
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachme
nt_data/file/691383/Consultation Principles 1 .pdf
e  Gunning Principles

Please note, this report is based on information and documents relating to the consultation
provided by the CCG, which we have taken ‘asread’, and Verve's analysis of quantitative data
and comments received from the CCG.

Based on this, we believe that the CCG made considerable efforts to engage widely and reach
relevant groups of residents and stakeholders through an inclusive process, invited response
through a variety of channels, and can provide evidence to show how the exercise met the key
requirements and best practice.

In Table 1, below we have set out the relevant requirements and standards in respect of public
and stakeholder consultation and alongside a commentary on the engagement undertaken.
More detail is provided in the sections which.

In addition, the CCG has developed a communications and engagement framework which sets
out its approach and ambition in respect of involving local people in this exercise.
http://www.dartfordgraveshamswanleyccg.nhs.uk/wp-
content/uploads/sites/3/2019/03/Helping-us-shape-health-CE-framework-July-2018-FINAL.pdf

Page 96

Independent evaluation of consultation- Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley Clinical Commissioning Group


https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/consultation-principles-guidance
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/691383/Consultation_Principles__1_.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/691383/Consultation_Principles__1_.pdf
http://www.dartfordgraveshamswanleyccg.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/sites/3/2019/03/Helping-us-shape-health-CE-framework-July-2018-FINAL.pdf
http://www.dartfordgraveshamswanleyccg.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/sites/3/2019/03/Helping-us-shape-health-CE-framework-July-2018-FINAL.pdf

verve

Table 1 Commentary on how the consultation process addressed requirements and best practice

The Secretary of State
for Health’s four tests
1. Strong public and
patient engagement

Code of Practice

A. Consultations should
be clear and concise
B. Consultations should
have a purpose

C. Consultations should
be informative

D. Consultations are
only part of a process
of engagement

E. Consultations should
last for a proportionate
amount of fime

F. Consultations should
be targeted

G. Consultations should
take account of the
groups being
consulted

H. Consultations should
be agreed before
publication

I. Consultation should
facilitate scrutiny

Comments

(NB. only one of these relevant to public engagement)

The response and participation level in this consultation was high,
and a variety of channels were provided through which people
gave views

The consultation document set out clear Options for location of the
new UTC

This consultation set out two clear Options for location of the new
service, and detail is provided on the governance and decision-
making process which will follow

A great deal of information was provided about the case for
change, the process for developing options and making decisions
and the relative strengths of each Option

This consultation builds on strong previous patient and public
engagement exercises, and used existing well-established
communication channels developed by the CCG and its partners
The consultation lasted for 12 weeks, which is considered
appropriate for public sector engagement exercises (set out in
Code of Practice)

Both in respect of groups sharing protected characteristics - and
more broadly — groups likely to be high-level users of urgent care, or
face access issues were identified, and clear efforts made to ensure
that representatives and individual voices from these groups
provided insight to inform the consultation

This report provides a detailed analysis of the views of people
participating in the consultation, as well as including separate
independent reports focused on seldom heard groups and
mitigations to perceived weaknesses in the Options

Together, these provide a summary of views heard o inform the
CCG's decision-making meeting and local authority scrutiny

This builds on a significant period of pre-consultation development
and engagement, and there was a rigorous, inclusive process
through which Options were evaluated (set out in the consultation
documents), and broad agreement by commissioners and
providers to proceed to consultation

The CCG has engaged widely during the development of the
Options and consultation plans, including with local authority
scrutiny - this report will form part of the papers for forthcoming
review

The consultation documents are clear about the relative strengths
of each Option and the broader challenges for urgent care in
Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley - this information enables well-

Page 97

Independent evaluation of consultation- Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley Clinical Commissioning Group



verve

J. Government
responses to
consultations should be
published in a timely
fashion

K. Consultation
exercises should not
generally be launched
during local

or national election
periods.

Gunning Principles

1. Consultation must
take place when the
proposal is still at a
formative stage

2. Sufficient reasons
must be put forward for
the proposal to allow
forintelligent
consideration and
response

3. Adequate time must
be given for
consideration and
response

4. Feedback from
consultation must be
conscientiously faken
into account.

Equality
Equalities impacts

Public sector equality
duty (PSED)

informed analysis through which proposals can be scrutinised by
stakeholders and residents
Not relevant

Not relevant

This is a genuine process to explore views between two alternative
Options for location of the UTC

The consultation document and other materials provided a great
deal of clear, ‘in context’ information about the case for change
and relative strengths of different Options to enable well-informed
responses

The consultation lasted for 12 weeks, which is considered
appropriate for public sector engagement exercises (set out in
Code of Practice)

This report provides a detailed analysis of the views of people
participating in the consultation, as well as including separate
independent reports focused on seldom heard groups and
mitigations to perceived weaknesses in the Options

Together, these provide a summary of views heard to inform the
CCG's decision-making meeting and local authority scrutiny

Likely impacts were identified before consultation began through
an Equadlities Impact Assessment which was published by the CCG,
and this was repeated post-consultation

Engagement with seldom heard and equalities groups is
summarised in this report and as Appendix C and an independent
engagement exercise with three specific communities
commissioned, with report at Appendix D.

The consultation process was inclusive and participation levels high,
notably by residents sharing protected characteristics: minority
ethnic communities, older people, people with disabilities, faith
communities (see demographic breakdown)

Page 98

Independent evaluation of consultation- Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley Clinical Commissioning Group



24.2

243

verve

PUBLICITY

Considerable efforts were made by the CCG to ensure that local people knew about the
consultation, and the activities and materials distriouted are shown in Table 2, below.

Table 2 Materials and publicity
Number of copies
produced (or

Material

Consultation

appropriate measure of
activity)

10,000 print + download

How distributed (if relevant)

GP surgeries, hospitals, clinics, libraries,

the consultation

document community venues (leisure centres, town

Posters 5,000 printed halls) and roadshows and distributed at

Postcards 5,000 printed briefing sessions

Event posters 200

Email Link sent to local residents mailing list
(CCG's Health Network)

Articles in Council Your Borough magazine is distributed

magazine Your door-to-door in Gravesham

Borough

Press release to launch | N/A Coverage secured in:

e Kent Online
e News Shopper
e Dartford and Gravesend Messenger

Social media -
Facebook and Twitter

Paid Facebook ads

Targeted key community groups and
series of posts / shares linked to welbsite

Communications with
staff

Consultation document cascaded to
staff via Comms leads and managers in:
e Darent Valley Hospital

e Gravesham Community Hospital

e Northfleet Health Campus

INFORMATION PROVIDED AND CHANNELS TO PROVIDE VIEWS

A great deal of information was provided to the public through a range of channels. Central to
the public engagement was a discrete section on the CCG welbsite, which provided both full
versions of the key programme documents and also clear and well-structured information for the
public in short segments which made the complex proposals as easy as possible to understand.

The website also contained an online version of the consultation questionnaire, through which
some 15,549 responses were received. In addition, the public-facing consultation information
was provided in a print version, with a tear-out paper version of the questionnaire which could be
returned via Freepost. 925 print questionnaires were received and added to the online survey,
bringing the total response to 16,474.

Page 99

Independent evaluation of consultation- Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley Clinical Commissioning Group




24.4

245

verve

The CCG also undertook a roadshow and ran a series of events, details of which follow, and
invited comments and views through a wide variety of channels in addition to the questionnaire:
O At ameeting or event (including CCG staff offering to attend local meetings)

O Email

O Telephone.

Views received through these channels were collated or noted by the CCG and provided fo
Verve. We included these comments in the evaluation which informs this report.

ROADSHOW MEETINGS AND EVENTS

The level of face-to-face engagement was high, and the CCG undertook a roadshow, visiting
local groups, community meeting points and offering to send speakers to local meetings and
events.

Three dedicated Listening events were also conducted as part of the consultation exercise,
which are detailed separately below.

The events and meetings are summarised in Table 3 below, which also identifies those directly
relevant to groups and communities sharing protected characteristics (as defined in the Equality
Act).

A total of 1,166 people were engaged through the roadshow meetings and events.
LISTENING EVENTS

A total of 81 people attended a series of three listening events held to consider the Opftions in
more depth during facilitated table discussions. The questions asked during these sessions were
wider than simply considering Option 1 vs. Option 2 and included exploring issues and potential
solutions.

A separate report was produced from these events to inform the consultation, which is attached
in full (see Appendix C).

In addition, comments were collected from participants. Due to the broader nature of the
discussions, these have been included within this analysis as a separate section along with
roadshow comments.

Table 3 Listening events

Listening events
Clocktower Pavilion, St Mary’s Road,

Wednesday 16 October Swanley BR8 7BU 6.00pm - 8.00pm
Princes Suite, Princes Park Stadium,

Monday 28 October Darenth Road, Dartford DA1 1RT 6.00pm - 8.00pm
Kent Room, Gravesham Civic Centre,

Wednesday 30 October Windmill Street, Gravesend DA12 1AU 6.00pm - 8.00pm

Page 100

Independent evaluation of consultation- Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley Clinical Commissioning Group



verve

Table 4

Face-to-face engagement with local residents

Equalities

Location

Roadshow locations and community events

Act

Monday 12 August

Gravesham Hospital

9.30am - 12.30pm

Tuesday 13 August

Walk-in Centre, Fleet HC

9.30am - 11.30am

Golden Girls - Shearsgreen Community

Wednesday 14 August Hall, North Fleet A
Thursday 15 August Asda Swanley 9.30am - 12.30pm
Friday 16 August Walk-in Centre, Fleet HC 9.30am - 12.30am
Monday 19 August Dartford Healthy Living Centre 1.30pm - 4.30pm
Wednesday 21 August Cascades Leisure Centre 9.30am - 12.30pm
Friday 23 August Bluewater Safer Homes 10am — 12.30pm A
Sunday 25 August Gurdwara Gravesend Family Sports Day 12pm - 5pm F.G
Tuesday 27 August Swanley Link Ipm - 4pm
Wednesday 28 August Darent Valley Hospital 9.30am - 12.30pm
Thursday 29 August Cygnet Leisure Centre 9.30am - 12.30pm
Wednesday 4 September | Gravesham 50+ 10am -2pm A
Thursday 5 September Dartford High Street 9.30am - 12.30pm
Monday 9 September Gravesham Community Hospital 9.30am - 12.30pm
Tuesday 10 September Swanley Link 9.30am - 12pm
Tuesday 10 September Walk in Centre, Fleet Health Centre Tpm-4pm
Thursday 12 September Asda Gravesend 9.30am - 12.30pm
Saturday 14 September Crockenhill Harvefayre 12pm
Sunday 15 September Gurdwara Gravesend Event 10am - 1pm F.G
Thursday 19 September Darent Valley Hospital 9.30am - 12.30pm
Friday 20 September Asda Swanley 9.30am - 12.30pm
Tuesday 24 September Dartford Healthy Living Centre 10am - 1pm
Rethink Sangam Group - Gravesend
25 September Library B
Friday 27 September Gravesend Central Mosque 12pm - 2pm G
Caribbean Fun Day, Gravesend Borough
Saturday 05 October Market 12pm-3pm F
Monday 7 October Gravesham Civic Centre 9.30am - 12.30pm

Thursday 10 October

Trees Community Centre, Dartford

10am - 12pm

Thursday 17 October

Dartford Library

10.30am — 11.30am

Monday 21 October

White Ocak Leisure Centre

10am-12pm

Key: Where relevant to protected characteristics defined by the Equality and Human Rights Commission,
these are referenced: https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/equality-act/protected-characteristics

A. Age B. Disability
D. Marriage and civil partnership E. Pregnancy and maternity
G. Religion or belief H. Sex

Page 101

C. Genderreassignment

F.  Race

I.  Sexual orientation

Independent evaluation of consultation- Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley Clinical Commissioning Group



https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/equality-act/protected-characteristics

24.6

247

verve

STAKEHOLDER MEETINGS
In addition, meetings were held with these stakeholder groups:

Table 5 Stakeholder meetings
Meeting dates
17 July Gravesend Labour Councillors (pre-consultation briefing)
21 August Swanley Councillors
22 August DGS PPG Chairs - ASDA Gravesend
28 August A&E Delivery Board
03 October Dartford Council staff briefings
04 October Sevenoaks District Council

EQUALITIES - HOW EIA INFORMED CONSULTATION

In order to meet its equality duties (Equality Act 2010), the CCG commissioned an Equality Impact
Assessment. This both identfifies the likely barriers to access or drivers for inequality and also
provides significant insight from engagement with equalities groups, which informed the
consultation planning.

http://www.dartfordgraveshamswanleyccg.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/sites/3/2019/09/Equality-
Impact-Assessment.docx

For the consultation engagement, all nine groups sharing ‘protected characteristics’ were
scoped in with the addifion of socially-deprived communities and rural communities. Through the
consultation process, specific activities were undertaken to ensure that these groups and
communities were fully engaged in the process, and where supported by the data, issues raised
more commonly by these groups are highlighted within the analysis.

Groups engaged to meet this requirement included:

Age UK Gravesend

Dartford Elders Forum

Gravesham 50+ Forum

Local faith communities and venue including the local Gurdwara and Christian churches
e Gravesend Rethink Mental Health Group (meeting)

e Charities supporting disabled children and their families (e.g. We Are Beams).

A written response was also received from NW Kent Mind.

In addition, the CCG has:

O Prepared a summary of engagement during consultation with equality groups

O Commissioned an independent organisation Engage Kent to undertake targeted
engagement with three specific seldom heard communities, through outfreach visits and
street surveys to gather in-depth feedback face-to-face:
e People with physical disabilities
e Residentsin rural areas.

Both reports contain useful insights and are attached in full (see Appendices D and E).

Page 102

Independent evaluation of consultation- Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley Clinical Commissioning Group


http://www.dartfordgraveshamswanleyccg.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/sites/3/2019/09/Equality-Impact-Assessment.docx
http://www.dartfordgraveshamswanleyccg.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/sites/3/2019/09/Equality-Impact-Assessment.docx

3.1

3.1.1

verve

EVALUATION

ABOUT THIS EVALUATION

THE PURPOSE OF CONSULTATION

Consultations to support NHS major service change programmes present a rare opportunity fo
involve local people in key decisions about their healthcare and services, and to open a large-
scale dialogue about priorities and options for the future. They fulfil several different purposes
which include:

e Providing an opportunity for everyone to have a say and identify the issues most important to
them in a complex system

e Evaluating the preferences and strength of opinion among different groups who may be
impacted differently

e Supporting decisions on proposals for change which may involve multiple objectives and
frade-offs.

While they draw on similar methodologies such as questionnaires, it is important to bear in mind
that consultations are not the same as either:

e Quantitative market / social research which sets out to extrapolate from a representative
sample of a given population in order to estimate the views of the whole population
e Referenda which set out to establish the majority opinion on a binary question.

“True consultation is not a matter of simply ‘counting heads’: it is not a matter of how many
people object to proposals but how soundly based their objections are.” 2

WHAT THIS REPORT AIMS TO DO
Verve has analysed the data provided to us and in the following sections we have setf out fo:

O Summarise the quantitative response received via the consultation questionnaire
e The proportion of responses favouring each of the two options
e The responses fo other quantitative questions (e.g. services used)
e Where justified by the data, identifying where there may be significant differences of view
between different groups of respondents.

O Review the free text responses received through the questionnaire and consider alongside
comments made through other channels (roadshow notes; written responses; meeting notes
and comments from Listening events)

e |dentify the main themes of comments, picking out those most commonly referenced
e Produced a high-level summary of the substantive points made by respondents during the
consultation.

2 Lady Justice Arden, Court of Appeal Judgement, Royal Brompton and Harefield NHS Foundation Trust vs.
JCPCT

Page 103

Independent evaluation of consultation- Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley Clinical Commissioning Group



verve

METHODOLOGY

Quantitative data from the questionnaire (see Appendix A) is presented in charts and tables
which summarise:

O The scale of response, showing the profile of respondents e.g. demographic characteristics
(age. gender, ethnicity efc.); which services they use; special needs (e.g. disability); where
they live (as far it is possible to do so)

O The overall views on Options 1 and 2 for location of the new freatment centre, indicating
where the data suggests there may be significant differences between the views of different
groups within the population. (These are the answers to Q5 and Qé3)

The total preferences between Options and break-down of participants are based on the whole
questionnaire dataset (aggregating both printed and online responses).

Free text comments were provided through the questionnaire on three topics:

O Reasons for preference between Options 1 and 2 (Qs 5 and 6)
O Impact of ‘top three’ issues on respondent / their family (Q7)
O Oftherideas and suggestions (Q8).

Based on an inifial sample n=100, the most common themes in responses to these questions were
identified. Once the data was collected, all the comments received were reviewed and
allocated to the main themes, and a further level of analysis was undertaken to sub-divide and
understand comments at a more detailed level.

The categories developed for this analysis is shown at Appendix F (code frame).

Please note that each individual free text response could include multiple comments, and in
some cases the answer to an individual question included up to five separate points.

The level of response and the length and complexity of comments made were unusually high
and coupled with the great bulk of response received in the final 72 hours before close of
consultation, it has not been possible to analyse the free text comments fully for this initial report.

In order to draw conclusions for this report, however, we have undertaken detailed analyses of
samples of free text comments provided through the questionnaire.

3 Please note the question numbers differ slightly between the printed and online form — for this section we
are using the online version shown at Appendix A. Written and online datasets were combined before the
analysis, so both are included in the analysis.

Page 104

Independent evaluation of consultation- Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley Clinical Commissioning Group



verve

3.2 THE CONSULTATION RESPONSE
3.21 QUESTIONNAIRE RESPONSES RECEIVED

Base: Total (16,474)

M In apersonal capacity

As a representative group

Did not answer

Almost all respondents were answering in a personal capacity. This would indicate that the
responses given throughout the survey are their own and uninfluenced by anyone else.

Total
Under 18

Male Female Did not answer
18-24

25-34
’ 35-44
. 45-54

55-64

65-74

26% 53% 21% 75 or over

Did not answer
Base: (16,474)

Total
0%
I s
I =
I 1%
I, 16%
I, 162
I 16
I 10%
I, 15

Base: (16,474)

Although reasonably representative, the sample of respondents does skew slightly fowards
women over 45 years old. Around 1/5 of respondents were unwilling fo state their age or gender.

Page 105

Independent evaluation of consultation- Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley Clinical Commissioning Group



verve

Did not answer

No

Base: Total (16,474)

Physical disability _ 60%
Mental health issues _ 28%
Other - 21%

Sensory disability - 10%

Speech and language difficulty I 4%

Learning difficulty I 3%

Autism I 2%

Base: Have disability/impairment (1969)

The majority of the sample do not consider themselves to have a disability or impairment. Of the
12% of respondents who do have a disability, they are most likely to have a physical disability or

a mental health issue.

3.2.2 ENGAGEMENT BY DIVERSE COMMUNITIES

Christian

No religion

Sikh

Muslim

Buddhist

Hindu

Jewish

Other

Did not answer

Base: (16,474)

White British

Asian British

Other White background
Indian

Black British

Irish

Travellers

Caribbean

African

OtherBlack background
Mixed

Whiteand Black Caribbean
White and Black African
White and Asian

Other mixed background
Pakistani

Other Asian background
Other ethnicgroup
Did not answer

Total
I 68%
N 3%

2%
11%
1 1%
1 1%

0%

0%

0%

0%

0%

0%

0%

0%

0%

0%

0%

0%
I 21%

Base: (16,474)

The majority of those who responded describe their ethnic origin as White British, while 20% of
respondents did not answer. Nearly half of the sample describe themselves as Christian, while a

quarter of people claim to have no religion.

Page 106

Independent evaluation of consultation- Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley Clinical Commissioning Group



verve

If those who did not answer this question are excluded, the headline figures are as shown
(compared with the approximate demography of the CCG's population):

Respondents describing Questionnaire (%) Population of the CCG footprint (%)
their ethnic origin as... (approximate)

White British 86.96% 85%
Other White background 3.68%
A different ethnic group 9.36% 15%

This suggests that the questionnaire respondents were skewed towards those identifying as White
British. The level of response by people not identifying as White British seems low given the
considerable efforts made by the CCG to reach diverse communities with this exercise and the
groups and meetings engaged through the roadshow.

However, this should be seen in context. It is also worth noting that the age profile:

Age Questionnaire (%) Population of the CCG footprint (%)
(approximate)
0-17 years 0.38% 24%
18-64 years 68.45% 60%
65+ years 31.17% 16%

In general, non-white communities tend to be younger and elders may not use English as a first
language - so if the response is significantly skewed towards older people, we may expect
disproportionately overall lower participation from people not identifying as White British.

In addition, it may be that the relatively high-level of respondents identifying with a religious faith
(48% Christian; 3% Sikh; 1% Muslim) suggests respondents more prepared to identify by faith than
by ethnic background.

54%

13%

20 4% 4%
] I 1% I

None Yes, Primary carer Yes, Primary carer Yes, Primary carer Yes, Primary carer Did not answer
of a child/children of older person of disabled adult of a disabled child

Base: Total (16,474)

Just over half of all respondents do not have caring responsibilities. Primary carer of children is the
most likely caring responsibility.

Page 107

Independent evaluation of consultation- Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley Clinical Commissioning Group



Your regular GP where you are registered _ 79% _ 54%
Minor injuries unit Gravesham _ 68% _ 60%
Fleet Health Campus Northfleet _ 57% _ 58%
A&E at Darent Valley Hospital _ 53% _ 54%
GP out-of-hours _ 32% _ 35%
| 1%

None of the above | 1%

Did not answer - 11% _ 24%

Base: (16,474) Base: (16,474)

Respondents use different local urgent care services, either by themselves or their friends and
family. Of those responding for themselves, 68% have used the Minor Injuries Unit at Gravesham
community hospital. However over half have also used Fleet Health Campus Northfleet and A&E
Darent Valley, indicating that all these services have been important for the local area.

66%

14%
11% 9% 10%
By car By foot By publictransport By ambulance By taxi/cab Did not answer

Base: Total (16,474)

Parking facilities and traffic could be a factor in choice as 66% of respondents claim to have
used a car when accessing urgent care services previously. Only 11% of people said they used
public transport.

Page 108

Independent evaluation of consultation- Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley Clinical Commissioning Group



3.23

3.24

verve

WHEN RESPONSES WERE RECEIVED4

30/10-04/11

08/09 - 29/10

There is a very large disparity in when questionnaires were received. As shown in the figure
above, over 5 times as many people responded via the online survey in the final weekend of the
consultation compared to the first 51 days of the consultation being open.

VOLUME OF RESPONSE

As shown in the summary response table, this consultation exercise was characterised by:

1. Aninitial response of 2,440 completed or partially completed® questionnaires from the date
the consultation opened until 30/10/11 (i.e. the first 51 days).

The questionnaire asked for additional comments explaining the reasons for views on the two
Options; feedback on the impact of location, car parking, public transport and waiting fimes;
and additional ideas and suggestions.

These initial responses included a high number of free text comments against all three
relevant questions and notably long statements covering multiple topics.

2. Afurther 13,759 questionnaires completed or partially completed by 04 November? (i.e. in the
final 5 days).

Despite these later responses including fewer free text responses, this brought the total free
text comments received to 24,958 (many of these confain more than one substantive point).

We cannot be sure of the reason for this remarkable late surge in response, but one explanation is
a widely circulated letter by the Member of Parliament for Gravesham (dated 28 October) which
expressed strong concerns about the Option 2 location at Darent Valley Hospital and
encouraging his constituents to complete the online survey.

4 Figure above made up of 2,008 completed and 432 incomplete surveys between 08/09 — 29/10, 11,796
completed and 1,963 incomplete surveys between 30/10 — 04/11. No postal entries after 04/11 were included
5 The survey portal on which the questionnaire was hosted records all data entered whether or not the final
command button to complete and submit the response is pressed. By the end of the exercise, 2,395 such
"incomplete” questionnaires were on the system. The majority of these included valid responses, so it was
agreed to include within the same dataset as “completed” forms.

6 The completed questionnaires were collected at the end of 05 November to ensure time for all printed
questionnaires received by the close to be uploaded, giving a slightly higher total for analysis of 16,474.

Page 109

Independent evaluation of consultation- Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley Clinical Commissioning Group



3.2.5

verve

There are indications that the late responses were more likely to oppose Option 2 and tend to live
closer to Gravesend (see also section below on geographic responses).

In order to provide as full an analysis as possible within the required tfimeframe, the qualitative
comments were reviewed and analysed as follows:

O A sample of comments received were reviewed and the main topics noted against the main
themes identified within the code frame

O Additional samples of the questionnaire responses were reviewed and analysed against the
more detailed categories in the code frame.

Where this approach was adopted, we used sample sizes large enough to enable reasonable
conclusions to be drawn and have been specific about the baseline number of responses
considered in each case.

RESPONSES FROM DIFFERENT PARTS OF THE CCG CATCHMENT

The questionnaire asked respondents to give the first three digits of their postcode (Q2) with a
view fo enabling analysis according to where respondents live within the CCG catchment.

In the event, people expressed this in a variety of ways. The most common responses were:
O First three digits (e.g. DA1)

O First segment of postcode (e.g. DA12)

O Whole postcode.

By far the highest coded postcode response was DA1 (n=6884). However due to the way the
question was worded, asking for the first three digits rather than the first half of the postcode
presented a challenge for analysis.

It is impossible to tell whether aresponse “DA1" means DA1 or DA10, DAT1, DA12, etc. This is
exacerbated because DAT is at the west side of the CCG catchment and significantly closer to
Darent Valley Hospital whereas the other postcodes beginning DA1 are further east and closer to
Gravesham Community Hospital (which is in DA11).

However, a significant number of respondents (n=2744), despite being asked just for the first three
digits, specified that they live in the DA11 postcode where Option 1 is located. A comparatively
much smaller proportion of respondents live in DA2 (n=162).

This enabled direct comparison of responses by residents of DA2 and DA11 to see whether their
options preferences differ, and is taken into account in the analysis (also detailed in the analysis
charts) by comparing responses from:

O People who identified as living in DA2 (i.e. within the postcode area of Darent Valley Hospital)
O People who specified DA11 (i.e. within the postcode area of Gravesham Community
Hospital).

Page 110

Independent evaluation of consultation- Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley Clinical Commissioning Group



verve

Given the volume and distribution of response, these two groups provide the most practical proxy
for the populations most likely to be impacted by travel distance through choice of Option 1. Vs.
Option 2.

/‘ -~ rempne . Gravesham Community
4 d "’B"Al_’ | ~ Hospital (Option 1)
SEL P SR Ve
e ERITH F—— \ Darent Valley Hospital
| PAIG .D.A7 v I - < \ (Option 2)
g BEXLEY . : \
DA15 *._ DAS DA1 DAIZAQ Hade \
S ~dibcup y
~ . pAu4 _DARTFORD DATIY BN 2 |
s LRV SRAVESEND L
- / DA4 /
) DA13
{ DA3 »
o LONGFIELD, (
BR \ )
\ N =
- ' M _/VM )
TN ME

The uneven distribution of respondents, linked to a preference for services close to home, may
have influenced the higher preference towards Option 1 as many more people live in a much
closer proximity to the Gravesham Community Hospital site.

Page 111

Independent evaluation of consultation- Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley Clinical Commissioning Group



verve

4. FINDINGS AND ANALYSIS

4.1 HEADLINE FINDINGS

Option 1: Urgent Treatment Option 2: To create an
Centre at Gravesham Urgent Treatment Centre at
Community Hospital Darent Valley Hospital

NET Agree
5%
NET Disagree 5%
73%
Have no view 1% 0%
Did not answer 14% 22%

Base: Total (16,474)

Urgent Treatment Centre at Gravesham Community Hospital (option 1) is the overwhelming
preference.

e Thereis a very strong preference towards Option 1 - 75% of respondents Strongly Agree
that Gravesham Community Hospital is the right site for an urgent treatment centre (UTC)

e Consequently, there is also high negativity towards Option 2 — only 5% agree that it should
be the chosen site for the UTC and 68% Strongly Disagree with this option completely

e Respondents were also significantly less likely to give any response about Option 2 with
around 1/5 choosing not to give any opinion at all

e While there is no significant demographic group particularly driving the preference
towards Option 1, those that do Strongly Agree with the option are a litle more likely to
be over 55 years old

e With no real demographic factors pointing towards a preference for either option,
respondent choice must have a basis in more emotional or practical issues.

Page 112

Independent evaluation of consultation- Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley Clinical Commissioning Group



verve

4.1.1 DOES AREA OF RESIDENCE MATTER?

In the charts above and below, we chose to look at DA11 and D2 more closely (DA11 being the
postcode area for the proposed UTC at Gravesham Community Hospital and DA2 the postcode
area for the proposed UTC at Darent Valley hospital).

As expected, respondents in DA11 very highly endorsed Option 1 as this opfion sits within their
local postcode and is therefore much easier to access for local residents. 85% of people who
claim to live in this area Strongly Agree that Gravesham Community Hospital is the better site for
the new UTC and 90% Agree overall. (See chart above)

Option choice by postcode: Lives in DA11

Option 2: To create an
Urgent Treatment Centre at
Darent Valley Hospital

Option 1: Urgent Treatment
Centre at Gravesham
Community Hospital

| NET Agree | NET Agree
90% 1%

Agree I 5% - 0% —

1% — I 5% _

| NET Disagree
3%

‘ 1%

Disagree

w‘ NET Disagree

J 80%

Strongly Disagree |2% —

Have no view | 0% 1%
Did not answer | 7% 17%
Base: Coded DA11 as first postcode digits (2326) (2326)

There is not, however, as much positivity towards Option 2 among those who live in DA2.
Residents of DA2 are far more balanced in their opinion of moving the UTC to Darent Valley
hospital. Less than half (43%) Strongly Agree that it would be the best option, while nearly a third
(31%) Strongly Disagree with this option. (See chart below). The responses to Option 1 echo this.

Option choice by postcode: Lives in DA2

Option 1: Urgent Treatment
Centre at Gravesham
Community Hospital

Option 2: To create an
Urgent Treatment Centre at
Darent Valley Hospital

Strongly Agree a43% -

32% —~‘

L NET Agree

a1% J a7%
Agree I 9% - 4% -

Disagree . 14

_ NET Agree

X
|
J
[
a
X

| NET Disagree L NET Disagree

Strongly Disagree

Have no view

Did not answer

Base: Coded DA2 as first postcode digits

' 41% J 37%

Page 113

0%
16%

(161)



verve

4.1.2 DOES THE LATE SURGE IN RESPONSE SKEW PREFERENCES?

A sample of the final 1000 respondents, who participated at the end of the study when it was
experiencing very high response rates, was examined more closely.

An overwhelming number of people responded in favour for the UTC to be moved to Gravesham
Community Hospital (Option 1). 86% of respondents Strongly Agree with Option 1, with 93% agree
overall. (See above)

Last 1000 responses from online survey (postal submissions excluded)

Option 1: Urgent Treatment Option 2: To create an
Centre at Gravesham Urgent Treatment Centre at
Community Hospital Darent Valley Hospital

Stronely Asree _ e }

| .
L NET Agree L NET Agree
Agree I 7% —J

93% 3%
2% I 5%

1% —
Stronglv Disagree I v _ 80%

Disagree

Have noview 1% 0%
Did not answer 1% 12%
Base: Last 1000 survey responses  (1000) (1000)

However, the overall popularity towards Option 1 isn't solely driven by those who responded later.
In the chart below, a sample of the first 1000 people o respond to the survey was also taken. It
clearly shows that Option 1 was still the preference, even at the earlier stage of recruitment. 3/4
respondents still Agree that Gravesham Community Hospital is the favourable choice. There is
significantly more affinity towards Option 2 within the first 1000 respondents, however only 18%
Strongly Agree with this opftion.

First 1000 responses from online survey (postal submissions excluded)

Option 1: Urgent Treatment Option 2: To create an
Centre at Gravesham Urgent Treatment Centre at
Community Hospital Darent Valley Hospital
Stronglv Agree _ 52% 7 - 1%
__ NET Agree { NET Agree

75% Jr 22%

Agree . 13% — I 4% _
Strongly Disagree . 1o% _ es%

Have noview 4% 1%

Disagree

Did not answer 2% 2%
Page 114

Base: First 1000 survey responses  (1000) (1000)



4.2

4.2.1

verve

ANALYSIS OF COMMENTS - WHAT DID PEOPLE SAY?

Three open guestions were included in the survey to gather more detailed opinions on their
reasons for endorsing either option, and the issues effecting the proposed locations of the new
Urgent Treatment Centre.

Q5/6 — PLEASE STATE YOUR REASONS FOR YOUR CHOICE

Ease of journey
How easy it is fo access the UTC was the top issue driving preference between the Options.
e The main concern for respondents is their ability to access their UTC site overall, mostly in

relation fo the Darent Valley location

e People also had a preference towards a site that was closer to them, a subject that is
more is more heavily weighted towards choosing Option 1, given how many more
respondents were gathered from the DA11 postcode

e Traffic in the local area was another concern, with many seeing Darent Valley being foo
congested, particularly around peak or rush hour traffic. Respondents also raised
concerns about how traffic might impact on patients that need urgent treatment if they
are unable to access freatment in a fimely manner.

e The ability to access the UTC at DVH by public transport is also an issue. Although only 11%
or respondents claim fo have accessed Urgent treatment services by public transport
previously, they do desire a site that has frequent and easy public transport links. Some
responses cite that good public transport links are necessary if it is yourself that requires
urgent freatment and you are unable to drive, a sentiment shared by people who chose
both sites

e Some stated that a reason for choice is the ability for elderly or sick/vulnerable patients to
access the urgent freatment they require. Many believed it is unfair fo ask patients who
are more at risk to travel to a site which cannot be easily reached by car or public
fransport. Although this was mainly directed towards DVH, there were a small number of
people who expressed concerns about having the UTC and Gravesham.

Because for people east of Dartford Anyone analysing this document should try to fravel

the journey is easier. The traffic to from Gravesend to Darent during rush hours or every

Darent makes the journey very fime the Dartford crossing is fouled up and see how
unpredictable. impossible it is.

It is vital we keep and add to services in Gravesend.

Easier to get to, as no public transport
would get me to Gravesend hospital
from where | live. At the last known
amount it cost over £27 to get a taxi
back from Darent Valley so no idea
how much from Gravesend

| live in Gravesend, | do not drive, | have no-
one to give me allift, | can't afford taxis, |
am mentally ill and can't travel far. Too
much goes to Dartford it's like Gravesend
doesn't exist.

Page 115

Independent evaluation of consultation- Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley Clinical Commissioning Group



verve

Hospital facilities — both sites
The negative or positive impact of co-located facilities on the proposed site is another

consideration for respondents when making their choice:

e Thereis a perception that staff numbers are already stretched at larger hospital sites and
the added patient numbers that an UTC would bring to the site would further limit the
availability of staff, especially at Darent Valley Hospital

e Although respondents were asked to give a choice towards their preferred site, there is sfill
some sentiment that they prefer their current provision of hospital facilities

e Some respondents felt that the location should have both UTC and A&E service on one
site, the benefit of this being that the required facilities and staff would be available and
they wouldn’t have to travel if your treatment is upgraded from urgent to and emergency

e There are low level concerns that an adjoining A&E department will result in issues such as
longer waiting fimes due to patients who do not know whether to categorise their issue as
urgent or an emergency, or availability of staff who may need to work across both
departments

e A small number of respondents also believe that the whole freatment process is much
longer in larger or major hospitals. Having the UTC at a smaller, community-based site is
seen as preferable for this reason.

If services are available locally, it would . '
also reduce the strain on the A&E DVH s already full to bursting and
understaffed.

It's overcrowded... the temptation to
send patients to AE would be greater as
its on site

department at Darent Valley Hospital,
leaving staff to tend to people in real need
of emergency freatment.

If someone goes to the urgent care
centfre and it is then decided their case
needs escalated to A&E then they are
already in the correct building which
gives continuity of care.

Lack of staff, funding and capacity for
the current structure. How would they

cope with the added pressure?

Parking
Issues surrounding patient parking is also a major factor driving preference for UTC site:

e The main worry for most people is how difficult it might be to park at the DVH site with
many seeing Gravesham as having alternative parking options available if the site car
park is full

e Respondents also clearly indicated that felt that the price of parking at the DVH site is too
high

e This is more of a problem for those who may be less able to travel on public fransport but
for who cost is an issue

Page 116

Independent evaluation of consultation- Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley Clinical Commissioning Group



verve

e Costis exacerbated as a problem if waiting fimes are high or freatment takes longer than

expected

e Thereis also a perceived lack of parking spaces at Darent Valley, with concern that it can
be impossible to park onsite in an urgent situation with no alternative options in the

surrounding area

e The cost and availability of parking resulted in a general feeling of anxiety about the issue
as a whole, and some stated their preference for a site which could af least enable
parking in the local area if there is none available on site.

Moving to Darent Valley will make it
difficult for people in Gravesend and
surrounding areas to access it... Parking
would be extortionate, and people
shouldn't have to worry about being able
to afford to park to access the facilities.

Gravesham Community Hospital is closer fo me,
however there is no parking at the hospital. If you
have a disability it is a long way to walk.
Alternatively, Darent Valley does not have sufficient
parking for the number of people already using it.
Whichever option is chosen parking needs to be
considered.

There is not enough parking to merge alll
these services at the same place, would
be chaos and will cost everyone too
much money to travel to and from it by
bus or taxi

The parking facilities at Darent
Valley are inadequate and
costly. there is nowhere else to
park when the car park is full -
everywhere is double yellow
lines & residential areas.

Many expressed that the reason for their preference was to have a location that provides the
optimal journey for the majority of residents. This suggests a site that is most accessible to the
greatest number, and views were also expressed that this should take info account the
accessibility issues for those with financial or mobility challenges in particular.

Getting to Darent valley hospital is a
problem for most people, if you can get
there the parking is a nightmare. Many

elderly people haven't got cars. Getting to

If you are feeling so unwell that you are
seeking medical that you cannot get
from your own GP you are not feeling
well enough to get on a bus. Cost of a

taxi from Gravesend area fo Darent
Valley would be prohibifive for most
people. Please keep this service local
for local people.

Gravesend there are many bus routes.
We need to keep local services.

Page 117

Independent evaluation of consultation- Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley Clinical Commissioning Group



verve

Expense
Some respondents claimed that the overall cost to them or their families was a factor in their
decision making. This broke down to two specific issues:
e As previously, the price of parking is the main concern
e Although we have already seen that respondents would prefer ample public transport
provision in order to access both proposed UTC sites, there are also concerns about how
much it might cost to use. There are some who suggest that free transport to the UTC
should be provided.

| remember one night at 4am having to
drive there in the snow, along the A2.
Parking there during the day is a
nightmare and expensive & public
fransport very time consuming.

The parking at DVH is expensive and non-
existent. | have been late for appointments
before due to this problem

My reasons are logical for me as a non-driver | have
to access public fransport and Gravesham
community hospital is easier to get to and it comes
down to cost of tfransport too.

422 Q7 - THE TOP THREE ISSUES LOCAL PEOPLE RAISED WITH US ABOUT THE LOCATION OF THE NEW
URGENT TREATMENT CENTRE DURING PREVIOUS ENGAGEMENT WERE: PARKING, ACCESS TO PUBLIC
TRANSPORT AND WAITING TIMES. WHAT IMPACT WILL THE PROPOSED OPTIONS HAVE ON YOU AND
YOUR FAMILY?

Parking
As seen in the reasons for choosing their preferred site, the issue of Parking at the UTC is high on

the agenda when assessing the impact of change may have on a respondent or their family.

e Provision of parking spaces is the most common issue that was raised. Many people have
spoken of their experience of using car parking facilities at DVH previously and their worry
that the extra patient load might affect this further under Option 2.

e Respondents also clearly indicated that they felt that the price of parking at DVH is an
issue. Parking is seen to be too expensive which can also have a negative impact on
patients who do not have the means or the ability to pay for parking. This is something
that becomes more of a problem if waiting tfimes are high or tfreatment for issues is longer
than expected.

e Some respondents also expressed concern about the availability of disabled parking at
the DVH site.

Page 118

Independent evaluation of consultation- Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley Clinical Commissioning Group



verve

Having nothing local to home (Higham).... Parking - availability and cost. Darent is

dread any appointments at Darent due to already a very busy car park. Assuming
the parking! the urgent treatment centre is placed

here, additional car parking would need

to be provided.

We are fortunate to have several vehicles to
access, but parking in Gravesend would be Darent Valley Hospital has problems
an issue. There is more parking available at with shortage of parking especially
Darent Valley (albeit very very busy) for the disabled. The area easily gets
gridlocked. Having more emergency
services would only compound the
problem:s.

Service
The level of service a patient might receive at the new UTC site was also seen as a major issue for

respondents:

e Ashighlighted in previous engagement studies, longer waiting fimes are an issue and
were raised again. There is a perception that receiving urgent care at a larger hospital
site, such as Darent Valley would potentially cause patients to wait longer for treatment.
Larger hospitals are seen to be already overstretched by patient numbers

e Some respondents expressed an affinity towards the service they currently use and
reluctance to change for this reason

e Having to travel further is a concern, and many highlighted the importance of having
urgent tfreatment locally. Although this was mainly aimed at DVH, there were some who
expressed concerns about having to travel to Gravesham

e Having the correct mix, or indeed sufficient numbers, of staff at the UTC site is another
issue that some claim could affect the level of service. There is some concern that not
enough new staff will be provided for the UTC site at both locations.

Easier parking cut down on waiting times due to
Longer waiting fimes as it overpressure on staff at a hospital that is not big enough to
will open up to bigger cope with the amount of people & the impact of other
areas such as Dartford Emergency departments in the area being closed down.
and Swanley. Absolutely need somewhere else with the amount of houses
that are being built in the Gravesham area

Waiting times for A&E are too long Anyone who turns up at A&E with minor injuries
as the staff are under so much should be signposted to local services like the
pressure and this new service would walk-in or minor injuries.
suffer the same Another idea would be for local GP surgeries
to offer more weekend appointments

Page 119

Independent evaluation of consultation- Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley Clinical Commissioning Group



verve

Access
How easily accessible the site is overall is seen to be an impactful issue for respondents:
e There are concerns that the DVH site might not be easily accessible for respondents or
their family in an urgent situation, many feeling that they may have to travel too far to
access the care they require.

Gravesend is much more convenient & easier
to access in an emergency.
Dartford is too far fo access quickly Bus

Gravesend would be much more
convenient and easier to access.

transport in Gravesend is better than to
Dartford to get to in an emergency
appointment

Public Transport
Service users expressed a number of worries about the level of public transport options available

to them if the site is moved to Darent Valley and how this would impact them when they require
care:

e Of those who gave an opinion, the main issue is how much public transport is available to
them. Users feel that they would be heavily impacted by a site which does not have
adequate public transport links

e Anotherissue relate to public transport is how quickly it can get you fo the urgent
treatment centre. There are concerns that standard public transport routes may take too
long, stop at too many stops or travel a route which is not direct enough if the service user
needs urgent treatment. Although there were some very low-level concerns about this in
Gravesham, it was mainly Darent Valley where there seemed to be a perceived issue.

e Some anxiety is also felt fowards having to use public transport if a service user is unwell or
fravelling with children.

Public transport in the Dartford area
is currently under review with less
busses routed via DVH fo further

frustrate patients.

Relying on public fransport for really sick
people just isn't enough and if it is the only
the option the closer the better. being built in
the Gravesham area

The public tfransport links between Gravesham
and Darent Valley are dreadful. There is no train
option at all. On one occasion | had an
outpatient appointment at DVH hospital. Despite
allowing 90 minutes to get there (a 15-minute car
journey), | missed the appointment as no bus
arrived. Getting a taxi would cost £50 plus.

The impact on me personally will
be huge. Public fransport is not
easily accessible for me and to
have to fravel further will make

things harder

Page 120

Independent evaluation of consultation- Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley Clinical Commissioning Group




verve

Expense

A smaller percentage of respondents felt that the cost of having to use the service at a different
site could impact themselves or their family, particularly among those who agreed to the
Gravesham UTC site and disagreed with the Darent Valley option.

Public tfransport is expensive,
parking is expensive then add on The parking at Darent hospital is often

long waiting times and it makes for nightmarish and can also be very expensive
an extremely stressful situation

Traffic
Traffic is also commonly raised as potentially having impact on patients, mostly at DVH. There are

many similar themes here as in response to previous questions:
e The volume of traffic a patient may have to contend with to reach the Darent Valley site
e How slowly the traffic moves in an urgent situation and the anxiety this causes is perceived
to be anissue that could impact on respondents, especially those with families
e A cause for concern for some is the Dartford Crossing as a traffic hotspot. Any site near to
the Dartford Crossing would appear to create an issue for them, and this would especially
affect DVH.

It would have a big impact if things were
moved to DVH, travelling either by public Traffic issues fravelling to DVH especially
fransport or by car is always dependent when Dartford Crossing and the A2 is
on the amount of traffic, accidents and affected.

hold-ups on the road

Build up traffic in the area. Make parking af the hospital even
more difficult

Page 121

Independent evaluation of consultation- Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley Clinical Commissioning Group



verve

423 Q8- WE WELCOME ANY OTHER IDEAS AND SUGGESTIONS THAT YOU WOULD LIKE US TO CONSIDER
REGARDING THE PROPOSED NEW URGENT TREATMENT CENTRE

Generally, far fewer people responded to Q8, perhaps because respondents felt that they had
ample opportunity to discuss their issues in the previous two open questions.

Location of site
e Some respondents used this opporfunity to reiterate their preference for location, while
others suggested alternative sites for the UTC
e Respondents also used this question to restate their preference for affirm their desire to
have an UTC local to where they live, that is easily accessible for their family.

The final decision concerning the
location of the Urgent Treatment

Gravesham hospital would be
an ideal location.

Centre should be based on what is best
for the Community as a whole and not
on any financial considerations.

Suggestions were made which echo comments to previous questions including provision of
ample, cheap parking and making sure enough public transport links are available.

Available services on site
Other suggestions chiefly related to the range of services available at the UTC suggestions for an

improved service, including:

e X-ray facilities are available on site

e Improving the waiting times at local GP surgeries to take pressure off the UTC

e Making sure that a well-functioning triage service is in place, particularly to reduce
waiting fimes in A&E if co-located

e Making use of the current Gravesend maternity ward

e The need for a walk-in GP service (not necessarily linked to urgent care) if the Gravesham
walk-in service is withdrawn.

It would be useful if this new service
incorporates an out of hours x-ray
service / cover. This would take the
pressure off A&E for minor injuries and
fractures.

It would also be great if this service
could incorporate a walk-in doctor
for illnesses not just injuries, for
example, prescription of antibiotics
when uraently required.

There is the old Maternity Unif in Gravesend
next to Gravesham Community Hospital, why
don't you knock that down and build a
purpose built unit that will have ALL the

facilities you need for the Urgent Treatment
Cenfre which will cope with ALL the residents
that live in the 3 Boroughs and the exira
residents that will be moving into all the new
Properties that are being built.

Page 122

Independent evaluation of consultation- Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley Clinical Commissioning Group



4.2.4

4.2.5

4.2.6

verve

FEEDBACK FROM ROADSHOW AND LISTENING EVENTS
ABOUT ACCESSIBILITY
In addition to the questionnaire responses, qualitative data was received through

O The CCG'sroadshow
O Listening events.

These were more wide-ranging discussions and provide feedback on a broader range of topics.

Analysis of these comments shows some preferences expressed for each Option and the greatest
number of comments, consistently with the questionnaire response, related fo:

The proximity of services and the distance and difficulty of travel
Specifically, traffic and congestion

Car parking at NHS sites

Public tfransport accessibility.

0O0O0O0

ABOUT URGENT CARE AND THE UTC MODEL

There are a significant number of comments about the need to communicate effectively when
the new services when they are infroduced and general views about sign-posting, including the
NHS111 telephone service, and suggestions for where and how to publicise the most appropriate
local services for urgent care.

There are also a significant number of comments about the access needs of local communities,
particularly residents who may not have English as a first language or with access issues linked to
deprivation or age (e.g. reliance on public transport). There are some specific comments about
the need to integrate with mental healthcare.

The changing nature of the local population, particularly the rapid growth in some areas such as
Ebbsfleet Garden City and the resulting pressures on local services, are also a common theme.

Main messages relating to delivery of services in the new model include concern to ensure that
there are enough staff to deliver the new system, and aspects of quality and patient experience
including:

O The general pressure on services, including comments about the “busyness” of Darent Valley
Hospital

O Opening hours and arrangements for out-of-hours urgent care

Waiting fimes across all urgent care services

O The potential benefits of co-location of UTC with A&E services and having everything “in one
place”

O Triage especially on-site between UTC and A&E.

o

Page 123

Independent evaluation of consultation- Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley Clinical Commissioning Group



verve

Within this, a common theme is the need for greater accessibility (especially easier
appointments) and more urgent care provided in non-acute settings, in particular general
practice.

4.2.7 ABOUT THE CONSULTATION PROCESS

More broadly, there are comments about the consultation and decision-making process, with
themes including:

O That participants at the events could have been better informed (e.g. with more data) and
the events could have been set up better (e.g. venues)

O Suspicion expressed that the outcome of the consultation has already been decided

O That the events and the consultation could have been publicised better.

That the proposal to develop UTCs may represent:

O Cutsto services or the availability of care
O A sstep toward privatisation of NHS services.

Page 124

Independent evaluation of consultation- Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley Clinical Commissioning Group



4.3

verve

MEETINGS / CORRESPONDENCE WITH STATUTORY CONSULTEES

The PCBC provides detail of involvement by local authority scrutiny and local Healthwatch
organisations in reviewing the case for change and development of consultation options. During
the consultation process, Table é shows a summary of engagement responses from these groups.

Table 6 Formal responses from statutory and political stakeholders

Statutory Who? Document Preference Summary points (if available)
and political expressed?
stakeholders (Option 1 vs.
Option 2)
Local LB Bexley | Email Preference |e  Potentialimpact on services for Bexley
Authority ggg?ﬂgsmff 17/10/19 lexpressed for residents (especially in Option 1),
Overview Option 2 notably Queen Mary’s Sidcup and Erith
and Scrutiny
Agreed to
participate in
joint scrutiny
arrangements
LB Bexley Email e Potential impact on services for Bexley
'S"::/:Lhe 29/10/19 residents (especially in Option 1),
Development notably Queen Mary's Sidcup and Erith
Scrutiny Sub- e Concern about accuracy of forecasts
Group about which alternatives patients may
choose, and need to signpost
effectively
Dartford BC | Lefter Preference e Darent Valley Hospital location more
Policy O/T1/19  lexpressed for accessible by car (main roads) and public
Overview Option 2 fransport by bus
Committee e Note plans to build a new multi-storey care
park to ease pressure at Darent Valley
Hospital
e  Future local population growth, particularly
in Ebbsfleet Garden City
LB Bromley Email Declinedto |e Potential impact on urgent and
Health 12/08/19  |comment emergency care services at Princess
Scrutiny Royal University Hospital
Committee
Local Swanscombe| Email No preferencele  Concern atf reduction of sites providing
authorities  [and 04/11/19  lexpressed urgent care services
Greenhithe
Town Council
Meopham Letter Preference e Need fo retain local urgent care services af
Parish 04/11/2019 lexpressed for Gravesham Community Hospital
Council Option 1 e Potentialimpact on GP Walk-in Centre in
Northfleet
e Potential impact on already busy Darent
Valley A&E
e Difficulty of getting o Darent Valley,
especially by car
Page 125

Independent evaluation of consultation- Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley Clinical Commissioning Group




verve

Statutory Who? Document Preference Summary points (if available)
and political expressed?

stakeholders (Option 1 vs.
Option 2)

Members of |Gareth Letter No preference Potential impact on other services at
Parliament #grhgéf{f‘(’;gp 31/10/19  lexpressed Darent Valley Hospital through take-up

of space for UTC and additional
pressure of numbers at the hospital
(e.g. car parking)

Adam Preference e Travel distance / time for Gravesham
|f-|o||owoy, MP expressed for residents
(_(‘:rroveshom Option 1 ° Groveshom Community Hospital closer to ‘
population centre, better located for public
transport and more accessible (e.g. car
parking)
Page 126

Independent evaluation of consultation- Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley Clinical Commissioning Group



verve

5.  APPENDICES

APPENDIX A — QUESTIONNAIRE

1. 1 am providing a response:

O In a personal capacity

(O As arepresentative of a group

If you are responding as a representative of a group, please give details below:

2. What are the first three digits of your post code?

3. Which of the current urgent care services have you (or a friend or family
member) used before? (Tick all that apply)

You Friend/Family
Fleet Health Campus in
Morthfleet (White Horse O Il
Walk-in)
The Minor Injuries Unit at
Gravesham Community | O
Hospital
Your regular GP practice
where you are registered . O
GP out-of-hours Il Il
A&E at Darent Valley
Hospital O O
NHS 111 O O
None of the above O O

4. Thinking of the last time you used an urgent care service how did you travel
there?

[ Bycar

[ By public transport

[] By taxicab

[] By ambulance Page 127

[ By foot



verve

Please indicate whether you agree or disagree with the two options proposed

5. Option 1: To create an Urgent Treatment Centre at Gravesham Community
Hospital by moving services from the current Fleet Health Campus in
Northfleet (White Horse Walk-in) to join the Minor Injuries Unit at Gravesham

Community Hospital
D Strongly agree

D Agree

I:::I Disagree

D Strongly disagree

D Have no view

6. Option 2:To create an Urgent Treatment Centre at Darent Valley Hospital by
moving services from the current Minor Injuries Unit at Gravesham
Community Hospital and the Fleet Health Campus in Northfleet (White Horse

Walk-in) to Darent Valley Hospital
Strongly agree

Agree

Dizagree

Strongly disagree

CcCO0O0O0O

Hawve no view

FPlease state your reascns for your choice

Page 128

Independent evaluation of consultation- Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley Clinical Commissioning Group



verve

1. The top three issues local people raised with us about the location of the

new Urgent Treatment Centre during previous engagement were: parking,
access to public transport and waiting times.

What impact will the proposed options have on you and your family?

8. We welcome any other ideas and suggestions that you would like us to
consider regarding the proposed new Urgent Treatment Centre

Page 129

Independent evaluation of consultation- Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley Clinical Commissioning Group



verve

APPENDIX B — MATERIALS AND PUBLICITY

A suite of material was designed and produced to explain the opfions and encourage
participation in the consultation

INHS|

Dartford Gravesham and Swanley

Clinical Commissioning Group

PUBLIC
CONSULTATION

12 August - 4 November 2019

Help us improve NHS urgent care services
in Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley

14pp document + reply-paid print questionnaire

Page 130

Independent evaluation of consultation- Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley Clinical Commissioning Group



verve

Website consultation pages (including document download and questionnaire)

INHS |

Dartford Gravesham
and Swanley
Clinical Commissioning Group

PUBLIC CONSULTATION

Proposed changes to NHS Urgent Care services
in Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley

About us Get involved Your health News and campaigns Contact ,O

12 August to 4 November 2019

HAVE YOUR SAY MAKE YOUR VOICE COUNT

Latest news

First public consultation event Go-ahead for one CCG for Kent Goodbye to devoted nurse who
in Swanley takes place and Medway gave 41 years to NHS - but

wanted to be a vet
Read more » Read more »

Read more »

Other digital engagement through social media posts and the CCG website

INHS|

Dartford Gravesham
and Swanley
Clinical Commissioning Group

About us Get involved Your health News and campaigns Contact ,O

Health Network

Home » Get involved » Health Network

Join in and help shape services Get involved
Engagement and
Our Health Network is a virtual group of patients, public and voluntary groups who are interested involvement

in getting more involved in how services are planned and designed.
Listening post events

By becoming a member you can take part as much or as little as you like. Patient involvement
) Public Consultation:
You will alsa: Proposed changes to NHS
e Receive our regular e-newsletters urgent care services in
h id dvi b local health . Dartford, Gravesham and
» Share ideas and views about local health services swanley
e Stay up-to-date with the health topics that interest you
yup P Y Roadshows

® Take part in focus groups, consultations and surveys about healthcare.
Surveys and consultations

To sign up, please send your name, email address and preferred contact details to Health Network
dgs.communications@nhs.net and we will add you to our subscription list.

Page 131

Independent evaluation of consultation- Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley Clinical Commissioning Group



verve

Generic posters

PUBLIC
CONSULTATION

12 August to 4 November 2019

Proposed changes to NHS Urgent Care services
in Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley

WE WANT TO CREATE A NEW URGENT TREATMENT CENTRE

at either Gravesham Community Hospital or Darent Valley Hospital by autumn 2020. This will mean
moving services from Fleet Healthcare Campus in Northfleet (White Horse Walk-in) to the Minor
Injuries Unit at Gravesham Community Hospital or moving services from both White Horse Walk-in and
Gravesham Community Hospital to Darent Valley Hospilal.

HAVE YOUR SAY MAKE YOUR VOICE COUNT

EMalL- dgs.communications@nhs.net
PHONE: 03000 424903
WEESTTE: nhs.uk A full timetable of events is available online

Dartford Gravesham and Swanley
Clinical Commissioning Group

Promotion of events and roadshow

PUBLIC CONSULTATION
EVENTS

Proposed changes to NHS Urgent Care services in Dartford, Gravesham
and Swanley

We want to create a new Urgent Treatment Centre at either Gravesham Community Hospital or
Darent Valley Hospital by autumn 2020.

This will mean moving services from the White Horse Walk-in Centre in Northfieet o the Minor
juries Unit at Gravesham Community Hospital or moving services from both the White Horse
Walk-in Cenfre and Gravesham Community Hospital to Darent Valley Hospital.

Come along to one of our public consultation evenis to find out more and have your say.

Dates for the Diary

Wednesday 16 October from 6-8pm

Alexandra Suite, 5t Mary’s Road, Swanley, Kent, BRS 7BU

Monday 28 October from 6-8pm

Princes Suite, Princes Park Stadium, Darenth Read, Dartford, DA1 1RT
Wednesday 30 October from 6-8pm

Kent Room, Gravesham Civic Centre, Windmill Street, Gravesend, Kent, DA12 1AU

To book your place at one of the events, email dgs.communications@nhs.net or call 03000 424 903

Followusat @DGS m

?.,",";l..’ “‘,“:m“" Dartford Gravesham and Swanley
Clinica} Commissionj up
age 137

Postcard

Public consultation

12 August to 4 November 2019
Proposed changes to NHS Urgent Care services in Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley

HAVE YOUR SAY MAKE YOUR VOICE COUNT

WeesiTe: dartfordgraveshamswanleyccg.nhs.uk
EMAIL: dgs.communications@nhs.net
PHONE: 03000 424903

) -3 Al imetableof eviss
@ i\\g 'i \ poidapicds

Dartford Gravesham and Swanley

Clinical Commissioning Group

12 August to 4 November 2019

We want to create a new Urgent
Treatment Centre at either Gravesham
Community Hospital or Darent Valley
Hospital by autumn 2020

Help us to decide on the best option for everyone
in Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley

Independent evaluation of consultation- Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley Clinical Commissioning Group



verve

APPENDIX C — LISTENING EVENTS

The full report from facilitated Listening events, provided by Hood and Woolf are contained in the
following pages.

Page 133

Independent evaluation of consultation- Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley Clinical Commissioning Group



Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley Clinical Commissioning
Group consultation on a new urgent treatment centre: Report
on public consultation events

November 2019

Part 1: Executive summary

As part of a wider public consultation, Hood & Woolf were commissioned by Dartford, Gravesham
and Swanley Clinical Commissioning Group (DGS CCG or DGS) to deliver three public meetings to
support the CCG’s consultation on the location of a new urgent treatment centre.

The two options for consultation were:

e Option 1: an urgent treatment centre at Gravesham Community Hospital
e Option 2: an urgent treatment centre located alongside the A&E at Darent Valley Hospital.

Both these options would mean that the current GP-led walk-in service would close, and its services
be replaced within the new urgent treatment centre. Under option 2 the minor injuries unit at
Gravesham Community Hospital would also close, again, with services to treat urgent minor injuries
to be delivered for the local population from the new urgent treatment centre. Under both options
the A&E service at Darent Valley Hospital would remain unchanged.

In addition to twelve weeks of consultation activity, three public consultation events were delivered
in October; one each in Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley:

e Wednesday 16 October: Alexandra Suite, St Mary’s Road, Swanley, BR8 7BU
e Monday 28 October: Princes Park Stadium, Darent Road, Dartford, DA1 1RT
e Wednesday 30 October: Gravesham Civic Centre, Windmill Street, Gravesend, DA12 1AU

We worked closely with the DGS CCG Communications and Engagement team to support them in
their promotion of the events, making the most of their existing communications channels and
networks, as well as seeking support from local provider organisations. Promotional activity
included:

e publicity posters

e cascade correspondence and publicity to stakeholder network
e publicity information clearly posted on DGS CCG website

e traditional media — proactive press release

Page 134

Independent evaluation of consultation- Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley Clinical Commissioning Group



e social media —regular pulses of awareness raising activity, call to action and signposting
on Twitter and Facebook

e promotion by other local NHS organisations through their extensive staff, stakeholder and
community networks.

To make it as easy as possible for people to register for the events we used Eventbrite to set up an
online registration portal. In addition, people without access to the internet were able to telephone
to register to attend.

Each event followed the same format. The meeting room was set up in a cabaret style with several
tables each able to seat around 8 attendees. Every venue had capacity for up to 70 attendees.

The meeting began with a context-setting and overview presentation, followed by a plenary Q&A
session and then facilitated individual table discussions, where we focused conversations around
the following questions:

e What do you think about these two options?

e Are there any other benefits or disadvantages for each of them we haven’t already noted
(as per the presentation and table materials)?

e Which are the potential disadvantages and concerns that worry you most? How could we
address them?

e What other thoughts or comments about these two options do you have?

e Arethere any other options we should consider?

We purposely designed the format to include both plenary and smaller, more focused, table
discussions. In our experience not everybody is confident or wants to give their views to a large
plenary group, although this is a helpful way to convey context-setting information and to answer
common questions. In addition, plenary discussions can become dominated by one or two
individuals, leaving others feeling they haven’t had the chance to properly give their views too.
Table discussions allow for richer, more detailed conversations and exploration of themes, and
allow a greater number of people to properly ‘have their say’.

The table discussions were based on a ‘world café’ format, with the tables set up with paper
tablecloths and refreshments to create an informal atmosphere. Each table had some infographic-
type materials highlighting key facts and figures, and clearly setting out the two options to prompt
discussion. Facilitators encouraged discussion and invited attendees to write their thoughts on the
tablecloth, so everyone had the chance to have their say. The facilitators also took on the ‘main
scribe’ role, making sure that key points from the discussion were noted in addition to individual
comments written on the tablecloths by participants.

After the table discussions, each facilitator fed back to the rest of the room some of the key
headlines from their table’s discussions and there was a final short plenary session in which the
CCG Clinical Chair/Director of Strategic Transformation fed back to participants what they had
heard and thanked everyone for their involvement. The tablecloths were collected, and the
comments were written up to inform this report.

Page 135



Overall 81 people attended the listening events, most of whom were in the 50 to 69 or 70+ age

bracket. The feedback from the events was broadly very positive, with 79% of attendees rating the

event format as excellent or good.

The key themes that emerged from the events which were common to both options in the

consultation, were:

general support for urgent treatment centres (UTCs), with participants seeing the benefits
of an alternative to A&E

concerns about ease of access to UTCs by both private and public transport, wherever it is
located

a call for more to be done to help people understand what services are available and which
is the most appropriate for their needs

comments on the wider NHS context, including other changes to services and whether these
will improve access to primary care, and concerns about the availability of workforce to staff
the UTC

concerns about the changing and growing population in Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley
and how this would impact on a new UTC.

The key themes and beliefs raised by event participants on option 1, a UTC at Gravesham

Community Hospital, were:

access to Darent Valley Hospital from the Gravesham area is very difficult by both car and
public transport. However, access to Gravesham Community Hospital will also be difficult
for people who do not live in the Gravesham area

the population of Gravesham is too large to be without urgent care services in the local
area

there are vulnerable groups who will be particularly impacted if there is no UTC in
Gravesham

there are clinical risks to patients if there is no urgent care service in the Gravesham area,
but there are also clinical risks of not having an A&E co-located with a UTC

people living in the Gravesham area have confidence in their current urgent care services
and see them as an important asset to the community. However, some people are
worried that Gravesham Community Hospital would not cope with an increase in patients
if the UTC were located there.

Key themes and beliefs raised by event participants on option 2, a UTC at Darent Valley Hospital,

were:

access to Darent Valley Hospital is very difficult by both car and public transport; it is
difficult and expensive to park there

there should be a UTC at Darent Valley Hospital because this would serve the largest
number of people, but people in the Gravesham area will be disadvantaged

the clinical benefits of being located alongside an A&E are very compelling, and a UTC
would help to reduce pressure on A&E

Page 136



e Darent Valley Hospital is very busy already and a UTC could make this worse.

The most common alternative options and mitigations suggested by attendees at the public
consultation events were:

e to have two urgent treatment centres, one at Darent Valley Hospital and one at
Gravesham Community Hospital

e to ensure the changes in primary care, such as the creation of GP hubs and extended
opening hours deliver improvements that could help reduce the need for urgent care

e to find ways to improve access at either site by increasing parking spaces and reducing
parking costs, considering a shuttle bus service or other ways of improving public
transport.

Page 137



Part 2: Introduction and overview of events

1. Introduction

Hood & Woolf were commissioned in September 2019 by Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley Clinical
Commissioning Group (DGS CCG or DGS) to design and deliver three public meetings to support the
CCG’s consultation on the location of a new urgent treatment centre.

As part of national NHS policy, local NHS areas are expected to reconfigure current urgent care
services (usually minor injuries units and/or urgent care centres) to create urgent treatment
centres, or UTCs. The new UTCs will have a consistent service offer and will need to adhere to 27
nationally set standards. They are intended to address a number of issues with current service
provision, including confusion and uncertainty among the public about, when and how to access
urgent care services appropriately and the growing pressure on emergency departments (A&Es),
caused in part by a high number of inappropriate attendances.

At present, DGS CCG have a number of different services for people with an urgent care need,
including a minor injuries unit at Gravesham Community Hospital, a GP-led walk-in service just
outside Gravesham town centre, and a GP led service at Darent Valley Hospital A&E department.
The map below provides more detail.

GP-led urgent géf
service 8am to
10pm (last patid
admitted at §

— i
Gravesham-€6mmunity
ospital

Nurse-led minor i
services B 8pm seven
days a week (no x-ray
Darent Valley White Horse available at tne weekend)
Hospital: Walk-in Centre

Consultant-led 24/7 GP-led minor illness

A&L service service 8am to 8pm

seven days a week

Queen Mary's /
Hospital

care service

Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley CCG
Current urgent'care services

ledway Hospital
Consultant-led 24/7
A&E service and
GP-led 24/7 urgent
care service

Princess Royal
Hospital
Consultant-led 24/7 A&E
service and GP-led 24/7
urgent care service

Sevenoaks Community y
Hospital

Nurse-led minor injuries Maidstone

service 8am to 8pm seven o Hospital

days a week (no x-ray Consultant-led 24/7
available at the weekend) A&E service

DGS began a public consultation in August 2019 on the location of a new UTC for the area. They

presented two options for consultation:
e Option 1: an urgent treatment centre at Gravesham Community Hospital
e Option 2: an urgent treatment centre located alongside the A&E at Darent Valley Hospital.

Both these options would mean that the current GP-led walk-in service would close, and under
option 2 the minor injuries unit at Gravesham Community Hospital would also close. Under both
options the A&E service at Darent Valley Hospital would remain unchanged.

Page 138



In addition to the three public meetings, the consultation comprised a number of different
elements in order to gather the views of local people, staff and stakeholders, these included:

e a consultation document, which included a consultation questionnaire
e web pages on the CCG website about the consultation, with links to an online version of
the consultation questionnaire
e aseries of ‘roadshow’ events about the consultation in local communities, shopping
centres and supermarkets
e targeted outreach to seldom heard groups
e social media activity.
The consultation closed on 4 November 2019 and a decision is expected in early 2020, with the new
urgent treatment centre planned to open by summer 2020.

2. What we did

2.0 Scheduling the events

At the time of being commissioned, the DGS CCG Communications and Engagement team had
already booked three venues for the consultation events to take place in October; one each in
Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley:

Wednesday 16 October: Alexandra Suite, St Mary’s Road, Swanley, BR8 7BU

Monday 28 October: Princes Park Stadium, Darent Road, Dartford, DA1 1RT
Wednesday 30 October: Gravesham Civic Centre, Windmill Street, Gravesend, DA12 1AU

S~ "8

Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley CCG
Consultation events

The events were scheduled to take place on weekday evenings from 6pm to 8pm, to allow as many
people to attend as possible.

The first event was originally planned for 7 October in Dartford, but at our recommendation this
was rescheduled to 28 October as only a small number of people had registered to attend.

Page 139



2.1 Publicising the events

The DGS Communications and Engagement team had started work to promote the events when
Hood & Woolf were appointed to deliver the meetings. We worked closely with the DGS CCG
Communications and Engagement team to further promote the events, making the most of their
existing communications channels and networks. The table below summarises the publicity activity.

Activity

Details

Publicity posters

Posters promoting the events were displayed in community venues,
GP practices and other NHS services, local shops and businesses.
The poster is shown in Appendix A.

Cascade to
stakeholder
network

An email invitation was sent to DGC CCG’s stakeholder network,
which includes patient participation group members, faith and

community group leaders, local branches of patient groups (e.g.
Diabetes UK etc) and members of the DGS CCG Health Network.

In addition, a personal email was sent to local councillors inviting
them to attend and to highlight the meetings to others.

DGS CCG website

The consultation and information about the events were given a
strong presence on the DGS CCG website

Traditional media

A press release was sent to local print and broadcast media. This is
shown in Appendix B.

Social media

We developed some social media ‘cards’ for use on Facebook and
Twitter (see Appendix C).

The CCG published posts on their Facebook page and tweeted about
the events (examples are shown in Appendix C).

In addition, we issued tweets via the Kent and Medway
Sustainability and Transformation Partnership Twitter account
(example in Appendix C).

Promotion by
other NHS
organisations

We sought support from communications and engagement teams in
local provider organisations, including Dartford and Gravesham NHS
Trust, Kent Community Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust and Virgin
Care, in promoting the events. They were asked to display posters in
patient areas and to promote the events to their stakeholder
networks and via their social media channels.

To make it as easy as possible for people to register for the events we used Eventbrite to set up an

online registration portal. For those without access to the internet, a telephone number was

included in all the publicity materials, so people could call DGS CCG to register for an event.

Page 140




2.2 Event format
Each event followed the same format. The meeting room was set up in a cabaret style with several
tables each able to seat around 8 attendees. Every venue had capacity for up to 70 participants.

The meeting began with a context-setting and overview presentation on the consultation given by
the GP Urgent Care Lead for the CCG and the Director of Strategic Transformation. The
presentation is shown in Appendix D, but in summary it covered the following:

e anoverview of what urgent care is

e the ‘case for change’ in Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley

e an overview of current services

e details of the two options for consultation

e the currently recognised main pros and cons of each option

e an overview of other changes happening in the NHS to provide context
e asummary of key themes from feedback already heard.

After the presentation, there was a short plenary Q&A session of around 15 minutes where
attendees could ask questions of the presenters. These questions were captured by the event
facilitators.

Following the Q&A session, attendees participated in facilitated individual table discussions where
we sought to gain greater insight into their views on the consultation options.

The table discussions were based on a ‘world café’ format, with the tables set up with paper
tablecloths and refreshments to create an informal atmosphere. Each table had a range of
information and materials to prompt discussion. Facilitators encouraged discussion and invited
attendees to write their thoughts on the tablecloths, so everyone had the chance to share their
views. The facilitators also took on the ‘main scribe’ role, making sure that key points from the
discussion were noted in addition to individual comments written on the tablecloths by
participants.

While discussions were allowed to flow freely, the table facilitators had five main questions to help
focus the conversations, these were:

e What do you think about these two options?

e Are there any other benefits or disadvantages for each of them we haven’t already noted
(as per the presentation and table materials)?

e Which are the potential disadvantages and concerns that worry you most? How can we
address them?

e What other thoughts or comments about these two options do you have?

e Arethere any other options we should consider?

A range of additional information was available on the table to support the discussions, including:

e the consultation document
e asummary of the options and their benefits and potential disadvantages*

Page 141



e amap of current services

e an overview of the case for change*

e asummary of what an urgent treatment centre is*
e aset of frequently asked questions and answers.*

The items marked with * are shown in Appendix E.

The table discussions lasted for around an hour, after which each table facilitator fed back some of
the key themes of the discussions to the rest of the room.

There was a final short plenary session in which the CCG Clinical Chair/Director of Strategic
Transformation fed back to participants what they had heard and thanked everyone for their
involvement.

The tablecloths were collected at the end of the event and the comments were written up to
inform this report. A full list of all the comments is shown in Appendix F.

3. Who came
In total 81 people attended across the three events. The breakdown of attendance was:

e Swanley: 7 attendees (NB at the Swanley event there was just one table discussion)
e Dartford: 14 attendees
e Gravesham: 60 attendees

Almost all of the attendees at the events were in the 50 to 69 and 70 plus age range. However, at
the Gravesham and Dartford event there were a small number of younger attendees from the 21 to
39 and 40 to 49 age brackets.

4. Feedback on the events

At each event we asked participants to complete an evaluation form to share their feedback. The
form is shown in Appendix G, but in summary we asked people to rate the following elements of
the event against a scale of poor, satisfactory, good or excellent:

e parking

e venue

e accessibility

e event organisation

e format of the event

e table facilitation.
Over 65 evaluation forms were returned across all three events with an average of 81% of people
selecting good or excellent against each criteria. On average 16% of the evaluation forms rated
elements as satisfactory and just 3% as poor. The full feedback is shown in Appendix F.

Page 142



“l found the overall event informative and was able to give views and opinions. It
was a shame that not many people attended although it was publicised.” -
Dartford

We also invited free-text feedback comments on the event. Again, these were mostly positive with
people feeding back that they found the meeting informative and liked the round table discussions
and format of the event (although a minority said they would have preferred just a plenary Q&A
session).

“l liked the writing on the table — easy to make notes while listening. | liked the
table talks and the team joining us for the time. Their points of view are clever and
enlightening.” - Dartford

Some people commented that the round table format can make it difficult to hear because of the
number of discussions happening at one time in the room.

There was also feedback that people were disappointed at the small numbers of attendees at both
Swanley and Dartford, and they would have liked to have seen more publicity about the events in
their communities.

“Felt listened to. Helpful to be able to relay what hasn’t worked in the past so
changes can be made for the positive in the future.” - Dartford

Page 143



Part 3: What we heard

Although the three meetings were quite different, with varying numbers of people attending, we
were able to have detailed and insightful conversations at each event. The questions asked by
participants, and the facilitated table conversations, both yielded helpful feedback about urgent
treatment centres and the key concerns of local communities about what the proposed changes
might mean for them.

5. Participant questions

As described above, at each event there was a short plenary Q&A session after the presentation
and before the table discussions where participants could ask questions of the presenters. The
guestions and comments during these sessions were typically about:

e access to proposed new services, with people commonly raising concerns about:

=  whether people will understand what service to access and when, with some people
raising concerns about those who don’t have English as a first language and those who
rely on family and friends to help them access health services

= difficulty of access by private car because of traffic, congestion and parking, including the
affordability of parking costs

= difficulty of access by public transport, including whether it is even possible to access a
site by public transport, the time it will take, the cost and whether public transport is a
viable option for people who are unwell, elderly or frail

= the cost of using a taxi to access services

e current challenges with NHS services, for example difficulties getting a GP appointment or
recent closures or changes to other services, with participants seeing the proposed UTC as part
of a wider downgrading or decline in local services

e the impact of the proposed changes on the most vulnerable within the community, particularly
people who are elderly, frail or deprived and those who don’t have English as a first language,
and their family and carers

e practical considerations about the proposed options, for example what type of building work
might be needed and whether the proposed sites have enough space to accommodate an
urgent treatment centre

e the costs involved of implementing a UTC, and whether the proposals are about saving money

e how the consultation had been publicised and the level of awareness among the local
community

e how and when a decision will be made and how it will be communicated

e the importance of communicating widely about changes to services when they happen so
people understand where to go and what is available when.

The issues that were raised in the Q&A session were often discussed further during the table
discussions, and unsurprisingly there is overlap between the key themes of the questions asked and

Page 144



the key themes that emerged from the facilitated discussions. These are explored in more detail in
the next section of this report.

6. General themes from the table discussions
Across all three events we captured over 460 written comments from attendees and the table
facilitators (who were also writing the comments they heard onto the tablecloths).

The themes that emerged from each of the events were broadly similar, but with each event having
a different view, dependent primarily on their geographical location and the particular needs of
their local community.

6.0 Support for urgent treatment centres

Overall, most people thought that urgent treatment centres were a good idea in principle. People
could see the benefit of being able to access care quickly if they were not able to see a GP, and
access care for injuries and illnesses that don’t require a full A&E department.

However, some people questioned why things can’t stay as they are, suggesting they did not fully
support the case for change. Some people said they felt that a UTC wasn’t needed and instead A&E
should be improved and enhanced so all urgent and emergency care is provided by A&E.

“Why do we have to change anything? Why can’t they stay the same?” -
Gravesend

This broad general support for UTCs by most participants came with caveats and concerns that
were influenced by where they live, by their previous experience of healthcare and their current
healthcare needs. These caveats and concerns are described in more detail below.

6.1 Access to services

This was by far the most commonly discussed issue at all three events. Access is a wide-reaching
term, but in our evaluation of the event feedback we have used the definition ‘the extent to which
people are able to get the care they need from an appropriate service in a timely and convenient
way’. Under this definition we have included comments about:

e whether people can reach an appropriate service in a reasonable time using the transport
available to them, and that is appropriate for their condition

e whether people will have the financial ability to reach an appropriate service

e whether appropriate services will be available at a time of day, or day of the week, that is
convenient (if care is not needed immediately)

“Older people don’t drive, buses are infrequent. A lot of people have to take a cab
and that costs a lot” - Swanley

The insights from the comments and discussions on access show that this is a very significant
concern for local people at all levels of the definition.

Page 145



“Access to Darent Valley Hospital almost impossible in rush hour or if there is an
accident on the A2” - Gravesend

In terms of the practicalities of physically reaching urgent care, at every event almost every person
made a comment, or agreed with a comment, about the specific challenges of transport in
Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley.

(a) Traffic

Attendees at all three events frequently used terms such as “gridlock” and “standstill” to describe
the traffic in the area and were clear that this traffic congestion impacted on access to local health
services for those using private cars, taxis and buses. Attendees at all events, including Dartford,
cited congestion issues around Darent Valley Hospital caused by the Dartford Crossing and
Bluewater shopping centre.

“Gravesend is very difficult from Swanley — gridlock for whole area at times” -
Swanley

(o)  Car parking

People at all events raised concerns about the availability and cost of car parking, particularly at
Darent Valley Hospital, but also in Gravesend. Many people mentioned parking further away from
Darent Valley Hospital and using the bus service from Bluewater to reach the hospital.

“Parking is a nightmare at Darent Valley Hospital.” — Dartford

(c)  Public transport

In terms of public transport, many people raised concerns that for those people living in the
Gravesham area, access to Darent Valley Hospital by public transport is extremely difficult. People
who attended the Swanley and Dartford events were also, understandably concerned about access
to Gravesend. At all the meetings people acknowledged that journeys to either Darent Valley
Hospital or Gravesend from across the area can involve up to three buses, which do not always run
regularly, and are expensive.

Some people noted that the bus service from Bluewater was under threat too, with a recent
Transport for London consultation putting forward proposals that would make travelling by bus to
health services in the area even more difficult.

Access to Gravesend is far superior to Darent Valley, even if you live in Dartford —
you’ve more chance of getting to Gravesend than Darent. - Gravesend

In addition, attendees expressed concerns for people living in the more rural parts of the area and
flagged that in many rural communities public transport is infrequent and there can be none at all
on Sundays.

“Need to ensure council works with public transport companies to increase services
— no buses on a Sunday.” - Dartford

Page 146



Many people questioned whether using public transport was appropriate or safe for people who
need urgent care, citing concerns about people bleeding, being infectious, or becoming more
unwell on the journey.

(d)  Access for vulnerable groups

At all events, people mentioned that the cost of and time to access services needs to be taken into
account, be it be the cost of car parking or of taking public transport. People talked about how
those on low incomes, or those who are frail or elderly could be put off seeking the care they need
because they cannot afford to make a longer journey or pay for more parking or a taxi.

“What safeguards will be put in place for vulnerable patients and those on low
incomes?” - Gravesend

(e) Opening hours

Many attendees discussed the opening hours of the proposed UTC, with people suggesting that
either the UTC should be open for longer than 12 hours, with a preference for a 24-hour service, or
that the opening times should be aligned to the busiest times of current services and/or so they can
better meet the needs of working people and school-aged children. Some people suggested that
running the UTC from midday to midnight might make it more accessible to people and help reduce
pressure on A&E services.

“If UTC is open 12 hours a day, what happens when it is shut? How will you deal
with this at Gravesham?” - Swanley

6.2 Signposting and understanding what service to use
Closely aligned to access were comments about needing to ensure that whichever option is
selected, there is high quality information and signposting to appropriate services.

(a)  Public awareness and information

At all the events there was a very strong message that once a decision is made, more needs to be
done to help people understand what services are available, when they are open, and what
conditions they treat. Participants said they felt this would be vital to the success of the new UTC.
People commented that they believe if there isn’t a wide-ranging public awareness campaign,
people will continue to go to A&E (if the UTC is in Gravesham) or try to access a service that is
closed (if the UTC is at Darent Valley Hospital).

“The idea of an Urgent Treatment Centre is excellent but clear information about it
is needed.” — Gravesend

“How do you educate people about where to go? This is important” - Swanley

Page 147



(o) NHS 111 service

Many attendees discussed concerns about the ability of NHS 111 to provide good advice about
which service was most appropriate for a particular condition, with some people saying that NHS
111 is too cautious and sends an ambulance when one isn’t needed, and others saying they had
found NHS 111 slow to respond or difficult to access when they were not feeling well.

Attendees fed back that they felt the NHS 111 service needs to be well informed about any changes
to services and better able to advise people about what to do when they are unwell.

6.3 Wider NHS context

Attendees at the events often discussed other NHS services, and other planned changes, in relation
to the proposed UTC. Some people expressed concern that their negative experience of other
services meant they did not feel confident that the UTC would be successful. Other participants said
they thought that wider changes to services, such as the creation of GP hubs, may help to support
the UTCs.

(a) Workforce

A common concern raised was about the availability of GPs and other healthcare professionals to
run the UTC. At every event people discussed their experiences of not being able to get a GP
appointment quickly. In some cases, participants said they thought at UTC would help improve
access to care, but other people said they were worried that it would be difficult to find enough
staff for the UTC as there are already shortages of GPs and nurses.

“UTCs will be GP led — who will these GPs be? Where will they come from?” -
Swanley

At the Dartford event, attendees wanted to know whether staff at the current units have been
asked for their views about the changes and were interested to know what staff thought the best
option was.

(o)  GP hubs and enhancing primary and local care

Attendees were keen to learn more about the new GP hubs and primary care networks that are
being established in the area. Many were supportive in theory and hoped they would deliver in
practice. Some participants talked about the potential for the GP hubs and improved primary care
services to bridge a gap between local GP practices and the proposed UTC, and felt future hubs
should be located in areas that didn’t have a UTC, and needed to offer extended access and same
day appointments.

“New GP Hub in Swanley could be used in tandem with UTC — could be third option
in more local services in Hubs” - Swanley

At the Swanley event there was support for more hubs in the area because although Swanley is in
between several different hospitals with a range of different urgent and emergency services, none
are that easy to reach by public transport.

Page 148



At the Gravesend event, some participants commented that they hadn’t heard about the GP hubs,
and would like to know more about them, suggesting an information need that could be addressed.
Some were pleased to hear that the White Horse Walk-In Centre would become a GP hub in the
future, as under both proposed options the walk-in service will close.

“Glad to hear White Horse will be a Hub but how do you get an appointment?” -
Gravesend

Overall, people were also supportive of the idea of more outpatient clinics being provided locally,
outside of large hospitals.

(c) Other changes to services

At the Gravesend event there were lots of comments about other changes to local services. The
attendees at this event felt they potentially have the most to lose with the walk-in centre almost
certainly closing and the potential for the minor injuries service to close as well. People talked
about how they feel they have seen services downgraded and closed in recent years which has
caused great concern for the community.

Similar concerns were also heard, albeit less strongly, at the Dartford and the Swanley events, with
participants commenting that changes to services are viewed with cynicism and concern by local
people, who see them as money saving exercises.

6.4 The changing local population

At all the events, participants discussed concerns about the future growth in the population of
Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley, in light of the extensive house building in the area. Participants
wanted reassurance that this population growth has been taken into account when developing the
options for a new urgent treatment centre. They were concerned not only about the future
sustainability of the service and its ability to cope with increasing demand, but also about how
population growth would impact on traffic and transport in the area.

“Why isn’t it in the centre of the population? Which site is nearest the epicentre of
the population?” - Swanley

People also talked about the ageing population and the impact this may have on the types of
services people need, and the ability of elderly and frail people to access services, as discussed in
section 5.2 above.

Many attendees felt that the urgent treatment centre should be based where the largest
populations of people are, although there was some discussion about making sure that people in
more remote areas could also reach services.

Page 149



7. Feedback on the specific options

Overall, those who attended the consultation events tended to favour the option that was
geographically most convenient for them. However, there were still more nuanced discussions at
the meetings about the strengths and weaknesses of each option.

Some of the general themes described in section 6, particularly those about travel and access, also
feature strongly in the feedback on the specific options. Although we do repeat some of the
feedback described above here, we felt it was important to fairly reflect the comments made about
each option and we have tried to draw out more specific feedback related to the option where
possible.

7.0 Option 1: a UTC at Gravesham Community Hospital

The main arguments in favour of a UTC at Gravesham Community Hospital centred around the
needs of the local community and the challenges people living in the area face accessing Darent
Valley Hospital.

In contrast, those who did not think this was the best option described the access challenges of
traveling from the Swanley or Dartford area to Gravesend and expressed concerns about the
disadvantages of not co-locating the UTC with an A&E department.

(a) Access

Those in favour of option 1 said that the town centre location of Gravesham Community Hospital,
the relatively easy and inexpensive parking in Gravesend, and the proximity to both trains and
buses meant the access to that site was more favourable than Darent Valley Hospital.

Can see there is a medical advantage to the Darent Valley Hospital site BUT it is
outweighed by the practical difficulties — parking, travel, cost of parking, etc and
infrastructure in public transport for those who use it. - Gravesend

People highlighted that those living in Higham to the east of Gravesend, and those in Swanscombe
and Northfleet are able to reach the community hospital site by train.

Those who did not support option 1 described the heavy traffic they encountered reaching
Gravesend and the time it would take to travel from Swanley to the community hospital site.

(o)  Population size

At the Gravesend event participants felt that while their local population may not be as large as
Dartford, it was still too large to be without any urgent care service, and there were similar
comments at the Dartford event. While overall, those who attended the Dartford meeting
supported a UTC at Darent Valley Hospital, some said they felt that removing the current minor
injuries and walk-in services in Gravesend would leave residents in that area “stranded”.

“Concerned that 120,000 people in Gravesham may be ‘cut off’ from a service they
have now but actually does make more sense to have [a UTC] at Darent Valley

Page 150



Hospital as near to A&E. However, need to make sure there are still some services
for people in Gravesham.” - Dartford

In Swanley the point was made that the decision on where to locate the UTC should be based on
where the largest number of people are (i.e. Dartford), regardless of issues around traffic, parking
and transport.

(c)  Vulnerable groups
There was particular concern in Gravesend for the ability of elderly and frail people, and those who
don’t have English as a first language, to be able to access a service based at Darent Valley Hospital.

“l work with vulnerable families — especially where English is not their first
language ... How will people understand how to access them when the services
change?” - Gravesend

Attendees cited the ease of access to the community hospital site for the more vulnerable in their
community and were very concerned about the impact on these groups if the new UTC were at
Darent Valley Hospital.

“Most first generation population of the Indian community cannot drive so it is
hard to travel to Darent Valley Hospital.” - Gravesend

Faith leaders from the Sikh community in Gravesham highlighted that many of the older women in
their community do not drive and many don’t speak English. They may rely on younger family
members, who often work full time, to support them to access services. Placing urgent care services
further away could have wider implications for these families.

(d) Possible risks to patients and impact on other services

People who supported option 1 said that they were concerned that without urgent care in the local
area, people would call for ambulances because they had no other way of getting to Darent Valley
Hospital, or potentially come to harm because they may try to access a service that no longer
existed. Some of those who attended the Gravesend event work at the current minor injuries
service and gave examples of people walking in with very serious conditions that they were able to
provide immediate first aid for before calling an ambulance.

“Gravesham Minor Injuries Unit has saved many lives where people have just
turned up and may not have made it to Darent Valley Hospital.” - Gravesend

Those who did not support option 1 felt the clinical benefits of having the UTC located alongside an
A&E department should be a priority in the decision making. They were concerned that patients
who need more intensive care would be at risk if they had to be transferred by ambulance from
Gravesend to Dartford. They also said they were concerned that option 1 would probably not help
reduce the pressure on the A&E at Darent Valley Hospital.

“Pressure off A&E is important” - Swanley

Page 151



“Preference is Darent Valley Hospital as there is no need to be transferred to
another site if the condition deteriorates.” - Dartford

(e) Confidence in current services

There was a great deal of praise for the current services at both Gravesham Community Hospital
and the White Horse Walk-In Centre. People described that they felt they got more personal care,
in a more comfortable environment, and the staff had more time for them at these sites. In
contrast people said they felt more “like a number” at Darent Valley Hospital and described the
A&E as busy and that, at times, they felt unsafe because of aggressive or violent behaviour of
others using the service.

“The walk-in service at Gravesend is brilliant — lots of positive experiences — staff
care about you; it has a community feel.” - Gravesend

“Darent Valley is not safe after dark, especially by the entrance to A&E with people

/4

loitering, smoking and ‘domestics’.” - Gravesend

7.1 Option 2: a UTC at Darent Valley Hospital

The main reasons given in support of option 2 were the clinical benefits of locating the new UTC
alongside an A&E department and Darent Valley Hospital’s geographically central location,
particularly in terms of population density.

“Having a UTC at Darent Valley Hospital seems to make sense — has all the services
and facilities etc.” - Swanley

The strongest objections to this option were around access, including traffic congestion, public
transport and parking issues. Some people also raised concerns about capacity at Darent Valley
Hospital.

(@) Access

Most people, including those who felt that a UTC at Darent Valley Hospital was the best option,
acknowledged and/or expressed concern about difficult access to the site. People spoke about the
very heavy traffic around the hospital, the difficulty finding a parking space and the cost of parking.
People without access to a private car were very concerned about being able to quickly and easily
reach the site on public transport.

(o)  Population size

However, in support of the site, people felt that it was geographically more centrally located for
everyone living in the Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley area. At the Swanley event there was a
detailed discussion about how the new UTC should be closest to the largest population(s), and that
Dartford, rather than Gravesend, more closely meets this criterion.

“Which site is nearest to the epicentre? Which would be accessible to most
people?” - Swanley

Page 152



(c) Possible risks to patients and impact on other services

At both the Swanley and Dartford events participants were persuaded by the benefits of having the
UTC co-located with an A&E department. People were concerned that a stand-alone UTC could
carry more risk for patients, and they spoke about how they wanted the UTC to have the clinical
advantage of being able to quickly and easily transfer a patient who becomes more seriously ill to
the A&E.

“Want to know that wherever you go you can get the care you need and can
escalate to higher care if needed” - Swanley

Many people at Swanley and Dartford felt that reducing pressure on the A&E department should be
a key factor in the decision-making process, and people said that unless there was a UTC at Darent
Valley Hospital, people would continue to attend A&E, rather than travel to Gravesend.

Attendees thought it would be easier to have a front door triage system where people can be
directed to the most appropriate service if the UTC and A&E are in the same place. People
expressed concern that it would not be possible to turn people away from A&E, even if their
condition did not really need to be seen there.

“My preference would be Darent Valley Hospital — | think it is the only way to
reduce pressure on A&E as people will always be turning up at A&E not realising it
isn’t the appropriate place for them.” - Dartford

(d)  Confidence in current services

At all the events, some participants talked about experiences of care at Darent Valley Hospital, both
positive and negative. At the Dartford event there was discussion about how the reputation of the
hospital was important, and some people did not appear to have confidence that Darent Valley
Hospital would be able to deliver the best standard of care. However, there were also many people
who said that Darent Valley Hospital had a good reputation and they believed it would be clinically
the best place to site the UTC.

“Reputation important — | trust Darent Valley Hospital, | trust the services
available.” - Dartford

“In my opinion Darent Valley is a more popular site with superior care.” - Dartford

Many attendees at all three events also talked about the capacity of Darent Valley Hospital to cope
with additional services, with people saying they thought the hospital was already very busy and
“jam packed”. In contrast however, some people also raised that they didn’t think Gravesham
Community Hospital was big enough to cope with a UTC, and the wider range of services available
at Darent Valley Hospital were an advantage.

“l don’t think Gravesend is big enough to cope with the amount of influx that will
go that way. Dartford is bigger and better.” — Dartford

Page 153



8. Suggestions for alternative options and mitigations

An important aim of the consultation events was to understand from attendees whether they felt
there were other options DGS CCG should explore, and what they felt the CCG could do to mitigate
people’s concerns and the potential disadvantages of the two options. The most common
suggestions are described below.

8.0 Two urgent treatment centres

“Keep the MIU in Gravesend and reinstate the urgent care at Darent Valley
Hospital. More people will call ambulances if no easy access to MIU.” - Gravesend

The strongest feedback about a possible alternative option was that there should be two UTCs for
the area. Most people felt there should be a UTC at Darent Valley Hospital and Gravesham
Community Hospital, although some people gave other possible locations such as Ebbsfleet, or at
the White Horse Walk-In Centre.

“Why not keep Gravesend Hospital Minor Injuries Unit and merge with White
Horse Walk-in. Have a small unit at Darent Valley Hospital?” - Dartford

“Have two UTCs - one in Darent Valley Hospital and one in Gravesend.” -
Gravesend

8.1 Enhanced primary care

As described in section 6.4 above, other attendees said that increasing access to GP services and
more GP hubs with extended services could help to mitigate the impact of not having a UTC in
either location.

8.2 Mitigations for access
“Should the NHS put on bus services ie a community bus?” - Gravesend
There were a range of suggestions on ways to improve access, including:

e reducing parking costs at Darent Valley Hospital

e increasing the parking spaces at Darent Valley Hospital

e having a bus service from Bluewater to Darent Valley

e implementing a local ‘shuttle bus’ service between different health sites across the area
e working with the local authorities to improve bus services.

“Can adaptations be made re transport/infrastructure?” - Gravesend

Page 154



9. Conclusion

As set out in this report, there were a wide range of opinions about the options being presented.
Overall, the feedback shows the following three key themes:

1. Those who attended the consultation events at both Dartford and Gravesend in particular,
wanted to have a UTC at both Darent Valley Hospital and at Gravesham Community
Hospital.

2. Those who attended Dartford and Swanley were clear that they thought there should be a
UTC at Darent Valley Hospital because of the clinical benefits and to relieve pressure on
A&E.

3. Atall three events, attendees said they are very concerned about access to either site, by
both private car and public transport.

Page 155



verve

APPENDIX D - CCG SUMMARY OF ENGAGEMENT WITH
EQUALITIES GROUPS

Protected Characteristic

Engagement and issues raised

age

Engaged: Gravesend 50+ Forum, Golden Girls — public fransport
for people without cars, concerns whether DVH infrastructure
could cope with additional service/s; disabled parking

Distribution of materials to local Children Centres: no specific
issues raised

Face to face attendance at Temple Hill Children’s Centre
(Dartford) AGM; concern regarding traffic congestion to DVH, size
of current A&E space at DVH and access to GP appointments
generally

disability

We are Beams (Carers/ Parents of children with disabilities), Saxon
Community Group Crockenhill (umbrella group for disabled
people): Distributed materials and outreach Both groups raised
no specific concerns

BSL/Deaf Group Gravesend plus other disability groups (Engage
Kent report).

Mental Health - CCG team conducted focus group with Rethink
Sangam Group at Gravesend Library: Issues raised included need
for language translators, improved staff awareness of dealing with
people in distress, difficulties getting to Gravesend from the
country side parts of DGS, DVH offers more privacy than GCH
when discussing sensitive matters; accessible patient records
good thing so that patients don’t have to repeat their stories;
Extended opening hours preferred

gender reassignment

Engaged with Beaumont Society (Transgender, gay — LGBTQi
group) by distributing materials and conversations with the Chair
of the group: No specific issues for feedback

Distributed materials to BeYou (young people from gay and
transgender community) and outreach to management. No
specific concerns for feedback

marriage and civil

partnership

Distributed materials to local registry offices
Held stall at Gravesend Gurdwara on family days: Surveys
completed. Feedback in general report

Page 156

Independent evaluation of consultation- Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley Clinical Commissioning Group




verve

pregnancy and maternity

Engaged women and families at the Maternity Clinic at Darent
Valley Hospital: Encouraged to complete survey. Feedback in
general report

Outreach to Maternity Voices via CCG Commissioner for
Maternity: no specific concerns raised

race

South Asian communities at Gurdwara Gravesend
BME - African Caribbean Festival — Both these groups
encouraged to complete survey and feedback in general report

religion or belief

Engaged Sikh (Gurdwara) and Muslim (Gravesend Mosque)
communities

Engaged with lead from Jehovah Witness Congregation:
Indicated that due their beliefs, UTC would need to have a “Cell
machine” to re-cycle blood and therefore DVH would be most
appropriate as the hospital already has such a machine

sex

Golden Girls (over 60s club in North Fleet) public transport for
people without cars, concerns whether DVH infrastructure could
cope with additional service/s; disabled parking

Mosque roadshow had proportionate high number of men:
feedback as part of general report

sexual orientation

No specific issues identified through engagement with BE YOU
and Beaumont Society

socio-economic deprived

Outreach at Dartford & Swanley Jobcentre Plus
Issues around public fransport, TFL proposals and costs of parking
at DVH

Rural Gravesham

Engaged with patients in GP surgeries in Meopham and Istead
Rise. Feedback part of general report

Engage Kent report attached

Page 157

Independent evaluation of consultation- Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley Clinical Commissioning Group



verve

APPENDIX E - ENGAGE KENT REPORT — SELDOM HEARD
GROUPS

Engage Kent report

Feedback from seldom heard
communities in Dartford, Gravesham
& Swanley regarding the Urgent Care

Consultation

Page 158

Independent evaluation of consultation- Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley Clinical Commissioning Group



verve

Context

In October 2019, Engage was commissioned to undertake targeted engagement with
seldom heard communities within the Dartford, Gravesham & Swanley area to gather
insights and thoughts around the potential changes to Urgent Care services in the area.

The Clinical Commissioning Group had launched a public consultation to gather feedback
from local residents about options for new Urgent Treatment Centres.

The brief highlighted the need to engage with three distinct communities who live and
work within the area. These communities are classed as seldom heard as they do not
traditionally get involved in public consultations. The target communities were:

1. People with physical disabilities

2. Residents living in rural communities

3. People living within Traveller communities

The CCG wanted to specifically understand how the two options outlined in the public
consultation would affect people from these three communities.

We have spoken with 104 people face to face so far about their views.

Methodology

To meet the brief, we proposed a programme of outreach visits and street surveys to
enable us to gather indepth feedback through face to face conversations. For each of the
three target communities, we visited two different groups to gather a range of feedback.

Using our framework of ‘seldom heard’ against recent data on Health Inequalities in Kent
and Medway, alongside our knowledge of local groups and communities we identified the
following groups across a range of locations to reach the desired target audiences:

Target group Geography / rationale/ conversation
People with physical disabilities | Physical disability group in in Gravesend

Deaf community group in Gravesend

Rural communities Village of Shorne - selected by the CCG
Residents from Vigo - selected by the CCG
Traveller communities Traveller site in Ash

Traveller site in New Dunton

Two different methodologies were used to meaningfully engage these target groups

1. Outreach engagement - talking to targeted community groups geographical areas
using a facilitated conversation framework.

2. Street surveys -in a range of locations, Surveyors walked around the rural villages
approaching people and undertaking a short questionnaire designed to capture their
reaction to the proposal and an indication of its impact in their families and
communities. (Copy of facilitated conversations can be found in Appendix 2).

Quantitative findings

Page 159

Independent evaluation of consultation- Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley Clinical Commissioning Group



verve

We've spoken with 104 people face to face during these activities so far with two
further visits planned to hear from the Traveller community.

Target group Geography / rationale/ Number of people engaged
conversation
People with physical | Physical disability group 57
disabilities Deaf community group 15
Rural communities | Village of Shorne 15
Residents from Vigo 17
Traveller Traveller site in Ash To be completed
communities Traveller site in New Dunton To be completed
TOTAL 104
Qualitative findings

We have grouped the feedback for each question and after a thematic analysis have listed
below the key themes in order of frequency they were mentioned. Where a significant
differences or group specific issue has been identified this is reported separately.

What details or facts struck you about the current situation and the proposed
options?

Parking
Of the 4 communities we spoke to, everyone we spoke to mentioned the difficulties
parking at Darent Valley Hospital currently
* ‘Where are we going to park if it goes to Dartford?’

* ‘It’s so expensive to park there’

Location
People generally wanted the Urgent Treatment Centre to be located nearest to them

e ‘All the people who live in Gravesend will want it in Gravesend and the Dartford
people will want it in Dartford!’
* ‘Gravesend would be better for us as it is nearer’

Happy with the status quo
People were generally comfortable with the current provision but understood that AGE
was over crowded

‘Happy as it is, we go to Gravesham’
* ‘We are OK as we are’
‘Our Dr's surgery is effective and efficient, they deal with all our non-emergency
needs. It’s better than ARE, therefore better for us’
‘Less queues would enable ARE to be more focused on real emergencies’
‘It's too busy now at Darent Valley’
‘The current situation with Darent A&E needs to be addressed’

Page 160

Independent evaluation of consultation- Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley Clinical Commissioning Group



verve

What's your reaction to proposed changes?

Surprise

No-one of the 104 people that we spoke to were aware of the proposed changes to Urgent
Care or had heard of the public consultation

Interpreters

All 15 members of the Deaf community wanted to know if the changes would enable them
to have an Interpreter in an urgent health situation. All of them reported that currently
they do not have Interpreters within the current emergency and urgent health service.

e ‘It is a real challenge now for us to access urgent treatment because of the lack of
interpreters. How can it be made better?’

* ‘We have to write things down to try and communicate currently which is very time
consuming and can result in lots of confusion’

* ‘We have to rely on gestures to communicate currently in an urgent situation’
‘I recently had urgent treatment at Darent Valley. | had to lie face down so |
couldn’t lip read or see the gestures. It was very scary’

* ‘My Mum comes with me to interpret but | wish sometimes she could be there just
as my Mum and not as my Interpreter’

* ‘| struggle to get an Interpreter at routine appointments. How will it work in an
urgent situation?’
‘It is really stressful worrying about an interpreter’
‘If | broke my leg, | wouldn't know what to do. English isn't my first language so |
wouldn’t be able to write down what | want to say’

* ‘Doctors write medical jargon down to try and communicate with me but | don’t
understand’

Transport

All the residents we spoke to in rural communities were concerned about getting to the
Urgent Treatment Centre. Even those who had private transport were concerned about
how people would get to the Centres.

* ‘Public transport is few and far between’
e |t will take 2 buses to get to Darent and only 1 to Gravesham’
* ‘If you knew what the A2 road was like you wouldn’t make it an option’

In favour versus not convinced.....

The people we spoke to were equally divided about whether they supported the idea for
Urgent Treatment Centres or not. Some felt it was a positive move and they could
understand the rationale, others were not so sure. The Deaf community were primarily
concerned about Interpreters. If there was going to be provision for an Interpreter service
then everyone we spoke to would be in favour of it

* ‘No! Don’t muck us about’

Page 161

Independent evaluation of consultation- Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley Clinical Commissioning Group



verve

‘Leave as is’

‘Positive - bring it on’

‘Totally in favour’

‘Another waste of money’

‘Darent cannot cope as it is and couldn’t handle anymore’

‘Good proposal to reduce bottleneck at ARE less stress on both patients and staff’

Where will it be located?

Initial thoughts for most people were focused on the location of the Urgent Treatment

Centre

‘I think the obvious place is Gravesend because of the walk in, and the location.
It's already very busy so let’s have it there’
‘I'm really worried about parking’

‘Gravesend only needed to be maintained properly and it would still be a very good
functioning hospital’
‘I would like it to be nearer to me’

What is not covered in the options?

Getting to the Urgent Treatment Centre

Everyone from rural communities (32 people) commented on how they would get to the
Urgent Treatment Centre regardless of where it is located.

‘Transport for people without cars’

‘Transport to either is difficult without a car’

‘Bus routes are being reduced’

‘Where is the Public transport plan?’

‘Very limited bus service from where we live’

‘The Public transport is being done away with which would take us to Darent
Valley’

‘Transport, especially for the elderly and non drivers’

The infrastructure is not in place to get us to these centres’

‘For People at Northfleet they would have to use the same busy roads to be seen at
either Centre’

Parking
People felt the issue of parking hadn’t been fully addressed in the plans so far. No-one we
spoke to mentioned any issues with parking in Gravesend.

‘The disabled parking at Darent Valley has been extended but it is absolutely
chocka block all day every time | go there’

‘Cost of parking. It is very expensive’

‘Parking at Darent Valley is a big issue. If they have it there it should have its own
car park, | don’t want to have to walk half a mile from the car park to get there’

‘Cost of parking at Darent Valley’
‘Hot all of us are made of money. We have to park at the ASDA and walk over’

Page 162

Independent evaluation of consultation- Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley Clinical Commissioning Group



verve

Interpreters

All 15 people from the Deaf community wanted to know if there would be provision for
Interpreters in the plans for the Urgent Treatment Centres

* ‘Will there be a Signed Video Service which is used by other hospitals for urgent
treatment?. Other hospitals use it and we hear it is good’

More services needed

* The amount of times we get sent to ARE but don’t actually need to go there, that
is the problem - but for some reason that is the only way we get to see any medics
and that is not right.

* We need more walk-ins, there should be additions not closures.

* After opening hours (when units are closed) you will still have to go to A&E.

How would you, and people living in your village/community, be
affected by Option 1 to locate to Gravesham Community Centre?

For this answer, we have grouped the responses based on the communities we visited

Physical Disability community (based in Gravesend)

‘It will be more accessible at Gravesham in my opinion’

‘Gravesend has that car park at the side and is near the 5t Georges centre, but still

doesn’t help if someone is disabled’

* ‘I've been there and it is handy for visitors’

e ‘] think it is more wheelchair friendly at Gravesend’

* ‘I don’t drive, so my daughter would have to take me, she is expecting a baby and |
don’t want to impose so | don’t know how | would get there’

* ‘Even the drop off and pick up area there is a problem there’

Rural communities (Vigo & Shorne)

‘Difficult to get to without a car’

‘Just the same as it is now’

‘No more difficult than at present’

‘60—70% of people here in this village are old. The planners go for the cheaper
option not considering people who live here’

‘We don’t all have money. Free parking at ASDA and can walk to A&GE’

This would be a better option based on the cost of public transport to get there’
‘Whilst difficult, Option 1 would be better than the alternative’

‘Closer than Darent Valley'

‘Easier traffic’

‘Better than Option 2’

‘Would mildly improve matters’

‘Good option as less stressful for patients’

‘From where we live, we might go to Maidstone’

Page 163

Independent evaluation of consultation- Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley Clinical Commissioning Group



verve

Deaf ity (based in G i)

‘Will there be access to interpreters in an urgent situation?’

‘Nothing is currently available at Gravesham MIU for BSL interpreters’
‘Gravesham is nearer to me so | would have more chance of getting someone to
come and interpret for me’

How would you, and people living in your village/community, be

affected by Option 2 to locate to Darent Valley Hospital?
For this answer, we have grouped the responses based on the communities we visited

Physical Disability community (based in Gravesend)

‘As a wheelchair user | couldn’t get to Darent Valley hospital’

‘If they are going to shut down Gravesend, then they need to replace it with
something in Gravesend’

‘It’s a pain to get to Darent Valley, and you have to get a bus there, it's easier to
get to Gravesend’

‘Darent Valley would be better for me. And in the consultation, they say that it
may be more than 12 hours there, so longer than the other one. That's why |
would choose that one’

‘The cost of getting there worries me’

‘Travel arrangements will not be easy for people in wheelchairs as many can’t get
on public transport’

niti

‘Pain in backside’

‘it’s easier to go to Gravesend, the A2 is awful and there are always lots of
accidents which stops traffic altogether’

‘It would be impossible for people without transport of their own’

‘We are not just statistics we are people’

‘Too far away'

‘Parking is a nightmare and the cost of parking is astronomical. But you have to
drive there from here or take 2 buses and a train plus the walking’

‘Travelling, cost and inconvenience - only way really to get there is by ambulance,
but they don’t bring you back’

‘Totally impracticable’

‘Difficulty in getting to Darent Valley’

‘No public transport to get us there’

‘No direct transport links, Would have to get a bus then a train, then another bus
and the same again to get home’

Deaf community (based in Gravesend)

‘There isn’t currently an Interpreter service available at Darent Valley. Will there
be in this new service?’

Page 164

Independent evaluation of consultation- Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley Clinical Commissioning Group



verve

‘Will there be access to interpreters in an urgent situation?’
‘Interpreters usually don’t turn up for a booked appointment at Darent Valley
currently. Will it be any different?’

What new gquestions have emerged for you?

When is the walk in centre at White Horse going to close?

Why is the Walk In Centre at White Horse going to close? It doesn't explain that in
the documents

Will there be a pharmacy open on site after Bpm so we can get medication nearby?
The Darent Valley disabled car park is small, will they make it bigger?

How will they address the transport problem?

Can ABE send patience to these new units? If not, it is still blocking ARE

Booked interpreters often don’t turn up or are late for a booked appointment. How
are you going to make this any different?

In an urgent situation, | might not have found someone to come and interpret for
me in time. How will you support me?

| find it very hard to manage in an urgent health situation. How will you support me
as a Deaf person?

My whole family is Deaf. No-one can talk for me. How will you help me?

Can someone come back and explain to us what the decision is and what we should
do?

Appendix 2 Demographic profile of respondents

Street Survey Street Survey Physical Deaf
Vigo Shome Disability community
Gender
Male 4 8 17 [
Female 7 7 40 9
Sexual orientation
Heterosexual 1 14 57 15
| Gay 1
Not Say
Age
Under 16
16-24 1
25-34 2 4
35-59 1 1 38 4
60-74 5 4 10 2
75+ 2 10 9 2
Not Say
8
Page 165

Independent evaluation of consultation- Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley Clinical Commissioning Group



verve

Ethnicity

English / Welsh / Scottish /

1"

15

56

12

Irish

Gypsy / Romany / Irish Traveller

Any other White background

White and Black Caribbean

White and Black African

White and Asian

Any Other Mixed / multiple
ethnic

Indian

Pakistani

Bangladeshi

Chinese

Any other Asian background

African

Caribbean

Any other Black background

Arab

Any other ethnic background

Prefer not to say

Postcodes

Shorne

DA13

DA11, DA12

DA12

DA11

ME3

1st language

11

15

57

English
Other

BSL

15

Consider themselves a carer

Yes

1

No

10

15

57

15

Not say

Consider themselves disabled

Yes

57

15

No

1

Not say

Page 166

Independent evaluation of consultation- Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley Clinical Commissioning Group




verve

Appendix 2 : Facilitated Conversation Guide
Background

We have been asked by the NHS in Dartford, Gravesham & Swanley to talk to people about
two options that are being developed for Urgent healthcare in North Kent. A public
consultation is currently open to seek people’s views about the options

Talking to the public
Today we are talking about Urgent Care services.

So, imagine you are ill. It's not life threatening but you do need to see a medical
person on the same day. You can’t wait for a GP appointment.

Currently you might go to Gravesham Minor Injuries, White Horse Walk In Clinic or to
ABE at Darent Valley Hospital. Is that right?

The NHS all over the country is tasked with creating new Urgent Treatment Centres to
provide urgent treatment on the same day for issues that are not life threatening.

The discussion is where would you like these Urgent Treatment Centres to be located.
There are two options up for discussion:

1. Urgent Treatment Centre at Gravesham Community Hospital alongside the
Minor Injuries Unit. The White Horse Walk In will close

2. Urgent Treatment Centre at Darent Valley Hospital by moving services from
Gravesham Community Hospital. The White Horse Walk In will close.

Why do things need to change?

* Currently 50% of people who go to Darent Valley ARE do not have life threatening
of serious illness. Many of them could be looked after elsewhere.

e The population in DGS is due to rise by 22% by 2035

Objective questions:
What details or facts struck you about the current situation and the proposed options?
What’s your reaction to proposed changes?
What is not covered in the options?

Reflective questions:

How would you, and people living in your village, be affected by Option 1 to locate to
Gravesham Community Centre?

How would you, and people living in your village, be affected by Option 2 to locate to
Darent Valley Hospital?

What new questions have emerged for you?

10

Page 167

Independent evaluation of consultation- Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley Clinical Commissioning Group



verve

APPENDIX F — QUESTONNAIRE THEMES CODE FRAME

Q5/6 - Reason for option choice
(01) Ease of journey
01 -Traffic is bad/bad in Darent
01 - Easier by public transport
01 - Worse by public fransport
01 - Hard to access
01 - Easier to access
01 - Difficult for elderly/elderly patients will find it hard to get too

01 - lll or sick/vulnerable shouldn't have to travel/it's unfair
01 - Too far/further to travel
(02) Parking

02 - Not enough parking space

02 - More parking near by

02 - Parking is too expensive

02 - Parking makes me worried

02 - Find it difficult to park
(03) Hospital facilities

03 - Too near to A&E

03 - Not close enough to A&E

03 - Already too stretched/can't handle more

03 - Facilities are already good at my hospital

03 - Want it all in one site

03 - Bigger/larger/major hospitals slow the process

03 - Safer/better/works better/easier to be alongside A&E/with A&E
(04) Will leave nothing between Medway and other location
(05) Change of site makes me sad/upset/distressed
(06) Expense

06 - Parking is too expensive/costs foo much

06 — Costs too much/is too expensive to get there

06 — Don't want to pay to have to get there

06 — Public fransport is too expensive/costs foo much

06 — I/my family/loved ones can't afford it
(07) Have urgent care/have site where there are the most people that can use it/can access
it/can service most people

Page 168

Independent evaluation of consultation- Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley Clinical Commissioning Group



verve

Q7 - The top three issues local people raised with us about the location of the new Urgent
Treatment Centre during previous engagement were: parking, access to public transport and
waiting times. What impact will the proposed options have on you and your family?
(01) Traffic

01 - Too much traffic

01 - Dartford Crossing is an issue/too busy

01 - Driving there too slow (fraffic) in an emergency/urgent situation
(02) Parking

02 - Not enough parking space

02 - More parking near by

02 - Parking is too expensive

02 - Parking makes me worried

02 - Find it difficult to park

02 - Anxiety/worried about disabled parking options
(03) Access

03 - More difficult to access for me/my family/loved ones

03 - Easier to access for me/my family/loved ones

03 - Hard for me/family/loved ones as I/he/she/they can't drive/no access o a car

03 - Too far to site/further to fravel
(04) Service

04 - Longer wait times/longer to get seen

04 - | like my current service

04 - Already too stretched/can't handle more

04 - Need the correct/better staff

04 - Need more staff/more staff required

04 - Important/too important to have a local service

04 - Safer/better/works better/easier to be alongside A&E/with A&E
(05) Public Transport

05 - Not enough Public transport

05 - Public transport is too slow

05 - Already good/better public transport links

05 - Public fransport harder to use with children

05 - Public fransport harder to use if | am sick/unwell

05 - Public tfransport harder to use for the sick/vulnerable
(06) Expense

06 - Parking is too expensive/costs foo much

06 — Costs too much/is too expensive to get there

06 — Don't want to pay to have to get there

06 — Public fransport is too expensive/costs foo much

06 — I/my family/loved ones can’t afford it
(07) Have urgent care/have site where there are the most people that can use it/can access
it/can service most people

Page 169

Independent evaluation of consultation- Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley Clinical Commissioning Group



verve

Q8 - We welcome any other ideas and suggestions that you would like us to consider regarding
the proposed new Urgent Treatment Centre
(01) Proximity to me/location
01 - Keep it local to me/my family/loved ones
01 - Have site near Gravesend
01 - Have site near Dartford
01 - Keep Gravesham site
01 - Move site to new/different/other location (ANY MENTION OF OTHER LOCATON])
(02) Don't understand why it has to be moved
(03) Transport to site
03 - Make sure good/adequate public tfransport is available
03 - Assess current public fransport options
03 - Provide cheaper/free public fransport
(04) Parking
04 - Provide adequate parking room for site
04 - Provide cheap parking for site
04 - Provide free parking for site
(05) Effect on/available services on site
05 - Have near to A&E
05 - Don't have near to A&E
05 - Have x-ray/better x-ray/quicker x-ray available on site
05 - Local GP services need improvement/be better/less demand for GP appointments
05 - Do not affect/change/over stretch current services on site
05 - Shorter waiting times
05 - New building/facilities needed/required
05 - Make use of Gravesend maternity unit
05 - Better/better functioning triage service
05 - Extend/longer opening hours
05 - Safer/better/works better/easier to be alongside A&E/with A&E
(06) Staff
06 - More staff needed at Darent Valley
06 - More staff needed at Gravesham
06 - More doctors on Duty
(07) Keep both sites as they are/no change
(08) Site change is a good idea
(09) Site change is a bad idea
(10) Better communication of services available on sites/inform service users/better
(11) Expense
11 - Parking is too expensive/costs too much
11 — Costs too much/is too expensive to get there
11 - Don't want to pay to have to get there
11 = Public transport is too expensive/costs too much
11 =1/my family/loved ones can't afford it
(12) Have urgent care/have site where there are the most people/can access it
(13) Improve care/primary care/services at not urgent freatment centre locations/other locations

Page 170

Independent evaluation of consultation- Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley Clinical Commissioning Group



Full Equality Analysis

Completing the Equality Analysis Template

Section 1: Policy, Function or Service Development Details and Authorisation

This section requires the basic details of the policy, function or service to be reviewed,
amended or introduced. The lead author of the analysis and the Dartford Gravesham and
Swanley and Swale Clinical Commissioning Groups Equality and Diversity Lead approving the
draft analysis produced must be stated.

The presence of an analysis start date and submission date reinforce that completing an EA is a
process that should take place over time from the proposed change to be made through to
ratification of the change by the Governing Body.

Section 2: Equality Analysis Checklist

The checklist outlines all aspects of the analysis that must be considered as part of a robust EA.
The equality groups are given in a single column which also contains some guidance to help
when considering each particular protected characteristic in relation to the proposed change.

The second column provides a space to summarise the evidence obtained during the EA
process. Evidence that supports a negative or positive outcome must be referred to here.
Examples of sources of evidence include:

® Checking for local or national evidence. In its simplest form this could be including
findings from the Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA), or finding out more
about the protected characteristic through desk based research (this might be
particularly useful when checking out less familiar characteristics).

® Has any work been done with patients or patient groups locally?

® Patient Public Involvement (PP1) Leads should be able to help with this or
suggest other sources of information.

® |t may be that no evidence is available locally. In this case, relevant national and
regional data should be sought.




Column 3 refers to any consultation or patient engagement work that may have been
undertaken on the policy, function or service to be reviewed, amended or introduced. This might
include patient or stakeholder involvement and engagement work. Again the relevant PPI Lead
should be able to assist with this — there may already be considerable evidence available.

The remainder of Section 2 considers whether the policy/function/service development could
have a positive or negative outcome on each of the protected characteristic groups and how
these outcomes will be addressed. Authors must consider what action they will take to
mitigate negative outcomes and these actions are taken forward into Section 3 to form an
Action Plan. Named Leads and a timeframe should also be assigned to each negative outcome.
If a negative outcome is identified, it is important to be mindful that it may also affect other
protected characteristics.

Section 3: Action Plan

This section focuses on what the author and the organisation can do to mitigate any
negative consequences they have identified at Section 2. For example;

What can be done to mitigate the effect of the policy/function/service on that
particular protected characteristic?

® Are there any resource implications?
® How quickly can this be addressed?

® [t may be that is it not possible to avoid the issue - this must be acknowledged in
the EA and clearly stated that it will have an impact on a particular community.

Section 4: Submission

Following completion of all sections of the EA, the draft, along with the policy, strategy or
service document should be submitted to the Dartford Gravesham and Swanley and Swale
Clinical Commissioning Group’s Equality & Diversity Group for review and feedback. Having
addressed any recommended changes, the final document can be submitted to the CCG
Equality Lead for information and consideration before ratification at the next Governing Body

Meeting




This document should be completed in conjunction with the Equality Analysis Guidance produced by the Equality & Diversity Team which can be found on LINK
TO BE ARRANGED. Should you have any queries, please contact your Equality & Diversity lead at yasminmahmood@nhs.net who will be pleased to help.

Section 1: Policy, Function or Service Development Details and Authorisation

Name of Organisation:

NHS Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley Clinical Commissioning Group

Name of the policy, function or service
development being assessed:

Urgent and Emergency Care Redesign

Is this a new/existing/revised policy, function or
service development?

Re-design of service

Brigfly describe its aims and objectives
)

€)1 9b

Re-design of urgent and emergency care within Dartford, Gravesham & Swanley (DGS) Clinical Commissioning Group in line
with the Urgent & Emergency Care Keogh Review (November 2013), NHS Five Year Forward View (October 2014), the NHSE
Commissioning Standards for Integrated Urgent Care (September 2015) and NHS Long Term Plan (2019). All areas in England
are required to offer patients standardised and timely NHS services under the Urgent Care Treatment Centre name. DGS CCG is
looking to apply the national mandate locally by creating an Urgent Treatment Centre at either Gravesham Community Hospital
or Darent Valley Hospital. The new model will offer assessment, diagnosis and treatment of minor illness and injury supported
by on-site diagnostics (e.g. x-ray). Patients can either book an appointment through NHS 111, or by walking in to the UTC and
waiting to be seen.

Analysis Start Date:

11/09/2017: Updated: 11/2018 : Updated 11/19

Lead Author of Equality Analysis:

Angela Basoah

Equality & Diversity Lead Approved? Yes/No

Date of approval:

(please indicate) Equality & Diversity Lead Name:

TBC



mailto:yasminmahmood@nhs.net

Have any financial or resource implications been
identified?

The Pre-Consultation business case and financial modelling is available
https://www.dartfordgraveshamswanleyccg.nhs.uk/get-involved/public-consultation-proposed-changes-to-nhs-urgent-care-

services-in-dartford-gravesham-and-swanley/

Date of relevant committee/decision-
making meeting where the Equality
Assessment was ratified:

TBC - 12 November 2019

¥/ 1 abed



https://www.dartfordgraveshamswanleyccg.nhs.uk/get-involved/public-consultation-proposed-changes-to-nhs-urgent-care-services-in-dartford-gravesham-and-swanley/
https://www.dartfordgraveshamswanleyccg.nhs.uk/get-involved/public-consultation-proposed-changes-to-nhs-urgent-care-services-in-dartford-gravesham-and-swanley/

Section 2 : Equality Analysis Checklist

For each of the nine protected characteristics in the table below, consider whether the policy/function/service development could have a positive or negative outcome
on each of these groups. Involve service users where possible to obtain their opinion, use demographic/census data (available from public health and other sources),
surveys (previous surveys or perhaps conduct one), ask PALS and Complaints for reports/data, obtain subject specific reports from providers and other published data,
including findings from the Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA). Ensure any remedial actions are Specific, Measureable, Achievable, Realistic, and Timely (SMART)

Equality Group

\What evidence has been used
for this analysis?

\What engagement and
consultation has been used?

Identify positive / negative /
no outcomes

How are you going to address
issues identified?

Specify the Named Lead and
Timeframe

IAge

Think about different age groups
and the policy/function/service
development and the way the
user would access it, is it user
friendly for that age group?

\What is the age breakdown in the
community/workforce? Will the
chgdge/decision have significant
im.%ct on certain age groups?

G.T

Census Statistics,
Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley

DGS CCG carried out a 12 week
Public Consultation into the two

Demographic Profile 2014,

In February 2017, Age UK
published its findings into
experiences of older age adults in
accessing all areas of health and
social care services, for purposes
of this EIA we have drawn upon
findings relating to access to and
experience of emergency care
services. The full report can be
found here.

There are approximately 134,188*
\Working Age Adults and 36, 336*
people over the age of 65 in the
Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley
area

*|t is expected that the actual
figure is higher in the DGS area as
Swanley’s statistics is reported
collectively under Sevenoaks Local
Authority and cannot be broken
down into specific figures for this
area.

proposed options. The
Consultation activity included
community outreach in
community venues across DGS as
well as meetings with Gravesend
50+ Forum, Golden Girls (over 60s
group). Distribution of materials
to Children Centres (to reach
parents with children 0-5 years)
land face to face engagement with
parents of children 0-5 at

[Temple Hill Children’s Centre
(Dartford)

Overall local people could see the
benefits that a local Urgent
ITreatment Centre could bring to
local people of ages.

Feedback from residents in
Gravesend suggested that the
Darent Valley Hospital option
would be difficult for older people
to get to because they are more
likely to use public transport or be
reliant on family and friends to
drive them. Feedback identified
older residents were less likely to
drive or own a car.

Feedback did not identify
particular positive or negative
consequences for families with
lyoung children

The results from the Urgent Care
Public Consultation are being
analysed by an independent
agency and a Decision- making
Consultation Business Case is in
production.

IThe Governing Body will consider
the issues highlighted in the
consultation (including mitigating
actions).

CCG Equality and Diversity Group -
November

DCBC and internal processes -
December

Governing Body - January
Appointed Provider

Ongoing (to cover monitoring
stages of implementation)



https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/populationandmigration/populationestimates/datasets/2011censuskeystatisticsandquickstatisticsforlocalauthoritiesintheunitedkingdompart1
http://www.kpho.org.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0018/46017/DGS-CCG-health-demographic-profile-2014.pdf
http://www.kpho.org.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0018/46017/DGS-CCG-health-demographic-profile-2014.pdf
http://www.ageuk.org.uk/Documents/EN-GB/For-professionals/Research/The_Health_and_Care_of_Older_People_in_England_2017.pdf?dtrk=true

Equality Group

What evidence has been used
for this analysis?

\What engagement and
consultation has been used?

Identify positive / negative /
no outcomes

How are you going to address
issues identified?

Specify the Named Lead and
Timeframe

Disability

Think outside the box — you may
not be able to see the disability.
It could be physical (for instance
hearing or visual impairment),
unseen (for instance mental
health) or a learning disability
(for instance Autism). Consider
for example:

IAccessibility — venue, location,
signage, furniture and getting
around

Disability awareness training for
staff Actively involve the service

usé?and talk it through with them

«Q
Mé&Rtal Health — does this affect
sigificant communities in the
loca@b population?

Census Statistics,
Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley

[The CCG has an on-going
commitment to ensuring local

Demographic Profile 2014,

https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-

content/uploads/2015/01/transfo

rm-care-nxt-stps.pdf

[There are approximately 200,107*
people in the Dartford,
Gravesham and Swanley
registered as having a disability or
a Long Term Condition.

*However it is expected that the
actual figure is higher in the DGS
area as Swanley’s statistics is
reported collectively under
Sevenoaks Local Authority and
cannot be broken down into
specific figures for this area.

people with disabilities can access
high quality local health care.

IAs part of the CCG Consultation,
we engaged with a range of
groups with disabilities including:
\We are Beams (Parents of children
with disabilities

Re Think Mental health group
Saxon Community Group
Crockenbhill

IThe CCG also worked with Engage
Kent to obtain feedback from the
following groups

Riverside Active Lives Group,
Gravesend. (Physical disability)
Deaf support group

\We have also given due regard to
the Transforming Care for People
with Learning Disabilities report
and are committed to
implementing its aims as part of
the development of the service.

Evidence shows that those living
with a disability frequently report
discrimination in accessing NHS
services. If these services are
consolidated onto one location,
there is likely to be groups of the
population who have to travel
further to access the services.
Some of the participants of the
IActive Lives Group (Physically
disabled) cited the following
issues regarding the proposed
options.

GCH: “More wheel chair friendly
than DVH”

Gravesend has that car park at the
side but still doesn’t help if
someone is disabled

Limited disabled parking

Shortage of staff at GCH

Prefer GCH apart from parking

DVH:Darent Valley is nearer for
him so this would be better for
him, | am going to tell him about
these changes

IThis may result in a negative
outcome for some residents of the
DGS areas
https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-
content/uploads/2015/01/transfo
rm-care-nxt-stps.pdf

IThe Service Specification for these
services will need to ensure that
the needs of all disabilities and
Long Term Conditions are met so
that no one with a disability will
experience any form of
discrimination in accessing the
service.

IAs with any NHS service, those
patients on low incomes will be
entitled to claim travel costs from
the urgent care services.

IThe results from the Urgent Care
Public Consultation are being
analysed by an independent
agency and a Decision- making
Consultation Business Case is in
production.

IThe Governing Body will consider
the issues highlighted in the
consultation (including mitigating
actions).

Urgent Care Steering Group
CCG Equality and Diversity Lead
IAppointed Provider

Ongoing monitoring through
\various stages (including

implementation and performance
management of contract)



https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/populationandmigration/populationestimates/datasets/2011censuskeystatisticsandquickstatisticsforlocalauthoritiesintheunitedkingdompart1
http://www.kpho.org.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0018/46017/DGS-CCG-health-demographic-profile-2014.pdf
http://www.kpho.org.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0018/46017/DGS-CCG-health-demographic-profile-2014.pdf
https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2015/01/transform-care-nxt-stps.pdf
https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2015/01/transform-care-nxt-stps.pdf
https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2015/01/transform-care-nxt-stps.pdf
https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2015/01/transform-care-nxt-stps.pdf
https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2015/01/transform-care-nxt-stps.pdf
https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2015/01/transform-care-nxt-stps.pdf
https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2015/01/transform-care-nxt-stps.pdf
https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2015/01/transform-care-nxt-stps.pdf

Equality Group

What evidence has been used
for this analysis?

\What engagement and
consultation has been used?

Identify positive / negative /
no outcomes

How are you going to address
issues identified?

Specify the Named Lead and
Timeframe

Disability (cont’d)

1/ T abed

Both sites that have been
identified as potential locations
for these services have accessible
parking. One site, Darent Valley
Hospital, is able to provide
discounted parking for £1.50 a
day. The hospital website also
implies that there may be the
opportunity for this to be
refunded. All car parks at Darent
\Valley Hospital are accessible.

For those who rely on public
transport services, Darent Valley
Hospital, is served by a total of 9
buses, all of which stop at Darenth
ITrain station. Buses serving the
hospital travel from the following
areas: Temple Hill (Gravesend),
Woolwich, Bexley Health, Craford,
Dartford, East Hill, Plumstead,
New Ash Green, Ightam,
Wrotham, Sutton-at-Hone, Erith,
Swanley, Joyden’s Wood, Keyton
Cross, Wilmighton, Orpington,
Shipbourne, Borough Green, West
Kingsdown, Darenth.



https://www.dgt.nhs.uk/about-us/darent-valley-hospital/maps/

Equality Group

What evidence has been used
for this analysis?

\What engagement and
consultation has been used?

Identify positive / negative / no
outcomes

How are you going to
ddress issues identified?

Specify the Named Lead and
Timeframe

Gender Reassignment

Think about creating an
environment within the
policy/function/service
development that is user
friendly and non- judgemental.
Does the organisation need to
raise awareness / offer training?

If the policy/function/service
development is specifically
targeting this protected
characteristic, think carefully
about confidentiality, training,
and communication skills

8/ 1 abed

Figures relating to these groups
are not collated nationally or
locally.

IAs part of the Public Consultation,
the CCG team engaged with
Beaumont Society (Transgender,
gay — LGBTQi group) by
distributing materials and
conversations with the Chair of
the group:

Distributed materials to BeYou
(young people from gay and
transgender community) and
outreach to management. No
specific concerns for feedback

No specific issues were raised with the
ICCG team. However in their report,
Unhealthy Attitudes Stonewall (the

leading charity for LGBT+ rights) gives
helpful insight

into the experiences of health services
of the trans community

IThe CCG is unable to reference
published data as to the number of
trans-gender people living in the local
community. The Department of
Health estimates that the number of
transsexual people (those who have
undergone, are about to undergo or
are currently undergoing gender
reassignment treatment) in the UK is 1
in every 11,500; so for the DGS area,
this will mean that it can be assumed
that approximately 19 people are
going through the transition process.
Urgent Care services will need to
provide care from an environment
that offers privacy, dignity and
respect. The CCG is aware that some
people will wish to have access to an
appointment with a clinician of the
same sex as them- this is likely to
apply to people of older generations.
Provisions for this will need to be
made as part of the service
specification (by commissioners) and
the provider for the services will need
to demonstrate to commissioners that
they are able to meet patient needs in
this area.

[To mitigate against potential
negative impact, these
services should be able to
provide additional measures
relating to privacy and dignity
when treating members of
this community.

All staff working at these
services will need to undergo
gender equality training.

IThe workforce of the hubs will
need to be appropriately
trained understanding the
specific needs of this
protected characteristic
group. This action in built into
the action plan.

CCG Equality and Diversity Lead
Appointed Provider

Ongoing monitoring through
\various stages (including
implementation and performance
management of contract)



http://www.stonewall.org.uk/sites/default/files/unhealthy_attitudes.pdf

Equality Group

What evidence has been used
for this analysis?

\What engagement and
consultation has been used?

Identify positive / negative /
no outcomes

How are you going to address
issues identified?

Specify the Named Lead and
Timeframe

Marriage and Civil
Partnership

IThink about access and
confidentiality, the partner may
not be aware of involvement or
access to the service

Staff training to raise awareness
of ensuring equal status to
spouses and civil partners in all
HR policies, terms and
conditions and services.

6.1 abed

Census Statistics,
Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley

Distributed materials to local
registry offices

Demographic Profile 2014,

In the last Census a total of
approximately 83,295 marriages
and 284 Civil partnerships were
declared in the Dartford,
Gravesham and Swanley area.

However it is expected that the
actual figure is higher in the DGS
area as Swanley’s statistics is
reported collectively under
Sevenoaks Local Authority and
cannot be broken down into
specific figures for this area.

Held roadshows at Gravesend
Gurdwara on family days:

Surveys completed. Feedback in
general report

There is a possibility that
members of the community in a
same sex civil partnership or
marriage may experience
discrimination from NHS services
that is not experienced by those in
heterosexual marriages. This
would result in a negative
outcome.

Engagement to date has not
identified specific issues relating
to this group

ITo reduce the potential for
discrimination, commissioners
should receive assurance that the
same treatment of people in same
sex civil partnerships and rights of
partners would be granted to
other married couples in line with
the Equality Act 2010.

IThe Provider will need to ensure
that all staff have attended gender
equality training as a way of
understanding the rights of
partners in both marriages and
civil partnerships

IThe workforce of the hubs will
need to be appropriately trained
to understand the specific needs
of this protected characteristic

group.

CCG Equality and Diversity Lead
Appointed Provider

Ongoing monitoring through
\various stages (including
implementation and performance
management of contract)



https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/populationandmigration/populationestimates/datasets/2011censuskeystatisticsandquickstatisticsforlocalauthoritiesintheunitedkingdompart1
http://www.kpho.org.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0018/46017/DGS-CCG-health-demographic-profile-2014.pdf
http://www.kpho.org.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0018/46017/DGS-CCG-health-demographic-profile-2014.pdf

Equality Group

What evidence has been used
for this analysis?

\What engagement and
consultation has been used?

Identify positive / negative /
no outcomes

How are you going to address
issues identified?

Specify the Named Lead and
Timeframe

Pregnancy & Maternity

The policy/function/service
development must be
accessible for all e.g. opening
hours

lAre the chairs appropriate for
breast feeding? Is there a
private area? Are there baby
changing facilities and is there
space for buggies?

What are the future projections
for birth rates, neo natal
statistics? Will the
service/decision have a
significant impact on this
pregected characteristic?

Census Statistics,
Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley

Engaged women and families at
the Maternity Clinic at Darent

Demographic Profile 2014,

\Valley Hospital:
Encouraged to complete survey.
Feedback in general report

Outreach to Maternity Voices via
ICCG Commissioner for Maternity

No impact has been identified for
this group as part of our
engagement and evidence
collecting. However, with
predictions of the Ebbsfleet

families into the area
commissioners will need to
consider the potential impact of
more women of child bearing age

an attractive area to raise families.

IAs part of commissioning
arrangements, the CCG will need
to ensure that the provider of this
service is able to meet the needs
of breastfeeding women and

Garden City attracting more youngwomen with babies.

IThis will mean providing facilities
that allow them to breastfeed or
express milk in a way that offers

moving into the area if it is seen as|privacy and dignity in a way that is

free from discrimination.

CCG Equality and Diversity Lead
Appointed Provider

Ongoing monitoring through
\various stages (including
implementation and performance
management of contract)

08T afie



https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/populationandmigration/populationestimates/datasets/2011censuskeystatisticsandquickstatisticsforlocalauthoritiesintheunitedkingdompart1
http://www.kpho.org.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0018/46017/DGS-CCG-health-demographic-profile-2014.pdf
http://www.kpho.org.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0018/46017/DGS-CCG-health-demographic-profile-2014.pdf

Equality Group

What evidence has been used
for this analysis?

\What engagement and
consultation has been used?

Identify positive / negative /
no outcomes

How are you going to address
issues identified?

Specify the Named Lead and
Timeframe

Sexual Orientation

Don’t make assumptions as this
protected characteristic may
not be visibly obvious.

Providing an environment
that is welcoming - for
example visual aids,
posters, leaflets.

Using language that respects
LGB&T people.

Staff training on how to ask
LGB&T people to disclose their
sexual orientation without fear
or prejudice.

18T abed

Census Statistics,
Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley

IAs part of the Public Consultation,
the CCG team engaged with

Demographic Profile 2014,

Engagement Activities

Stonewall Unhealthy Attitudes

Beaumont Society (Transgender,
gay — LGBTQi group) by
distributing materials and
conversations with the Chair of
the group:

Distributed materials to BeYou
(young people from gay and
transgender community) and
outreach to management.

No specific concerns for feedback
were identified through the
engagement to date. However,
the Unhealthy Attitudes
mentioned above gives details of
the experiences that the LGB
community report negative
patient experiences of accessing
and discriminatory treatment at
NHS services.

LGB youth more frequently
require access to urgent Mental
Health treatment than their
heterosexual counterparts.

In their most recent report LGBT
In Britain Health Report, Stonewall
provides details of the health
inequalities experienced by the
LGBT community. This report
provides national statistics of the
mental health experiences of the
LGBT community. Urgent Care
services may find that they are
called upon to support this cohort
of patients. Numbers of patients
living with a mental health
condition is not known in the DGS
area.

All staff working in these services
\will need to undergo gender
equality training.

IAgreed working protocols for
protecting young adults who
present to urgent care services in
mental crisis will need to be putin
place to protect both their
physical and immediate mental
health needs but also their
privacy and dignity, particularly
should they disclose to staff that
their distress relates to their
sexuality.

IThough to prepare for managing a
crisis, specific mental health
awareness training and good links
\with local mental health teams
should be established by the
provider

Urgent Care Steering Group

CCG Equality and Diversity Lead
Appointed Provider

Ongoing monitoring through
\various stages (including
implementation and performance
management of contract))



https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/populationandmigration/populationestimates/datasets/2011censuskeystatisticsandquickstatisticsforlocalauthoritiesintheunitedkingdompart1
http://www.kpho.org.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0018/46017/DGS-CCG-health-demographic-profile-2014.pdf
http://www.kpho.org.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0018/46017/DGS-CCG-health-demographic-profile-2014.pdf
https://www.stonewall.org.uk/sites/default/files/unhealthy_attitudes.pdf
https://www.stonewall.org.uk/sites/default/files/unhealthy_attitudes.pdf
http://www.stonewall.org.uk/sites/default/files/unhealthy_attitudes.pdf
https://www.stonewall.org.uk/sites/default/files/lgbt_in_britain_health.pdf
https://www.stonewall.org.uk/sites/default/files/lgbt_in_britain_health.pdf

Equality Group

What evidence has been used
for this analysis?

\What engagement and
consultation has been used?

Identify positive / negative /
no outcomes

How are you going to address
issues identified?

Specify the Named Lead and
Timeframe

Carers

Does your
policy/function/service
development impact on carers?
IAsk them. Do you need to think
about venue, timing? What
support will you be offering?

Census Statistics,
Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley

[The Public Consultation regarding
the location of an Urgent

Demographic Profile 2014,

[There are 31,474 registered carers
in the DGS area who are not in
paid employment to do so (i.e.
they are doing so for a friend,
family member or a loved one).

However it is expected that the
actual figure is higher as Swanley’s
statistics are reported collectively
under Sevenoaks Local Authority
and cannot be broken down into
specific figures for this area.

[Treatment Centre included 30
roadshows. 3 Listening events and
several briefings.

The team engaged We are Beams
@ voluntary sector group
supporting Families/ Parents with
disabled children

IAlthough no specific issues were
raised as part of the Public
consultation, Carers, who typically
live in low income house-holds,
are entitled to claim back
expenses from NHS services.

Carers often report that they are
unable to look after their own
needs as they are consumed by
their caring responsibilities.

The results from the Urgent Care
Public Consultation are being
analysed by an independent
agency and a Decision- making
Consultation Business Case is in
production.

IThe Governing Body will consider
the issues highlighted in the
consultation (including mitigating
actions).

CCG Equality and Diversity Lead
Appointed Provider

Ongoing monitoring through
\various stages (including
implementation and performance
management of contract))

28T abed



https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/populationandmigration/populationestimates/datasets/2011censuskeystatisticsandquickstatisticsforlocalauthoritiesintheunitedkingdompart1
http://www.kpho.org.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0018/46017/DGS-CCG-health-demographic-profile-2014.pdf
http://www.kpho.org.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0018/46017/DGS-CCG-health-demographic-profile-2014.pdf

Equality Group

What evidence has been used
for this analysis?

\What engagement and
consultation has been used?

Identify positive / negative /
no outcomes

How are you going to address
issues identified?

Specify the Named Lead and
Timeframe

Other

Does your
policy/function/
service
development
impact on for
example, those
on low incomes,
who are
homeless etc.?

€8T abed

Census Statistics,
Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley

[The Public Consultation regarding
the location of an Urgent

Demographic Profile 2014,

http://www.healthwatchkent.co.u

[Treatment Centre included 30
roadshows. 3 Listening events and
several briefings.

k/sites/default/files/healthwatch

kent traveller report.pdf

https://www.myhealth.london.nh

s.uk/sites/default/files/Commissio

ning%20guidance%20for%20Lond

on%20-
%20Homeless%20health.pdf

Copy of Public Consultation
Engagement report attached

Low income Household- Potential
Negative Impact.

IThere is some evidence to show
that by co-locating urgent care
services on to one site, that there
will be cost implications for those
living in low-income households
due to increased reliance upon
public transport and increased
parking costs (where services are
either not free to park or are
going to experience greater
demand resulting in longer
waiting times / greater parking
charges).

IThe issue of access to the future
Urgent Treatment Centre featured
significantly in the feedback
received from the public
consultation.

IThe Governing Body to consider
actions to address feedback
regarding access (parking, public
transport and costs) in its final
decision

In some cases, patients will be
able to reclaim these travel costs
and information as to how this
can be done will be made
available on site.

Urgent Care Steering Group
CCG Equality and Diversity Lead
IAppointed Provider

Ongoing (to cover monitoring
stages of implementation)



https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/populationandmigration/populationestimates/datasets/2011censuskeystatisticsandquickstatisticsforlocalauthoritiesintheunitedkingdompart1
http://www.kpho.org.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0018/46017/DGS-CCG-health-demographic-profile-2014.pdf
http://www.kpho.org.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0018/46017/DGS-CCG-health-demographic-profile-2014.pdf
http://www.healthwatchkent.co.uk/sites/default/files/healthwatch_kent_traveller_report.pdf
http://www.healthwatchkent.co.uk/sites/default/files/healthwatch_kent_traveller_report.pdf
http://www.healthwatchkent.co.uk/sites/default/files/healthwatch_kent_traveller_report.pdf
https://www.myhealth.london.nhs.uk/sites/default/files/Commissioning%20guidance%20for%20London%20-%20Homeless%20health.pdf
https://www.myhealth.london.nhs.uk/sites/default/files/Commissioning%20guidance%20for%20London%20-%20Homeless%20health.pdf
https://www.myhealth.london.nhs.uk/sites/default/files/Commissioning%20guidance%20for%20London%20-%20Homeless%20health.pdf
https://www.myhealth.london.nhs.uk/sites/default/files/Commissioning%20guidance%20for%20London%20-%20Homeless%20health.pdf
https://www.myhealth.london.nhs.uk/sites/default/files/Commissioning%20guidance%20for%20London%20-%20Homeless%20health.pdf

Section 3 : Action Plan For any negative outcomes identified in Section 2, it is important to identify the steps you will take to mitigate consequences on the nine
protected characteristics. Complete the Action Plan below to identify and record how you will address these.

In addition to the mitigating actions identified below, the Governing Body will consider issues identified during the Public Consultation period with the view to ensuring that
appropriate measures are put in place to ensure that residents of Dartford Gravesham and Swanley (including those with protected characteristics) can access the health
care provided at the new Urgent Treatment Centre.

Equality Group

Negative Outcome

Mitigating Action
(Identify any resource/other implications)

Named Lead and Timeframe

Feedback during public consultation indicate that all ages

The DCBC to consider these issues in its recommendations to

Director of Strategic Transformation (DCBC)

Reassignment

the CCG shall commission services to mitigate against the risk
of any discrimination.

community.

All staff working at these services will need to undergo gender
Equality, Diversity and Inclusion training.

Age (including older people) could be affected by issues of parking |Governing Body
and public transport to DVH
Disability Potential impact on patients who are deaf who gave feedback [The DCBC to consider these issues in its recommendations to |Director of Strategic Transformation
during public consultation about the inadequacy of BSL Governing Body. DCBC
translators. Feedback from patients with physical disabilities
highlighted issues of access / disabled parking. Feedback from
Y Mental Health Group included the need for staff to be
8 sensitive to patient in distress or dis-oriented.
D
c§1der No specific outcomes have been identified for this group as Services should be able to provide additional measures Service provider
figures are not collated for this cohort of the public however, [relating to privacy and dignity when treating members of this

Marriage & Civil
Partnership

Potential risk of discrimination

Ensure that Gender Equality training in built into all provider
staff training and is evidenced to the CCG as part of EDS2
reporting.

, Equality Lead

Pregnancy &
Maternity

As part of commissioning arrangements, the CCG will need to
ensure that the provider of this service is able to meet the
needs of breastfeeding women and women with babies. This
will mean providing facilities that allow them to breastfeed or
express milk in a way that offers privacy and dignity in a way
that is free from discrimination.

Commissioner / Estates Team

Service provider




Equality Group

Negative Outcome

Mitigating Action
(Identify any resource/other implications)

Named Lead and Timeframe

Race

IThe CCG will expect to see Translation services procured to
meet the most-spoken languages within the Dartford,
Gravesham and Swanley areas. Details of these languages
can be found at the bottom of this analysis

Religion or Belief

Potential Risk of prescriptions breaking fasting during religious
celebrations (very limited risk)

Availability of a room for washing and prayer

All provider staff should undergo religious awareness training
and should also follow extensive NICE guidance on this matter.

Provision of a prayer room or chaplaincy service should be
made available.

IThis will be a matter for the patient and Provider to discuss at
the point of diagnosis

Provider estates team.

Sex

IThe Service Specifications for these services will need to
provide that all staff working in these services undergo Gender
Equality training.

Commissioner / Service Provider

Sggual Orientation
Q

Q
D

Potential Risk of Discrimination

Ensure that Gender Equality training in built into all provider
staff training and is evidenced to the CCG as part of EDS2
reporting.

Equality Lead

=
C&e rs

Potential high cost of parking

Issues regarding parking (including costs) and have featured
significantly in the public consultation feedback and therefore
Governing Body and Urgent Care team will be considering
further actions to mitigate negative impact

Make carers who are entitled to aware of how they may
reclaim expenses

Director of Strategic Transformation (DMBC)

Governing Body

Provider Communications Team

Other

Low-income house-holds:
Potential high cost of parking

Issues regarding parking (including costs) and public transport
have featured significantly in the public consultation feedback
and therefore Governing Body and Urgent Care team will be
considering further actions to mitigate negative impact

Make patients (who are entitled to aware of how they may
reclaim expenses)

Director of Strategic Transformation (DMBC)
Governing Body

Provider Communications Team




Section 4 : Submission
On completion of all sections of the Equality Analysis Form, submit your draft along with the policy, function, or service document to the Equality & Diversity Lead.
Once reviewed, feedback and any recommended amendments will be given. Having made any necessary changes, the final version should then be submitted to the

committee which will approve the paper/policy/strategy in question. The completed EA Template should be appended to the policy, function or service development
documentation.

Supporting documentation:

Kent population by main X
language =l

Kent population by
main language.xIsx

Consultation

Report on Public |E|j

Y Report.Public
8 Consultation Engager
Fan)
Engage Kent report A
o) ‘e
o
Engage Kent report
for DGS CCG Urgent (
Protected characteristics @ j

Protected
Characteristic.docx




Evaluation of Bexley

response

Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley
Clinical Commissioning Group

Author: Clive Caseley, Director
Date: 13 January 2020




verve

CONTENTS

CONTENTS
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
1. ABOUT THIS REPORT

1.1
1.2
1.3

CONTEXT AND BACKGROUND
WHAT DOES THIS MEAN FOR BEXLEY?2
PURPOSE OF THIS ENGAGEMENT

2. METHODOLOGY

2.1
2.2
2.3
2.4
2.5

DATA SOURCES

SURVEY

HEALTHWATCH BEXLEY ANALYSIS
FRONT-LINE STAFF AND DOCTORS
LISTENING EVENT

3. ANALYSIS AND FINDINGS

3.1
3.2

QUANTITATIVE RESPONSE
ANALYSIS OF RESPONSE AND COMMENTS

APPENDIX 1- QUESTIONNAIRE
APPENDIX 2- CODE FRAME

APPENDIX 3 — HEALTHWATCH BEXLEY REPORT
APPENDIX 4 — LISTENING EVENT NOTES

The Fold REG VAT GB 858230025
Space, Registered in England Company

20 Clyde Terrace Number 05358457
London SE23 3BA Registered officpa

ge 188
24 Old Bond Street, London W1S 4AP

E +44 207 017 2011

&

—_

O N N oo oo O 0 AN NNDN

19
23
25
28

hello@vervecommunications.co.uk
www.vervecommunications.co.uk


mailto:hello@vervecommunications.co.uk
mailto:hello@vervecommunications.co.uk

verve

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

Following a review of urgent care services, Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley Clinical
Commissioning Group (CCG) led a consultation on proposals to site an Urgent Treatment Centre
(UTC) at either Gravesham Community Hospital or Darent Valley Hospital (DVH).

In its initial consultation, the CCG received many responses from residents across a wide areaq,
including Bexley and other neighbouring boroughs, although inevitably most views came from
residents within Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley.

An intensive engagement followed in Bexley to complement the CCG-led public consultation -
seeking to understand the likely use of services by patients across the boundaries between CCGs,
the potential impact of the new UTC, and what might be done to mitigate any resulting
pressures.

This document contains an evaluation of the response to this engagement. It was independently
produced by Verve Communications.

Bexley patients travelling to Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley

Accessibility and travel times seem to be the main drivers for patients’ decisions when they need
urgent care. For some people, there is evidence to suggest that they are prepared to travel
some distance in order to reduce their waiting fime or obtain free parking.

For siting the new Urgent Treatment Centre (UTC), Darent Valley Hospital (DVH) is the main site in
Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley which would be relevant for Bexley residents. For these
residents, DVH is relatively easily accessible by car and public tfransport, and some patients
believe that co-location with the DVH A&E means it will provide a higher quality service or that
they can get freated “all in one place”.

For these reasons, some residents in some parts of Bexley would — and probably already do -
fravel fo DVH for urgent care. In particular, the absence of an A&E service within Bexley, means
that DVH would be the closest option for some patients in the borough for whom colocation is
important.

Bexley residents have a range of choices of walk-in urgent care services, with Erith Hospital and
Queen Mary's Hospital within the borough and alternatives at Queen Elizabeth Hospital
(Greenwich CCG) and the Princess Royal University Hospital (Bromley CCG) also mentioned.

Overall, therefore, Bexley residents see an Urgent Treatment Centfre at DVH as a potfential
alternative when other options are too busy rather than as a first choice.

That said, a significant proportion of Bexley patients felt there would no impact, or very limited
impact for them as they would be unlikely to use any of the alternatives in Dartford, Gravesham
or Swanley. In all 20 people made this comment, out of 68 who provided a response on likely
impacts — so around a third of the total.

Page 189

Evaluation of Bexley response- Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley Clinical Commissioning Group



verve

There was relatively low awareness of Gravesham Community Hospital among Bexley residents —
Many did not know where it is or regard it as “local”. Therefore for Bexley patients most would use
alternatives in other directions.

Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley residents travelling to Bexley

The initial survey undertaken by the CCG during the public consultation showed relatively little
tendency for Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley patients to look towards Bexley for urgent care,
although we would note the great majority of responses seem to have come from residents close
to Gravesham Community Hospital.

Nevertheless, staff and doctors at both Erith Hospital and Queen Mary’s Hospital commented
that they saw a significant number of patients from Dartford and Gravesham. This was attributed
to pressures, difficulty in securing GP appointments, long waits at DVH and frequent referrals from
NHS 111 and GPs. Recent GP closures in Dartford were also cited

Overall impact

The key issue, both for Bexley residents travelling to Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley and fo
prevent flow of patients into Bexley is the availability of alternative walk-in services, whether at
DVH or other convenient, accessible location(s).

What makes a good service?

Regardless of location, several characteristics were identified which make a good service. These
include: communication with the patient's own GP, including referral back to primary care where
that is more appropriate and conversely well-managed escalation if inpatient care is needed;
integration and data sharing to enable a seamless service with the patient only needing to
provide details once; and good links into other services — those mentioned included mental
health, diabetic services, paediatrics, and on-site pharmacy.

Other comments for consideration

Car parking was also a concern for Bexley residents as it was for residents in Dartford Gravesham
and Swanley who fook part in the original consultation. In particular, limited availability and cost
of parking at DVH and availability of free parking at Erith urgent care centre.

Several Bexley patients commented that they were not familiar with services in Dartford and
Gravesham and were unaware of Gravesham Community Hospital. A significant number had
visited Darent Valley Hospital and would be unlikely to visit an Urgent Treatment Centre at
Gravesham Community Hospital.

Page 190

Evaluation of Bexley response- Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley Clinical Commissioning Group



1.1

verve

ABOUT THIS REPORT

CONTEXT AND BACKGROUND

Following a review of urgent care services, Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley Clinical
Commissioning Group (CCG) led a consultation between August and November 2019 on
proposals to site an Urgent Treatment Centre (UTC) at either Gravesham Community Hospital or
Darent Valley Hospital (DVH).

The CCG undertook a large-scale engagement exercise to reach residents within the catchment
for its urgent care services. The consultation received a very high level of response following
distribution of materials, running a series of events and roadshow activities in the community, and
an online survey which received more than 16,000 responses. In addition, key stakeholders were
consulted and Engage Kent commissioned fo reach people with physical disabilities and
residents of rural areas

Verve Communications analysed the consultation responses and undertook and independent
evaluation. This considered the statutory requirements for public consultation, including NHS
guidance and best practice, and was considered by the Kent Health Overview and Scrutiny
Committee in December 2019.

The report and a supplementary analysis (which explores differences of views between those
favouring each of the alternative site options) can be found here:

http://www.dartfordgraveshamswanleyccg.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/sites/3/2019/12/Urgent-
Care-Consultation-Independent-Analysis-Verve-Communications-vCOMPLETEV02.pdf
http://www.dartfordgraveshamswanleyccg.nhs.uk/wp-
content/uploads/sites/3/2019/12/Supplementary-analysis-vCOMPLETE.pdf

Key findings from the consultation included:

O A strong majority of respondents were in favour of locating the service at Gravesham
Community Hospital, which was particularly pronounced among those living nearer to the
site

O Across all elements of the consultation, the distance to services, tfravel fimes/accessibility by
public transport, and availability and cost of car parking were the main issues shaping
preferences

O Ofther considerations included co-location with A&E / acute hospital (which was seen both as
a potential positive and negative for the UTC) and siting the service close to major
population centres.

Page 191

Evaluation of Bexley response- Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley Clinical Commissioning Group


http://www.dartfordgraveshamswanleyccg.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/sites/3/2019/12/Urgent-Care-Consultation-Independent-Analysis-Verve-Communications-vCOMPLETEv02.pdf
http://www.dartfordgraveshamswanleyccg.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/sites/3/2019/12/Urgent-Care-Consultation-Independent-Analysis-Verve-Communications-vCOMPLETEv02.pdf
http://www.dartfordgraveshamswanleyccg.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/sites/3/2019/12/Supplementary-analysis-vCOMPLETE.pdf
http://www.dartfordgraveshamswanleyccg.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/sites/3/2019/12/Supplementary-analysis-vCOMPLETE.pdf

1.2

1.3

verve

WHAT DOES THIS MEAN FOR BEXLEY<e

Accessibility and travel times seem to be the main drivers for patients’ decisions when they need
urgent care. For some people, there is evidence to suggest that they are prepared to travel
significant distances as a frade-off in order to reduce their waiting fime or obtain free parking.

It therefore seems possible that changes to urgent care services in one CCG footprint may
potentially affect services in neighbouring areas. In this case, that might mean Bexley residents
travelling to services in Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley and — conversely — residents from
Dartford, Gravesend and surrounding boroughs using Bexley services as an alternative.

PURPOSE OF THIS ENGAGEMENT

In its initial consultation, the CCG received many responses from residents across a wide area,
including Bexley and other neighbouring boroughs, although inevitably most views came from
residents within Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley.

However, the service options for Bexley residents are varied and the patterns of choices patients
make could be complex. Bexley residents have a range of choices of walk-in urgent care
services, with Erith Hospital and Queen Mary's Hospital within the borough and alternatives at
Queen Elizabeth Hospital (Greenwich CCG), the Princess Royal University Hospital (Bromley CCG)
and Lewisham Hospital (Lewisham CCG).

The purpose of this intensive engagement in Bexley was therefore to complement the CCG-led
public consultation and to develop a more detailed understanding of:

O Bexley residents’ use of services in the CCG footprint, and the likely scale of impact of the
outcomes of decisions coming from the review

O Specifically, the likely use of UTC and preference between DVH and Gravesham

O Potentialimpact of plans for siting the UTC on services in Bexley, and what might be done to
mitigate pressures.

Page 192

Evaluation of Bexley response- Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley Clinical Commissioning Group



2.1

2.2

2.3

verve

METHODOLOGY

DATA SOURCES

The exercise was carried out between 17 December and 09 January 2020 and comprised data
collection through four discrete activities:

Questionnaire survey (quantitative) of which 56% were returned from Bexley residents
Healthwatch report (produced for the original CCG consultation in November 2019)
Front-line staff and doctors’ comments, from Erith Hospital and Queen Mary's Hospital
Listening event for residents in Bexley.

0O0O00O

In this report we have compiled insights and conclusions from all of these info a single summary,
which sets out:

O The scale and scope of engagement

O Quantitative charts and tables

O Key themes emerging from qualitative comments and discussions
O Appropriate conclusions.

SURVEY

The survey was conducted by the CCG Communications and Engagement team face-to-face
over three sessions:

O Erith Urgent Care Centre - (Tuesday 17 December (am) and Monday 06 January (pm)
O Queen Mary's Hospital - Wednesday 18 December (am).

In total, 97 people were interviewed, using a pro forma questionnaire (see Appendix 1), which
includes a mix of ‘closed’ questions and ‘open’ free text questions where respondents were able
to explain their preferences. The survey also collected demographic data.

The headline findings are shown in table and charts (see section 3.1.) and qualitative comments
were analysed for themes and allocated according fo a code frame (see Appendix 2.) which
shows the weight and number of comments received. Please note that all comments made
were included and some questions invited multiple comments — the total number of comments
may therefore be higher than the number of respondents.

HEALTHWATCH BEXLEY ANALYSIS

Healthwatch Bexley supported the original UTC consultation undertaken in 2019. Between August
and November, Healthwatch distributed the CCG consultation documents and questionnaires,
and collected 38 completed questionnaires.

Page 193

Evaluation of Bexley response- Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley Clinical Commissioning Group



2.4

2.5

verve

As part of the original consultation Healthwatch Bexley also held informal discussions at existing
community groups in Crayford and Sidcup, at which 25 people expressed their views. The groups
were for older adults with Alzheimer’s and their carers.

Healthwatch shared their report with DGS CCG in November. This report set out the key issues for
Bexley residents, which is attached in full for reference at Appendix 3. The headlines from this are
incorporated into this report.

FRONT-LINE STAFF AND DOCTORS

Front-line staff and doctors delivering urgent care services in Bexley were engaged to understand
their perspective(s) on potential implications of the CCG's proposals, and to explore their ideas
for ways to mitigate pressures on services in both boroughs.

Participants were based both at Erith Hospital and Queen Mary’s Hospital, Sidcup.
Areas of informal discussion included:

O The profile of patients from Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley who use Erith Hospital or
Queen Mary's Sidcup (QMS) urgent care

O Reasons residents in Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley might choose to use these services in
Bexley

O Potential impact of plans to site a new UTC at DVH or Gravesham Hospital on Bexley services

O What actions might mitigate pressures on services in both boroughs.

LISTENING EVENT

A targeted listening event was held on 09 January with a group of Bexley patients. This was
conducted by DGS CCG in partnership with Bexley CCG and Healthwatch Bexley, who were
instrumental in recruiting participants to the event.

In all, around 17 people took part, and the discussions focused on:
O The potential impact of locating a UTC at DVH
O The potential impact of locating a UTC at Gravesham Hospital

O General comments about why patients might select one urgent care service over another.

The full notes taken from these discussions are included for reference at Appendix 4.

Page 194

Evaluation of Bexley response- Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley Clinical Commissioning Group



verve

3. ANALYSIS AND FINDINGS

3.1  QUANTITATIVE RESPONSE
3.1.1  ABOUTYOU

Q1 - ARE YOU HERE AS A...

Other No answer
7 (7%) /_ 2 (2%)

Carer/Family Patient
member 57 (59%)

Only 2 of 7 31 (32%)

“Others” were

specified;
*  Friend
o Girlfriend

Q2 - WHAT IS YOUR POSTCODE?

Not stated
70%) |

Other local Bexley

postcode Postcode
36(37%) 54(56%)

Page 195

Evaluation of Bexley response- Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley Clinical Commissioning Group



verve

3.1.2 ABOUT YOUR VISIT TODAY

Q3 - WHY DID YOU CHOOSE TO COME TO THIS PARTICULAR NHS LOCATION FOR URGENT CARE
TODAY? (PLEASE TICK AS MANY AS APPLY)

Closest NHS Urgent care service to where | live
Closest NHS Urgent care service to where | work
Easiest service for me to get to by public transport
Easiest service for me to get to by car
Easiest service for me to walk to

| was advised to afttend this service by..

Parking at this NHS urgent care serice is not a..

The service usually has the shortest waiting time...

Other reason

(@)
(@)

20 30 40 5 60 70

3.1.3 ABOUT THE DGS PROPOSED LOCATIONS FOR AN URGENT TREATMENT SERVICE

Q4 - WHICH OF THESE NHS SERVICES HAVE YOU ATTENDED BEFORE? (TICK ALL THAT APPLY)

The Whitehorse Walk-in Centre at
North Fleet |

Darent Valley Hospital
|

Gravesham Community Hospital

Page 196

Evaluation of Bexley response- Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley Clinical Commissioning Group

80



verve

Q5 - IF THERE WAS AN URGENT TREATMENT CENTRE AT GRAVESHAM COMMUNITY HOSPITAL WOULD
YOU CHOOSE TO USE IT?

Yes
4 (4%)

[\ [o)
93 (96%)

Q6- IF THERE WAS AN URGENT TREATMENT CENTRE AT DARENT VALLEY HOSPITAL WOULD YOU
CHOOSE TO USE IT?

[\ [o) Yes

48 (49%) 49 (51%

3.14 ABOUT OTHER NHS URGENT CARE / EMERGENCY SERVICES

Q8- WHICH OF THE FOLLOWING NHS SERVICES DO YOU ALSO USE WHEN YOU NEED URGENT
TREAMENT ON THE SAME DAY AND WHY?

Darent Valley Hospital A&E
Erith UCC

Gravesham Community Hospital MIU
Maidstone Hospital UCC

Medway Maritime Hospital UCC

Princes Royal UCC

Queen Mary Sidcup UCC

Sevenoaks Community Hospital MIU
Whithorse Walk-in Centre at North Fleet
None Of the above services

0 10 20 30 40 50 60

Page 197

Evaluation of Bexley response- Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley Clinical Commissioning Group

70



verve

3.1.5 EQUALITIES

1- WHICH GENDER DO YOU IDENTIFY AS?

Prefer not to say [\ [o)
1(1%) Answer

1 57) Male
: 31 (32%)

Female
50 (52%)

2- WHICH AGE GROUP DO YOU BELONG TO?

Page 198

Evaluation of Bexley response- Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley Clinical Commissioning Group

m Under 18
m 18-24

m 25-34

m 35-44

m 45-54

m 55-64
mover 65



verve

3- WHICH OF THE FOLLOWING BEST DESCRIBES YOUR SEXUAL ORIENTATION?

Prefer not to say

Bi-sexual 10 (10%)

0
Gay/lesbian _’\
101%)

Straight
86 (89%)

Page 199

Evaluation of Bexley response- Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley Clinical Commissioning Group



verve

4- WHICH OF THE FOLLOWING BEST DESCRIBES YOUR RELIGION OR BELIEF

Prefer not to
say
11(11%)

Christian
No religious belief 52 (54%)

23 (24%)

Muslim /
2(2%) sikh jewish
3(3%) o

5- DO YOU CONSIDER YOURSELF TO HAVE A DISABILITY?

Prefer not to say
11 (11%)

Page 200

Evaluation of Bexley response- Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley Clinical Commissioning Group



verve

6- WHICH OF THE FOLLOWING BEST DESCRIBES YOUR ETHNIC GROUP

African/Caribbean
Prefer not to say 13 (13%)
14 (14%)

Mixed heritage
White and
African/Caribbean
1(1%)

White British
56 (58%)

7- ARE YOU A CARER (FOR AN UNDER 18 CHILD OR ADULT)

Prefer not to say
15 (15%)

Yes
27 (28%)

Page 201

Evaluation of Bexley response- Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley Clinical Commissioning Group



3.2

3.2.1

verve

ANALYSIS OF RESPONSE AND COMMENTS

OVERALL

It is clear from the quantitative data that the overwhelming driver for patients’ urgent care
choice is distance from home and perceived travel time. This is consistent across the initial CCG
consultation response and this intensive engagement with Bexley residents.

In this exercise, 51% of Bexley residents said they would use DVH, with approximately even
numbers commenting that it is closer fo home and that it is too far away (19 and 23 respectively).

Far fewer favoured Gravesham - 4%, with a clear majority giving the reason that it is too far away.

For Bexley residents who responded to the CCG via Healthwatch Bexley, there is also a clear
preference for DVH. More than 70% “strongly” favoured DVH as the location for the UTC,
compared with around 13% favouring Gravesham.

This is echoed by the Healthwatch Bexley group discussions:
“For the majority of the Bexley residents we spoke to Gravesham was considered foo far

away for them to visit.”
Bexley Healthwatch report

However, a significant proportion of Bexley patients felt there would no impact, or very limited
impact, as they would be unlikely to use any of the alternatives in Dartford, Gravesham and
Swanley. In all 20 people made this comment, out of 68 who provided a response on likely
impacts, around a third.

“I don't think it will make a difference to people in Bexley”
Comment from patient survey

Staff at Bexley services referred to free and available parking at Erith Hospital and relatively short
waiting fimes at both Queen Mary’s Hospital and Erith

“Patients don't fit in neat boundaries. Sometimes its quicker and easier to use an NHS just
over the boundary”
Staff member, Erith Hospital

Overdall, the set of issues for Bexley residents closely echoes the findings from the initial CCG
consultation focused in Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley residents — there is no evidence of
significant differences of view between these populations.

It is clear that Bexley residents see DVH chiefly as an alternative when other options are too busy,
rather than their first choice - which would probably be a more local walk-in service. However
sifing the UTC at DVH is seen as having positive potential to relieve pressure on current, stretched
services.

“Hopefully it will reduce waiting times in other places”
Comment from patient survey

Other comments made during this intensive exercise in Bexley were less often repeated but
included travel and ease of journeys.

Page 202

Evaluation of Bexley response- Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley Clinical Commissioning Group



3.2.2

3.23

verve

This includes public fransport (particularly the number of bus changes), fraffic and drive-times,
and parking (both cost and availability. DVH is seen as having good public transport links and
easy to get to, but parking costs are an issue.

“Parking is dreadful and costly. Public transport from Slade Green and Erith is abysmal”
Comment fo Healthwatch Bexley

“If had a blue badge (it) can be used at Woolwich but not DVH"
Focus group participant

CO-LOCATION WITH A&E

Co-location with A&E / acute hospital was seen by some as a positive factor in siting the UTC at
DVH, because of the perception that it will be a higher quality service or that it will be possible to
have treatment “all in one place”, with more straightforward escalation and admission to the
hospital if the patient deteriorates.

"Will make service quicker, more efficient. Wait at A&E are foo long 5 hours... less waiting
time if those not in need of A&E can be diverted to UTC”
Comment to Healthwatch Bexley

“"We could get medical attention faster and at more convenient times”
Comment from patient survey

There was some agreement among professionals for this view, and the broader point about
relieving pressure on the DVH A&E.

“"Every borough needs one standalone UTC to cater for patients who can be seen by
GP/Nurse and another UTC co-located with A&E to be able to be escalated because of
more serious concerns”

Doctor, Erith Hospital

“UTC at Darent Valley Hospital: would provide hospital with more capacity to see patients”
Staff member, Queen Mary's Hospital

For some patients, co-location is a negative, because of long waits and accessibility issues at
DVH (especially parking) and a perception that a busy A&E is not the most appropriate service
for minor urgent care needs.

INFLUENCING DECISIONS

Familiarity is key to influencing decisions, and many comments collected through this
engagement were based on personal experience.

"Previous experiences, good or bad, would influence the choice that people make.
South of the Borough would prefer to go to Princess Royal”
Focus group participant

Page 203

Evaluation of Bexley response- Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley Clinical Commissioning Group



3.24

3.2.5

verve

Several Bexley patients commented that they were not familiar with the Dartford, Gravesham
and Swanley services — this was mentioned in respect of both, but clearly a far greater issue for
Gravesham Community Hospital as a significant number had visited DVH.

“I don't know where this location [Gravesham] is,”
Numerous comments from patient survey

This suggests that patients from Bexley are unlikely to use an Urgent Treatment Centre at
Gravesham Community Hospital.

MORE ON DARENT VALLEY HOSPITAL

Notes from the listening event suggest that Bexley patients are quite familiar with DVH.

“If l had to go to an AE, I would go to DVH. | know the site and | wouldn't feel lost there.”
Focus group participant

Views were mixed, and included:

O Cafeteria and facilities are seen as good

O Several comments that the metal seating in waiting areas is uncomfortable
O The absence of a 24-hour pharmacy was noted.

DVH was seen by some as providing fast and effective communications, with test results and
notes sent quickly and good integration with primary care.

“"We conducted a mystery shopper at DVH and had a 95% satisfaction ratings”
Focus group participant

By conftrast, there were some poor experiences reported and, as previously highlighted, car
parking at DVH has been the subject of so many comments it must be regarded as an issue of
significant concern for Bexley residents.

“"Can parking be expanded to nearby land?"
Focus group participant

CAPACITY ACROSS THE SYSTEM

Staff and doctors at both Erith Hospital and Queen Mary's Hospital noted that they saw a
significant number of patients from Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley. This was aftributed to
pressures and difficulty in securing GP appointments, long waits at DVH and frequent referrals
from NHS 111 and GPs. The impact of recent GP closures in Dartford was also cited. Staff also
commented on the increased demand on urgent care services across the system.

"QMS severely impacted by GP closures in Dartford”
Staff member, Queen Mary's Hospital

Page 204

Evaluation of Bexley response- Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley Clinical Commissioning Group



verve

3.2.6 WHAT MAKES A GOOD SERVICE?

Regardless of location, there were several characteristics identified that make a good urgent
care service:

O Good liaison and communication with the patient’'s own GP, including referral back to
primary care where that is more appropriate and conversely well-managed escalation if
inpatient care is needed

O Good integration, including with patient data to enable a seamless service and the patient
only having to provide details once

O Linking up with other services — those mentioned included mental health, diabetic services
and paediatrics

O Late-opening pharmacy on site.

Page 205

Evaluation of Bexley response- Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley Clinical Commissioning Group



verve

APPENDIX 1- QUESTIONNAIRE

Background
Dartford Gravesham and Swanley Clinical Commissioning Group (DGS CCG) recently ran a public

consultation about the location of an Urgent Treatment Centre (UTC) for people living in Dartford
Gravesham and Swanley (DGS). As Dartford lies on the borders of Bexley, residents of Bexley
sometimes use NHS health services in DGS and vice versa. DGS CCG would therefore like to gain a
better understanding about how DGS proposals for the location of a UTC in DGS could possibly impact
on residents and patients using Bexley Urgent Care Services.

Proposals for the location of an Urgent Treatment Centre in Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley

To create an Urgent Treatment Centre at Gravesham Community
OPTION Hospital by moving services from the current Fleet Health Campus in
ONE Northfleet (White Horse Walk-in) to join the Minor Injuries Unit at

Gravesham Community Hospital

OR

To create an Urgent Treatment Centre at Darent Valley Hospital by
OPTION moving services from the current Minor Injuries Unit at Gravesham
TWO Community Hospital and the Fleet Health Campus in Northfleet (White
Horse Walk-in) to Darent Valley Hospital

The new Urgent Treatment Centre would treat both minor illnesses such as ear and throat infections,
sickness and diahorea as well as minor injuries such as suspected broken bones, sprains and minor
burns in one place.

What will we do with information we are collecting through this questionnaire?

The information gathered from patients and residents using Bexley Urgent Care services will be analysed
and used as part of the patient feedback that will inform the DGS CCG’s Governing Body decision in
early 2020.

Urgent Care Questionnaire

About you
Q1 Areyouhereasa ... O patient QO carer/ family member
O other .....ocovvvennnn...

Q2  What is yoUr POSt COUE ... .uiiiiiiii e

About your visit today

Q3  Why did you choose to come to this particular NHS location for urgent care today (please tick as
many as apply)

Page 206

Evaluation of Bexley response- Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley Clinical Commissioning Group



Closest NHS urgent care service to where | live
Closest NHS urgent care service to where | work

Easiest NHS urgent care service for me to get to by public transport

Easiest NHS urgent care service for me to walk to
| was advised to attend this service by O NHs 111 QO friend / family

O

@

O

(O Easiest NHS urgent care service for me to get to by car

O

O

(O Parking at this NHS urgent care service is usually not a problem
O

This service usually has the shortest waiting time compared to other nearby urgent care
services

(O Other reason (Please SPECITY) ........ccovwmmne i

About the DGS proposed locations for an Urgent Treatment service

Q4  Which of these NHS services have you attended before? (Tick all that apply)
(O Gravesham Community Hospital
(O Darent Valley Hospital

() The Whitehorse Walk-in Centre at North Fleet

Q5 If there was an Urgent Treatment Centre at Gravesham Community Hospital would you choose
to use it? O Yes O No

Please explain the reasons for your answer

Q6 If there was an Urgent Treatment Centre at Darent Valley Hospital, would you choose to use it?

O VYes O No

Please explain the reasons for your answer

Page 207

Evaluation of Bexley response- Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley Clinical Commissioning Group




verve

Q7  What impact would an Urgent Treatment Centre at Darent Valley or Gravesham have on you and
your family?

Please explain

About other NHS urgent care/ emergency services

Which of the following NHS services do you also use when you need urgent treatment on the same day
and why?

(O Darent Valley Hospital A&E Why
......... O EmhurgentcarecemreWhy
......... O GraVEShamCommumtyHospltalMmormjunesumtWhy
......... O MaldstoneHospltalUrgentcarecemreWhy
......... O MedwayMamlmeHospltalUrgemcarecemreWhy
......... O PnncesRoyalurgemcarecemreWhy
......... O QueenMarySSIdcupUrgentcarecentreWhy
Page 208

Evaluation of Bexley response- Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley Clinical Commissioning Group



verve

(O Sevenoaks Community Hospital Minor Injuries Unit Why
Whitehorse Walk-in Centre in Northfleet Why
(O None of the above services Why

Survey ends. Thank you very much for sparing the time to give us your feedback.

Equalities: NHS Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley CCG would like to hear from a broad mix of people
and groups. You do not have to complete the next section and your views will still be taken into account,
if you choose not to. However, the information you give would help the CCG analyse who we have
engaged with and consider any differences or potential service adjustments that may apply to different
groups

1 Which gender to you identify as? ...........ccoooviiiiiiiiiininn, (O Prefer not to say
2 Which age group do you belong to?() under 18 O 18-24 (0O25-34
(0O 35-44 (O 45-54 O55-64 O over 65
3 Which of the following best describes your sexual orientation?
QO straight QO gay/ lesbian O bi-sexual O Prefer not to say

O prefer to use My OWN tEIM .........iiiieiiiiiiiiiee e,

4 Which of the following best describes your religion or belief?
QO Christian O Jewish QO Sikh O Muslim
O No religion or belief QO other QO Prefer not to say
5 Do you consider yourself to have a disability? (O Yes ONo
6 Which term best describes your ethnic group?
(O White British O African / Caribbean QO Asian QO Chinese
(O Mixed heritage: White and African Caribbean O Mixed heritage: White and Asian
QOther .....coooeviiiiiiiiiie O Prefer not to say
7 Areyouacarer? (O Yes (foran under 18 child OR adult?) ONo
Page 209

Evaluation of Bexley response- Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley Clinical Commissioning Group



verve

APPENDIX 2- CODE FRAME

Table showing range and number of comments received in free text sections of questions 5, 6

and 7.

Questions and Codes Responses Number
5. Use Gravesham-Yes 501-550

501 Closer to home 6
505 Closer to where | work 0
507 If | was working nearby 3
510 As an alternative nearby service 4
515 As an alternative to GP or A&E 2
518 If there was free parking 1
520 If better for / prioritised children 2
525 If better for other people (e.g. elderly relatives) 1
530 Like this service 0
550 Other 1
5. Use Gravesham-No 551-599

551 Too far — not local 40
552 Travel issue e.g. wheelchair 1
554 QMS closer 2
555 DVH closer 1
556 Erith closer 2
560 Don't know where it is 4
570 Not appropriate / slow / poor experience 2
599 Other 2
6. Use DV-Yes 601-650

601 Closer to home 19
607 If | was working nearby 1
615 As an alternative to GP or A&E 2
616 As an alternative if closer services busy 5
617 If walk-in is accessible 2
630 Like this service 1
635 Co-location with hospital / A&E 1
637 Accessible by road 2
650 Other 2
6. Use DV-No 651-699

651 Too far — not local 23
654 QMS closer 2
656 Erith closer 3
657 QEH closer 1
660 Don't know where it is 1
671 Not appropriate / slow / poor experience 3
680 Parking cost / availability 1
699 Other

Evaluation of Bexley response- Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley Clinical Commissioning Group

Page 210




verve

Que O and ode Respo e D
7. Impact 701-799

701 None — no impact 20
705 All too far away 1
707 Specific sites easier to reach 4
710 Relieve pressure / reduce waits 6
711 More services is positive 1
712 Good for people who need UC (e.g. children, elderly) 2
715 Guarantee to be seen / availabillity 3
720 Provide closer alternative/ more choice 18
725 Quick to get to in an emergency 2
730 Co-location with hospital 1
735 Opening hours / convenient fime 1
736 Easier journeys 4
737 Harder journeys — less accessible 2
738 Better for public fransport 1

Page 211

Evaluation of Bexley response- Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley Clinical Commissioning Group




verve

APPENDIX 3 — HEALTHWATCH BEXLEY REPORT

healthwatch

Bexley

Public Consultation
12 August — 4*" November

Dartford Gravesham and Swanley COG re proposed changes/site of an Urgent Treatment Centre in
Morth Kent

Option One

To create an Urgent Treatment Centre at Gravesham Community Hospital by moving services from
the current Fleet Health Campus in Northfleet {(White Horse Walk-in) to join the Minor Injuries Unit
at Gravesham Community Hospital

Option Twao

To create an Urgent Treatment Centre at Darent Valley Hospital by moving services from the current
Minor Injuries Unit at Gravesham Community Hospital and the Fleet Health Campus in Northfleet

Healthwatch engagement

We visited local libraries, community groups and events in Bexley Borough to explore Bexley
resident’s views of the proposed location of an UTC. We distributed and collected consultation forms
and held informal discussions with two local groups in Crayford and Sidoup. We collected 38
consultation forms which have been forwarded to Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley, CCG via the
freepost address publicised in the back of the consultation booklet. In addition many residents took
consultation booklets to complete at home and send in themselves.

Summary of the responses collected by Healthwatch via the consultation booklet questionnaire.
All 38 respondents were replying in a personal capacity.
Which of the current urgent care services have you used?

50% had used AEE at Darent Valley Hospital, 44% had called NHS 111 and &% had usad the GP out of
hour’s service

Which of the current urgent care services have a friendffamily member used?

5.6% had used Fleet Health Campus, 77.8% had used ASE at Darent Valley hospital, 38.5% had used
MNHS 111 and 16.7% had used the GP out of hour's service

Transport to urgent care services
£1.1% used a car to get to services, with 16.7% using public transport
Option 1 to create a UTC at Gravesham Community Hospital

26.7% disagreed and 30% strongly disagreed that UTC should be sited at Gravesham Community
Hospital, with 30% not having a view. 13.3% felt it should be at Gravesham Community Hospital

Option 2- Create a UTC at Darent Valley Hospital

70.3% strongly agree and 27% agree that UC should be sited at Darent Valley Hospital with 2.7% not
having a view.

Page | 1

Page 212

Evaluation of Bexley response- Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley Clinical Commissioning Group



verve

Reasons for choice

Option 2 Darent Valley

The location and convenience and transport links

‘Can get to Darent Vailey Hospital easily”

‘Accessible by bus’

‘Accessible by bus 7 cheaper to get to. Darent Valley better as can use contoctiess on the bus’

Many felt it should be located next to AZE and may play a role in relieving the pressure off ARE so
people may be diverted into appropriate services if they present at the wrong service.

‘Because it is @ more convenient location for me ond my family. Alsg may relieve pressure on A% and
A&E can divert peaple ta UTC and vice versa’

‘Makes sense to have at A&E, will heip people go to the right ploce. 100% mare convenient. Parking
ot an issue”

‘Ta hove urgent care and A&E next to eoch other cuts out duplication of wark and hapefully relieves
pressure on ARE

What impact will the options have on you and your family?
Option 2 Darent Valley Hospital

Most comments were around transport, parking costs, waiting times and the perceived benefit of
having A&E and UTC situated at the same site.

‘Public transpart con be difficuit ond expensive”

It would be good ta hove A&E ond urgent care an the sampe site”

‘Parking is dreadful and costly. Public transport from Slade Green ond Erith is abysmaol”
‘Parking is expensive”

“Will make it easier for the whale family to get there’

“Will make service quicker, more gfficient-wait ot ASE ore tao long 5 hours., less woiting time if thase
not in need of A&E con be diverted to UTC”

Any other ideas
‘Reductian in car pork chorges ot DVH"

‘1 am concemed that with plonned changes to bus routes from Erith/Bexleyheath to Darent Valley
Hospital, access to proposed services will be restricted for Bexiey residents who do not drive. For
those driving, existing car porkin is alreody stretched beyond capacity”

“If possible 24 haur apening’

‘Increose staff ta reduce waiting times, but realise this is uniikely”

Page | 2

Page 213

Evaluation of Bexley response- Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley Clinical Commissioning Group



verve

Informal discussion group comments

The informal discussion groups were held at existing community groups in Crayford and Sidcoup. 25
pecple expressed their views. The groups were for clder adults with Alzheimer’s and their carers

Travel

60% travelled by car last time they visited an Urgent care service, with £% using public transport and
32% traveling by ambulance.

Preferred site
Option 2 Darent Valley Hospital

60% agree that UTC should be sited at Darent Valley Hospital and 40% hawve no view on where it
should be sited.

Reasons
Generally the same as those comments and concemns raised in the guestionnaires:

Perception that UTC being situated at Darent Valley Hospital would reduce waiting times at ASE as
pecple could be directed to the correct services without further travel or inconvenience. It was also
felt that pressure would be taken off Sidcup and QE hospitals as there would be more choice locally.

Summary

Bexley residents favoured Darent Valley Hospital as the preferred choice for siting the Urgent
Treatment Centre rather than Gravesham Community Hospital.

The reasons given were:
Convenience to where people lived and bus routes
Good transport and easy to get to, although parking costs were an issue.

The benefit of being situated near to AZE were an influential factor, as residents suggested pecple
could be guided to the correct services easily, if they presented at the wrong service i.e. ARE can
redirect to Urgent Treatment Centre with little inconvenience for those attending. It was felt this
would work in both directions with Urgent Treatment centre redirecting people ta{AScE if that was
the appropriate service.

For the majority of the Bexley residents we spoke to Gravesham was considered too far away for
them to visit.

Page | 3

Page 214

Evaluation of Bexley response- Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley Clinical Commissioning Group



verve

APPENDIX 4 — LISTENING EVENT NOTES

Bexley 9 January 2020

Participants Why would you choose one
service over another?

An Urgent Treatment Centre at
Darent Valley Hospital. What
impact would this option have

on you and your family?

An Urgent Treatment Centre
at Gravesham Community
Hospital. What impact would
this option have on you and
your family?

Participant | Convenience of location and
access to location

Parking & too expensive to park
Hospital too busy

Can parking be expanded to
nearby land?

Too far away. Local options
available

Public transport GCH e.g.
Participant | how many bus changes
would be involved?

Seating is uncomfortable

Co-location with A& E is an
Participant | advantage

Facilities better
Facilities and café and clinics
and snacks

Previous experience
Parficipant | determines choices

With news in the media bout
patients being mugged in the
Participant | A&E, the thought thenis to
avoid the service at QE

Not necessarily first choice.
Would use it. Traffic and where
you live in Bexley would
determine your proximity to the
service.

We would not use this as
plenty of choice locally & in
Greenwich

Convenience of location &
access fo site.

Majority would not use it. If
patient transport offered,
maybe, otherwise not

| would choose DVH over QE
Parficipant | — I would feel safer there.

Yes, near me

Dependent on the time of
day (if early am)

Transport should be offered
otherwise not.

Too much interference from
Councillors which is why Erith
has stayed as itis. In any
case, you should contact 111

I wouldn't choose to go to
Participant | DVH with the metal seafts

No, I would not use it

Possibly residents from
Crayford may access the
serve. We have three options
in Bexley: Erith, QM & QE -
why would | go to
Gravesham?

Previous experiences, good or
Participant | bad, would influence the
choice that people make.

No. If all others fail then it is an
option

Pros & Cons - GCH has a
good blood test unit. DVH
has massive issues around

Page 215

Evaluation of Bexley response- Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley Clinical Commissioning Group




verve

Participants

Why would you choose one
service over another?

South of the Borough would
prefer to go to PR

An Urgent Treatment Centre at
Darent Valley Hospital. What
impact would this option have

on you and your family?

An Urgent Treatment Centre
at Gravesham Community
Hospital. What impact would
this option have on you and
your family?

parking. Even for blue badge
holdersitis £1.50 p/h. Too
many complaints went into
TFL so decision to remove 428
bus service may be delayed.

Participant

If I had to go to an AE, |
would go fo DVH. | know the
site and | wouldn't feel lost
there.

A possibility but not a first
choice. If you are near
Crayford, then it is only 20 mins
away

Participant

If you have to change buses
then that would be an option.
Have to change busses at the
clock tower. We conducted
a mystery shopper at DVH
and had a 95% satisfaction
rating from patients. | would
prefer co-location of the UCC
with A&E

No — QM hospital

Parficipant

Facilities, cafeteria, efc. This
would influence my decision
fo go to DVH

NO

Parficipant

If the UCC were to be at
GCH, as | don’t know the
areaq, | would be reluctant to
go there. You go where you
are comfortable.

Participant

Having spent 6 months visiting
St Thomas (40 mins by car), |
know the site inside out and |
feel comfortable. It has an
international reputation.

Participant

| would see the FP if | can
UCCs use - but if not suitable
do not treat

If out of o=hours

Proximity to site and where
you live in the Borough i.e.
which side East or West

Would help with numbers
attending Bexley UCC
Bexley has a good reputation

Distance and difficult to get
to

Benefit of GC centre for
Bexley as residents would use
and not services in Bexley
(which have a good
reputation)

Participant

Bexley to Gravesend - | would
not go that far.

If very unwell, would go to
closest as may not feel well
enough fo use public
fransport

| would use DVH if | had a
serious condifion

Access / congestion issues
London Hospitals do outreach
fo DVH & QM which is a good
thing

Better optfion — Gravesham
would be better. DVH is over
subscribed

Heard good reports about
the services at GCH

Page 216

Evaluation of Bexley response- Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley Clinical Commissioning Group




verve

Participants Why would you choose one
service over another?

An Urgent Treatment Centre at
Darent Valley Hospital. What

impact would this option have
on you and your family?

An Urgent Treatment Centre
at Gravesham Community
Hospital. What impact would
this option have on you and
your family?

Stay in Bexley & use services.
Concern over
communication

Good bus routes for most of the
area if you choose to use them

Would help to move away
from DVH and educate
patients of different services
they can use

Back to Patients GP
Participant | Integrated Record for a
patient and quick access of
resulfs

Passing back to original
services to go back.

Links with Mental Health
services

Were asked about cost
implications & timescales.
Questions were answered

If bus route changes by TFL are
approved, it could affect
patients decision and could
move capacity to Queen
Mary’s more

Had to go to Guy's Hospital
Participant | and had to wait for an
interpreter for the doctor.
GP/Hospital won't help with
patients for eyes until a year
has passed.

Bexley getting new flats and
population rising, hard
enough to get a GP. Had to
fight to get a serve. PALS
helped. 2 years to get knee
replacement

It is never going o be
enough. Not enough staff

Needs a good bus route

Had advantage for people in
right part of Bexley to be easier
to get to but enormous access
problems. Changes of TFL
buses to be considered and
bus times should be better at
DVH. What are the closest
stationse Not walkable.

Would be better clinically in
case of an emergency. Sat 4
hours at Queen Mary's and told
to go to A&E

Use Bluewater car park

What times will buses
operate?

Work due to start to increase
capacity at Erith want to
guarantee 12 hour daily
service.

Concern on impact to
residents (western residents in
Dartford area) who may find
it easier to go to Erith /
Sidcup. Consequential
impact

Haven't been given a choice
Participant
Quality services important

Doesn't think viable

If had a blue badge can be
used at Woolwich but not DVH

Where do we get a bus?e

Pick one more convenient
Participant | (nearest / transport)

PPIlin Dartford would be upset
at losing WIC
Need gudlified staff at site

Where would we go if we
needed a referral?

Participant | Knowing / awareness of them
being there. Convenience
etfc.

More impacting factors

Needs 24 hr pharmacy

Would go where open and see
right people if problem is
escalated

GP told me to go to DVH and
not Erith

Husband has heart condition

Lots of Bexley residents that
have to go fo DVH as don't

Page 217

Evaluation of Bexley response- Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley Clinical Commissioning Group




verve

Participants Why would you choose one An Urgent Treatment Centre at An Urgent Treatment Centre

service over another? Darent Valley Hospital. What at Gravesham Community
impact would this option have Hospital. What impact would

on you and your family? this option have on you and
your family?
have A&E
Need to have staff to run it

Supplementary comments:

Co-location would be an advantage over separate sites

Is there any way parking could be expanded at DVH

**Is there any date on the number of patients that are sent to A&E from Urgent Care? It would be
interesting to find out**

6 hr wait at A&E, ended up in Mid Kent for operation. Long way to go when it could have been done at
DVH (kidney removal). Surgeon goes to different hospitals around the county.

Need fo let people know if there are other alternative. Twice even DVH and once Woolwich nurses
didn’t know where to go.

Clarify if WIC will close. (Answered: no longer be in Northfleet but catered or other options)

Also had experience at DVH with no choice on where to go and had to have op at Medway Hospital.
Not offered another opftion.

Thinks should be at Gravesham. DVH cannot cope. Ebbsfleet population to rise to over 30K. Make GCH
a ‘proper’ hospital again. WIC seems to be in no man’s land at the moment. People find it difficult to
get to and cannot walk it. GCH more central public transport cheaper / easier, parking better.

Had an ultrasound scan at DVH, 3 wks later GP never goft results then got done at QE and GP had results
the next day.

The theme park will cause nightmares

A percentage of patients seen at A&E do not need to be there

Concern over services in Bexley will be adversely affected

DVH/Access

Lots of patients attending for an appointment could affect patients experience e.g. eye tfreatments,
cataracts etc.

Turn Patients away — wasting time

DVH - quick communications back — notes/resulfs. Integrated notes

Lack of beds at QM — Paediatrics mentioned

111 — Advice to phone GP then directed to 111

Bexley does not have an A&E

Preference for Darent Valley — range of staff, co-location, proximity

GCH too far away and an unknown quantity. If only small percentage of people getting moved from
UCC to A&E, then GCH definitely an option.

GCH option preferable as needed to relieve pressure on A&E — Access / Congestion / Parking

Why not build a new service now?2 15 years on, they're selling old property. We need modern builds to
accommodate people in the community.

How do we know where to go - UCC, A&E, GP?

Thinks NHS 111 is dangerous and things could be missed. Need people qualified to give results and more
joined up services rather than seeing a nurse who cannoft help as not qualified enough. Feels that
(disagrees) nurses can help and different levels.

Would use local (QM or Erith (proximity considered)) but if urgent or serious, go to DVH

More GP surgeries = less going to hospital

Will UTC be owned by NHS?2 (yes) and not farmed out to Virging

A lot of places getting paramedic practitioners / same as Snr nurse practitioners

Varying rates of referrals from GPs in Bexley to hubs etc.

Some conditions GPs cannot deal with i.e. ophthalmic, podiatry, ENT

Page 218

Evaluation of Bexley response- Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley Clinical Commissioning Group



verve

e GPswon't give asthma meds, has to buy over the counter. (Clinicians disagree whether asthmatic but
Consultant insists patient has asthma. GP won’'t prescribe and has notice at surgery that says what is
available over the counter)

e Postcode lottery on whether a District Nurse visits

e 3.5 years to get asthma diagnosis now have to go to Royal Brompton

e  Admitted to hospital for breathing problems after 3 weeks trying to get treatment / diagnosis. Need staff

e  Wrist broken — went to Sidcup and had to wait 2 weeks for it to be reset. It was bandaged up in the
meantime

. Would go to DVH overall preferred (one for PRU)

e Diabetic services discussion on where services will be based / will it continue at QM2 / Lewisham
provides. PCNS will be looking at Community Services

Page 219

Evaluation of Bexley response- Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley Clinical Commissioning Group



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix D

Summary of financial and activity modelling

Current services (Minor Injuries Unit (MIU), Walk-in Centre (WIC), Darent Valley Hospital A&E

(DVH A&E))

Current Services
(Minor Injuries Unit (MIU), Walk-in Centre (WIC), Darent Valley Hospital A&E (DVH A&E))

Current system Urgent Care Flows

l 2020/21 ‘ 202122 ‘ 202223 | 202324 | 202425 ‘ | Five Year Total |
Site
DVH ARE Activity 20,291 20,387 51,488 82,086 22,710 407,472
Hurley Clinic Activity 11,545 11,681 11,818 11,356 12,096 53,097
GCH Activity 24,443 25,920 27,486 29,145 30,906 137,900
WwIC Activity 30,248 28,736 27,293 25,934 24,637 136,854
Activity 146,528 147,224 148,091 145,131 150,345 741,323
DVH ARE £ 12,293,825 12,480,251 12,724,006 12,915,116 13,164,723 3,577,921
Hurley Clinic £ 932,190 952,501 973,328 994,539 1,016,254 4,868,832
GCH £ 1,513,833 1,602,060 1,685,167 1,793,318 1,896,975 8,501,357
WIC £ 1,400,000 1,409,320 1,419,673 1,429,613 1,439,603 7,098713
£ 16,135,343 16,444,652 16,812,173 17,132,586 17,517,555 84,046,824

Based on current services, £84m cost is projected over 5 years.

The following modelling assumptions were applied to the current services model

Modelling Assumptions

Pre-Consultation Business Case

Decision Making
Business Case

Current Modelling uses 2016/17, 2017/18 actuals and activity assumptions for 2018/19 based | Unchanged
Activity on a M6 extrapolation*:
Modelling e There has been an average of 5% reduction year on year in WiC activity which is
Assumptions assumed to continue
e  A&E Type 1 activity has been set at a 1% increase
e MIU has been increased by 6%.
*NB: Analysis of M10 A&E Type 1 actuals shows 3% over-projection in activity (2,374
fewer attendances than anticipated at M6). This is not considered significant and
modelling has not been adjusted.
Costing Modelling looks at options based on a cost per case basis. Assumptions have been | Unchanged
Model made on a current cost per case basis.
Impact of | Modelling has not assumed any changing shifts based on developments involving NHS | Unchanged
NHS 111 and | 111 and Clinical Advice Service as there is not yet firm evidence upon which to base
Clinical assumptions. The modelling therefore reflects the ‘worst case scenario’ whereby
Advice these improvements do not result in reduced face-to-face attendances in any of the
Service options.

Page 221




UTC Tariff

In determining the tariff for UTC activity, the following guidance has been received
from NHSE:

“UTCs are classified as a type three A&E service (NHS Data Dictionary). Under the
current rules of the national tariff payment system (NTPS) activity for type three
services should be reimbursed according to the national price specified (£73 for
2019/20).

The NTPS does allow for local variations to national prices. For UTCs this means
activity in a UTC may be reimbursed at a different level or on a non-episodic basis if
there is local agreement. Full guidance on the principles to follow when agreeing local
variations are set out in the ‘Locally determined prices’ section’ of the NTPS
document.”

GCH Site Option - The modelling, and sensitivity analysis carried out, uses £100 per
attendance where it is a standalone UTC with the capability of receiving redirected
patients from an ED environment. £73 is used where the site is either part of an
urgent care networked model of care that does not have an ED on site.

DVH Site Option — Under this site option it is thought that a significant number of
patients would be redirected away from the ED to an UTC. The modelling, and
sensitivity analysis carried out, recognises the likely increased complexity of cases and
uses £100 per attendance as a tariff based on the mid-point between the £73 per
attendance as the lowest potential tariff point and the current ED average tariff of
£150 per attendance.

Unchanged

Page 222




Appendix E

Summary of financial and activity modelling

Urgent care networked model of care over two sites (Gravesham Community Hospital (GCH) and
Darent Valley Hospital (DVH))

Urgent care networked model of care over two sites
(Gravesham Community Hospital and Darent Valley Hospital)

2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 Five Year Total

DVH A&E Activity 59,344 59,731 60,121 60,515 60,913 300,624
DVH UTC Activity 24557 24,804 25,055 25307 25,563 125,286
Hurley Clinic Activity 10,253 10,373 10494 10,617 10,741 52478
New GCH site Service Brovision (histori

ew GCH site Service Provision (historic 52374 52,317 52,420 52,692 53,132 262,936
WIC & MIU activity]
Projected system activity Activity 146,528 147,224 148,001 149,132 150,349 741,324

Finance

DVH A&E £ 9,457,697 9,609,228 9,763,444 9,920350 10,080,026 48,830,747
DVH UTC (£100 tariff) £ 2,455,690 2,480,391 2,505,510 2,530,746 2,556,300 12,528,637
Hurley Clinic £ 827,785 845,339 864,316 833,151 902,433 4,323,523
New GCH site service provision (£73 tariff) £ 3,823,299 3,819,151 3,826,694 3,346,528 3,878,622 19,194,294
Projected system costs £ 16564471 16,754,609 16,959,964 17,180,776 17,417,381 24,877,201
Scenario:

e  Provision for all current Fleet WIC services at GCH site

e  Provision for all current GCH MIU services at GCH site

e Incorporation of existing A&E primary care streaming service flows into the UTC at DVH

e  The GCH tariff is assumed to be £73 in line with the national tariff for urgent care treatment centre activity
e  The DVH current activity remains unaltered, but the streaming function is anticipated to divert approximately 25,000

patients per year to a co-located UTC.

e The DVH UTC tariff is assumed to be £100 per patient as per modelling assumptions.

The Urgent Care Networked Model of Care over 2 sites (DVH and GCH) is modelled at £100 tariff for
the DVH site and £73 for the GCH site with a total 5 year cost of £85m

If there was no price differential between sites the modelled cost would be £92m at £100
tariff and £82m at the £73 tariff.

Page 223




This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix F

Summary of financial and activity modelling

Urgent Treatment Centre at Gravesham Community Hospital (GCH)

Urgent Treatment Centre
Gravesham Community Hospital (GCH)

GCH site for UTC modelled Urgent Careflows
0% conversion from non-ambulanceat DVH to UTC

N ‘ 2020/21 | 2021/22 ‘ 2022/ 202324 2024/25 ‘ | Five Year Total |
ite
DVH A&E Activity 80,291 80,387 51,488 52,096 82,710 407,472
GCHUTC Activity 54,183 54,117 54,213 54,473 54,901 271,887
Hurley Clinic Activity 11,546 11,681 11,818 11,956 12,096 59,097
MIU - historical activity flow not assigned
[wound care) Activity 508 539 571 B0B 642 2,867
Activity 146,528 147,223 143,091 145,131 150,345 741,322
UTC price
basis £100Finance
Change Price DVH A&E £ 12,259,208 12,507,865 12,720,325 12,336,675 13,156,576 3,621,053
DVH UTC £ 5,418,334 5,411,661 5,421,282 5,447,347 5,490,055 27,188,678
Hurley Clinic £ 532,190 552,521 573,328 994,535 1,016,254 4,868,832
MIU - historical activity flow not assigned £ 37,463 40,123 42,372 46,023 43,291 215,871
£ 18,687,155 18,912,169 15,157,512 19,424,534 13,712,575 55,854,435
UTC price £100 95,854,435 Unassigned activity reserve £ 215,871
UTC price £73 88,553,452 Unassigned activity reserve £ 215,87
UTC price £110 93,613,308 Unassigned activity reserve € 215,871
Scenario:

e  Provision of current Fleet WIC services at GCH UTC

e  Maintenance of Primary Care Streaming at DVH

e  Enhancement of existing MIU services at GCH to be incorporated in GCH UTC

e  As part of the modelling there remains a small amount of current WIC and MIU patient activity (mainly wound care)
that rather than flowing to a new UTC, could be more appropriately cared for by existing services, or by future
services established by the Primary Care Networks. The value and amount of this activity has been maintained within
the modelling and this will enable the CCG to invest additional resources to address this activity if required.

The GCH site option is estimated to cost £95m over 5 years.

e The UTC price is modelled at £100, however if the price were £73 to £110, the model cost is
£89m and £99m respectively.

e The model includes no conversion of DVH non ambulance activity to UTC.

e Wound care clinic activity is not assigned - £215,000 is held in reserve if required.

Page 225




Gravesham
Community
Hospital Site
Option

The following points have been assumed in the modelling of this option:

Wound care volume at the MIU has been calculated using additional
information supplied by the sub-contracted provider which splits out the type
of wound dressing that is taking place.

Over 2016/17 and 2017/18 post-op reviews and suture removal has accounted
for 1.7%, and re-dressing has accounted for 13.6%, of total activity.

The modelling anticipates that 100% of suture removal and 80% of re-dressing
activity will be taken care of in the UTC.

No attrition has been assumed from the WiC as it is 1.3 miles away in a more
central town centre location. This is thought to represent the ‘worst case
scenario’.

No activity has been assumed to be redirected away from the Emergency
Department at DVH to Gravesham Community Hospital UTC as it is at an off-
site location and primary care streaming service under this option would still
need to be in place at DVH.

Unchanged

Page 226




Appendix G

Summary of financial and activity modelling

Urgent Treatment Centre at Darent Valley Hospital (DVH) co-located with the Emergency
Department

Urgent Treatment Centre
Darent Valley Hospital (DVH) co-located with the Emergency Department

DVH site for UTC
madalled Urgant
Care flows

33% conversion from non-ambulance to UTC

site | 2020/21 | 2021/22 2022/23 202324 202425 | |Fi|re‘|’earTcnaI

DVH AZE Activity 59,344 53,731 60,121 60,515 50,513 300,624

DWVH UTC Activity 53,820 50,413 51,133 51,360 52,505 306,236

Hurley Clinic Activity 10,253 10,373 10,494 10,617 10,741 52,478

MIU - historical activity flow not assigned Activity 5,283 5,602 5,340 5,299 5,673 29,803

WIC - historical activity flow not assigned Activity 16,102 15,297 14,532 13,806 13,116 72,853

Activity 150,802 151,421 152,220 153,196 154,354 761,954

UTC price basis 130Finance

Change Price  DVH AZE £ 9,457,697 9,609,228 0,763,444 9,920,350 10,080,025 48,830,747
DVH UTC £ 5,581,586 5,041,505 6,113,257 6,155,963 5,250,480 30,623,551

Hurley Clinic £ 827,785 545,833 864,316 883,151 502,433 4,323,523

MIU - histarical activity flow not assigned £ 389,493 417,149 445,768 478,491 513,455 2,244 367

WIC - historical activity flow not assigned £ 745,285 750,502 755,755 761,045 766,373 3,778,959

3 17,402,246 17,664,622 17,543,540 18,235,000 18,551,778 85,801,187

33% conversion from non-ambulance to UTC UTC price £100 89,801,187 Unassigned activity reserve £ 6,023,326

33% conversion from non-ambulanceto UTC UTC price £73 81,532,817 Unassigned activity resenve £ 6,023,326

33% conversion from non-ambulanceto UTC UTC price £110 92,863,546 Unazzigned activity reserve £ 6,023,326

Scenario:

e Incorporation of existing A&E primary care streaming service flows into the UTC

e  Provision of a proportion of current Fleet WIC services at DVH UTC

e  Provision of a proportion of current GCH MIU services at DVH UTC

e Anticipation of some current urgent care flows to Queen Mary Sidcup Hurley Group Urgent Care Centre being
diverted through patient choice to DVH UTC. The modelling for the UTC incorporates financial contingency reserves.
These financial reserves are calculated on the basis that not all previous patient activity from the MIU and the WIC will
transfer to a new UTC at DVH as patients may choose to access other primary and local care services instead. The
financial contingency reserves will enable the CCG to invest additional resources in alternative primary and local care
services, if required.

The DVH site option presents the best value UTC model at £90m over 5 years

e The UTC price modelled at £100, however, if the price were £73 to £110 model is £82m and
£93m respectively

e There is a financial contingency reserve of £6m held should the CCG wish to invest additional
resources in alternative primary and local care services

e The model assumes that 33% of non-ambulance emergency activity could be streamed to a
co-located UTC, however, if only 23% could be streamed to UTC (at a tariff of £100); the
model price would be £91m. If 43% could be streamed (at a tariff of £100), the model price
would decrease to £89m.

Page 227




Darent Valley
Hospital Site

The following points have been assumed in the modelling of this option:

All conveyance activity will be seen by ED and not streamed to the UTC as data is
not split by ‘blue light’” and ‘normal conveyance’ although it is thought that some
conveyances would ultimately be streamed to UTC

WiC attrition set at 60% as assumed majority of patients will choose to access
other forms of out-of-hospital care (the last Fy 2018/19, 34% of WiC activity
related to patients already registered at the site and the highest number of
attendances with known presenting complaints relate to coughs, rashes, sore
throats and abdominal pain. It is assumed that the majority of these patients will
attend registered GP or access self-care / pharmacies / NHS 111 rather than
divert to DVH)

An additional 10% of activity from residential areas close to DVH site has been
assumed which reduces WiC attrition to (60% reduction at GCH + 10% ‘local’
increase from DVH area)

10% of patients streamed to a co-located UTC are anticipated to ‘bounce back’ to
A&E. This figure is higher than the circa 3-5% figures achieved elsewhere but it is
anticipated that it takes time for flows between A&Es and UTCs to work
optimally. This presents a worst case scenario.

MIU attrition set at 23.4% (50% of HRGVB11Z — no investigation and no
treatment HRGs — it is assumed the other 50% will access other existing primary,
local or community care options, or access the NHS 111 service)

Following discussions with Bexley CCG, it has been assumed that some of the
DGS patients currently attending the UCC at Queen Mary’s Sidcup (provided by
The Hurley Group) may decide to access services at DVH if an UTC were co-
located with ED. It is assumed that 10% of Hurley Clinic patients would repatriate
and be triaged through the UTC.

Unchanged

Clinical Audit
assumptions
indicating
conversion
rates from
A&E to a UTC

Following a scoping exercise using SUS data and a clinical audit of A&E activity at
DVH, it was estimated that as many as 59% of current A&E activity could
theoretically be streamed from A&E to a co-located UTC.

It was recognised that the HRG analysis and the clinical audit undertaken was
fairly crude and that the outcome of 60% of total A&E activity being redirected
was an overestimation.

It was therefore agreed that for the purposes of activity and financial modelling,
a co-located UTC would potentially be streamed 33% of total A&E activity as this
was felt to be more in line with what is currently thought to be achievable
nationally.

This has also been subject to sensitivity analysis and the modelling has examined
a 10% variance on either side of the 33% (i.e. 23% and 43%).

Unchanged

Page 228




Agenda Iltem 5
Item 5: Wheelchair Services Update

By: Kay Goldsmith, Scrutiny Research Officer
To: Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee, 29 January 2020

Subject: Kent and Medway Wheelchair Service Update

Summary: This report invites the Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee to
consider the information provided by Thanet CCG and Millbrook
Healthcare.

It provides additional background information which may prove useful to
Members.

1. Introduction

(@) Thanet CCG are the lead commissioner for NHS wheelchair services across
Kent and Medway.

(b) Millbrook Healthcare was awarded the contract for provision of wheelchair
services across Kent and Medway in April 2017. During its early months, the
provider identified a larger than expected caseload including a significant
number of adults and children that had been on the waiting list for more than
18 weeks, and in some cases over a year.!

(c) HOSC received notification from Thanet CCG in June 2018 that there was
pressure on the wheelchair service provided by Millbrook Healthcare; patients
were experiencing longer wait times for equipment, repairs and assessment.
These concerns were echoed by Healthwatch Kent.

2. Previous monitoring by the Kent HOSC

@) HOSC has received regular updates from the CCG and Millbrook Healthcare
since July 2018. Stakeholders such as the Centre for Independent Living in
Kent (CiLK), the Wheelchair Service Users Group and Healthwatch Kent have
been involved in the discussions.

(b)  The last formal update to HOSC was received on 23 July 2019. Millbrook
Healthcare reported that there had been improvement in waiting times overall,
but that service user experience continued to be inconsistent.

! Thanet CCG (Jan 2019) Kent and Medway Wheelchair Service Update, page 2,
https://democracv.kent.qov.uk/documents/588!5 %20HOSC%20Briefing%200n%20Kent%20
and%20Medway%20Wheelchair%20Service%20Final%20v2.pdf



https://democracy.kent.gov.uk/documents/s88768/190125%20HOSC%20Briefing%20on%20Kent%20and%20Medway%20Wheelchair%20Service%20Final%20v2.pdf
https://democracy.kent.gov.uk/documents/s88768/190125%20HOSC%20Briefing%20on%20Kent%20and%20Medway%20Wheelchair%20Service%20Final%20v2.pdf

Item 5: Wheelchair Services Update

(c) Healthwatch Kent had been liaising with the CCG, and had expressed an
interest in carrying out an in-depth piece of work once changes had bedded
in. This is included in the agenda pack.

(d) At the meeting, HOSC was notified that Millorook Healthcare had been
acquired by Cairngorms Investment Company after a decision by its
Chairman to step away from the business.

(e) At the conclusion of the above meeting, the Committee agreed the following
recommendation:

RESOLVED that:
a) the report be noted;
b) Thanet CCG provide a written update as soon as practically possible.
The update should include:
I Assurances that the contractual obligations would remain with
the organisation under its new ownership;
il. Details of the new company;
iii.  Arrangements for existing staff;
iv.  Any information relating to significant changes in the delivery of
services.
c) Thanet CCG return to the Committee at the appropriate time.

() Thanet CCG provided two documents for HOSC in relation to point b) above.
These are attached to this report for information as two appendices.

(9) In line with recommendation c) above, Thanet CCG and Millbrook Healthcare
have been invited to attend this meeting and provide an update on the service
performance. This is in the agenda following the above-mentioned
appendices.

3. Recommendation

RECOMMENDED that the report be noted.

Page 230




Item 5: Wheelchair Services Update

Appendices

A — Briefing from Thanet CCG about Millbrook acquisition

B — Briefing from Millbrook Healthcare about Cairngorms Investment Company

Background Documents

Kent County Council (2018) ‘Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee (20/07/18)’,
https://democracy.kent.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?Cld=112&MId=7919&Ver=4

Kent County Council (2018) ‘Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee (13/09/18)’,
https://democracy.kent.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?Cld=112&MId=8122&Ver=4

Kent County Council (2019) ‘Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee (25/01/19)’,
https://democracy.kent.qgov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?Cld=112&MId=7924&Ver=4

Kent County Council (2019) ‘Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee (23/07/19)’,
https://democracy.kent.qgov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?Cld=112&MI1d=8282&Ver=4

Contact Details

Kay Goldsmith

Scrutiny Research Officer
kay.goldsmith@kent.gov.uk
03000 416512

Page 231


https://democracy.kent.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=112&MId=7919&Ver=4
https://democracy.kent.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=112&MId=8122&Ver=4
https://democracy.kent.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=112&MId=7924&Ver=4
https://democracy.kent.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=112&MId=8282&Ver=4
mailto:kay.goldsmith@kent.gov.uk

This page is intentionally left blank



mi: Millbrook

HEALTHCARE

Information for Kent Health Oversight and Scrutiny Committee — Millbrook Healthcare’s
partnership with Cairngorm Capital

1. About Cairngorm Capital

Cairngorm Capital is a specialist private investment firm that provides equity capital, strategic advice
and management expertise to leading UK companies. It partners with ambitious management teams,
providing financial investment which can be used to improve technology, logistics and operational
processes. It shares industry knowledge, best practice and operational expertise so that strategy and
plans can be implemented more quickly and successfully.

The firm is backing the management buyout led by Phillip Campling, Millbrook’s Chief Executive, to
acquire the shares from members of the Croll family, who are retiring or exiting the business. Phillip
Campling and the rest of the Millbrook management team, including Annette Cairns (Clinical Director)
and David Lock (Commercial Director) will continue to lead the business, working with Cairngorm
Capital, to achieve their vision and strategic goals for Millbrook Healthcare. Aside from long-term
investment and improvements to the business, all other aspects of Millbrook’s operations will continue
as usual.

Dr Amit Thaper, who leads Cairngorm Capital’s interests in this partnership, spent several years as a
surgeon in the NHS covering a number of specialties including orthopedics, emergency and trauma
care so he understands the provision of healthcare as a practitioner and the interlink between the
NHS and social care. After leaving the NHS, he worked at Bain & Co, a global management consulting
firm, on a number of public and private healthcare projects both in the UK and the USA, which brought
an international element to his expertise.

During the acquisition, Cairngorm Capital undertook in-depth market and customer research both
internally and via consulting firms to increase and validate its knowledge of industry and customer
requirements. These findings will shape and influence future service provision.

Across its two funds, Cairngorm Capital currently has equity capital in excess of £180m available for
investments. Its focus is in growing and transforming companies to create market leaders, rather than
on financial structuring. It takes a collaborative, long term view to investing and does not charge
management fees or take dividends during its ownership. As at July 2019, the firm had completed 21
investments, with combined revenues of £650+m and over 4,250 employees.

2. Millbrook employees

There was a comprehensive exercise led by Phillip Campling and his management team to ensure
that all stakeholders were fully briefed about the change of ownership. All employees received an
email that outlined the change in ownership and what that meant for them in practice; those staff not
on email were briefed by their line managers. The email was accompanied by an announcement from
Colin Croll and a detailed Q&A that sought to answer as many of the initial questions that employees
might have.

The written communication was supplemented by a whole company briefing led by Phillip Campling
and Colin Croll, using telephone conferencing, where it was reiterated that this was solely a change of
ownership and that nothing had changed in terms of employees’ contracts, employment terms,
reporting lines or other day to day operations. At this briefing, employees had the opportunity to ask
further questions. Service centre managers have held follow-up sessions to ensure that anybody who
was unable to participate on the day is fullypgta]ée%é)g the changes. In addition, our Clinical Director,



mi: Millbrook

HEALTHCARE

Annette Cairns visited the teams at Ashford and Gillingham this week to discuss the change of control
in more detail.

Employees’ reactions and feedback is being captured in a number of ways:

o Arepresentative group of 40 employees, covering a range of functions and locations, are
providing direct feedback on a regular basis.

e Service centre managers are eliciting feedback from their team members, to capture views and
reactions at every level of the business.

e Employees can submit questions, comments and feedback to a central email address or
anonymously via feedback boxes at each service centre. These are collated and the answers
are shared company wide.

In the unlikely event that employees have any concerns, they are able to raise these with their line
manager or Millbrook’s HR team. It should be noted that the change of share ownership in Millbrook
Healthcare does not change employees’ contractual or working conditions.

Continuity of service levels and the future benefits arising from the partnership

This change of ownership will have no impact on service levels — it is solely the transfer of shares
from the Croll family to the Millborook management team and its strategic partner, Cairngorm Capital.
There will not be changes to resources or service centres and the management and governance
process will remain the same.

Every contract will continue to have the same level of investment and the same amount of working
capital. It will be Millbrook’s management team, rather than Cairngorm Capital or any other investor,
who will determine the resourcing of both current and future contracts.

Cairngorm Capital brings the resources and expertise to improve the business and make it best-in-
class. It has committed to and invested fully for Millbrook’s future expansion and growth. It has
allocated significant sums, which will be invested across a humber of areas resulting in improvements
to technology, supply chain and logistics, extensions to the Ultimate product range, all with the goal of
delivering exceptional services and care to customers. The firm takes a collaborative, long term view
to investing and does not charge management fees or take dividends during its ownership.

With the departure of Colin and Paul Croll, Millborook’s board has been strengthened by the
appointments of Mike Kerins, who joins as non-executive Chairman and Victor Vadeneaux, a
Cairngorm Capital Operating Partner, who joins as non-executive director. Both bring considerable
experience of transforming businesses.

Stakeholder communication

All stakeholders — commissioners, suppliers and employees - have been personally notified of the
change of ownership. In addition, the announcement has been posted onto each service centre’s
website to update service users.

In line with our statutory duties, we formally notified all of our commissioners, including Kent, of the
change of control a number of weeks ago and received approvals in return.

Page 234



NHS

Millbrook Healthcare partnership with Cairngorm Capital

Kent and Medway Wheelchair Service

August 2019
Situation:

An update of the Kent and Medway wheelchair service was presented at the HOSC
meeting held on 23 July 2019. On the morning of this meeting a proposed change of
ownership of Millbrook Healthcare was confirmed and made public and this was
announced during the committee meeting. HOSC requested further assurance that
the partnership between Millborook Healthcare and Cairngorm Capital would not
impact on service delivery and staff.

Background:

With the retirement of Colin Croll, former Chair of Millorook Industries Ltd, the
ownership of Millbrook Healthcare and its subsidiaries has transferred to the
Millbrook Executive Management team and Cairngorm Capital.

Aside from the statutory requirement to notify all commissioners of this change, all
other aspects regarding the provision of the wheelchair service for Kent and Medway
remain unchanged.

Assessment:

The Millbrook management team continues to lead the business, with strategic and
investment support provided by Cairngorm Capital. The company aims to provide
the highest quality service and care for all service users are unchanged. The service
will continue to be provided by Millbrook Healthcare Limited, from the same
premises, using the same staff, all of whom continue to be employed by Millbrook
Healthcare — staff will not be required to TUPE transfer. The report attached from
Millbrook Healthcare provides further details.

When Thanet CCG was made aware in strictest confidence that there was a
potential change in ownership, the CCG, on behalf of the other Kent and Medway
CCGs, undertook due diligence including seeking advice from our contracts experts
and speaking with a Director of the new holding company. The CCG was provided
with assurance that a change in ownership does not alter any of the contractual
terms and that there were to be no changes to Millbrook staffing, including the
Executive team, as a consequence of the change in ownership.

The CCG will continue to hold Millbrook Healthcare to account for delivering the
improvement plan. Millorook Healthcare has assured the CCGs that operational
capacity will be the same or greater under the new ownership and that their working
capital will be the same if not more.

Page 235



NHS

As part of our due diligence the CCG requested contact details of the other Local
Authorities and CCGs who hold current contracts with Millorook. Some of these had
already agreed to the change in ownership and others were poised to. We
approached two key organisations holding contracts with Millorook and spoke with
one of them.

Recommendation:

The CCGs understand that this may be a cause of concern for key stakeholders and
we are liaising with Millbrook regarding stakeholder communications to provide re-
assurance. HOSC is asked to note that the contractual obligations and contractual
governance have not changed and that the CCGs continue to monitor performance
to ensure the service improvement plan is delivered.

Page 236



NHS

Meeting Title:

Health Overview and Scrutiny
Committee

Agenda Item:

Date of Meeting:

28 January 2020

Title of Report:

Kent and Medway Wheelchair Service Update

Author:

Tamsin Flint, Commissioning Manager, Thanet CCG

Executive/ Lay Sponsor:

Ailsa Ogilvie, Director of
Engagement East Kent CCGs

Partnerships and Membership

Finance sign-off

This paper is for: Approval Decision Assurance tnformation
(please X as applicable) X
Are any members of the | ¥N
meeting conflicted?
No Yes

Is circulation restricted?

(please X as applicable)

Report summary/purpose:

This report provides an update on progress to deliver improvements in service
performance and quality for Kent and Medway’s wheelchair service users.

Recommendation:

HOSC members are asked to note this report.

Combined impact assessments

Has the report/recommendation/proposal been impact assessed

X Yes

No-{state reason}

Page 237




NHS

Kent and Medway Wheelchair Service Update January 2020
Situation:

Following the additional funding from the eight Kent and Medway Clinical
Commissioning Groups (CCGs) along with improved processes and increases in
clinical and support staff put in place by Millbrook Healthcare, there is ongoing and
steady improvement in the wheelchair service performance. The waiting list for
assessment and equipment continue to reduce and average waiting times are
shortening.

In two key areas, however, repairs within three working days and children’s cases
closed within 18 weeks, performance is off trajectory. Remedial Action Plans are in
place and the CCG is monitoring these closely to ensure that the trajectory is met
within agreed timescales.

Background:

Thanet NHS Clinical Commissioning Group commissions the Wheelchair Service,
which is provided by Millborook Healthcare on behalf of the Kent and Medway clinical
commissioning groups. Following contract mobilisation Millorook Healthcare raised
concerns about the caseload inherited from the previous provider which was putting
pressure on the Kent and Medway Wheelchair Service, with service users
experiencing longer waiting times for equipment, repairs and assessment.

Kent and Medway CCGs agreed to fund the impact of the unbalanced caseload
inherited from the previous provider, as well as the unexpected recurrent demand
experienced in the first two years of the contract. They agreed that data should be
reviewed at the end of the second year (2018/19) to confirm the initial funding
requirement for the first two years and clarify any recurrent demand over the final
three years of the contract.

Assessment:

Performance

Latest data to end of December 2019 shows evidence of continued overarching
improvement with a reduction in the waiting list for equipment. The overall waiting
list has reduced from its peak of 3,313 in September 2018 to 1,378 open cases at
the end of December 2019. Over the last 12 months (January 2019 to December
2019) 7,348 referrals have been concluded.

Millorook Healthcare continues to focus on those service users who have been

waiting a long time and the average waiting time has halved from 31.2 weeks at the
end of January 2019 to 15.88 weeks at the end of December 2019.

Page 238



NHS

For repairs, the number of service users who have been waiting for a wheelchair
repair for more than ten days has reduced from 132 at the end of January 2019 to 50
by the end of December 2019.

In December 2019 there were 294 repairs completed, of which 43 per cent were
completed within three working days. Although there has been some improvement in
the percentage of repairs completed within three working days, this is still not at the
level it needs to be with service users waiting on average 6 working days for a
standard repair to be completed. Millbrook is working on a number of actions to help
improve repair waiting times, this has included a review of their stock carried to
ensure the fast moving stock items are readily available. One of the reasons behind
the average waiting time is that there have been a high proportion of specialist
repairs which requires specialist parts to be ordered in. The CCG is looking at the 3
day standard repair KPI to explore whether it would be more appropriate to look at
routine and specialist repairs separately as the lead times are different. A Remedial
Action Plan is in place to monitor repairs performance closely.

18 week waits for children

There has been an increase in children referrals into the service over the last 6
months with an average increase of 27 children per month. In December 2019, there
were 236 children on an open episode of care. Over three quarters (80.1 per cent) of
these children have been waiting less than 18 weeks which is a significant
improvement on where we were 12 months ago, when just over half (53.2 per cent)
of children were waiting less than 18 weeks. However, there is still a way to go in
order to achieve the national target of 92% and a Remedial Action Plan is in place
with a trajectory of meeting this target by end of January 2020.

At the end of December 2019, there were 47 open children’s referrals over the 18
week pathway. Millbrook Healthcare reviews all of these children referrals on a
weekly basis and reports back to the CCG at the monthly Contract Management
Committee meetings. For 31 of these open cases the reasons for delaying case
closure are outside the control of the wheelchair service, if these exceptions are
taken into account then performance increases to 93.2 per cent. Some examples of
the circumstances which prevent Millbrook Healthcare being able to progress cases
within 18 weeks include:

o Multiple appointments being cancelled by parents or failing to attend
appointments (DNA’s). Common reasons given for appointments being
cancelled include issues with transport, parents unable to get time off work or
unable to bring the service user due to their own ill health

o Service user unable to attend due to sickness or surgery/hospital
appointments
o Parents requesting appointments are booked during school term time only or
school holiday time only
o Parents not returning voucher paperwork in a timely manner.
Page 239



NHS

There has also been an increase in the average number of adult referrals into the
service over the last six months with an average increase of 106 adult referrals per
month. In December 2019, 1,142 adults were on an open episode of care, of which
over two-thirds (68.2 per cent) have been waiting less than 18 weeks which
represents an improvement over the last 12 months when just over a third (37.7 per
cent in January 2019) had been waiting less than 18 weeks. There is not a national
18 week target for wheelchair services for adults but Millorook Healthcare are
working on a trajectory and action plan to meet the CCG'’s target of 90% for adults.

18 week waits for adults

Service User Engagement

Following the three service user Engagement Events which were held in April and
May 2019 Millbrook Healthcare has established a service improvement board
involving service users, carers and family members. These meetings are held
qguarterly and play a pivotal role in driving further improvements in the service.

Stakeholder Engagement

The CCGs are delighted that Millbrook Healthcare now have a Community Liaison
and Engagement Officer in post since November 2019. We are already seeing and
hearing the benefits of having this person in post for staff at Millorook Healthcare,
service users and other organisations/forums. This role will be pivotal in building and
strengthening relationships with key stakeholders. Millbrook Healthcare continues to
engage with Healthwatch, the Physical Disabilities Forum and Centre for
Independent Living. Both Millbrook Healthcare and the CCG are working together to
help improve joined up working with other health, social care and education partners.

Personal Wheelchair Budgets

Our aim is to develop a personal wheelchair budget scheme that supports the health
and wellbeing needs of service users that is easy to access and use. This will give
service users wider choice regarding their wheelchair provision. We are working with
service users and staff to develop information and communication material and are
currently implementing a stakeholder engagement plan in order to deliver better
integrated working and funding. We are entering a pilot stage, identifying potential
cases from which we can learn and refine our personal wheelchair budget offer.

Quality, Safety and Improvement
Quality Visit

The CCG carried out a quality visit in December 2019 which covered a
comprehensive overview of the service, including both Ashford and Gillingham sites
and home visits. The purpose of the visit was to seek assurance that high quality
safe care is being delivered and that systems and processes are in place to address
and mitigate quality and safety risks. The visit team consisted of members from
guality, commissioning, safeguarding, Infection, Prevention and Control (IPC)

Page 240



NHS

backgrounds in addition to Care Quality Commission (CQC) Inspection Specialist
Advisor experience.

Although the service is not CQC registered, the visit team reviewed elements of the
service against the CQC's five domains framework and awarded the overall service
a rating of Good. It was apparent to the visit team that there is a positive caring
culture with a focus on putting service users first and this contributed significantly to
the visit team awarding a strong Good for the CQC Caring domain.

The visit team found several areas within the Responsive domain that Requires
Improvement; these include linking evidence of complaint — action — improvement in
service delivery. Also observed was a need to improve proactive communication with
service users to assist with getting repairs and adjustments right first time and to
reduce incidences Did Not Attends / Was Not Broughts.

It was observed that progress has been made in recent months as to improvements
in quality and safety. The CCG quality team will continue to work closely with
Millbrook to help sustain and drive further improvements. Millbrook have developed
an action plan that captures all recommendations from the quality visit which will be
reviewed with the CCG quality team initially on a fortnightly basis.

Quality Reporting

Quality schedules (reporting requirements) have been revised to include
recommendations that are required from the quality visit. The revised schedules are
to be tabled at the January 2020 Contract Performance & Quality Meeting with a
recommendation for them to be incorporated into revised contract particulars.

Service User Experience

Millbrook Healthcare have advised that they have set up electronic tablets in clinic
areas to record feedback and are working with staff to ensure that feedback is
requested from service users as routine. Paper versions will also be available to
meet service users preferred methods of leaving feedback and maximise returns.

Infection Prevention and Control (IPC)

It has been highlighted that Millorook Healthcare has a gap around a nominated IPC
Lead, for which, the post is due to be recruited to. As a recommendation from the
December 2019 quality visit, Millorook Healthcare has been advised to arrange
access to specialist external IPC advice. A further quality visit to Millbrook
Healthcare has been arranged to take place in January 2020 at the Ashford facility
with a targeted focus on the processes and procedures for decontaminating
wheelchairs as this was not observed during the December 2019 visit.

Complaints
A Complaints Concerns and Compliments Steering Group has been established with

service user representatives, CCG and Millborook Healthcare colleagues working
together to improve the handling of complaints and to ensure that learnings from

Page 241



NHS

complaints help drive further improvements in the service and ultimately deliver
better outcomes for service users.

Whilst there is no denying that the complaints process had previously not worked in
the best interests of service users, relatives and carers, efforts made in the last year
have seen marked improvements in the timeliness of responses and a greater deal
of engagement on a local level in terms of maintaining local resolution. The newly
appointed Community Liaison and Engagement Officer will also help drive this work
forward.

Wheelchair Service Funding

A review of the ongoing demand for the Kent and Medway Wheelchairs contract
identified an annual cost pressure of £427,350 per annum. This was not unexpected
and Kent and Medway CCGs had budgeted for this in 2019/20. The funding package
provided by the Kent and Medway CCGs over the past 12 months covered this cost
pressure for the first two years of the contract (2017-2019), and it has been agreed
that the contract value be increased to ensure this cost pressure is funded
recurrently for the remainder of the contract. This will enable Millbrook Healthcare to
complete their improvement trajectory and sustain waiting times in line with national
and locally agreed standards.

Recommendation:

Overall improvements in service performance and quality continue to be made with
the size of the waiting list and waiting times reducing for assessment and equipment
provision. That said there are two key areas which are not meeting expectations and
both the CCG and Millbrook Healthcare have put Remedial Action Plans in place to
ensure that these areas are closely monitored and targets achieved within agreed
timescales. Feedback from service users continues to improve with more positive
comments being received about the service provided.

Page 242



Improving wheelchair services in Kent
A Healthwatch Kent Impact Report : November 2019

cte abed

healthwatch

Kent



Improving wheelchair services in Kent
The story so far

People all over Kent started sharing negative stories about the
wheelchair service with us. The Kent Physical Disability Forum also
came to us with a host of stories.

We heard from people being discharged from hospital without no
wheelchairs, people waiting months for a wheelchair and serious
issues when wheelchairs needed repairing.

vz abed

We took action. We shared your stories with the provider of the
service, Millbrook Healthcare, the commissioner before escalating
our concerns to the Health Overview & Scrutiny Committee.




A snapshot of the stories we heard

I needed a wheelchair, but nothing
was available, so | was discharged
in a ‘normal’ chair.

The only way my wife can get to her
appointments is on a stretcher as we
are still waiting for her wheelchair to be

repaired

My patient has waited over a year for
the wheelchair she needs. She’s a

My powered wheelchair was taken child and it has still not been provided
away to be fixed. It’s been weeks,

and in the meantime, | am stuck.

We’ve been working to make your voice
heard

We took your feedback to the decision makers



Listening to you

We worked with the Kent Physical Disability Forum to gather feedback from
people who were using the wheelchair service all over Kent.

We wanted to hear as many stories as possible about people’s experiences.

Taking your voice to decision makers

_'ghe Service provider

The wheelchair service in Kent had recently been taken over by Millbrook
Healthcare.

We facilitated a meeting between Millbrook, the Kent Physical Disability
Forum, wheelchair user groups and the Medway Physical Disability Forum
along with the commissioners of the service, Thanet Clinical Commissioning
Group (CCG).

At this meeting we shared the feedback we had heard and discussed our
collective concerns.



The Kent Health Overview & Scrutiny Committee (HOSC)

We escalated our concerns about the wheelchair service to HOSC which is a
Committee made up of Kent County Councillors, whose role it is to
scrutinise health services in Kent. This is the highest form of scrutiny within
the Kent health system.

On 20 July 2018, representatives from Healthwatch Kent and the Kent
Physical Disability Forum addressed the Committee about our concerns and
the feedback we had heard from patients and professionals.

In response, Members expressed concerns about poor patient experience.
Bhey also raised concerns about the procurement of the contract and
ﬁJbsequent contract performance management by NHS Thanet CCG. They
asked for immediate action to improve the service for Kent residents.



What happened?

Thanks to your voice, and our intervention, wheelchair services are
slowly improving.

There is still much work to be done but so far, we have seen the
following improvements:

e The CCG have reviewed the service and made significant
investment to fund action and improvements

e The average waiting time for patients to receive a wheelchair has
reduced

e The number of people waiting more than 10 days for their
wheelchair to be repaired has also reduced

e Millbrook are doing more to hear directly from service users about
their experience of the service

e They have organised several events to meet people face to face
and gather feedback

8¢ abed



6t7¢ abed

Work is in progress to progress personal wheelchair budgets.
Wheelchair users are involved in this plan which should roll out
from November 2019

The number of complaints about the service has reduced and
patient feedback is starting to be more positive

A review of complaints has been completed to explore how the
system of responding and learning from complaints can be made
better for patient

Work is underway to make it easier for staff to raise safeguarding
alerts



Our highlights

There are less
The average people waiting to
waiting time has have their
reduced further wheelchair
repaired

Complaints have
reduced in
number

Significant .
investment has Shapl ng &

been made by Supporting

commissioners to

fund services

improvements

Several public
events have been
hosted to meet
service users face
to face and gather
feedback.

Work is underway
to make it easier to
raise safeguarding
alerts, particularly
for field staff.




TGz abed

Your voice has made a difference

It starts with you......tell us your story

0800 801 0102

info@healthwatchkent.co.uk

www.healthwatchkent.co.uk



mailto:info@healthwatchkent.co.uk
http://www.healthwatchkent.co.uk/

What next?

What else needs to be done

Your views: We will continue to share your experiences of the
Wheelchair service and to raise your voice

Listening to you: We will continue to actively gather, listen and
acted upon your feedback

2S¢ abed

Feedback: We’ll continue to feedback everything we hear from you
to the people who make decisions

Making your voice count

Sign up for our newsletter to receive regular updates
Make your voice heard; share your experience
0808 801 0102
info@healthwatchkent.co.uk


mailto:info@healthwatchkent.co.uk

Agenda Item 6
Item 6: Procurement of the Neurodevelopmental (ND) Health Service for Adults

By: Kay Goldsmith, Scrutiny Research Officer
To: Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee, 29 January 2020

Subject: Procurement of Kent and Medway Neurodevelopmental Health Service for
Adults

Summary: This report invites HOSC to consider the information provided by Kent
and Medway CCGs.

1) Introduction

a) The Scrutiny Research Officer for HOSC received notification on 26
November 2019 that Kent and Medway CCGs would be procuring a Kent and
Medway Neurodevelopmental (ND) Health Service for adults. The service will
provide assessment and post-diagnostic support for adults living with an
Autistic Spectrum Condition (ASC) and/or Attention Deficit Hyperactivity
Disorder (ADHD).

2) Potential Substantial Variation of Service

a) The Committee is asked to review whether the procurement of a Kent and
Medway ND Health Service constitutes a substantial variation of service.

b) Where the Committee deems the proposed changes as not being substantial,
this shall not prevent it from reviewing the procurement and or service at its
discretion and making reports and recommendations to the NHS.

3. Recommendation

If the procurement of the Neurodevelopmental (ND) Health Service for Adults is
substantial:

RECOMMENDED that:

(@) the Committee deems the procurement of the Neurodevelopmental (ND)
Health Service for Adults to be a substantial variation of service.

(b) Kent and Medway CCGs be invited to attend this Committee and present
an update at the appropriate time.

Page 253



Item 6: Procurement of the Neurodevelopmental (ND) Health Service for Adults

If the procurement of the Neurodevelopmental (ND) Health Service for Adults is not
substantial:

RECOMMENDED that:

(@) the Committee does not deem the procurement of the Neurodevelopmental
(ND) Health Service for Adults to be a substantial variation of service.

(b) Kent and Medway CCGs be invited to submit a report to the Committee at the
appropriate time.

Background Documents

None.

Contact Details

Kay Goldsmith

Scrutiny Research Officer
kay.goldsmith@kent.gov.uk
03000 416512

Page 254



mailto:kay.goldsmith@kent.gov.uk

NHS

Report to: HOSC Agenda Item:

Date of Meeting: 16 December 2019

Procurement of Kent and Medway neurodevelopmental service

Title of Report: specification.

Adam Wickings Deputy Managing Director, West Kent CCG.
Author: Michelle Snook, Integrated Transformation Manager for
Neurodevelopmental Conditions KCC/ CCG (Kent)

Governing Body Dr Simon Lundy
Sponsor:
Approval Decision Discussion/ Information
Action Required: Assurance X
. N For Part 1 For Part 2
Conflict of Interest:
(delete as necessary) (delete as necessary)

Describe: Engagement and communication plan will be
implemented. A pre-procurement market and engagement event
has taken place and the contract will be mobilised with
coproduction and codesign.

Involvement of patients,
carers, staff and
stakeholders

Situation:

Kent and Medway Clinical Commissioning Groups (CCGs) have agreed to the procurement of a
Kent and Medway Neurodevelopmental (ND) Health Service for Adults (18+) which will improve
quality and value for money across Kent and Medway and is fully supported and identified as a
priority need by the Sustainability and Transformation Partnership (STP) and the NHS England
(NHSE) Long Term Plan.

Provision of assessment and post diagnostic support across Kent and Medway currently is
fragmented with only east Kent providing a commissioned service. The proposed service (see
draft service specification appendix 1) will improve both the access to and quality of support for
people living with an Autistic Spectrum Condition (ASC) and or Attention Deficit Hyperactivity
Disorder (ADHD) across Kent and Medway. It does not alter the current ND pathway which
provides access to assessment, diagnosis, post- diagnostic interventions and a complex autism
services.

Background:

The Kent and Medway STP have pledged to transform commissioned services as laid out within
their current Transforming Care (TC) cohort and TC programme. Key findings from the Strategy
for Adults with Autism in Kent and joint needs assessment highlighted gaps and inconsistencies
within the pathway for people with autism and or ADHD across Kent and Medway.

NHS procurement across Kent and Medway for a new ND (autism and ADHD) Health Service will

Page 255




NHS

address the current gaps in diagnostic provision whilst ensuring care for complex autism
provision is sustainable, thus reducing the demand from using of out of area high cost in-patient
placements. The service will bring consistency to the delivery and accessibility of ND Health
Services that will be designed specifically to enable multidisciplinary practice with council
services which is in line with recent updated NICE guidelines - Learning disabilities and
behaviour that challenges: service design and delivery [NG93] March 2018.

The NHSE Long Term Plan identifies improved community-based support for autism as a priority
over the next 10 years; further reducing reliance on specialist hospitals, making sure all NHS
commissioned services are providing good quality health, care and treatment for autistic people
and their families, ensuring equal access to, experience of and outcomes from care and
treatment. Reduce health inequalities, reducing over-medicating and acting to prevent avoidable
deaths. In 2017/18 Kent and Medway CCGs had a small number of complex autistic patients in
need of specialist support that was not available locally and patients were sent out of area at high
cost to CCGs. In 2018/19 NHSE funded a small pilot specialist service to work locally across the
area. KAMCAS is the Kent and Medway Complex Autism Service and commenced service
delivery in May 2018. To date this health and social care service has seen in excess of 55
patients, avoiding step-up into the TC cohort and retaining patients in locally based community
services. This pilot service funding is due to cease in March 2020 and will be replaced by the
proposed new ND setrvice.

In February 2018 Public Health (PH) conducted an analysis of autism and ADHD data. Within the
adult population of Kent 14,600 people are estimated as being undiagnosed for Autism (7,118)
and or ADHD (7,482). Medway data for these cohorts showed within the adult population of
Medway 8,061 people are estimated as being undiagnosed for Autism (1,001) and or ADHD
(7,060). Kent and Medway adults’ data evidences a significant undiagnosed population when
compared to expected prevalence rates for this cohort. The demand for adult diagnostic service
provision is unlikely to diminish over the next five to ten years

Only the east Kent CCGs commission a single ND contract with one provider, South London and
Maudsley NHS Trust (SLaM). Since April 2017, this has been a pilot service for assessment,
diagnosis and post diagnostic provision (adapted CBT) covering east Kent. This service covers
both autism and ADHD and has extended its contract until March 2020 to align with the
procurement.

Excluding east Kent, the rest of Kent and Medway CCGs use spot purchasing arrangements with
SLaM for combined autism/ADHD assessments and post diagnostic treatments. They also
commissioned Psicon for autism diagnostics in isolation. The use of these two providers is more
complex in referral pathways as patients will either be seen in Kent for non-complex autism (by
Psicon), or if complex or comorbid conditions are suspected for autism and or ADHD, referrals
are required to be funded by out of area treatments (OATS) and patients are seen and assessed
by SLaM in their London base.

Assessment:

The current health diagnostic pathway is difficult for patients to access due to long waiting list
backlogs and the majority of post diagnostic services are not available without individual funding
approved or locally available in Kent or Medway.

The new service does not alter the pathway with regards to the range of clinical interventions
available, what it does provide is cohesive local access to these interventions across Kent and
Medway.

The wider costs of ND conditions and lack of commissioned services have a significant impact on

Page 256




NHS

the wider system, evidenced through more increasing demands on social care commissioned
services to provide care packages and support to this cohort, as well as increasing demands in
primary care and MH services for those with comorbid conditions.

Summary of Benefits:

Patient benefits

Current service

New service

Change

1 | Fragmented provision / not
all locally based — for ADHD
diagnostic and post
diagnostic ASC based in
London.

ADHD / Medical review —
(ongoing prescribing) is
sporadic / postcode lottery of
GP’s most without local
enhanced services (LES) —
patients often have to be
seen in London via SLAM

Service continuity through a
comprehensive Health and Social care
MDT will be locally available across all
areas / once LES agreements in place
ADHD medication provision will provide
consistency

Complete range of
diagnostic services
available locally within
their CCG area for
patients.

Patient improved
experience with ND
services — improved
satisfaction with GP
once LES in place for
ongoing prescribing
for ADHD meds
(enable tracking of
prescribed drugs and
costs).

2 | Post diagnostic provision
(Psychology) requires
individual funding /

sensory functional
assessments are not funded
/ local care mental health
teams (LCMHTSs) do not
provide mental health
services for ASC patients

Post diagnostic Psychology and or
occupational therapy (TO) sensory
functional assessment provision
available as part of core service for
patients where identified need.
Multidisciplinary teams (MDTSs) enable
holistic individual support

Complete range of
Post-diagnostic
services available
locally within their
CCG area for patients
will improve patient
satisfaction and
support carers
through individualised
local care packages

3 | Individual funding requests
for highly complex autism
support results in high cost /
out of area placements for
treatment

Complex autism MDT provision
accessible for patients where identified
need — step-up avoidance / early
intervention / lower cost. Step down
enabling from TC cohort to locally
based treatment

Early access to
complex autism MDT
service enables early
intervention and
deescalates crisis
situations
accelerating to avoid
step-up into TC
cohort (step down
enables those to
return to their
communities, in line
with TCP objectives).
Patients remain with
or closer to families /
carers and home
environment

Page 257




NHS

The detailed analysis undertaken has determined that the main benefits will be:

e Increased value for money with the removal CCGs contracting independently and the high
cost of spot purchasing

¢ Reduced cost across the system from the reduction in CCG funded beds from demand from
using of out of area high cost in-patient placements for the transforming care cohort

o Improved access to and a reduction in waiting times / waiting list backlogs for diagnosis and
post diagnosis treatment and support

e Better integration (MDT between health and social care) - where patients need the support or
intervention of community care, secondary care, social services or the voluntary sector this
should be a seamless transition both to that provider and from that provider improving patient
outcomes

e Increased confidence from primary care for ongoing medication arrangements within the
ADHD pathway

e Improved patient experiences / services in local communities via local care model

e Address gaps in service provision / bring consistency to the delivery and accessibility of
services

¢ Provide sustainable transitional arrangements for children and young people’s services

o Allows option of all-age ND pathway/ future funding shift from the back (adults pathway) to
the front (children’s pathway)

o Early diagnosis - where we can’'t prevent people getting ill, we need to ensure that their
condition is diagnosed early as this leads to better outcomes in most conditions. This
includes helping people to self-diagnose but to also take responsibility to see their GP at the
earliest opportunity

e Better care - a focused approach to prevention and early diagnosis will lead to better care
options and management for individual patients; which will lead to better outcomes. Focusing
on promoting patient responsibility to choose well when accessing the right services at the
right time and in the most appropriate place and empowering patients to be better able to
self-manage their own conditions

¢ Quality - improve quality to ensure services are safe, efficient and effective

¢ Finance - ensure value for money, directing resources to maximise benefit to make the best
use of public money.

The aim of the new health service is to work in collaboration, towards integration through
Neurodevelopmental (ND) MDT practice between health and social care which meets the strategic
objective for both local authorities (LA) and health commissioners (HC).

Locations:

The new ND Health Service will deliver services across Kent and Medway according to activity /
investment shares across CCG areas. For example, if east Kent CCGs are investing 55 per cent of
the contract, 55 per cent of the activity will be delivered in this local area by providers of the service.

Communication and Engagement:

Various communication and engagement has been conducted across Kent, along with stakeholder
mapping during the development of the business case which has spanned two years. In order to
develop a draft service specification which was also National Institute for Health and Care Excellence
(NICE) compliant, a survey questionnaire was circulated throughout current health and social care
providers for their views on ‘how, what and where’ the service and its delivery should be provided.
Detailed analysis of the results has been interwoven into the specification.

The Kent Autism Collaborative is a strategic group held by Kent County Council (KCC) which has
multi-professional / organisational membership has had significant input into the development of the

Page 258




NHS

specification, along with the independent service user representation group (SURG) autistic adults
across Kent. Healthwatch’s independent people’s panel have also showed interest in the
development of this service and Healthwatch have offered to consult on the new service post purdah
across Kent and Medway in order to gain feedback for co-production.

A pre-procurement market and engagement event was held for Kent and Medway prospective
providers to gain feedback on the proposed new service in August 2019. Feedback from this event
was around codesign of any new service over the first two years of the contract.

Upon formal procurement commencement, we plan to implement a robust communications and
engagement plan that will cover and cater for the needs across Kent and Medway stakeholders. This
will include consulting across the system along with independent service user groups via
Healthwatch.

Adult ND Pathway:

The procurement of a new ND health service will be based fundamentally on the current adult ND
pathway that is now in place, but is aimed to align and provide consistency to service delivery, to
reduce waiting times that result from the current fragmented commissioning and promote more
integrated working between health and social care.

Apart from the main benefits of ‘service location’ and ‘reduced waits’, patients should see no change
to their current pathways.

Recommendation:

HOSC is asked to provide comment on the service specification and procurement of a Kent and
Medway Health Service for people with Autism and or ADHD for contract commencement by
October 2020.

Risk description:

@ g
Q S
£ 3 i: Date By i -
€ | © | Risk Description & : ; When All x Qo
© —_ ~
% < | Including Cause and x ﬁ)cgzglsj;ogsllgted ,S::élorr;sPslanned Ik Actions 5 -%
O £ | Impact to CCG 8 9 will Be -2
§ a 5 Completed | &
= o)
0

Supporting Paper/Appendices:

Appendix 1 service specification

Page 259




This page is intentionally left blank



SCHEDULE 2 - THE SERVICES

A. Service Specifications

This is a non-mandatory model template for local population. Commissioners may retain the
structure below, or may determine their own in accordance with the NHS Standard Contract
Technical Guidance.

Service Specification Sch2

No.
Service Autism & ADHD Neurodevelopmental Health Service

Commissioner Lead

Provider Lead

Period 1% April 2020 - 30" March 2025

Date of Review 1°" October 2020

-]

1.1 Autism National/local context and evidence base

This specification describes a Neurodevelopmental (ND) Health Service providing Adult
Autistic Spectrum Conditions (ASC) and Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder (ADHD)
diagnostics, post diagnostic support, prescribing and titration services for people with ADHD
and treatment for those presenting with ‘Complex Autism’ or behaviour that challenges
(without learning disabilities). This service will work in close collaboration with both Kent &
Medway Local Authorities Adult Social Care services to develop good partnership practice
and wherever possible multidisciplinary teams (MDT) that are in line with NICE (National
Institute for Clinical Excellence) clinical guidance on ‘Autism Spectrum Disorder in Adults’:
Diagnosis and Management (NICE, 2012). The service will be known as ‘The Kent &
Medway Autism & ADHD ND Health Service’ and will be a community based service across
Kent & Medway. It is expected that the service will codesign the model of care with other
vested stakeholders over the first 1-2 years of contract commencement.

Table.1. Kent & Medway Autism & ADHD ND Health Service

Page 261



NHS STANDARD CONTRACT 2020/21 — 2024/25 PARTICULARS (Full Length)

Collaborative (Partnership Work)

Medway Council Adult Social Care Kent County Council Adult Social Care

Kent & Medway Autism & ADHD ND Health Service Providers for
specialist & non-specialist services

In response to section 2 of the Autism Act 2009, the Department of Health published
‘Fulfilling and Rewarding Lives’, The Strategy for adults with autism in England (2010)
The Government’s vision is that ‘All adults with autism are able to live fulfilling and rewarding
lives within a society that accepts and understands them. They can get a diagnosis and
access support if they need it, and they can depend on mainstream public services to treat
them fairly as individuals, helping them make the most of their talents. It outlines five quality
outcomes:

1. Adults with autism achieve better health outcomes

2. Adults with autism are included and economically active

3. Adults with autism are living in accommodation that meets their needs

4. Adults with autism are benefiting from the personalisation agenda in health and social
care, and can access personal budgets

5. Adults with autism are no longer managed inappropriately in the criminal justice system

Think Autism, - Fulfilling and Rewarding Lives, the strategy for adults with autism in
England: an update (2014)
This update of the 2010 strategy sets out 15 new priority areas and reaffirms the importance
of the 5 areas for action identified in the strategy aimed at improving the lives of adults with
autism. The 15 priorities are set out as ‘I’ statements focussing on those with autism being
an equal part of their communities; getting the right support at the right time during their
lifetime; and people being able to develop their skills and independence and being able to
work to the best of their ability:
e ‘|l want a timely diagnosis from a trained professional. | want relevant information
and support throughout the diagnostic process” is particularly relevant in that it
provides a synopsis of diagnostic requirements.

Building the right support - A national plan to develop community services and close
inpatient facilities for people with a learning disability and/or autism who display behaviour
that challenges, including those with a mental health condition (2015)

This policy document sets out the plan to shift money from hospital care to community
services in order to reduce use of in-patient beds by 50% by March 2019 and fund the
development of a comprehensive range of community services. By the end of 2019 the
projected targets of 50% were not achieved and the programme has been further extended
with a shift from focussing on planned discharge rates to an investment in community
infrastructure plans which will see locally based services and resources in order to support
the discharges.

NHS STANDARD CONTRACT

2020/21 — 2024/25 PARTICULARS (Full Length)
Page 262 2



NHS STANDARD CONTRACT 2020/21 — 2024/25 PARTICULARS (Full Length)

NICE Quality Standards for Autism, (2014)
NICE quality standards are a concise set of prioritised statements designed to drive
measureable quality improvements within a particular area of health or care. They are
derived from high-quality guidance, such as that from NICE or other sources accredited by
NICE. https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/gs51

Autism: Recognition, Referral, Diagnosis and Management of Adults on the Autistic
Spectrum, NICE (2012)

These guidelines recommended that all local authorities should establish a specialist
community based multidisciplinary team. It recommended that a range of professionals
should be involved including clinical psychologists, social workers, psychiatrists, nurses,
occupational therapists and speech and language therapists.

Extract from NICE guidance below. Refer to full guidance (as linked above) for exact detail.
Comprehensive assessment of suspected autism should:

e Be undertaken by professionals who are trained and competent

e Be team-based and draw on a range of professions and skills

e Where possible involve a family member, partner, carer or other informant or use

documentary evidence.

To aid more complex diagnosis and assessment for adults, consider using a formal
assessment tool, such as:

e Adult Asperger Assessment (AAA; includes the Autism-Spectrum Quotient [AQ] and
Empathy Quotient [EQ])[6]
Autism Diagnostic Interview — Revised (ADI-R)[7]
Autism Diagnostic Observation Schedule 2 — (ADOS-2)[8]
Asperger Syndrome (and high-functioning autism) Diagnostic Interview (ASDI)[9]
Ritvo Autism Asperger Diagnostic Scale — Revised (RAADS-R)[10]

The recommended approach is via MDT and Multimodal:

1) Development history i.e. ADIR, 3Di, Disco or if lack of informants (family,
friends etc) then comprehensive psychological assessment detailing what
developmental history we do know

2) Direct Assessment of person (ADOS2) and similar

3) Independent reports — Care Act assessment, educational assessment, other
health reports.

The process should be:

) Initial phone consultation
i) Screening tools

i) Assessment process

iv) Report

V) Feedback

vi) Follow up if necessary

Autism NICE Quality Standard 51 — outlines what quality provision should look like through
provision of quality statements and measures. Guidance to be used in conjunction with the
Autism Strategy. Full Quality Standard available at https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/gs51

Statutory Guidance for Local Authorities and NHS Organisations to Support
Implementation of the Adult Autism Strategy (2015)

The guidance focuses on the areas which section 2 of the Autism Act 20097 requires
organisations to be addressed, in each case identifying what Local Authorities, Foundation
Trusts and NHS bodies are already under a duty to do under legislation, what they are
expected to do under other existing guidance, and what they should do under this guidance.

NHS STANDARD CONTRACT

2020/21 — 2024/25 PARTICULARS (Full Length)
Page 263 3


https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/qs51
https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/qs51

NHS STANDARD CONTRACT 2020/21 — 2024/25 PARTICULARS (Full Length)

The Kent & Medway Complex Autism Service (KAMCAS). In 2017 Commissioners from
Kent and Medway secured match funding from NHSE and Kent County Council to develop
plans for a comprehensive integrated multi-disciplinary service for people with Complex
Autistic Spectrum Conditions (ASC) in order to meet the obligations set out in legislation and
guidance; Transforming Care required local areas to put in place a comprehensive range of
services by March 2019 that would reduce reliance on specialist in-patient services for
people with complex autism who formed part of the transforming care cohort. Whilst local
plans for neurodevelopmental conditions, which included formal procurement of services,
could not meet the March 2019 timeframe, NHSE required specialist services to be put in
place within that timeframe that would see a reduction in the number of people with ASC
who are in specialist in-patient units and/or a reduction in numbers admitted to such units.
The interim pilot service called KAMCAS was commissioned to underpin Kent & Medway’s
wider Transforming Care Programme (TCP) objectives and Sustainability & Transformation
Plan (STP).

1.2 ADHD - National and Local

Like autism, ADHD during adulthood is often not identified. However, ADHD is a
neurodevelopmental disorder that for many people persists into adulthood. It is associated
with difficulties with attention, hyperactivity and impulsivity. The costs of untreated ADHD
during adulthood are high, and include poor educational outcomes, unemployment, failed
interpersonal relationships, increased illicit drug use, and increased forensic behaviour.
Fortunately, ADHD is amenable to effective treatment during adulthood, leading to
decreased costs for the individual and society, and this is reflected in the recent NICE
guidelines. It is estimated that approximately 3% of the adult population suffers from residual
symptoms of ADHD during adulthood. Advantages of identification of ADHD during
adulthood include decreased health and economic costs to the individual and society.

Attention deficit hyperactivity disorder: diagnosis and management NICE, 2018
(NG87). Recent updated new recommendations have been added on recognition,
information and support, managing attention deficit hyperactivity disorder (ADHD; including
non-pharmacological treatment), medication, follow- up and monitoring, adherence, and
review of medication and discontinuation. Local services should:
¢ Provide diagnostic, treatment and consultation services for people with ADHD who
have complex needs, or where general psychiatric services are in doubt about the
diagnosis and/or management of ADHD
e Produce local protocols for shared care arrangements with primary care providers,
and ensure that clear lines of communication between primary and secondary care
are maintained

For a diagnosis of ADHD, symptoms of hyperactivity/impulsivity and/or inattention should:

e meet the diagnostic criteria in DSM- 5 or ICD- 10 (hyperkinetic disorder) , and

e cause at least moderate psychological, social and/or educational or occupational
impairment based on interview and/or direct observation in multiple settings, and

e be pervasive, occurring in two or more important settings including social, familial,
educational and/or occupational settings.

e As part of the diagnostic process, include an assessment of the person's needs,
coexisting conditions, social, familial and educational or occupational circumstances
and physical health.

Transition from Children’s to Adult Services

The development of a transition list of young people moving from child to adult services
helps to identify their needs in terms of ADHD or ASD as they transfer to Adult Services.
When young people leave children’s services, their neurodevelopmental difficulties often
persist (this is always the case in autism); however, they may not have access to adult
services as they may not meet the threshold for secondary care services. As such, parents,
children and carers often experience a sudden vacuum of support at this time of transition. It
is appropriate for young people in this transition to undergo diagnostic review by the current

NHS STANDARD CONTRACT

2020/21 — 2024/25 PARTICULARS (Full Length)
Page 264 4



NHS STANDARD CONTRACT 2020/21 — 2024/25 PARTICULARS (Full Length)

provider to establish their continued treatment needs (e.g. stimulants for ADHD),a needs

assessment (ASD and ADHD) and timely signposting to all appropriate adult services. Adult
services accepting transfers from childrens services should ensure seamless transfer across
without delay or disruption to treatment (inc appropriate prescribed medication continuation).

Autism Transition

People with ASC experience very high rates of comorbidity which is often undetected and is
reversible in both childhood and adulthood. Children are often in touch with CHYPS services
and in receipt of appropriate treatment, but - as with ADHD - experience a ‘cliff edge’ in the
provision of services at the point of transition to adulthood. It is therefore important to ensure
at the point of entry to adult services that patients are reviewed for comorbidity by the most
appropriate professional/s to enable them to access on-going treatment, or are signposted to
appropriate support services. It is also important to note that many people with ASC will not
require or wish for continued medical intervention, so a review at transition also provides for
the giving of a ‘clean bill of health’ to this group and the provision of information regarding
how to access support should this be necessary in the future.

ADHD Transition

ADHD is increasingly a focus of treatment during childhood. It leads to difficulties in
schooling and at home, and is often associated with education and social
underachievement. Treatment with stimulant drugs significantly lessens this disease burden,
however, such treatment is typically unavailable after 18 years of age, which leads to
spiraling health and economic costs. It is therefore important to ensure that services exist
which continue to meet the needs of this group during transition and early adulthood, and
that can prevent mental ill-health and social morbidity.

NHSE Long Term Plan 2019 - Autism and ADHD (p.52)
The LTP states commitment to improvements across the system in the areas of:

e 3.31. Action will be taken to tackle the causes of morbidity and preventable deaths in
people with a learning disability and for autistic people.
3.32. The whole NHS will improve its understanding of the needs of people with
learning disabilities and autism, and work together to improve their health and
wellbeing.
3.33. Children and young people with suspected autism wait too long before being
provided with a diagnostic assessment
3.34. Children, young people and adults with a learning disability, autism or both,
with the most complex needs, have the same rights to live fulfilling lives.
3.35. Increased investment in intensive, crisis and forensic community support
3.36. We will focus on improving the quality of inpatient care across the NHS and
independent sector.

2.1 NHS Outcomes Framework Domains & Indicators
Domain 1 Preventing people from dying prematurely X
Domain 2 Enhancing quality of life for people with long-term X
conditions

Domain 3 Helping people to recover from episodes of ill-health or | X
following injury

Domain 4 Ensuring people have a positive experience of care
Domain 5 Treating and caring for people in safe environment and | X
protecting them from avoidable harm

>

2.2 Local defined outcomes

NHS STANDARD CONTRACT

2020/21 — 2024/25 PARTICULARS (Full Length)
Page 265 5



NHS STANDARD CONTRACT 2020/21 — 2024/25 PARTICULARS (Full Length)

Required Outcome
Evidence that the Service

Key processes to support outcome

To enable the achievement of the outcome the provider

assessment and
treatment of their
autism (ASC
needs/autistic needs)
and or ADHD needs.
(use of a standardised
referral screening tool)

User: must:
1. Undergoes Adhere to the Standard Operating Policy (SOP) which
comprehensive outlines procedures for:

Referral and transfer of (shared) care

Assessment using a multi — disciplinary approach with
the ASC social care element including Occupational
Therapists and Social Workers.

Producing a recommendation report (management
plan) which includes multi-disciplinary clinical
formulation and treatment plan (including diagnosis) for
each patient in conjunction with the patient and other
professionals involved in the patients care.

Providing the patient with information about their
condition and treatment in an accessible format
Ensuring Interventions comply with all statutory,
regulatory and good practice standards (CQC Essential
Standards of Care and Safety, NICE guidelines)

Adhere to the timeframe (NICE guidelines / 13wks) for
achievement of the above

Share information between all professionals and
agencies involved in the patients care (e.g. frequency of
contact). Any patient identifiable correspondence to be
in accordance with GDPR / DPIA / IG guidelines, e.g.
through .nhs.net to .gcsx secure email accounts.

Triage waiting list for those awaiting assessment which
incorporates completion of referral form, patients
questionnaire, psychometric tests (e.g. DISCO, AQ,
Cambridge Behaviour Scale) to inform and assist with
diagnosis (compliant with current NICE guidance)
Maintain eligibility prioritisation of access where waits
occur for those most at risk

2. Receives care in an
environment which is
safe

Policies and procedures that comply with all legislation and
guidance including but not restricted to

e Complaints

e Safeguarding

e Clinical Governance & Prescribing Policy / Shared
Care Protocol (or equivalent policies)

Equality and Diversity

Information Governance

CQC Registered

CPD / Training & Development

Mental Capacity ( including presumption of capacity)
Whistleblowing

Continuing Professional Development (CPD)

e Clinical supervision and appraisal.

3. Have their physical
health needs
properly assessed as
part of the autism
(ASC needs/autistic
needs) assessment
and treatment process

and
Has been referred to
the relevant general
medical service(s) for
further investigation

Protocols in place that include:

Baseline physical health evaluation by primary care
services (where necessary) / relevant medical history
Relevant monitoring to be undertaken in relation to any
specific treatments prescribed

Action to be taken where physical health needs have
been identified that require further investigation and
management, e.g. detail included within
recommendation report (management plan) to highlight
to GP/Consultant alongside recommendation to patient.

NHS STANDARD CONTRACT

2020/21 — 2024/25 PARTICULARS (Full Length)

Page 266




NHS STANDARD CONTRACT 2020/21 — 2024/25 PARTICULARS (Full Length)

and management as
indicated.

4. Providers evidence of
policies for detailed
assessment of risks to
themselves and
others.

Ensure staff are trained in Risk Assessment and
Management

Have robust links to other specialist Mental Health
community and inpatient services for the purpose of
sharing information and for obtaining opinion/ advice on
specific issues.

Policy of any lone working risks which may be
highlighted during referral and ensuring appropriate
steps are taken to avoid risk to individuals, colleagues,
patient and members of the public.

5. Experiences continuity
of care when moving
between services.

Secure IT systems for the sharing of information within
the service, fulfilling (or as a minimum having a plan in
place) to meet IG / GDPR / DPIA requirements.

Clear transfer procedures outlined within the Operational
policy that details relapse indicators, crisis and
contingency plans

Clear procedures for seeking and recording the Service
User’s consent for the sharing of information

Ensure that information about services is available to the
client in an accessible format.

Transparency in any communications to
patients/representative, including information in relation
to timescales, to help manage their expectations.

pass original referral to alternate providers when
required, when responsible commissioners deem it
appropriate to secure additional capacity from additional
registered and accredited providers. Adhering to, and
helping to develop, a robust process in these
circumstances.

Be aware of all pathways / services incl criminal justice
system providers, forensic services etc.

6. The patient’s relative
and/or carer, subject to
service user’s consent,
(as appropriate) are
consulted about the
care they receive.

Gain explicit patient/representative consent for the
purpose of assessment, diagnosis and onward referral
(when appropriate). Gather and retain information
which is deemed relevant, appropriate and not
excessive and clearly identifies the parties involved and
their role.

Ensure that the service user's known preferences for
sharing information are clearly documented in their
records and that these are respected where this is
compatible with assessed risks to self or others.

Ensure that when the service user does not have the
capacity to give consent, the appropriate steps to arrive
at a ‘Best Interest’ decision have been taken and
recorded and agreed by the MDT working with the
patient

7. Is offered access to
advocacy services
including, where
appropriate, IMCAs
and IMHAs.

All practicable steps are to be taken to include patient
representative/family/carer/advocate is included and
present during assessment and able to contribute where
appropriate.

Ensure that information on advocacy, IMCA and IMHA is
displayed and is available in a variety of appropriate
formats

Implement appropriate systems for recording whether a
client is ‘befriended’ under the terms of the Mental
Capacity Act

Provide awareness training for all staff in relation to the

NHS STANDARD CONTRACT

2020/21 — 2024/25 PARTICULARS (Full Length)

Page 267




NHS STANDARD CONTRACT 2020/21 — 2024/25 PARTICULARS (Full Length)

relevant legislation.

8. Is treated with dignity Ensure all staff have a range of training at the required
and respect. levels that is in line with the ‘Core capabilities
frameworks for supporting autistic people and people
with a learning disability’, Skills for Health, 2019.

Including clear adherence to policy on:

e Equality and Diversity (reasonable adjustments)

e Information Governance.

Take all steps to accommodate any patient and/or

representative requirements.

Have a process in place allowing for patient and/or

representatives feedback to be collected, collated and

reported upon (Friends & Family Test)

9. Is safely prescribed the | Prescribing pathways to be agreed with the provider and
medication to address | commissioners:
their ADHD needs e The provider & commissioners will ensure the
implementation of a Shared Care Protocol for /
across Kent & Medway

e The protocol is to be developed with Medicines
Management Leads / commissioner support and
embedded across Kent & Medway for the ongoing
prescribing of ADHD medication post titration and
stabilisation from the core service.

e Providers will liaise, providing accessible
consultancy / training to primary care GPs around
any issues with ongoing prescribing for ADHD
medication. Ongoing support from core service to
primary care providers is essential when transferring
care and must remain open between the primary
care provider & the core service. Shared care
should be obtained with explicit consent.

o Where GPs feel it appropriate to do so, core service
providers will accept transfers back from primary
care to core service for prescribing stabilisation in
line with the new shared care protocol / LES

arrangements
10. Training & e Core service providers will work within current NICE
Consultancy guideline  parameters around prescribing of

medication for ADHD. Training and consultancy will
be provided to all primary care (GP) providers who
take part in the new shared care arrangements
(LES)

e A comprehensive package of training /
documentation should be developed by core service
providers to primary care providers along with clear
systems & processes for accessible consultancy
from core providers.

e Training should be compliant and meet the
published national competency framework (Skills for
Health, 2019).

3.1 The Kent & Medway ND Autism & ADHD Service

Will provide a service for screening, assessing and diagnosing referrals, providing post
diagnostic support, specialist care for those presenting with complex autism and prescribing
and titration for ADHD; forming MDT functionality between health and social services across
Kent & Medway, working in partnership with social care who provide community care
assessments and/or information and advice, support care packages and other

NHS STANDARD CONTRACT

2020/21 — 2024/25 PARTICULARS (Full Length)
Page 268 8



NHS STANDARD CONTRACT 2020/21 — 2024/25 PARTICULARS (Full Length)

commissioned care options, for those eligible.

3.2 Kent Integrated MDT Pathway. The overall aim of the service within a new pathway is
to provide an integration of health & social care provision which enables early access /
intervention and treatment / support for those individuals in need, reducing demands on the
wider system and promoting independence, thus reducing longer-term dependencies. The
draft pathway below is subject to further codesigned with all system providers to ensure a
robust model of care is developed over the first 1-2 yrs of the new health service being
implemented.

Table. 2. Kent MDT Integrated Adult Pathway
KENT MDT INTEGRATED ADULT PATHWAY

ACCESS 1O SERVICES.
THE SERVICE USERS JOURNEY

SOCIALCARE SERVICE USER

GO RETERRALS INTO SINGLE POINT OF
§ ACCESS (SPA) SUSPECTED ASC/ADHD

HEAL

PUBLICHEALTH STEP 1 ACCESS TO SERVICE SELF
UNIVERSAL SERVICES | REFERRALOR TIER's 1.4
REFERRAL CHARTTABLE/VOLUNTA
VIATIER's 1.4 VA SPA RY SECIOR/ SOCAL
CARE GRANT
DELIVERY/WIDER
sssss M

Team

(T2) SCREENING ASSESSMENT & SUPPORT cane
LOW LEVEL - PRE/POST DUAGNOSTIC INTERVENTIONS. (2014) (ASC/ADHD]
SOCIAL CARE ENARLEMENT OFFER (0T) SHORT TERM

TRIAGE

o

SHORT TER
(EMPLOYMENT/NOUSING, CARERS £TC)

SHORT TERM.

1x MDT COVERING TIERS 2-3 OF SYSTEM  STAFF MIX SUBJECT
(30%+ COMPLEX CASE MANAGEMENT) TO CO-DESIGN STEP 3 Ox, PRESCRIBING, CBT / CASE

CCOMMUNITY INTEGRATED MDT MANAGEMENT

STEP 4~ LONG TERM NEEDS

() LONG TERM ASC TEAM
COMPREHENSIVE PRESCUBING ENABLEMENT

TIER 3 SPECIAUST SERVICES HIGH COMPLEX
NEED / TC RISK REGISTER

SPECIALIST COMPLEX & CHALLENGING BEHAVIOUR. SPECIALIST STEP'S.- MULTLAGENCY CARE
MOT ENABLEMENT — SOCIAL, SENSORY, FUNCTIONAL ADAPTIVE PSYCHOLOGY. communTy COMPLEXNEEDS
.G, CMN TEAM, SOCIALSERVICES, O
W omxsoan wom SPECALIST TEAM - N D TEAMS.

OTHEALTH / OT SOCIAL CARE REACH CAPACITY TEAM
PSYCHOLOGY CBT
CONSULTANCY/ TRANING

SHORT - MEDIUM TERM ITENSVE

VAATERSTONE — COMMUNITY RENAD. INPATIENT
A/ NHSE

ccomy
s/ \4

PRISON

TIME DEPENDENT

>
>

A

The draft pathway service model comprises of bespoke clinical MDTs for ASC diagnostics
and post diagnostics, Complex ASC, ADHD diagnostics and prescribing and should be
based within the community to receive referrals from either primary, secondary or tertiary
health care providers (GPs, CMHTs, ND Consultants, social care & other professionals ) for
assessment and or diagnosis of Autism and or ADHD neurodevelopmental conditions in the
absence of a learning disability and make recommendations / partnership working or
signpost to other providers: The service should access existing resources in mental health
services for identified needs, make suggestions about how these needs could be met if
existing services are not able to provide the service needed, and make recommendations
about processes and staffing requirements in line with the NICE guidance on Autism
Spectrum Conditions and ADHD.

3.3 Aims of Diagnostic & Post Diagnostic Support Services

Achieve National Targets for waiting times

Access to diagnostic services for those with suspected ASC and or ADHD

Access to treatment for those with ADHD and ASC, including post diagnostic support
Access to medication for those with ADHD

Provision of a local ASC and ADHD assessment diagnosis, prescribing (ADHD) and

NHS STANDARD CONTRACT

2020/21 — 2024/25 PARTICULARS (Full Length)
Page 269 9



NHS STANDARD CONTRACT 2020/21 — 2024/25 PARTICULARS (Full Length)

titration service with post diagnostic sessions for those in need, including ASC CBT, OT
& SalLT.

e Ensure effective multi-disciplinary working with Social Care services.

e Improved understanding of the needs of people with ASC and or ADHD, by those
supporting them to live in the community through link working, information sharing and
recommendations from the dedicated assessment and diagnosis service.

e Improved care co-ordination and information between primary care, secondary and
voluntary sector providers

e Appropriate signposting to voluntary and third sector organisations.

e Client shows clear understanding of diagnosis provided.

3.4 Objectives of Diaghostic & Post Diaghostic Support Services

Service provision which accounts for individuals preferences, ie, communications,
disabilities, cognitive function.

Diagnosis provided with clear reasoning behind decision reached.

Community (accessible) based assessment and diagnosis

Incorporation of family/representative views and individual’'s developmental history
and context.

Timely response in accordance with NICE Quality Statement 51 and guidance.
Service users and/or representatives feel informed of concise and consistent
process, what it involves, and on what approximate timescale through formal
correspondence.

Complaints process established, conveyed to client (and/or representative) and
handled in accordance with NHS complaints procedure.

Seamless transition from referral, diagnosis, signposting and ongoing support.

Data collected and conveyed in accordance with patient consent.

As part of an integrated service, ensuring effective working practices with the social
care element of the service.

Fulfil commissioner reporting requirements as detailed in section 6 of this service
specification (Activity).

3.5 Aims of Complex Autism Services
Support achieving the overall aims of Transforming Care in Kent and Medway which are:

To work in partnership with individuals with ASC and their families and with wider
stakeholders to define what good person centred care and support looks like and to
develop systems and processes that will deliver it.

To change how services are provided in order to enable people with ASC to
experience truly integrated and well-coordinated health and social care that delivers
improved outcomes throughout their lives.

To ensure that integrated health and social care interventions that are provided
enable people to live safe and fulfilling lives in their local community, close to the
people who are important to them.

To focus on early intervention and prevention to ensure that people’s needs do not
increase over time and intensive support to individuals with more complex needs or
to those who are in crisis.

To support the continuing development of a skilled and dedicated workforce through
the sharing of knowledge and best practice.

3.6 Objectives of Complex Autism Service

To reduce the number of people from Kent and Medway who are in-patients in
specialist ASC hospitals by offering a local community based model of care as an
alternative to in-patient care.

To reduce admission rates to specialist ASC hospitals by offering a range of clinical
interventions in conjunction with existing health and social care services as part of a
comprehensive package of support and treatment for people with the most complex
needs

To support complex case management by providing clinical intervention for those
considered as ‘highly complex with behaviour that challenges’ and at risk individuals

NHS STANDARD CONTRACT

2020/21 — 2024/25 PARTICULARS (Full Length)

Page 270 10




NHS STANDARD CONTRACT 2020/21 — 2024/25 PARTICULARS (Full Length)

open to adult social care within a multidisciplinary team (MDT)

e To support the development of an effective and efficient care pathway and model of
integrated care and treatment for all people with ASC

e To contribute data, information and knowledge to support the development of
comprehensive commissioning plans for people with ASC.

3.7 Outcomes of Complex Autism Service

The essential outcomes required for the Kent & Medway Transforming Care Programme are
to reduce the current numbers of in-patients in out of area placements (known as the
transforming care cohort) by ensuring there is sufficient community provisions available
locally to meet their needs and to reduce the need to use / place individuals in out of area
unit (high-cost) placement settings.

The service will be expected to provide the clinical element of this provision by:

Outcome 1.

To offer an alternative specialist clinical provision for those individuals (who are clinically
assessed as ready to step-down) currently in — inpatient settings (transforming care cohort)
due to their presenting complex ASC

Outcome 2.

To offer an alternative specialist (community-based) clinical provision for those individuals at
risk of out of area — inpatient stays (who are clinically assessed as requiring in-patient
treatment) due to their presenting complex ASC.

Table 3. KAMCAS

Kent & Medway Complex Autism Service (KAMCAS)

Transforming Care Cohort
individuals {in out of area
residential placements) Priority Outcome 1
interventions in order to step
down & bring individuals back
into community settings

Complex Autism Service, integrated MDT
of clinical health & social care
professionals: Psychiatry, Psychology, OT

SalT & Complex Social Wark - offering
range of specialist interventions
Individuals in the local
community at risk of being
placed in out of area residential

placements, interventions in
arder to avoid step-up and
retain in community settings

Priority Outcome 2

The provider will do this by:

e Offering sustainable (ongoing where needed), accessible and appropriate clinical
support / specialist ASC treatments within a supported residential community setting

e Clinical interventions that encompasses best practice within NICE guidance and
known frameworks for use with complex ASC

e Appropriate prescribing within NICE (2014) Guidance

e Function within a multidisciplinary team (MDT*) to ensure no silo working takes
place

e Offer appropriate clinical assessments of individual needs

e Develop with a wider MDT a comprehensive plan of care (care plan) suited to the
individuals needs

NHS STANDARD CONTRACT

2020/21 — 2024/25 PARTICULARS (Full Length)
Page 271 11



NHS STANDARD CONTRACT 2020/21 — 2024/25 PARTICULARS (Full Length)

e Be the named care coordinator, or part of a care coordinated agency plan for the
individual

e Review care plans for individuals on agreed basis (minimum of 6-12 weeks)

e Care Plan closure and or transfers of care

Benefits to service users:

e Promote holistic wellbeing and a sustainable benefit to the individual that supports
the current placement setting (eg within supported accommodation or residential
rehabilitation)

e Promotes a person-cantered approach to caring for the individual

e Promotes a stability of individual's ASC impacting on lifestyle for future progress
onto / into a lower-level need for supported accommodation for the future (further
step-down provisions)

e Reduction in dependence for individuals in requiring higher level complex need
interventions on an on-going basis

3.8 Service description/care pathway

The service will provide a timely, integrated, person-centered diagnostic and assessment for
ASC and or ADHD, post diagnostic ASC support in the form of OT interventions and or
adapted CBT, ADHD prescribing and titration/medication review and provide consultancy to
primary care ongoing prescriber where required within a shared care protocol.

Where eligible, provide Complex ASC provision for adults who present with complex needs
and or behavior that challenges, offering step down provision for transforming care cohort or
step up avoidance.

3.9 Population covered

Adults aged 18 and over and transitional YP’s from 17.5 years as part of a transition
arrangement who are registered with a GP in Kent or Medway CCG’s and who do not have
a learning disability.

Individuals with a confirmed learning disability receive services from Integrated Teams for
People with Learning Disability.

3.10 Acceptance and Exclusion Criteria and Thresholds

3.10.1 Diagnostic & Post Diaghostic Services Acceptance criteria:

Adults aged 18 years and over

Adults aged 17.5 years (transitional CYPSs)

Adults without a confirmed learning disability

Adults for whom assessment for concurrent mental health problems has been
undertaken by the individual’'s local community mental health team, where
appropriate.

e Adults whose local GP and or mental health team are aware of the onward referral.

o Where there is dispute with Learning Disability teams over eligibility, it is expected
that both the ND Service and LD Teams will discuss the referral and decide which
service is best suited to meet the needs of the individual within 4 weeks of receipt of
referral.

3.10.2 Complex Autism Services Acceptance criteria:

¢ Have a diagnosed Autistic Spectrum Condition without a diagnosed Learning
Disability (LD); (borderline LD cases will be considered on a case by case basis)

e Are currently an in-patient in local mental health units or in specialist out of area
ASC beds

e Have been referred or are at imminent risk of admission to in-patient services for
assessment and interventions for ASC and co-morbid conditions

¢  Will benefit from community based assessment and interventions as an alternative
to in-patient care and treatment.

e Are open to adult social care service and present with highly complex and or

NHS STANDARD CONTRACT

2020/21 — 2024/25 PARTICULARS (Full Length)
Page 272 12



NHS STANDARD CONTRACT 2020/21 — 2024/25 PARTICULARS (Full Length)

behaviour that challenges

3.10.3 Complex Autism Services Exclusions:
e Have a diagnosis of Learning Disability
e Are under 18 years of age (exceptions may be agreed with Commissioners if the
individual is approaching 18 years old in a Tier 4 Children and Young Person bed
and will transition to an adult ASC bed at age 18)
e Clearly meet the criteria for detention under the Mental Health Act regardless of the
availability of community based assessment and interventions.

1. Referral Processes and Response Times

4.1 Referral routes into the diagnostic and post diagnostic services will receive referrals
from GPs, social services, secondary care mental health services.

4.2 Referral routes to complex autism services will receive referrals from the core ND
health service, Kent ASC Social Care Team, Medway Social Care Teams, CMHTSs, Out of
Area Treatment Panels (OATS) or via CTR’s Care and Treatment Review Panels and NHSE
(Spec Comm). GP referrals or self-referrals will not be accepted because individuals with
complex needs will be referred initially to generic health and social care services.

4.3 Where an individual is identified as having moderate to severe mental health co-
morbid requirements then referral to the Community Mental Health Teams may be required.
Where the individual exhibits behaviour which places him/her at risk of offending then
onward referral to the local forensic service for assessment may be required.

Where presenting autistic behavior is complex and or challenging and the individual is at risk
of inpatient and or out of area treatment then the Complex Autism Service will assess and or
treat individuals without an associated learning disability.

4.4 Recommendation (management) Report: As part of an integrated diagnostic and
assessment pathway, following the completion of a Recommendation Report, copies will be
provided to the referred and the referrer, allowing the individual to be referred and or
signposted to the most appropriate service to meet their needs. Where a positive diagnosis
is made this may necessitate a need for structured support and or assessment for eligibility
of social care needs, if appropriate the individuals GP will be informed and the relevant
social care team will provide a support service; community care assessments, and/or
information and advice.Where concurrent mild to moderate mental health problems are
identified then the individual will be referred into Primary Care Mental Health Services, e.g.
IAPT Service.

4.5 Kent and Medway Joint Working Protocol for Adults with Co-existing Mental Health
and Neurodevelopmental Conditions defines collaboration and joint working between MH
and ND services, outlining key roles and responsibilities to ensure service users, where
eligible should receive treatment appropriate to their needs from all commissioned providers.

4.6 All referrals will be received by a Single Point of Access (SPA). Referrals must be
copied to the individual’'s GP and any relevant professionals e.g. social worker advising of
the referral.

4.7 A response to the initial referrer must be confirmed within 2 weeks and an initial
assessment date offered. The initial assessment will aim to be undertaken within 3 months
of the referral letter (in accordance with NICE Quality Standard (QS51), dependent on
demand. There will be a maximum of 4 weeks from completion of assessment to the
provision of a written report with recommendations which incorporates:

Patient details

Report author, date and those present during assessment

Documents seen before and during assessment

Diagnostic tools used, purpose and respective contributors

NHS STANDARD CONTRACT

2020/21 — 2024/25 PARTICULARS (Full Length)
Page 273 13



NHS STANDARD CONTRACT 2020/21 — 2024/25 PARTICULARS (Full Length)

o Referee history (e.g. developmental, family, educational)

o Referee presentation (e.g. appearance, communication, empathy)

o Diagnosis (e.g. meeting criteria, traits contributing to diagnosis, severity, further
information required)

e Recommendations (e.g. Psychological and Pharmacological Interventions, further
assessments, signposting).

e Treatment planning and expected timeframes.

e Sign off and assessor declaration.

In the event the patient does not attend a scheduled assessment, the provider will escalate a
response through a standard procedure of 2 phone calls and 2 letters to the patient before
removing the person from the waiting list.

4.8 Waiting List & Priority Criteria
Where service demand outstrips capacity waiting lists may be implemented. In such cases
waits for access to diagnostic services should be kept to a minimum, targeted waiting times
are 12 weeks, waits for treatment should not exceed 6 monthsPriority criteria should be
implemented across all waiting lists within CCG areas. The provider should present and
discuss a list of priority criteria applied with the commissioner to ensure efficacy of services.
Criteria of selection should include those who present with:

e Social Services CP involvement and or safeguarding risks

e Complex comorbid MH

e Criminal Justice System (CJS) involvement

e Significant and or debilitating physical LTCs

4.9 Interdependence with other services/providers

Partnership / Integrated MDT working with KCC ASC Social Care and Medway Social Care
for people with ASC will be important. Assessing, diagnosing and providing
recommendations for individuals is important but being able to subsequently signpost people
onto a range of enablement orientated and commissioned support services (such as
supported employment) in social care settings and from the voluntary and third sector will be
imperative in order to assist people in achieving their optimum level of functioning and their
life aims and ambitions. Close working with local voluntary sector and bespoke
commissioned services will be imperative for good Service User outcomes.

4.10 Training Sessions

Will be provided regularly for GPs within the shared care /LES arrangements to assist them
in safely providing on-going prescribed ADHD medication, after stabilisation. Where there
are GP concerns, consultancy will be available and if required patients may be transferred
back to the specialist core service.

5. Applicable Service Standards

5.1 Applicable National Standards (e.g. NICE)

The staff in this service must adhere to their Professional Codes of Conduct and ensure that
they are up to date with current methodologies, approaches and validated tools used to
assess and diagnose people with ASC in the absence of a learning disability. Individuals
must be able to demonstrate core competencies in their chosen professional field in the
assessment and diagnosis of Autism and or ADHD.

5.2 NICE Quality Standard for Autism (QS51)

1) People with possible autism who are referred to an autism team for a diagnostic
assessment have the diagnostic assessment started within 3 months of their
referral.

2) People having a diagnostic assessment for autism are also assessed for coexisting
physical health conditions and mental health problems.

3) People with autism have a personalised plan that is developed and implemented in

NHS STANDARD CONTRACT

2020/21 — 2024/25 PARTICULARS (Full Length)
Page 274 14



NHS STANDARD CONTRACT 2020/21 — 2024/25 PARTICULARS (Full Length)

partnership between them and their family and carers (if appropriate) and the autism
team.

4) People with autism are offered a named key worker to coordinate the care and
support detailed in their personalised plan.

5) People with autism have a documented discussion with a member of the autism
team about opportunities to take part in age-appropriate psychosocial interventions
to help address the core features of autism.

6) People with autism are not prescribed medication to address the core features of
autism.

7) People with autism who develop behaviour that challenges services are assessed
for possible triggers, including physical health conditions, mental health problems
and environment factors.

People with autism and behaviour that challenges services are not offered antipsychotic
medication for the behaviour unless it is being considered because of psychosocial or other
interventions are insufficient or cannot be delivered because of the severity of the behaviour.

5.2.1 Applicable standards set out in Guidance and/or issued by a competent body
(e.g. Royal Colleges)

The Royal College for General Practitioners has set autism as a clinical priority for 2014-17
to ensure that doctors and clinicians have appropriate training as detailed in the Autism
Strategy for England.

The Adult Autism Strategy for England 2010 key recommendations and duties are:-

1. Improved training of professionals in autism
2. The recommendation to develop autism teams
3. Actions for better planning and commissioning of services, including people with
autism their parents/carers
4. Actions for improving access to diagnosis and post diagnostic support.
5. Leadership structures at national, regional and local levels for delivery.
Proposals for reviewing the strategy to make sure that it is still working

5.2.2 Applicable local standards

¢ Maximum 3 month wait from referral to assessment to commence dependent on
demand (in accordance with NICE Quality Statement 51).

e Maximum of 4 month wait from referral to completion of assessment dependent on
demand

e Maximum of 4 weeks from completion of assessment to provision of written report
with recommendations

e Assessments are to follow agreed protocol detailed in the Standard Operating Policy
and Process documentation (providers own policies & procedures).

e The quality and consistency of assessments and recommendation reports may be
subject to audit to ensure quality standards are evidenced and maintained.

¢ Responsive to commissioner requests in relation to quality assurance.

o Key Performance Indicators (KPIs), as detailed in section 6.3, are to be reported to
commissioners on a quarterly basis. These KPI submissions will be a standing
agenda item on the regular contract performance meetings.

e Patient satisfaction feedback to be used to inform service improvements and
developments in partnership with commissioners. As set out in the NHS Friends &
Family Test Guidance documentation.

5.2.3 Applicable Standards for Complex Autism Services

The Service will function within an evidenced-based core Clinical Model of Care, using a
framework of Positive Behaviour Support Approach and Values, that is Person-Centred and
supports individuals in the therapeutic delivery of:

e TEACCH (teach, expand, appreciate, collaborate, cooperate & holistic)

e SPELL (structure, positive, empathy, low arousal & links)

NHS STANDARD CONTRACT

2020/21 — 2024/25 PARTICULARS (Full Length)
Page 275 15



NHS STANDARD CONTRACT 2020/21 — 2024/25 PARTICULARS (Full Length)

PBS (Positive Behaviour Support)Values (theories and evidence base)
Sensory Sensitivities
Work with specialist Mental Health services for Comorbid Mental Health conditions
Identifies and mitigates Risks & Risk Management planning
Where appropriate, support service user involvement / development and carer
involvement within care plans
The service will deliver (and or support) the functions and following processes:
e Staff training programmes (CPD) specific to the needs of the service
e Offer advice and consultancy to partner agencies who are joint working with
individuals within the service
e  Work within a multidisciplinary team of wider health and social care professionals
where lead care coordination will be based on severity of presenting needs
o Use approved referral care pathways across Kent & Medway
e All NICE Quality Standard for Autism (QS51).

TBD

The provider/s will source suitable accommodation across Kent & Medway in order to deliver
accessible services.

Hub & outreach spoke models of coverage should be defined and agreed with
commissioners and subject to codesign changes

7.1 Complex Autism Services

The Kent and Medway Transforming Care Partnership (TCP) had a total of 78 adults in
specialist CCG or NHSE commissioned in-patient beds on 31 January 2018. More than a
quarter of these (N=21) had a primary diagnosis of ASC.

¢ CCG commissioned in-patients = 7 (Inc. 1 from Medway)

e NHSE commissioned in-patients = 14 (Inc. 3 from Medway)

Whilst it is a key objective of the Kent & Medway TCP to reduce the above numbers in
treatment, this transformation is expected to take place only where individuals are ready to
be returned to community settings. Clinical expertise and individual / carer and family wishes
are all incorporated into any decisions taken.

7.1.2 The complex autism service & specialist rehabilitation providers:

Waterstones (Stonebridge House)

e Clinical interventions of the MDT on an ‘in-reach’ basis to individuals from Kent and
Medway who are placed with the Waterstone (Stonebridge House) complex autism
bespoke Residential Assessment/Rehabilitation Accommodation.

o Where the residence of Waterstone in Maidstone is required for treatment /
placement stays - the clinical lead will take any final decisions on the safeguarding
practice for the placement of individuals within the residential treatment unit of
Waterstone. This is to ensure that any individuals are not placed ‘at risk’ within this

NHS STANDARD CONTRACT

2020/21 — 2024/25 PARTICULARS (Full Length)
Page 276 16



NHS STANDARD CONTRACT 2020/21 — 2024/25 PARTICULARS (Full Length)

residence and or placement would lead to the detriment of current and or future
placement needs.

e Funding decisions on placements will be followed in line with set protocols, shared
and or split cost arrangements between heath & social care will be followed and
authorisation will come from CCG commissioners (for health) or social care
placements (via social care authorised manager)

The complex service MDT combined with bespoke placements are expected to provide a
comprehensive local alternative to ongoing hospital care or hospital admission for people
with ASC.

NHS STANDARD CONTRACT

2020/21 — 2024/25 PARTICULARS (Full Length)
Page 277

17




This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda Item 7
Item 7: System Commissioner Update

By: Kay Goldsmith, Scrutiny Research Officer
To: Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee, 29 January 2020

Subject: System Commissioner Update

Summary: This report invites the Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee to
consider the information provided by NHS England/ NHS Improvement.

It provides background information which may prove useful to Members.

1) Introduction

a) HOSC has received regular updates since January 2018 on the merger of the
eight Kent and Medway CCGs into a single entity. The last update to the
Committee was received on 19 September 2019, prior to the STP submitting
their application to NHS England.

b) The Kent and Medway STP announced on 21 October 2019 that NHS
England had given conditional approval for the merger and the formation of a
single CCG.

C) The STP have provided the attached report and invite the Committee to
comment on its contents.

2. Recommendation

RECOMMENDED that the Committee note and provide comment on the report.

Glossary of abbreviations

CCG Clinical Commissioning Group

ICP Integrated Care Partnership

ICS Integrated Care System

PCN Primary Care Network

STP Sustainability and Transformation Partnership

Page 279



Item 7: System Commissioner Update

Background Documents

Kent County Council (2018) ‘Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee (26/01/2018)’,
https://democracy.kent.qgov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?Cld=112&MId=7639&Ver=4

Kent County Council (2018) ‘Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee
(27/04/2018)’,https://democracy.kent.gov.uk/mgAi.aspx?I1D=47975

Kent County Council (2018) Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee (23/11/2018)’,
https://democracy.kent.qgov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?Cld=112&MId=7923&Ver=4

Kent County Council (2019) Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee (06/06/2019)’,
https://democracy.kent.qgov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?Cld=112&MId=8281&Ver=4

Kent County Council (2019) Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee (19/09/2019)’,
https://democracy.kent.qgov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?Cld=112&MId=8283&Ver=4

Contact Details

Kay Goldsmith

Scrutiny Research Officer
kay.goldsmith@kent.gov.uk
03000 416512

Page 280


https://democracy.kent.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=112&MId=7639&Ver=4
https://democracy.kent.gov.uk/mgAi.aspx?ID=47975
https://democracy.kent.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=112&MId=7923&Ver=4
https://democracy.kent.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=112&MId=8281&Ver=4
https://democracy.kent.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=112&MId=8283&Ver=4
mailto:kay.goldsmith@kent.gov.uk

HEALTH
OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE
29 JANUARY 2020

DEVELOPMENT OF SINGLE KENT AND MEDWAY
CLINICAL COMMISSIONING GROUP

Report from: Glenn Douglas, Accountable Officer Kent and
Medway CCGs

Dr Bob Bowes, Chair of Kent and Medway System
Commissioner Steering Group

Simon Perks, Director of System Transformation

Author: Mike Gilbert, Transitional Director of Corporate
Affairs, Kent and Medway CCGs

Summary

At its meeting in June 2019, the HOSC received briefings on the proposed
development of an integrated care system across Kent and Medway and was
informed about the proposed establishment of:

e A single CCG operating at a Kent and Medway level from April 2020 (formed
through the merger of the existing eight CCGs)

e Integrated Care Partnerships, operating across local geographies of circa
250,000 to 750,000 resident population

e GP-led Primary Care Networks (PCNs), serving a registered population of
circa 30,000 to 50,000, acting as the provider and delivery vehicle for local
care.

This briefing provides an update summary of the work to date in establishing these
arrangements, and in particular the development of the single CCG.

The Committee is asked to NOTE and COMMENT on the update.

1. Recap on Policy Framework and Background

1.1 The NHS Long Term Plan sets an expectation that integrated care systems
will be established across the country by April 2021, with the driver and
intended benefits being the refocus of commissioning and care provision on
population health needs and addressing inequalities (unacceptable
differences in health and life expectancy for some communities compared to
others).

1.2  The national plan is clear that streamlined commissioning arrangements will
be required to enable a consistent set of decisions and outcomes at a system
level. CCGs will become leaner, more population centric organisations that
support care providers (through integrated care partnerships) to partner with

Page 281




1.3

1.4

1.5

2.1

other local organisations to deliver improved health and well-being, local
service redesign and implement the requirements of the Long Term Plan.

In Kent and Medway, work along these lines has been underway for some
time. However, whilst there have been many achievements over the past six
years, there remain significant challenges that our existing organisations and
arrangements have not been able to address and which have impacted
negatively on care and outcomes. As a result system leaders in Kent and
Medway developed a plan for an integrated care system to address these
challenges through:

o Consistent outcomes being set at a ‘system’ level to reduce health
inequalities and inequity, whilst enabling local partnerships greater
freedom to decide how they develop and offer care to meet these
outcomes

o Accelerated decision making and a more collective and responsive
approach to addressing major challenges across Kent and Medway
and reducing inequity of care

o Less competition and greater collaboration between partners
o Primary care services working as equals alongside the larger local
providers.

Central to our plans is the establishment of a single CCG across Kent and
Medway. This will provide a real opportunity to achieve commissioning at
scale led by experienced local clinicians, backed up by service design and
delivery at a more local level.

KCC continues to be actively involved in this work at a number of levels,
including membership of:

o Kent and Medway Sustainability and Transformation Partnership (STP)
Programme Board

o STP Non-Executive Directors Oversight Group
o System Transformation Executive Board
o Kent and Medway Clinical and Professional Board

o Joint Kent and Medway Health and Well-Being Board

Update on the establishment of a Kent and Medway CCG

During 2019, the eight CCGs further developed their case for change and
application to merge. A huge amount of work was undertaken resulting in:

o The development of workforce and organisational development
strategies and plans

o Benefits realisation mapping for the new CCG
Page 282



2.2

2.3

2.4

2.5

o Refinement of the Kent and Medway ‘One Team’ approach, previously
shared with partners

o A comprehensive engagement and communication strategy following
numerous stakeholder meetings and briefings across Kent and
Medway and engagement with the public: this resulted in the
publication of the report ‘Engaging with local people and our partners -
you said, we did’

o Financial mapping and development of a medium term financial plan,
linked to the K&M response to the national Long Term Plan

o Preparing the case for change document based on the above work

o Development of a single governance structure for the new organisation,
taking in to account the need to reflect both a local and a system wide
approach

o Detailed mapping, programme planning and risk assessment at

individual function level, to ensure all aspects of current CCG work was
fully understood and played in to the merger plans.

The merger application, including the above suite of documents were
presented to each of the current CCG Governing Bodies and GP membership
meetings during September and approved (with over 75% of the GP
membership that voted in each CCG area approving the proposals). A copy
of the CCG application and case for change is attached at Appendix 1.

Following presentation of the case for change to the NHS England mergers
panel, conditional approval was given in October for the establishment of a
Kent and Medway CCG from 1 April 2020. This gave the ‘green light’ for
formal merger preparations to commence and these are now well underway.

The NHS England conditions are:

o Approval of the new CCG’s constitution: the new constitution must
comply with legislation, guidance and be assessed as being otherwise
appropriate. (This is a generic condition for all mergers)

o Appointment to all statutory Governing Body roles. This relates to the
CCG Accountable Officer, Chief Finance Officer, CCG Chair and the
four independent and lay members. (This is a generic condition for all
mergers)

o In year delivery of the CCG’s and system wide financial recover plans
and acceptable plans for future years

o NHSE review and lifting of legal directions for the four east Kent CCGs
linked to financial recovery planning

Delivery plans to meet the conditions and establish the CCG from April 2020
are progressing well:

o With the planned retirement of Glenn Douglas as Accountable Officer,
interviews for a permaneRbge@B@table Officer took place on 6



December. The appointment of an Accountable Officer requires CCG
Governing Body and NHS England approval. The outcome of the
appointment process is therefore expected to be publicly announced in
the next couple of weeks.

Eight GP Governing Body members and eight deputies have been
elected to sit on the Kent and Medway CCG Governing Body. This
includes the election of:

o Dr Navin Kumta, currently Clinical Chair for Ashford CCG

o Dr Simon Dunn, currently Clinical Chair for Canterbury and
Coastal CCG.
o Dr Sarah MacDermott, currently Clinical Chair for Dartford,

Gravesham and Swanley CCG

o Dr Peter Green, currently Clinical Chair for Medway CCG

o Dr Jonathan Bryant, currently Clinical Chair for South Kent Coast
CCG

. Dr Joyanta Sahu, currently a Governing Body member for Swale
CCG.

. Dr Ashwani Peshen, currently Deputy Clinical Chair for Thanet
CCG

o Dr Bob Bowes, currently CCG Clinical Chair for West Kent CCG.

Dr Navin Kumta has been elected from the eight GP Governing Body
members as The Kent and Medway CCG Clinical Chair.

Appointments to the other Governing Body member roles including the
independent lay member for patient and public engagement will be
made during January.

Appointment to a permanent Chief Finance Officer and Chief Nurse for
the CCG will commence during January, following consultation with
existing CCG incumbents

A transitional CCG senior management team has been in place for a
number of months. Following appointment of the Accountable Officer a
permanent senior management team will be appointed from spring
2020

Kent and Medway is currently on track to meet the financial control
totals agreed with NHS England at the start of the year, albeit a number
of risks to delivery remain. It is hoped that the financial directions
placed on the east Kent CCGs in 2019 will be lifted prior to April 2020

The new CCG Constitution and supporting corporate documents have
been submitted to NHSE for approval

Page 284



2.6

2.7

Nine CCG work streams have been established, led by existing CCG directors
to oversee the merger. These include: commissioning, HR and OD,
communications and engagement, digital, finance, and corporate services.

Importantly, work has also commenced on the development of the population
health function which will be a core component of the new organisation
alongside the commissioning function. This will involve working with partners
and other agencies to ensure services are effectively commissioned and
provided based on population health and well-being. The focus will be on
developing outcomes and care standards that address inequity and inequality
and raise care outcomes and health and well-being standards. Thisis a
critical ambition that will require concerted effort and focus across the
integrated care system over a number of years: as one of the system leaders,
the CCG will need to play a pivotal role in this regard.

Transition (post April 2020)

2.8

2.9

2.10

2.11

2.12

The next couple of years will continue to be transitional, as the integrated care
system across Kent and Medway takes shape. In particular, GP led primary
care networks will be further developed and formal establishment of integrated
care partnerships is expected from 2021. During this time the CCG will
continue to host the majority of its existing functions until such time as the
ICPs are ready to hold contracts and take on some of the CCG’s current
responsibilities.

In addition, Kent and Medway STP programmes will be hosted by the new
CCG, with STP staff transferring alongside staff from the eight CCG’s to the
new organisation from April: CCG and STP staff will transfer to the Kent and
Medway CCG under their current terms and conditions.

The STP Programme Board will continue until the integrated care system is
formally established later in the year, when a new ICS Partnership Board will
be established.

No staff will transfer on to the new integrated care partnerships until the CCG
is fully assured that the ICPs are ready and able to take on new
responsibilities, and the necessary staff consultations have taken place.
Whilst this is not expected until the end of 2020 at the earliest, some CCG
staff will continue to lead on ICP portfolios over the preparatory year. In the
meantime CCG commissioning and patient facing teams such as medicines
optimisation and primary care teams will start to work in a more integrated
way with the emerging ICP providers, whilst retaining their employment with
the CCG. Also, and as with provider employed staff, there will be
opportunities for CCG staff to be seconded into ICP roles to ensure they are
not disadvantaged.

Commissioning support and back-office teams across Kent and Medway
CCGs will also work in a more consistent and streamlined way, with single
operating procedures and systems being put in place. This work is already
underway. As an example, within the corporate services function, which
includes information governance, audit, risk, CCG estate, complaints, and
committee services; a single structure has already been developed across
Kent and Medway by the teams and is being consulted on with an expectation
that this will be implemented in the New Year. This will reduce duplication,
ensure consistency, enable staff&88p%kll in key areas and ‘level up’ the



service offer to other CCG functions. It will also improve resilience across the
wider system.

Development of the Integrated Care Partnerships:

2.13 As previous noted, four ICPs have been confirmed across Kent and Medway:
Medway and Swale, East Kent, West Kent, and Dartford, Gravesham and
Swanley. Medway and Swale ICP will cover the whole of the existing Medway
and Swale CCG areas.

2.14 Nationally, ICPs are provider led collaboratives, including primary care and
voluntary sector organisations, operating across a population of up to 750,000
residents. In Kent and Medway, the ICPs also include equal stakeholder
involvement, providers and health and local authority commissioning
colleagues. The development of ICPs is a shift from the competitive internal
market and once fully established it is planned that ICPs will hold a single
contract with the CCG, enabling local system partners to decide collectively
how services are developed and provided.

2.15 Whilst the three ICPs in the Kent area are still in their early stages of
development, good progress is being made. KCC colleagues are actively
involved in the three ICP leadership board and working groups.

2.16 The current ICP operating models, with associated work streams, are being
developed to deliver the agreed systems outcomes for success and shared
vision as set out in 2018.

2.17 At the core of the operating model is the principle of co-production and
transparency.

2.18 All system commissioning and provider partners have leadership roles in
respect of chairing working groups and there is open membership of each
group to all partners. This deliberate model was introduced to give parity of
ownership and control; therefore allowing all ICP organisations to be
collectively responsible for the success of the workstreams, board and ICPs
future as a whole.

2.19 Itis well understood that in the four Kent and Medway ICPs not one
organisation alone is able to mobilise and manage the ICP in its totality and
therefore all members are collectively reliant on all system partners to
succeed.

2.20 The 2020 shadow operating model has been designed to transition the
system to ICP full mobilisation with the least amount of disruption and will
ensure that the previous system structures will be redesigned and fit for
purpose when the ICP mobilises its contract.

3 Risk management

3.1 There continues to be a full risk management framework in place for the
system transformation programme and in particular the CCG merger
programme. Risks are proactively managed through internal governance
controls and reported through the governance framework to CCG Governing
Bodies and the STP Programme Board as required.

Page 286



3.2 The largest risk being managed at present is ensuring sufficient resourcing of
the merger and transformation programmes alongside delivering business as
usual, particularly during the intense winter months.

4 Engagement

4.1  As part of our merger application we were required to evidence how we
effectively engaged and discussed our proposals with a range of
stakeholders, including the public and Healthwatch. A large number of
stakeholder and public briefings were held during the summer and autumn of
2019, the outcomes form which played in to our merger application and the
‘you said, we did’ document at Appendix 2.

4.2 In addition, a number of public and stakeholder briefings were held linked to
the development of our plans in response to the NHS Long Term Plan: during
the summer and autumn we ran a range of engagement activities to test our
thinking and help shape our local priorities.

4.3  We continue to work with GP Members, the Patient and Public Advisory
Group, Healthwatch and local stakeholder groups as we further develop and
roll out our plans.

4.4  We also continue to engage with and seek the active contribution of our staff.
We held a county-wide staff away day in the autumn and further events are
planned for January and February. This is alongside the formal staff
consultations that are required as part of the CCG merger programme

5 Financial implications

5.1  There are no financial implications to Kent County Council arising directly from
this report.

6 Legal implications

6.1 A number of formal commissioning agreements are held between the Council
and the Kent CCGs. As part of the merger process we are planning to review
these prior to any novation or amendment.

7 Recommendations

7.1 The Committee is asked to NOTE and COMMENT on the update.

Lead officer contact

Simon Perks

Director of System Transformation
Kent & Medway STP

Email: simon.perks@nhs.net

Appendices

1. Kent and Medway CCG’s merger application and summary case for change
2. Engaging with local people andrageaBirers — You said, we did


mailto:simon.perks@nhs.net

This page is intentionally left blank



Kent and Medway
Clinical Commissioning Groups

Merger Application

Summary Case For Change

Version: 1.0
Page 289 September 2019



Table of contents

1 Executive summary 1
Introduction 3
3 Background 4

4 Case for change — the Kent and Medway context

4.1 Our population — the needs of local people 6
4.2 Our track record and challenges 7
4.3 Joint working to date 10
4.4 Our financial position 12

5 Case for change — Our ambition ‘Quality of life, quality of care’

5.1 Our commissioning strategy 14

5.2 Our proposed operating framework 17

5.3 Realising our potential — benefits realisation 18

5.4 Our workforce 21

5.5 Communication and engagement 22

5.6 Our merger plan 23
Appendices

Appendix 1: Combined impact assessment

Appendix 2: Kent and Medway partners

Appendix 3: 2018 Clinical case for change

Appendix 4: System transformation programme project initiation document
Appendix 5: Population health review

Appendix 6a and 6b: Future functions summary and detail

Appendix 7: Interim system operating framework

Appendix 8: Benefits realisation plan

Appendix 9: Medium term financial plan and financial allocations policy
Appendix 10: Proposed operating framework and governance arrangements
Appendix 11: Transitional organisational structure

Appendix 12: Kent and Medway system workforce transformation strategy
Appendix 13: NHS Kent and Medway CCG workforce and OD transition plan
Appendix 14: Communications and engagement plan

Appendix 15: "You said, we did’ report

Appendix 16: Merger programme plan

Appendix 17: Corporate risk register

Appendix 20: Workstream resourcing J“ e
Supporting documents to NHSE application

Appendix 18: Procurement plan for CCG support services

Appendix 19: Completed application template setting delivery against merger criteria.

Page 290



T Executive summary

The eight Kent and Medway (K&M) clinical commissioning groups (CCGs) are
pleased and excited to submit this application to become a single commissioner.
We are looking forward to presenting and discussing our case for change with NHS
England and NHS Improvement (NHSE/I) at the beginning of October 2019.

Our primary objective is to enable people living across Kent and Medway to have

a great quality of life and high-quality care. While significant strides have been
taken to collaborate as well as work more closely with our partners and providers to
achieve this goal, it is now a matter of urgency that we build on and accelerate
this joint working to address some of our key local challenges. Progressing this
application, particularly clarifying the benefits we expect, has cemented our long
term and collective view that we need to move forward with a merger at pace. This
will unlock short and long-term advantages, which will not be achieved
without a change to the current arrangements.

The benefits

1. Redirection of clinical and management resources closer to
local front-line services and our patients

The proposed merger is a fundamental building block for a successful integrated care system (ICS),

a necessary pre-cursor to innovative, vibrant and patient-centric primary care networks (PCNs)

and integrated care providers (ICPs). The merger will allow us to bring together CCG clinical and
managerial time to deal with the critical issues facing us now, and to redirect resource and effort to
the PCNs and ICPs and therefore closer to the health and social care frontline. Without a single
commissioner in place, our ability to redirect resources, while addressing current pressures,
will be hampered. It will take longer before our proposals for a fresh, shrewder approach to
commissioning, provision and the new ICS result in tangible improvements.

2. Development of a coherent service strategy and acceleration
of an outcomes-based approach to commissioning and service
delivery ultimately improving patients’ health, wellbeing and
experience of our services:

The K&M CCGs, partners and providers are committed to a new way of working and have been
working towards an ICS for many months through the wider system transformation programme. As a
cornerstone of the ICS, a single commissioner will:

¢ allow a more coherent commissioning strategy for K&M as a whole (including more specialised
areas such as digital, workforce and estates)

¢ enable and oversee a consistent outcomes-based approach to commissioning across the system
with our partners and providers moving away from bilateral, payment by results (PBR) contracts to
financial and contractual frameworks that target population health improvement and maximise the
potential for prevention

¢ provide oversight and insight across a larger area helping us identify and share best practice, deliver
consistency in commissioning approach and expected outcomes, as well as help address inequity
and inequality across K&M. Page 291

1



3. De-duplication and delivery of nationally mandated 20%
CCG running costs reduction

¢ The establishment of a K&M-wide programme/workstreams has partly mitigated duplication of
effort across eight CCGs and a complex local system. However, the current myriad layers of
commissioning management and governance can more than double our ‘speed to market’
and often dilute the bold and innovative proposals. This hampers our ability to address our
short and long-term constitutional and financial challenges. The K&M CCG savings requirement for
2020/21 is £4.7m, which is achievable if we merge.

Tackling the risks

Engagement on the merger with CCG constituents, staff, patients and partners has highlighted
perceived risks to a single commissioning organisation. These have been addressed through, for
example, the proposed organisational design or funding commitments. Our local conversations
highlighted a recurring theme relating to the potential loss of the local, clinical voice engendered by
our current CCGs. Aside from the establishment of PCNs, which will provide that vital ‘ear to the
ground’ the following commitments have been agreed:

¢ the new CCG will always be GP-led, with a GP governing body majority including a GP from
each current CCG until at least April 2022 and clinical representation/leadership where appropriate
on all committees

¢ a full and robust development programme for PCNs enabling effective leadership within the
emerging integrated care system.

¢ strong local patient and public representation from the CCG governing body down to individual
PCNs e.g. maintenance of patient and public lay members’ effort and funding.

Conversely, the risks of not moving to a single organisation at pace will be the potential inability to
answer, at scale, our current major challenges. Examples include constitutional standards and financial
sustainability, loss of momentum in development of the ICS, ICPs and PCNs, and a loss of confidence
in us by staff and the public, following perceived failure to follow up on the merger engagement work
carried out to date.

In short, an early merger will
accelerate our vision and plans,
simplify, significantly reduce
inefficiency and unnecessary
<2 | duplication of effort and reap
benefits for our patients sooner
rather than later. The merger is on
our critical path to achieving better
health and financial outcomes. It
is the natural, next step for K&M
and builds on the progress we have
already made to date.

Glenn Douglas

Accountable Officer for the Kent and Medway
Clinical Commissioning Groups

Page 292

2



2 Introduction

The NHS Long Term Plan (LTP) sets an expectation that ICSs will be established across the country
by April 2021. These will be based on existing sustainability and transformation partnership (STP)
footprints. They will refocus commissioning and care provision on improving population health and
wellbeing, address inequity and, where it is within our ability, health inequalities — the unacceptable
differences in health and life expectancy for some communities compared to others.

The LTP is clear that each ICS will need streamlined commissioning arrangements to enable a
consistent set of decisions to be made at system level. CCGs will become leaner, more strategic
organisations that support care providers through ICPs to partner with other local organisations to
deliver population health, care transformation and implement the requirements of the LTP. They will
also develop enhanced management capability for more specialist functions, such as estates, digital
and workforce.

In K&M, we have been working towards the vision set out above for many months. We recognise
that while K&M has many achievements to be proud of over recent years, there are a number of
fundamental challenges (Section 4.2) we have not yet been able to tackle and which have impacted
negatively on individual patient experience, care and wellbeing. Two of the primary reasons for this
are the complexity and fragmentation of the current system and the inefficient duplication of effort.
Partners across K&M agree that merger gives us the opportunity to act and address some of the
challenges that have faced us for many years.

This application is a fundamental building block in establishing an ICS across K&M. Specifically, it

is an application to dissolve all eight of the existing CCGs in K&M and establish a new single CCG
from 1 April 2020. The new organisation will be called the NHS Kent and Medway Clinical
Commissioning Group and will cover the full geographical area of the existing eight CCGs.

This application is being made in accordance with national guidance and each of the eight CCGs’
constitutions. It has been approved by each of the CCG governing bodies and their GP memberships
(TBQ).

The application has been developed in accordance with the Equality Act 2010 and specifically
the requirements of the Public Sector Equality Duty. A copy of the combined (equality) impact
assessment (ClA) is attached as Appendix 1.

Specifically, it is an
application to dissolve
all eight of the existing

CCGs in K&M from

31 March 2020 and
establish a new single
CCG from 1 April 2020

Page 293

3



3 Background

High-level information regarding the eight K&M CCGs is provided below:

Total

Population Practices CCG budget

2019/20 £m’s
Ashford CCG 135,242 11 £179.5
Canterbury and Coastal CCG 210,353 14 £320.0
Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley CCG 274,881 28 £386.2
Medway CCG 302,150 45 £441.7
South Kent Coast CCG 221,148 28 £338.3
Swale CCG 115,565 16 £175.5
Thanet CCG 167,172 14 £245.8
West Kent CCG 460,000 55 £682.0
Total 1,886,511 211 £2,778

* Total budget includes primary care commissioning budget and CCG management cost budget.

Total health and social care spend including specialised services across K&M is approximately £4bn
per annum.

The eight CCGs combined cover the coterminous areas of Kent County Council (KCC) and Medway
Unitary Authority. Kent includes the city of Canterbury in the east and the large market (county) town
of Maidstone in the west. The large conurbation of Medway in the north includes the main towns of
Chatham and Gillingham. Thanet in the east is one of most deprived areas in England.

Sheerness

Margate

Dartford,
Gravesham and Whitstable
Swanley CCG

Broadstairs

Ramsgate

Canterbury and
Coastal CCG

Deal

South Kent
Coast CCG

Folkestone

Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley Integrated Care Partnership
Medway and Swale Integrated Care Partnership

West Kent Integrated Care Partnership

East Kent Integrated Care Partnership

Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley locality boundary

Medway and Swale locality boundary

West Kent locality boundary

East Kent locality boundary

This large geographical area (1,368 square miles) includes many towns and villages and rural areas,
particularly in the south and east of the county; and more urban and light industrial towns in the north
and the west. The county has a very long coastline and is a major transitory route for the continent
through the port of Dover and Channel Tunnel in Folkestone. The number of people living in Kent and
Medway is approximately 1.8 million, which is expected to grow to 2.1 million in 2031.

Many of the organisations that make up the K&M health and (integrated) care system are detailed in
the Kent and Medway partners document, AppendixPage 294

4



Section 4

The
Kent and
Medway

context




4 Case for change: the K&M context

Section 4 provides further context for our local case for change. It includes

a high-level view of the current health and wellbeing of our population, our
track record as a nascent ICS, key challenges and our current, collective financial
position.

4.1 Our population — the needs of local people

The needs of local people drive local requirements for health and social care. The appended K&M case
for change 2018 (Appendix 3), published by the Clinical and Professional Board includes details of the
key population health issues facing the area, which will continue to inform our ICS priorities and work
plan. The key headlines are:

Population growth

From 2011 to 2031, planned housing developments are expected to bring an additional
414,000 people to K&M in circa 190,000 new homes.

Living longer, but with additional health needs

The number of older people is growing quickly and older people tend to use health and
social care services more than other age groups. Growth in the number of over 65s is over
four times greater than those under 65; an ageing population means increasing demand
for health and social care, for example, there are currently around 12,000 people living with
dementia in K&M.

Inequalities

There are widespread health inequalities across K&M with a large difference in average
life expectancy across wards. For example, men residing in the most deprived areas live on
average eight years less than those living in the least deprived.

Preventable long-term conditions

@
Eff
Over half a million people, including 19,000 children under the age of 16, live with one or
more significant long-term health conditions, many of which are preventable. Furthermore,
many of these people have multiple long-term health conditions; and on average total spend
on a person with a long-term condition is six times more than on someone who is healthy.

Mental health

The prevalence of mental health disorders in K&M is generally in line with the rest of England,
but mental health problems disproportionately affect people living in the most deprived areas. L
Approximately, one in 10 children aged between five and 16 years has a diagnosable mental

Children and young people

The health and wellbeing of children is a significant determinant of physical and emotional
wellbeing all the way through to adulthood. The current issues facing children and young
people include an average of 20% being obese or overweight, rising to nearly 30% in some
areas; inadequate vaccination coverage; and just under half of all looked after children being
at higher risk of developing a mental health disorder. Clinical standards for paediatric and
maternity services are also not being met.

health problem. Self-harm can be a useful mental health indicator and in K&M, self-harm rates .
have risen steadily since 2007. In Kent, there were around 5,900 admissions to hospital last year w

for self-harm and in Medway, there were nearly 600.

Page 296

6



4.2 Our track record and challenges

K&M has much to be proud of. The vast majority of its population receives good care and treatment.
There are many services that provide high-quality care, day after day and will continue

to do so. Indeed, since the establishment of CCGs in 2013, the NHS and social care in K&M have
had a number of successes making changes to local services and improving patient outcomes:

¢ Out of hospital care. Over the past couple of years, there has been a wide-spread introduction
of GP-led multidisciplinary teams across K&M, working both proactively to manage the health of
people with multiple health conditions, and reactively to treat them at home when they suddenly
deteriorate. More services are being provided out of hospital such as multi-disciplinary teams in
Medway, Canterbury and Ashford, diabetes care in west Kent, cataract clinics in Herne Bay and
urgent home visiting service in south Kent. The key now is to ‘industrialise’ these schemes where
they are making a real difference to secure better care outcomes.

¢ Acute stroke services. More than 3,000 people are treated for a stroke in K&M each year.
Although hospital staff provide the best service they can, our local hospitals do not consistently
meet the national standards for clinical quality because of their configuration. Following a huge
amount of work over the past two years including a public consultation, the CCGs recently
approved plans for the provision of three acute and hyper acute stroke units across K&M.

¢ Reductions in smoking prevalence. In the first six months of 2017, K&M recorded the highest
success rates for people quitting smoking for the whole of England: 65% of smokers who attended
drop in clinics in Kent, and 58% of smokers who used telephone support services in Medway,
managed to stop smoking In Kent, only 15.2% of the adult population now smokes and in Medway
the proportion of smokers is 19%.

¢ Sustained reduction in teenage pregnancy. The conception rate among under 18s has been
steadily declining in K&M. This is as a result of years of multi-agency collaboration to ensure third
sector organisations, school nurses and clinicians work together to deliver services tailored to
young people.

¢ Diabetes prevention programme. The NHS Diabetes Prevention Programme (NDPP) is the first
attempt to prevent Type 2 diabetes at a national scale anywhere in the world. Medway CCG and
Medway Council’s Public Health Team were one of the seven demonstrator sites to pilot this work.
The learning from the pilots, including the adoption of a primary care case finding tool developed
in Medway, has been used to inform the wider roll out across England. The NDPP has now been
successfully rolled out across Kent.

e Eating disorder services. Services have now been redesigned to ensure there is no longer an
access limit to those below a certain body mass index or an artificial divide between children’s and
adult services. The focus is instead strongly on the early intervention for all ages, which in turn
improves individual patient outcomes and wellbeing and in the longer term reduces costs to
the NHS.

However, while we have a lot to be proud of, there remain a number of fundamental
challenges where the health and care system in K&M needs further focus and work:

Public health, prevention and inconsistency

* Only 2% of health and social care funding in K&M is spent on public health interventions to reduce
the risk of avoidable disease and disability

¢ Around one in five primary school children are overweight or obese

e There are stark health inequalities across K&M. Around 1,600 early deaths each year could have
been avoided with the right help and support early. This is a particular issue for people who live in
deprived areas and/or who have a severe mental illness.

¢ Inequity of service provision. Services commissioned and provided across K&M vary by CCG.

Page 297

7




Some of this is appropriate as the needs of the local populations differ. However, there are also
inconsistencies in service provision which we need to address as a nascent ICS. While a single K&M
CCG will not prescribe how local services are delivered, it will stipulate consistent and equitable
minimum expected care and well-being outcomes across the system.

Capacity and capability

¢ Significant workforce issues. In Kent and Medway, we are behind the national average in terms of
workforce growth. Our workforce supply has decreased for most workforce groups, with 6,820 full
time equivalent vacancies, as depicted in the table below:

Workforce full-time equivalent (FTE)

In Kent and March 2018 (FTE)

Medway we employ | Sccialcare 42,500
more than 83,800 CIFnicaI commissioners 530
Primary Care 3,630

people across more |, . e 3,080
than 350 health and Mental Health 3,670
social care roles. Community 4,810

Acute 18,750

Vacancies 6,820

¢ Some services for seriously ill people in K&M find it hard to run round-the-clock and meet
expected standards of care: all stroke patients who are medically suitable should get clot-busting
drugs within 60 minutes of arriving at hospital. None of the hospitals in our area currently achieves
this for all patients.

e
wih-

e LUS

gl




Complexity

The current commissioning system is far too complex and bureaucratic.

K&M example 1: Acute stroke services review

Initial papers and proposals were required to go through a number of individual CCG
committees and other meetings. At one point, nearly 50 formal committee meetings over a
six-month period were planned. The subsequent establishment of a joint committee for stroke
services reduced the bureaucracy in this instance, but such solutions can only go so far given the
current complexity of our system.

Standards and outcomes

¢ People with mental ill health have poor outcomes: the average life expectancy for people with
severe mental illness is 15 to 20 years less than the average for other adults as their physical health
needs are less likely to be met.

e Cancer care regularly does not meet national standards: for instance waiting times for diagnostic
tests, to see a specialist and for treatment.

e Every day around one in three people in a hospital bed could get the health and social care support
they need out of hospital, if the right services were available.

¢ Services and outcomes for people with long-term conditions are poor: as many as four in 10
emergency hospital admissions could be avoided if the right care was available outside hospital.

Finance

¢ We are not able to live within our means: it is estimated that by the end of this financial year
(2019/20) the NHS in K&M will have overspent its planned budgets by £153m. This is excluding
the benefit of non-recurrent support from the commissioner support fund and provider support
fund, which reduces this overspend to circa £54m. Services could be run more productively:
around £190m of savings could be made if services were run as efficiently as top performing
areas in England.

Supplementary track record information

In September 2017, NHS Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley CCG was placed under directions by NHS
England as a result of not meeting statutory financial duties with associated concerns regarding the
capacity and capability of the senior leadership team. The CCG was released of these interventions in
March 2018, having assured NHSE/I of the required improvements in both areas.

In May 2019, NHS Ashford CCG, NHS Canterbury and Coastal CCG, NHS South Kent Coast CCG

and NHS Thanet CCG were placed under directions by NHS England as a result of not achieving their
statutory financial duties. Again, this was supplemented with concerns regarding leadership capacity.
The CCGs are implementing an agreed joint financial recovery and management plan and they hope
to be lifted from directions before the end of the current financial year. It is anticipated the current
programme of work, as well as the benefits of a single CCG, (detailed in section 5.3 and appendix

8) including simplification, accelerated decision making, implementation of an outcomes-based/
population health approach to commissioning will significantly mitigate the original, underlying causes
for the east Kent directions.

All eight CCGs in K&M have delegated responsibility from NHS England for the commissioning of
primary medical care services. The CCGs plan for this to be transferred to the new K&M CCG with
effect from April 2020.

Page 299

9



4.3 Joint working to date

Despite the complexity of the local system we have a good track record of working together both as
CCGs and at a K&M system level, although this needs to go much further to enable accelerated
decision making and deliver better outcomes for our population. From a collaborative perspective we
believe that we have gone as far as we can under existing arrangements and the establishment of a
single CCG is the key catalyst required to simplify, deliver a transformational change and build a
strong K&M ICS. The following demonstrates the joint working arrangements currently in place:

CCG joint working

Six of the eight CCGs in K&M have had joint executive teams since 2013 and from 2016 governing
bodies and other committees have been meeting-in-common. In addition, independent and lay
members of CCG governing bodies have increasingly shared roles across two or more CCGs. The
establishment of the K&M STP and associated programme of work has accelerated this joint working:

e |nautumn 2017, the first K&M CCG's joint committee, for stroke services, was established to
develop the future arrangements for acute and hyper acute stroke services

e Inspring 2018:

¢ asingle accountable officer (AO) was appointed to the eight K&M CCGs. The post holder is also
the STP CEO

¢ the senior management structure of the CCGs was also revised to cover two geographical
footprint areas: east Kent (encompassing four CCGs); and Medway, north and west Kent
(encompassing the other four CCGs). A managing director was appointed to each footprint area,
reporting directly to the AO, and deputy managing directors were appointed to individual CCG
and pan-footprint portfolio areas

¢ functional teams, such as quality and safety, finance etc, started working more formally together
within the footprint areas.

¢ |nautumn 2018, a second joint committee was established with responsibility for other
commissioning services that require a pan-county response to service development and delivery.
This was because a number of critical challenges were not being effectively addressed. The
committee is currently responsible for cancer and children’s services with plans to add mental health.
A further east Kent CCGs joint committee was also established with responsibility for specific east
Kent commissioning issues, particularly relating to the proposed reconfiguration of local acute
hospital services.

e Since January 2019, the K&M CCG remuneration committees have been meeting ‘in-common’ to
ensure consistent decision making across the organisations. The CCG audit committees are also
considering this.

Page 300

10



K&M example 2: joint working

While the above joint working arrangements have progressed there have also been areas where
joint working has been more difficult to sustain. For example, prior to the establishment of CCGs
in 2013, K&M primary care trusts (PCTs) had a single contracting team and various collaborative
contracting agreements in place. While a number of these agreements continued after 2013,
they have become more disparate as a result of differing contractual approaches, more recently
linked to increasing individual financial pressures in each CCG. A merged CCG presents

an opportunity to bring consistency and efficiency to our market management,
procurement and contracting approaches, which in turn will support accelerated
improvement of financial standards.

System transformation

At a system level, the K&M STP programme board has been in place since 2016. It has membership
from the main providers and commissioners of care across the area including local authorities. The
remit of the STP has been to develop and oversee shared plans for improving system-wide quality,
health outcomes and efficiency.

The current governance structure for the K&M STP is depicted below:

STP members’ groups and governance structures

Health and Wellbeing
Boards; HOSCs;
LA Cabinets

Acute Trust

Provider Boards, CCG

Non-Executive

Director Group 0Gs, GBs and JCs

Partnership Board

STP ---i

[ | 1 ] 1
Programme Board Patient and Public [l s governance group

I Partnership Board | Advisory Group (PPAG) !
| 1

-- o ----m mow Key

. STP oversight group

r =~ Non-decision

Adwsory GI’OUpS Lol making group
Workstreams/

Clinical and programmes/
Networks delivery boards

Professional Board

.

Finance and
Finance Group Modelling Group
Estates Group
Programme and

Productivity Delivery Boards
Programme Board These may be introduced or
stood down depending upon the
needs of individual programmes.

~

Stroke Programme Primary Care East Kent
Delivery Board Delivery Board Transformation Board

Clinical programmes

System Transformation " p
y (inc. cancer, children and

Programme Governance

Mental Health Delivery Workforce Delivery Local Care

and Board (LWAB) Implementation Board

Assurance Board young people, and UEC)

In parallel with publication of the NHS LTP, a system transformation programme (formerly known in
K&M as the system leadership programme) is now fully in place. This reports to the STP Programme
Board and the statutory organisations through a system transformation executive board. The
programme initiation document (PID) in Appendix 4 provides the background and governance
framework in which the programme operates.

The merger will be the next natural step for K&M building on the joint working arrangements
put in place to date.

Page 301

"

i

-l |



4.4 Our financial position

The K&M CCGs face a significant financial challenge. The accumulated deficit position as at the end

of 2018/19 is a net £87.5m (comprising six deficit CCGs £108.5m and two surplus CCGs £21m). In
2019/20, the CCGs collectively have a deficit control total of £4.7m but this position is after receipt of
planned commissioner sustainability funds (CSF) totalling £34.2m. Without CSF, the position is a deficit
of £38.9m. The total quality, innovation, productivity and prevention (QIPP) requirement for K&M
CCGsin 2019/20 is £89.4m.

As already described, four of our eight CCGs are subject to ‘directions’, which require the preparation
of a robust and credible financial recovery plan.

The control total for all NHS providers in 2019/20 is a deficit of £49.3m, after deployment of the
provider sustainability fund (PSF), financial recovery fund (FRF) and marginal rate emergency threshold
(MRET). Without these funds, the position of NHS providers across K&M is a deficit of £113.7m.
Therefore, in total the wider K&M system is tasked with delivery of a control total deficit in 2019/20
of £54m. Achieving this will require considerable focus and energy, and for the system to develop
new approaches of working together that lead to optimisation of care pathways and less waste within
the system. The achievement of the control total in 2019/20 is an essential platform for the proposed
single CCG allowing it to operate within the new landscape of the ICS, and ICPs from April 2021.

The table below shows, by CCG and in total for Kent and Medway, the accumulated surplus/deficit
over the last three years and the planned forecast out turn (FOT) for 2019/20.

Kent and Pre
2017/18 | 2018/19 | 2018/19 2019/20 | 2019/20 | 2019/20 | 2019/20
Medway CCGs 2017/18

Acgﬂ?"?lljz;ed Surplus/ Surplus/ Ac;ﬁ?'ﬂi}ed Pk;':]':eﬁj;m Planned FOT Plz;zr:elc:j:/oT Planned FOT
deE"icit deficit deficit de?icit de?icit CSF support de?icit CSF support
fm fm fm fm fm fm fm fm
NHS Ashford CCG -2.1 -12.2 -15.1 -29.4 -15.8 1.1 -4.7 -34.1
NHS Canterbury &
Coastal CCG 5.5 95 -17.7 -21.7 -10.1 10.1 0 -21.7
NHS Dartford,
Gravesham and -13 -9.1 -9.9 -32 -5 5 0 -32
Swanley CCG
NHS Medway CCG 7.1 0.7 0 7.8 0 0 0 7.8
NHS South Kent
Coast CCG 5.5 -7.3 -15.2 -17 95 9.5 0 -17
NHS Swale CCG -2 -3 0 -5 0 0 0 -5
NHS Thanet CCG 3.8 0 -6.6 -2.8 -3.2 3.2 0 -2.8
NHS West Kent CCG 11.5 1.7 0 13.2 0 0 0 13.2
Total Kent
and Medway 16.3 -38.7 -64.5 -86.9 -43.6 38.9 -4.7 -91.6

Commissioner

Page 302

12



Section 5

ambition

Quality of care,
quality of life

sssssss



5 Case for Change: Our ambition
‘Quality of life, quality of care’

As highlighted in the previous sections, the K&M system continues to face a
number of strategic, operational and financial challenges. Responding to these local
challenges requires a whole system transformation of how we commission and
deliver services. The future model needs to be financially sustainable, demonstrate
operational effectiveness through improved outcomes, deliver high quality and safe
care and importantly, be responsive to the physical and mental health and care
needs of the population of K&M. To deliver sustainable and responsive services we
need a simplified and consistent K&M system for which the cornerstone will
be a single K&M CCG.

Our appended STP PID (Appendix 4) and the associated project and workstreams explain the next
phase of our journey while the following sub-sections summarise how we will commission differently,
structure ourselves to deliver positive change and what we expect the benefits of the change to be.
The development of a K&M commissioning and population health strategy and accelerated
delivery of the outcomes in our draft LTP are predicated on the basis of CCG merger in April
2020 and effective establishment of the wider ICS by April 2021.

5.1 Our commissioning strategy

Where are we now?
Vision, strategy and STP work programme

K&M'’s clinical vision and strategy, ‘Quality of life, quality of care’, sets out our ambition for the
population of K&M to have a great quality of life through high-quality care; for them to be as healthy,
fit (physically and mentally) and independent as possible; participating in their local economies and
communities and able to access the right help and support when they need it. It sets out how we
intend to develop and foster a vibrant voluntary sector and a strong sense of community in our
towns and villages, where people feel connected and we support one another across the generations;
and where we are in control of our health and happiness, feeling good and functioning well.

In addition to the clinical vision and strategy, senior doctors, nurses and care professionals from across
the K&M system developed the aforementioned clinical case for change (Appendix 3) that sets out
our key challenges and outlined the actions that need to be taken in the coming years. Aligned with
the NHS LTP, the document included four key themes, which are being driven through current STP
programme workstreams:

e Care transformation: preventing ill health, intervening earlier and bringing excellent care
closer to home.

¢ Productivity: maximising efficiencies in shared services, procurement and prescribing.

¢ Enablers: investing in buildings, digital infrastructure and the workforce needed to deliver high-
performing health and social care services.

¢ System leadership: developing commissioner and provider structures, which will deliver ‘)
the greatest impact i.e. single system commissioner, integrated care partnerships and
primary care networks.

A

Page 304

14



Population health “

K&M is one of the most advanced areas in the country in linking longitudinal patient and q
social care user data across health and care settings, through the Kent Integrated Dataset (the

‘KID’). This gives us an opportunity to understand the health of the K&M population, including an

ability to segment and stratify our population to identify “at risk” cohorts and assess the impact of

proposed strategies. While we have developed leading edge approaches around the capture and

linking of data we have historically failed to fully optimise this insight to drive improvements in the

health of the entire K&M population. This has been largely due to a lack of consistency of approach,

coupled with a system that has not been focused on population health management. \

A K&M population health review has also been drafted recently, structured around the NHS LTP,
that confirms key population health needs and gives recommendations across priority areas for
improvement (Appendix 5).

Defining how we commission/provide services

Detailed work has already started to determine future commissioning/provider roles and
responsibilities. Working with the emerging ICPs we have reviewed all current commissioning
functions and considered where these are likely to fit in the new ICS. This work also includes where
the commissioning support functions e.g. finance, quality and safety, HR are likely to sit in the initial
phases post-CCG merger. Details are provided in the high level summary and detailed future functions
worksheets (Appendices 6a and 6b).

In addition to this, we have developed an interim system operating framework (Appendix 7). This is a
working discussion document entitled ‘One Team’ which is the term K&M are applying to our joined
up working arrangements. It reflects the need to focus on the system and sub-systems rather than
individual organisations, drawing expertise together from across organisations to address the key
challenges, and realise opportunities for patients. The One Team approach is considered in how our
functions, systems and workforce are developed and deployed.

Where do we want to be?

The work described above and the autumnal K&M response to the NHS LTP will provide strong input
to a bold new K&M integrated care commissioning and population health strategy which will form the
bedrock of work of the new ICS. The strategy will be co-developed with a wide range of stakeholders
across our local ICS and will support both delivery of the LTP and the benefits identified to date in the
merger benefits realisation plan. The K&M strategy will include our approach to the challenges set out
in section 4.2 including how we intend to deploy our new integrated care system to:

¢ root out and eradicate (as far as we can) inequality and inequity across the K&M system
¢ tackle some of the individual CCG assurance rating issues and poor delivery of constitutional standards
¢ tackle our estates, digital and workforce challenges.

The intent is to complete the strategy in early 2020. However, we know that two key elements will be
our approach to:

1. Population health management/data

Building on the KID and the population health review we need to develop our capability to maximise
use of tools/data and the intelligence they provide, to support the development of population health
management and establish ICP/PCN delivery plans.

We recognise that access to data and toolkits is not enough to deliver population health management.
As outlined in the benefits realisation plan (Appendix 8) the development and critical mass of the a
single CCG will enable us to focus on, prioritise and emphasise a consistent framework for population
health management, supported by the tools and expertise to support the take-up and use of these.
The K&M CCG will have a dedicated clinical lead and a lead director on its governing body with
primary responsibility for population health and population health management. The lead director will
act as the system senior responsible officer for this portfolio which will build on the work of the Kent
and Medway Strategic Health Analytics Board and the recent Kent and Medway population health
case for change, completed by the two public health teams.

Page 305

15



2. Managing the ‘K&M pound’

A further key component of the commissioning strategy will be moving towards a more sustainable
financial footing. The working draft medium term financial plan (MTFP) (Appendices 9a and 9b) is
expected to be finalised alongside the local response to the LTP in November 2019. Delivery of the
MTFP is based on managing spend through a range of programmes:

e CCG merger and the benefits described in the benefits realisation plan

¢ the integration of provision, and the integration of commissioning and provision, through the
development of the K&M ICS

¢ continued delivery of a range of provider and commissioner efficiencies, enabled through our
integration plans

¢ the levelling up of clinical variation across the system using RightCare, GIRFT, etc. and
other analysis

¢ supply side reconfiguration (e.g. the east Kent reconfiguration programme, the review of K&M
stroke services and the consolidation of emergency vascular surgery).

How do we get there?

The subsequent sections in this document describe in detail how we intend to move forward with
the new approach/strategy, including our operating framework, workforce strategy and benefits
realisation. To get ourselves ready we have started re-aligning staff and functions across K&M,
recognising that all CCG staff will initially transfer to the K&M CCG in April 2020:

e primary care and medicines optimisation teams will retain a local customer care/commissioning
focus based on GP neighbourhood areas

e other commissioning functions and staff will start to be more aligned to place/system-based areas of
responsibility during winter 2019/20, with a view to the majority working on an ICP/PCN footprint
basis and ultimately being employed by these partnerships when they are mature enough to hold
respective contracts (circa April 2021)

¢ supporting functions including finance, corporate services, communications and engagement,
quality and safety, etc. will be consolidated into K&M wide teams where appropriate on a staged
basis from October 2019 in preparation for CCG merger (HR, C&E and Corporate Services will be
the first to consolidate). During 2020/21 further work will be undertaken to determine the structure
of back-office functions pan-K&M as the new landscape emerges (and the old CCGs are closed
down, with annual accounts, reports, etc.).

In parallel we:

¢ will continue to work on the wider system transformation programme, to develop high performing,
effective delivery functions over the next two years using our existing talent pool, building on areas
of strength. As new joint functions evolve (such as population health) we will then address identified
gaps in skills and expertise

¢ will further develop our emerging K&M digital, estates and workforce strategies

® are starting to weave in the current STP programme/resources into a single CCG/future ICS
programme of work.

A further key component
of the commissioning strategy
will be moving towards a more
Pagesgégainable financial footing.



Developing outcomes-based contracts

The population health management approach outlined in the "Where do we want to be?’
section will be underpinned by a change in the way we commission. We will move from a
contracting model based on inputs and activity volumes to an outcomes based framework, that
incentivises and rewards based on improvements in the health of the population, at-risk cohorts
and individuals. The revised ICP contract, as released by NHS England, provides the contractual
vehicle for a K&M outcomes-based contract. We see the outcomes within this contract being
derived from a number of sources:

¢ at a national level as established through the LTP (delivered through a framework established
by the single K&M CCG, working with ICPs, PCNs and other partners)

e at a K&M level established through the single CCG

e at a local level through the PCNs and ICPs.

The development of this framework is a critical piece of work, which is closely aligned to

the K&M response to the NHS LTP. Linking to the ‘future functions’ work above and central
guidance, this will ensure partners from across the system work within an agreed and consistent
framework when determining what and how services will be commissioned and delivered.

While much of the above would need to need to happen with or without merger approval, a
successful application will help build on the energy and momentum to deliver change at pace. It will
also help foster a collaborative culture between commissioners, providers and partners which in turn
will allow integration to happen sooner and faster.

5.2 Our proposed operating framework

Based on this collaborative culture, the K&M operational framework represents a significant shift from
historic transactional relationships to embracing clinically led, intelligence driven and outcomes-based
integrated partnerships.

The emerging ICS

As mentioned in the previous commissioning strategy section a working draft discussion document
‘One Team: the operating model for K&M' has been developed and agreed by the STP programme
board detailing the transitional operating framework for K&M. It is a dynamic document that will
evolve over the coming months but already gives a clear steer on the proposed relationship and remit
of the ICS partnership board, the K&M clinical and professional board, the K&M joint health and
wellbeing board, and the CCG.

In advance of any change in legislation and as the STP starts to transition to the ICS, system specific
programmes of work will transfer their hosting arrangements to the new CCG or alternative statutory
bodyf(ies) as appropriate. The ICS partnership board will take over from the STP programme board
and over the next 18 to 24 months membership of the ICS partnership board will move towards the
new landscape with more focus on ICP, PCN and CCG partnerships. At an ICS level, there will be an
independent chair of the ICS partnership board, in line with the NHS LTP. The K&M CCG will provide
business support to the ICS partnership board and the CCG AO will be the lead senior officer working
with the independent chair.

A K&M patient and public engagement (PPE) group will be established as part of the ICS infrastructure
(replacing the existing group) and will link in with the respective PPE forums in the various
organisations and partnerships — a PPE ‘golden thread’.

Page 307

17



The high level structure of the ICS is depicted below:

. Partnership arrangements
ICS Partnership

- Elected members of local
'_(&M ccG Board Cllplcal & authorities through Health and 5 )
Covering the whole of Commissioners, providers, Professional Board Wellbeing Boards and Health =
Kent and Medway local government, voluntary Clinical and managerial steer Overview and Scrutiny g 2

and community sector and from constituent organisations Committees — providing -
other stakeholders oversight and describing
population needs

4 x Integrated Care Partnerships (ICPs) %_
Four proposed ICPs covering defined geographies within the overarching system, incorporating commissioners and provider organisations — 2 9
including social care — to develop and deliver services. The ambition is for health and social care providers to work in a seamless way § g—
o
and Swanley g

42 x Primary Care Networks (PCNs)
Provide community, social care and primary care services. Based around groups of neighbouring GP practices and
will have an individual clinical director whose role will be to ensure that local needs, knowledge and challenges are
reflected in wider planning and delivery of health and care services.

30,000 to
50,000
people

The K&M CCG

Recognising the need to maintain an effective grip on operational delivery alongside
organisational and transformational change, the CCG operating framework has been developed
on the basis of minimising disruption during transition to a single CCG in April 2020 and
thereafter, to a fully functioning ICS in 2021/22. ‘

A transitional senior management team for the eight CCGs has been in place since April 2018. This
will be further bolstered over the autumn. With the impending retirement of the current AO, the
appointment of a permanent AQ is currently underway. Subject to successful recruitment, it is expected
that the new incumbent will be in post early in 2020. The appointment of a permanent Chief Finance
Officer (CFO) is planned to take place alongside the AO recruitment process, albeit six to eight weeks
behind, to allow the new AO to be on the appointment panel. Permanent appointment to the other
executive director and senior manager posts will take place once the AO is in post, hence the transitional
senior management structure is planned to remain in place up to June 2020. This will enable a smooth
transfer from eight organisations to one. The appointment of the CCG Chair and GP governing body
members will start following approval of the merger application. The proposed K&M CCG constitution
is in development, but the main components relating to the governance framework have been agreed.
Details are provided in Appendix 10.

The senior leadership team of the new CCG will take key system leadership roles within the ICS, led
by the newly appointed AO, working with the CCG clinical chair and independent ICS chair. These
arrangements will build on the transitional arrangements as noted above with some additional roles
identified from the commissioning and system functions review recently undertaken. Appendix 11
outlines the transitional leadership organisational structure that will be in place across the
CCG and wider system programme areas until at least June 2020, which will give the new AO
time to review existing and future requirements.

Section 5.6 (Merger Plan) details how we will effect the merger through a robust PMO approach while
maintaining business as usual.

5.3 Realising our potential — benefits realisation

As we have progressed the benefits realisation analysis it has cemented our long held and collective
view that we need to move forward with a merger at pace. Assumptions made locally about the
opportunities of merger now have associated and measurable time and effort estimates. These
estimates now provide us with the opportunity cost of not merging, not least of which will be the
inability to fully release investment into our ambitious ICS. A CCG merger will unlock short and
long term advantages which will not be achieved at pace without a change to the

current arrangements.

Page 308

18



The benefits

1. Redirection of clinical and management resources closer to local front-line services and
our patients

The proposed merger is a fundamental building block for a successful ICS (ICS), a necessary pre-
cursor to innovative, vibrant and patient-centric primary care networks (PCNs) and integrated care
partnerships (ICPs). The merger will allow us to bring together CCG clinical and managerial time to
deal with the critical issues facing us now, as well as redirect resource and effort to the PCNs and ICPs
and therefore closer to the health and social care frontline Without a single commissioner in place,
our ability to redirect resources, while addressing current pressures, will be hampered and it
will be longer before proposals for a fresh, shrewder approach to commissioning, provision
and the new ICS result in tangible improvements.

2. Development of a coherent service strategy and acceleration of an outcomes-based
approach to commissioning and service delivery ultimately improving patient’s health,
wellbeing and experience of our services:

The K&M CCGs, partners and providers are committed to a new way of working and have been
working towards an ICS for many months through the wider system transformation programme.
As a cornerstone of the ICS, a single commissioner will:

¢ allow a more coherent commissioning strategy for K&M as a whole (including more specialised areas
such as digital, workforce and estates)

¢ enable and oversee a consistent outcomes-based approach to commissioning across the system with
our partners and providers moving away from bilateral, payment by results (PBR) based contracts to
financial and contractual frameworks that target population health improvement and maximise the
potential for prevention

¢ provide oversight and insight across a larger area helping us identify and share best practice, deliver
consistency in commissioning approach and expected outcomes and help address inequity and
inequality across K&M.

Information gleaned from sources such as NHS RightCare (see shared K&M CCG opportunities diagram
below) provides us with a potential focus for unwarranted clinical and financial variation.

If the CCGs in this STP performed at the average of their:

. similar 10 CCGs . lowest 5 of similar 10 CCGs STP difference
Cancer 4,345
Endocrine 3,351
Neurology 8,686
Circulation 7,842
Respiratory 11,150
Gastrointestinal 9,846
Musculoskeletal 2,970
Trauma and injuries 9,232
Genitourinary 4,881
2,000 4,000 6,000 8,000 10,000 12,000

Total difference (Bed days) - 2017/18

Page 309

19



3. De-duplication, accelerating improvement and delivery of nationally mandated
20% running costs reduction

While the establishment of a K&M-wide programme, workstreams and joint committees has

partly mitigated duplication and helped speed up decision making, the current myriad layers of
commissioning management and governance across eight organisations stifles decision
making and can more than double our ‘speed to market’. This in turn often dilutes the bold
and innovative proposals which are required to help address our short and long term constitutional
and financial challenges: across K&M various national standards are continually not being achieved.
We need to address this alongside making running cost savings in 20/21 of £4.7m. Merger of the
CCGs will facilitate:

e consistent, targeted and accelerated decision making to improve poor performance and patient
outcomes, such as cancer, diagnostic and mental health standards

¢ significant reduction in the level of duplication of tasks/resource across CCGs

e greater efficiency across the system enabling achievement of running cost savings and delivering
accelerated wider financial gain.

The benefits realisation plan and mapping

All of the single system commissioner benefits are identified in the benefits realisation plan (Appendix
8). These are split into two main categories, direct benefits from the CCG merger and those
subsequently enabled through a single commissioning organisation. It should also be noted at this
stage of merger development, that the benefits of a single commissioner are high-level estimates
and that as such ranges have been included. As we progress our organisational development and
re-focus our STP and projects to deliver these identified benefits, more detailed work and analysis will
allow for estimates with a higher degree of confidence and probability.

A view of how we map the approval for a single K&M CCG to benefits and our vision is shown below:

VISION

For everyone in Kent and Medway
to have a great quality of life by
giving them high-quality care

Motivated clinical
and management
workforce

Strong financial Improved health
management & and wellbeing for
stewardship K&M population

BENEFITS

Reduced CCG, CSU, Accelerated
Provider and Partner decision-making
running costs

Successful and
effective CCG,
ICPs and PCNs

OUTCOMES

De-duplication and Enable outcomes K&M-wide approach
Rationalisation redirection of Simplified and population to workforce, digital
of CCG estate commissioning governance health mgmt. and market mgt/
effort approach procurement

Approval to establish a single
commissioner for Kent and Medway

BUSINESS
CHANGES

ENABLING CHANGE

Finally, while realisation of the benefits do not come without challenges, which we have mitigated
either through funding commitments or agreed OD/HR principles, we believe these benefits far
outweigh the risks.

Page 310

20



Measuring and tracking benefits

The benefits of merging the eight CCGs and the future transformation of the commissioning and
provider landscape will be monitored and tracked by a programme management office (PMO)
function, hosted within the newly merged CCG but shared across the ICPs and PCNs. It will deploy an
approach similar to the government functional standard depicted below:

Business case Programme Programme Programme Programme Programme
brief business case business case business case business case

@ Programme

Approvals/decisions
(Section 4.3)

Strategic assessment
o
=
- Project Tranche A 8
o - g
@ Project 3
E "Other” work 3
Programme tranches 3 [}
(Section 6.3) E . 2
v Project TrancheB 3
o o
= “Other” work o
1 o
= Project Q
Benefits cycle Define Identify and Quantify Benefits Revta R e
value and Appraise e Work to realise

; success 5
practices Plan to Realise

h Review performance
Benefits

cycle A
% Work to realise

The PMO team will work with PCNs and ICPs to ensure that intended and stated benefits are realised
within the given time period. Where they are not being realised in the timescales given, this will

be escalated to the CCG, PCN and ICP leadership for resolution. The PMO will not only track the
benefits of merger but the outcomes expected from the ICS as a whole. While there will undoubtedly
be ‘transactional’ elements to track and monitor, the PMO team will have an emphasis on tracking
transformational outcomes, giving system assurance in line with the culture of the ICS as a whole.

5.4 Our workforce

Our workforce will be crucial to delivering our vision and transformation is urgently needed to
address the quality, service and capacity challenges scrosss health and social care.

To deliver our ambition and address the critical workforce challenges we will develop a Kent and
Medway Academy for Health and Social Care working collectively across commissioners, providers
and partners to:

e promote Kent and Medway as a great place to work

e maximise supply of health and social care workforce

e create lifelong careers in health and social care

e develop our system leaders and encourage culture change

¢ improve workforce wellbeing, inclusion and workload to increase retention.

We have established a STP workforce action board as part of the STP governance, made up of
representatives from K&M partners. As well as supporting other STP workstreams, the workforce
action board has specific workforce supporting governance groups including a primary care workforce
group, a social care workforce group, and HR directors group, directors of nursing group

and union group. Establishment of a single commissioner will allow for a more coherent and consistent
commissioning strategy guiding and accelerating the work of the action board as well as )

the sub groups. o) &N

Page 311

21



Further details on our approach to workforce challenges including the Kent and Medway Academy for
Health and Social Care and how we plan to manage the transition period to a merged organisation
and beyond are contained in the following appended documents with an excerpt provided below.

(b Tommms o

1  Kent and Medway system Sets out our ambition, strategies and plans for working
workforce transformation together across health and care to prioritise and address our
strategy (Appendix 12) workforce challenges.

2 | NHS Kent and Medway CCG | Sets out our high level plan for the work that needs to be
workforce and OD transition | undertaken over the next 18 months and a detailed CCG
plan (Appendix 13) merger implementation plan.

5.5 Communications and engagement

Communications and engagement (C&E) during the past two years has been fundamental to shaping
the future of our local system. We have continuously improved our ICS and merger CCG plans through
extensive, clinically-led discussions with our stakeholders.

Engagement about system transformation started in January 2018, with the emphasis moving to a
single CCG during 2019. Clinical chairs engaged through formal and informal face-to-face meetings,
a webinar, written briefings, letters and emails. Between June and September 2019, they, with the
support of senior managers, provided a series of written briefings and frequently asked questions to all
stakeholders, plus face-to-face briefings to our two health overview and scrutiny committees, the Kent
and Medway Health and Wellbeing Board, district and county councilors, and MPs. We also ran two
surveys, which were promoted to all audiences.

The following documents set out the plan and outcomes of our extensive communications and
engagement C&E activities:

D

1 | Communications Sets out our approach to informing, involving and listening to the
and engagement wide range of different stakeholders we engaged as part of our
plan merger application preparation and what we plan to do as part of the
(Appendix 14) merger project

2 | "You said, we did’ Sets out how we responded to and incorporated merger engagement
report (Appendix 15) | feedback into our ICS and proposed merger approach and plans.

Below is an example of how we have approached ICS and merger C&E during 2018/19:

K&M example 3: patient and public involvement

To develop recommendations for patient and public involvement in the new system, our C&E
team worked with the Patient and Public Advisory Group, which has patient representatives from
each of the existing CCGs including people who have protected characteristics, as well as CCG
lay members, and the chief officer of Healthwatch Kent and Healthwatch Medway who is on
many of our key committees. They held a series of workshops and co-produced an integrated
approach to patient engagement with people able to get involved at PCN, ICP, CCG level and to
form a 'bank’ of experts to support all health and care providers.

The extensive communications and engagement undertaken highlighted the current complexity of
our current local system. People strongly supported simplification with a single commissioner
to free up time and resource for rapid changes to improve care.

Page 312

22

a2



5.6 Our merger plan

Pre-application October to January to Post Merger
(up to 30 September) December 2019 March 2020 April 2020

e May/Jun: PID approval,
merger work-streams and ICP
working group established.

Jun/Jul: ICS "One Team’ model
circulated to stakeholders.

Jun/Jul: 1st stage ‘Future Functions
work’ complete.

Jan 2018 to Aug: Public
engagement and survey proposals.
Jul to Sep: Stakeholder, GP &

Gov Body events.

Jul to Sep: Governance framework
(pre-constitution).

* Aug: Benefits Realisation and
medium term financial planning.
Aug/Sep: HR&OD and C&E
strategies/planning.

Sep: Agree CSU/support
arrangements.

¢ Sep: 8 x GP member votes

and 8 x GB approval.

w/c 9 Sep: SCGOG/SG review.

e 27 Sep: Submission of LTP.

30 Sep: Application to NHS

England and NHS Improvement.

The high level, merger ‘Plan on a Page’ is provided above. A copy of the detailed merger work

¢ 3rd Oct: Regional Panel.

Oct: Centralise HR and C&E.

Oct to Dec: Recruit AO/CFO.

Oct to Dec: Develop ICP/ICS
framework.

Nov: NHS England and NHS
Improvement Merger Approval.
Nov: Final LTP and MTFP
submission.

Nov: Confirm merger with

SBS (re ledger) and NHS

Digital (re OSC code).

Nov/Dec: Election of CCG Chair and
GP GB members. Also appointment
of other GB members and leads.

Nov/Dec: Commence other CCG/
STP HR processes.

Nov: CCG Constitution drafted.

Confirm delegated commissioning
transfer requirements.

Dec: Stage 2 ‘Future Functions
work’ complete.

Nov/Dec: Review/confirm

CCG estate options for HQ.

e Jan 20: Procure new
auditors.

e Jan 20: Appoint ICS
Independent Chair.

e Jan: Complete TUPE list of
CCQG staff.

e Jan: Constitution, SFIs and

Standing Orders approved.

Jan/Feb: CCG website and

comms and engagement

mechanisms.

e Jan: Inform regulatory bodies
e.g. ICD, contract holders
and stakeholders of merger.

* Jan to Mar: Prepare
all Q&S assurance measures
- safeguarding, CQC, etc.

e Jan: Confirm/prepare asset
transfer arrangements.

e Jan: Confirm CCG HQ and

prepare signage.

Review CCG, STP and

system PMO arrangements.

e 371 Mar: Complete HR TUPE
transfer.

programme including the individual merger workstreams is included as Appendix 16.

Delivery framework

1 April: K&M
CCG Operational.

1 Apr: transfer
e-mail accounts.

1 Apr: asset
transfer.

May/Jun: Year

end Accounts and
Annual Report.
April: K&M
Commissioning and
Population Health
Strategy completed.
Spring: Revise
system PMO
arrangements
towards new
landscape.
Spring/summer:

3rd final stage of
future functions
work complete.
Close down CCG
financial accounts.

The STP PID at Appendix 4 outlines the overarching governance arrangements for the whole system

transformation, including the CCG merger (system commissioner) programme. The governance

framework for the system transformation and system commissioner programmes is depicted below:

CCG Other STP Provider boards
S Organsa‘tions (inc non STP providers)

System Transformation Executive Board

CCG
Joint Committee
(commissioned
services)

System
Commissioner

System
Commissioner
Steering Group

and Governance
Oversight Group

4 x ICP
Steering
Groups

Working Group

(and sub groups)

Primary
Care Board
Rep for
PCNs

Primary Care Board

K&M Clinical and
Professional Board

Page 313

23

STP/ICS
Partnership Board

STP NED

Oversight
Group




CCG Merger: Project Resourcing

The System Commissioner Steering Group (SCSG) — made up of the eight CCG Clinical Chairs, AO,
MDs and PPE representative — has responsibility on behalf of the eight CCG governing bodies for
oversight of the merger programme. Local authority and public health directors are also representatives
on the group.

A System Commissioner Governance Oversight Group (SCGOG) provides advice and support to the
SCSG on all aspects of governance. SCGOG members are the CCG independent lay members for
audit.

A dedicated PMO team, led by the Director of System Transformation and the lead CCG Clinical Chair,
has day-to-day responsibility for coordinating the programme on behalf of the SCSG. This reports in to
an internal Executive Group made up of the AO, Managing Directors, CCG Clinical Lead, Director of
System Transformation and lead Chief Finance Officer, which meet on a fortnightly basis (will start to
meet weekly from November 2019).

Nine merger workstreams have been established to deliver the merger programme, each of which has
a lead director(s) and HR lead — see Appendix 20. These feed in to a working group which holds the
overarching merger work programme and risk register. The nine workstreams are: business intelligence,
contracting and performance; commissioning and primary care commissioning; communications

and engagement; corporate services and governance; digital; finance; HR, workforce and OD; and
quality, safety and safeguarding. The structure we have put in place ensures there is focus on BAU and
transformation as we embark on the significant changes ahead of us.

A copy of the corporate risk register for the system transformation programme detailing all
the major risks of merger and the mitigating actions is attached as Appendix 17.

<)

Page 314

24



Engaging with
local people and
our partners —

How we gathered people’s
views, what we heard and how
this shaped our proposal for

a Kent and Medway Clinical
Commissioning Group (CCG)

www.kentandmedway.nhs.uk

Helping [IY&] people YT their best



Contents

Engaging with local people and our partners \{JECI ATk

Introduction

Aims for engagement

You said, we did

- Patients and the public, including Healthwatch Kent and Healthwatch Medway
- GP members, governing bodies

- Commissioning staff

- Health overview and scrutiny committees

- Political stakeholders

- Community and voluntary sector

A multi-layered approach to engagement

Appendix

4.1 Plain English summary of benefits of our proposal (available on request)
4.2 Summary of Workforce Strategy (Appendix 12 of merger application)
4.3 Independent analysis of our ICS survey

4.4 Independent analysis of our single CCG survey

Introduction

Between January 2018 and
30 September 2019, we asked
for people’s views on possible
changes to how NHS services
in Kent and Medway are
commissioned (planned and
bought) and provided.

We want people to be able to live their
best life, and get great treatment, care and
support when they need it.

Until people need health and care services,
most have no idea how many organisations
there are or how complicated it can be

to find the person you need to talk to.
Sometimes services duplicate one another.
Sometimes there are gaps. That is not good
for patients or carers, it is frustrating for staff,
and it is not the best use of NHS funds.

Over the last three years we have made
real progress by working in a partnership of
all the 19 NHS and top tier local authority
organisations in Kent and Medway.

To help us further improve care for patients
and meet rising demand, we want to have a

Kent and Medway integrated care system with:

¢ asingle organisation to plan and pay
for services, instead of eight clinical
commissioning groups as Nnow

e people’s care and treatment provided by
NHS and other services working together
in @ much closer way (in integrated care
partnerships and primary care networks).

e The GPs who chair the existing current
clinical commissioning groups (CCGs) are
championing this change, working with
other partners. It is happening across the
country too.

To develop these ideas and understand any
concerns, we spoke to:

e patients, carers and the public

Healthwatch Kent and Healthwatch Medway

e Kent and Medway GPs, who make up
current clinical commissioning groups
(CCGs), the Local Medical Committee which
represents GPs, and CCG governing bodies,
which take decisions on commissioning

¢ health and social care staff

Kent and Medway health overview and
scrutiny committees which review the NHS'
plans and performance

elected representatives, including MPs
and councillors

e community and voluntary organisations

This report focuses on what people told
us about our proposal to merge the eight
existing clinical commissioning groups
(CCGs) into a single Kent and Medway
CCG, and what we did as a result.

The feedback has been shared with:

e Kent and Medway Patient and Public
Advisory Group

e Healthwatch Kent and Healthwatch Medway
e System Transformation Steering Group
e System Transformation Oversight Group.

All groups considered how the issues raised by
different audiences can be best addressed as
the programme moves forward, and changes
were made as a result of the feedback.

Engaging with local people and our partners NI ECICATYTK

Page 316



2. Aims for engagement

e set out why we
think a single CCG e find out what they
will improve care think and discuss any
and save money to concerns about the
invest in frontline proposed change
services :

We talked to
people to:

® ensure as many people

and different groups as

possible know about what

we are proposing and e make changes to

why, before it happens. our proposal where
practical, and, where
we can't act upon
suggestions, explain

Engaging with local people and our partners J{IEEI AT

We reached a wide range of people by offering
different ways to get involved. We published our
Programme Initiation Document, a plain English
summary, and an easy read version, along with
frequently asked questions, on the sustainability
and transformation partnership (STP) and eight
CCG websites.

Most people we spoke to thought a single CCG
was a good idea. Many of them were mainly
interested in our other plans, to provide more
joined up care for local people.

The most often asked questions about the
single CCG were:

¢ how difficult and expensive will it be to
make the change?

¢ will enough notice be taken of local
people’s needs?

GPs and the Local Medical Committee raised
specific points, covered in detail below.

Overall, we received a lot of useful feedback,
which helped shape our proposal.




Patients and the public

How we asked what they thought

two surveys open to everyone in Kent and Medway, shared digitally and in hard copy. The first was
completed by 234 people. The second survey is just completed and the comments are currently
being reviewed (see appendix 4.3 and 4.4 for the independent analysis)

discussions with patients and members of the public who work with us on a regular basis
workshops with Healthwatch Kent and Healthwatch Medway members
public meetings about the NHS Long Term Plan and our proposal for wider change.

.

they agreed with the need to join up
and improve health and care services

they wanted more information on what
it would mean in practice

they asked for clear information that is
easy to understand

they said we need to involve care
homes and voluntary and community
organisations

those who attended meetings said our
presentation helped make sense of the
new system.

They

ed the idea of:
+ lower costs and less duplication

+ improved procurement (new contracts
for services)

+ ending the postcode lottery of services

+ freeing up GP time with fewer
CCG committees.

They were concerned about the idea of:

* less focus on local areas and the
potential loss of local people’s views

¢ the costs involved

¢ the new CCG adding an extra layer
of bureaucracy.

Those who attended meetings were
also concerned about:

+ how well the new CCG would
manage large Kent and Medway
contracts

+ whether the plans are realistic, given
pressure on staff time and the need
for big changes to the way they
work, and to patients’ expectations.

e A number of people asked if there
would be formal consultation on the
merger. People also had concerns about
other aspects of the new integrated
care system including access to GPs.

East Kent J
zxm ﬂ—:a,.nm
Groups 15 . ="

day, 28 Fol e
.:.,.JA M e

CELE)

i T o

- P

oint Committee g

e slening
Commissiont™
qq_.mm».:_m in public on

pruary 2018

oIS

feer -
. e
peraReh oLt
ppeamirtt T

¢ updated the frequently asked
questions on our website with more
detail on the practical changes

 ran a second survey to increase
our understanding of views on a
single CCG

¢ published a plain English summary
of the benefits of our proposal
(appendix 4.1) and here
www.kentandmedway.nhs.uk/ics

¢ published a summary of our workforce
strategy setting out how we will recruit
and retain more health and social care
staff across Kent and Medway and
make the best possible use of their
skills and expertise (appendix 4.2).

¢ held a public event in each of the
four integrated care partnership areas
to talk about system transformation
along with the priorities of the NHS
Long Term Plan. Voluntary and
community groups were invited as
one of the ways of involving them
and hearing their views.

¢ held a series of workshops with our
Patient and Public Advisory Group
(PPAG) to design the principles
and model of patient and public
involvement for the new system
(more details below). This builds in
involvement at every level

ke,

confere!
gt

nce
[

TR ok ey

developed a new framework for patient
and public involvement across the new
health and care landscape

invited community and voluntary groups
to the public events in each of the four
integrated care partnership areas to

talk about system transformation and
the NHS Long Term Plan, as one of the
ways of involving them and hearing
their views.

reviewed with Healthwatch Kent and
Healthwatch Medway lessons learned
from previous procurements. Held a
workshop to look at the results and:

+ what could have been done better

+ how commissioning needs to
change in the future

* how we manage our resources
better against a background of rising
demand for services.

Sought legal advice which confirmed
that engagement rather than
consultation was appropriate for a
change of this type.

Page 318

J

Engaging with local people and our partners § (IR AEY TN

Engaging with local people and our partners R {JUEEIANPTIR




Healthwatch Kent and Healthwatch

Medway leadership

How we asked what they thought

Healthwatch Kent and Healthwatch Medway are represented by the chief officer of Healthwatch
Kent on key STP groups, including the Patient and Public Advisory Group, the Programme Board, the
System Transformation Steering Group and the engagement leads network in Kent and Medway.

We also had specific discussions with the chief officer about the proposed CCG merger.

They said--N e did._Y

Our local Healthwatch organisations support
a single CCG. They gave us guidance on
communicating and engaging with patients
and public about the merger.

They said we needed to:

o describe the benefits of change and the
‘so what?’ for patients and public

o offer reassurance there would be no
reduction in access to or quality of services
as a result of the proposed merger.

They also gave us guidance on how the
new integrated care system, including a
single CCG, should make sure local people’s
views are heard.

As well as discussions as part of the Patient
and Public Advisory Group, they said:

¢ involvement needs to be part of all service
developments from the very start

¢ the new CCG should have a single
point of access for any member of staff
seeking patient and public input

¢ the new mechanisms for involvement
need to be developed quickly

e staff need training and support in how
to involve patients effectively

¢ Healthwatch would like to be an observer
on the new CCG's governing body

¢ Healthwatch would like to be involved
in developing the outcomes framework
for the new single CCG and Integrated
Care Partnerships.

Engaging with local people and our partners § (IR AEY TN

* We agreed on the importance of
involvement, training, and to ensure
committee papers do more to highlight
patient and public involvement

¢ We agreed to set up a single point
of access

¢ We shared proposals for a Citizens’
Panel and virtual network of people
from across the county (more details
below) which were welcomed by
Healthwatch.

e We invited Healthwatch to System
Commissioner Steering Group meetings,
and agreed to involve them in the
outcomes work and to consider them
being an observer on the new CCG's
governing body.

Healthwatch have subsequently confirmed
their support for the new patient and
public involvement framework for the new
CCG and wider ICS. Their letter can be
seen in appendix x.

Governing body lay members for
patient and public engagement

Each of the existing eight CCGs has a lay member who is the voice of patients and the public on

the governing body.
How we asked what they thought

As well as being on the governing bodies of their CCGs, some of the lay members also sit on our

Patient and Public Advisory Group.

They supported the CCGs merging to
improve care for people across Kent and
Medway, efficiency and effectiveness.

They were concerned about the idea of:
loss of patient involvement

less focus on local issues.

e held a series of workshops with our
Patient and Public Advisory Group to
design the principles and model of
patient and public involvement for the
new system (more details below). This
builds in involvement at every level

¢ agreed the new Kent and Medway
group for patient and public
involvement will include the patient
and public engagement lay members
from our existing eight CCGs for at
least a year

=

Engaging with local people and our partners R {JUEEIANPTIR

Page 319



Kent and Medway Patient and Public
Advisory Group (PPAG)

Our Patient and Public Advisory Group includes patient representatives from each of the existing CCGs
including people who have protected characteristics, as well as CCG lay members and Healthwatch.

They play a key part in our local sustainability and transformation partnership, including contributing
to the different workstreams, and have a great deal of knowledge and insight about the local NHS.

They have been heavily involved in designing what patient and public involvement should look like
in our new CCG. As well as the standing meeting, there was a series of workshops to design the
principles and model for the new system.

“A single CCG for Kent and
Medway makes perfect sense.

| think this is the way to go, |
know what variation we have in
the services we have now across
different areas of Kent. This
should end the postcode lottery.”

The new CCG will need:

e to support the lay member for
engagement on its governing body
to represent the whole of Kent and
Medway and its constituent localities

e insight from the whole system,
including patient experience data, in a
central place, accessible by all staff

e links to integrated care partnership
and primary care networks
engagement and their information,
insight and best practice

Male rep, Kent Community Health NHS
Foundation Trust patient engagement group,

August 2019
® a true co-design and patient

involvement approach, including a ’
commitment to maintain engagement

with local groups.

Engaging with local people and our partners \{JECI ATk

in line with national guidance, the CCG
will have an independent lay member
for Patient and Public Engagement

e the CCG will have patient and

public engagement constituency
representatives supporting the lay
member. This will be for a transitional
period in the first instance until the
integrated care partnerships are
formally established and have patient
and public representatives on their
management boards

all levels of the Kent and Medway
integrated care system will act
positively, empowering their local
communities and seeking not just
participation but to involve the public
as equal partners to meet best practice
standards and deliver high quality
personalised care for all. This includes
at a system, place and neighbourhood
level across Kent and Medway

e to offer support to primary care

networks and GP practices to enhance
their patient and public engagement.
This could include a mix of information,
guidance, toolkits, training or more
practical assistance

the single CCG will establish an
integrated care system core patient and
public involvement group (again, name
to be confirmed) to provide continuity
and give patients and the public a
strategic voice and provide a route for
learning from all parts of the system. Its
proposed membership will include:

+ expert patient/carer representatives
from all the Kent and Medway
priority workstreams such as mental
health, children’s services, cancer,
primary and local care

+ patients with a general interest
in health

¢ partners in the voluntary and
community sector

+ patient representatives from
each proposed integrated care
partnership area

+ during the transitional period, the
current CCGs' lay members for
patient and public engagement.

e patient, client and carer-led task and
finish groups will be drawn together
for time-limited, focused pieces of
work as the workstreams and overall
programme of transformation and
innovation require

* two new systems will be set up to
support these groups:

¢ avirtual citizen’s panel, a network
of people that is representative of
the Kent and Medway population to
give a public perspective on all the
work programmes, or any priority
issues required. Recog g that
our partners in local authorities may
have similar schemes, we will seek
to learn from all and work together
as appropriate. This will build on
best practice from other areas and
existing CCG health networks

+ an insight bank to collate and
link all the existing intelligence
on patient experience gathered
by NHS trusts, Healthwatch Kent
and Healthwatch Medway, CCG,
integrated care partnerships and
local authorities. These groups
currently gather much patient, carer
and service user experience; too
often it is not used to best effect for
learning and may be duplicated by
different parts of the system.

This co-produced model of patient
and public engagement will form the
involvement approach of the new CCG.

Engaging with local people and our partners NI ECICATYTK

Page 320



GPs

The 211 GP practices in Kent and Medway form the GP membership of the clinical commissioning groups,
which have the statutory duty to plan and purchase the vast majority of healthcare for local people.

How we asked what they thought

¢ meetings over many months with their CCG chairs

¢ a webinar open to all GPs in Kent and Medway in August 2019 (slides were shared, as well as

a recording)
e email discussions.

A single CCG would need:

e to retain input from and focus on
local areas

¢ to strengthen the voice of the public,
patients and GPs in commissioning

e to retain strong support to GP services
and primary care networks

® to be easily contactable

¢ to maintain links with local GP
practices, primary care networks and
integrated care partnerships

e to ring-fence GP practice and integrated
care partnership budgets to support the
local population

o clarity about what the CCG does as
opposed to integrated care partnerships

¢ to improve specific services (e.g.
children and young people’s services)
and support (e.g. GP IT).

They were concerned about the idea of
one area’s financial surplus being used to
support a different area

' This is in addition to the formal voting process to merge the
CCGs, which GP members were asked to vote on through their
respective CCG membership meetings in September 2019

Engaging with local people and our partners § (IR AEY TN

They said--N we did.

We made these commitments:

e the new CCG will always be GP-led,
with a GP majority on its governing
body including a GP from each current
CCG until at least April 2022, and
ongoing clear and transparent clinical
representation from local constituencies
across Kent and Medway

e there will be strong and effective
clinical leadership and input
throughout the whole organisation

e there will be a full and robust
development programme for primary
care networks that will enable them
to be effective leaders within the
emerging integrated care partnerships
and reinvigorate GP services

¢ local support for GP practices wi
continue as now, or be enhanced,
and there will ongoing support in
integrated care partnerships for
service design and delivery

e primary care baseline allocations
will be protected and where
possible increased. There will be
transitional protection of baseline
commissioning allocations for
integrated care partnerships

¢ there will be strong local patient
and public representation from the
CCG governing body down to individual
primary care networks.

Local Medical Committee

The Kent and Medway Local Medical Committee (LMC) is the voice of local GPs.

How we asked what they thought

The Local Medical Committee Medical Secretary co-chairs the STP Primary Care Board and the LMC is
ical and Professional Board. The Chief Executive of the STP presented the Kent

represented on the STP C

vision to the annual conference of the LMC in December 2018.

We also had specific discussions with the LMC about the proposed CCG merger.

They said. N

¢ they understood the proposal, it:
context and rationale

e they knew the GPs who chair the

existing CCGs supported a single CCG.

They were concerned about the idea of:

¢ GPs being expected to do work that
was not funded through a contract

e GP practices having less influence on
commissioning

e GP practices getting less support from
the new CCG

e primary care networks becoming the
sole voice for primary care.

e did_\

e developed with the LMC a set of
principles for the future

sent a joint letter with the LMC to GPs,
setting out the principles, and urging
GPs to vote.

The principles:

1. Recognition of the gap between funded
services and the expectations of the
local care plan.

2. The integrated care partnership contract
will describe outcomes to strengthen
engagement and collaboration. The
integrated care partnership contracts
will not be let without the demonstrable
sign-up of local GP practices

3. GP contract holders will be represented
within the system by the Local Medical
Committee as well as primary care
networks.

4. No additional work will be expected
of general practice without additional
funding and resources.

EE

Kent and Medway CCG constitution
will be drafted in consultation with the
Local Medical Committee.

6. GP contracts will be managed at the
Kent and Medway level. Budgets will
not be reduced, more likely increased.

7. GP practices and CCG will maintain
local links.

Engaging with local people and our partners R {JUEEIANPTIR

Page 321



CCG governing bodies

How we asked what they thought

Through formal and informal meetings, including working group meetings relating to the system

transformation programme

They said--N we did.

e They were in support of a single CCG
They liked the idea of:
¢ removing duplication

¢ streamlined management structures
and costs

¢ ability to commission at scale

¢ ability for services to get best value
and better outcomes

e reduction in variation and the
‘postcode lottery’.

They wanted to be sure the CCG keeps
a focus on local needs, and hears local
voices.

They were most concerned about:
¢ impact on CCG staff

¢ maintaining financial stability within
their constituent areas, while also
making sure funding is directed
towards those areas with greatest
health inequalities.

The CCG establishment and application
documents were developed in line with
the outcome of various governing body
discussions.

The CCG chairs shared with their
governing bodies:
e the commitments made to GPs

e the principles developed with the
Local Medical Committee

* the principles and model for patient
and public involvement developed with
the Patient and Public Advisory Group

e the communications and
engagement plan

 the workforce and organisational
development plan.

Engaging with local people and our partners § (IR AEY TN

CCG and sustainability and
transformation partnership (STP) staff

How we asked what they thought

e face to face briefings over many months
¢ online surveys

e specific email for anonymous questions

e two all-staff sessions on 13 September.

¢ overwhelmingly understood the * made a commitment to share as
rationale for change and saw its much information as we can, and be
potential benefits for patients clear about when we don't yet know

the answers.
They wanted to know

sent regular email bulletins from the
STP chief executive, and from the two
managing directors.

¢ ‘what does it mean for me?” including
job security, location of workplace,
team structures, future roles and
responsibilities, conflicting priorities
during implementation

prepared and continually revised a
series of very detailed frequently

asked questions.
They were concerned about: q

e set up an anonymous email for staff

the impact on them as individuals . )
¢ imp indiviau to feedback their queries or concerns

and teams

e . . I i i
¢ potential difficulties of implementing responded to all questions raised

complex changes

reiterated the importance of staff to
the new system and the opportunities
for them to develop their interests
¢ lack of resources (GPs, funding, staff, and new skills.

infrastructure)

¢ potential loss of local focus

shared all information developed,
including plain English summary
of benefits realisation plan and
workforce plan.

¢ ability of the system to change.

organised two half-day sessions on
13 September.

“All detail is about the patient experiences. What about all the staff
this affects, where do we see how it affects us? | get “patient first”
approach but it's my livelihood and I love my job. Will you need all
the support services, or will some go? How many staff does this
affect? How many job losses? Will trusts merge?”

and social care colleague

Engaging with local people and our partners R {JUEEIANPTIR

Page 322



16

Kent Health Overview and Scrutiny
Committee (HOSC) and Medway Health
and Adult Social Care Overview and
Scrutiny Committee (HASC)

How we asked what they thought

e formal public meetings
e informal meetings by arrangement.

Both our oversight and scrutiny
committees have maintained an interest
in our plans for an integrated care system
with a single CCG.

Individual members of the committees
expressed a range of views about the
CCG merger.

They asked:

¢ how will social care and public health fit
into the future arrangements?

¢ what will be the impact on primary care
and workforce?

how will the single CCG maintain
transparency and avoid conflicts of
interest?

isn't this just re-creating structures of
the past?

They were concerned about:

e the ability of a single CCG to meet the
needs of individual districts and people

¢ potential for single CCG to become
‘another layer of expensive
bureaucracy’.

Engaging with local people and our partners RV ECI AT TR

e updated them on our plans, specifically
highlighting progress on all issues raised
by them

e clarified the different roles of the
proposed new single CCG, integrated
care partnerships and primary care
networks, highlighting that there will be
more local focus, not less

¢ developed messaging on primary care
networks to make it clear that they
were not replacing GP practices but
were a way for GPs to work together

e committed to continuing to update the
committees at key points.

“I think it’s a very good idea.”

Member of Kent HOSC, June 2019

“You need to get over to a much
wider section of the public that
Primary Care Networks are not
the same as GP practices.”

Chair of Kent HOSC, June 2019

MPs

How we asked what they thought

e briefings with the Managing Director for their constituency

 letters to each MP.

They said...

e wo MPs from Medway sent a letter
opposing the proposals because of
concerns about specific local issues

e cid._{

¢ offered to meet with the MPs who
opposed the merger and wrote to
them to address their concerns.

‘
,
=

Engaging with local people and our partners R{JUEEIWANPTRR

Page 323



18

Elected members of upper and Voluntary and community organisations
_°<<m—. .Hmm—. ﬁOC—Jﬁ:W How we asked what they thought

e letter updating them and inviting feedback
How we asked what they thought
e invited them to public events in each of the four integrated care partnership areas to talk about system

transformation along with the NHS Long Term Plan.

e 10 ead. Y

e letter updating councillors of the proposals and offered them a meeting

e eight councils took up the offer and we held separate briefings with them.

They said--N we did._§

* recognise the need for a single CCG to clarified the different roles of the
oversee integrated care partnerships proposed new single CCG, integrated
and primary care networks care partnerships and primary care

T networks, highlighting that there will be
more local focus, not less

e streamlining bureaucrac . .
9 y * gave reassurance that patient choice

o freeing up GPs to see patients remains a key principle of the NHS <t
¢ one group (the integrated care ¢ explained how a single CCG %
partnership for their area) representing will improve strategic planning, ()
the whole of health and care including work with council planning an%
e strengthening GP services departments [a

* committed to look at issues for districts
working with more than one integrated
care partnership.

teams of health and care professionals
working together to support local
people

They were concerned about:

e commissioning becoming remote

potential conflict between patient
choice and locally based integrated care

ability of health services to keep up with
housing development

districts which straddle two integrated
care partnerships.

Engaging with local people and our partners RCUEEIL AN A Engaging with local people and our partners (I EEI AP




4. A multi-layered approach

20

to engagement

The following outlines the various activities and formats that we have used in our engagement activities

Activity

Stakeholder e-bulletins

Format

Electronic STP bulletins emailed to
distribution list with onward cascade. Focus
on system change in January 2019, May
2019, and July 2019.

Patient networks, including
CCG networks, trust
networks, and practice
participation groups

Presentations to standing groups (for
example, West Kent patient participation
group chairs) since January 2018.

Email inviting people to give their views

on integrated care system including single
CCG, with links to the Programme Initiation
Document, plain English summary Helping
local people live their best life, easy read
version, FAQs and survey, sent to patient
networks across Kent and Medway, for
onward cascade in June 2019.

Activity

Surveys

Format

Survey on integrated care system and single
CCG: June to August 2019. Promoted at
face-to-face meetings with patient groups
and through email cascade and online,
including boosted post on Facebook.
Available in hard copy and online.

Survey on single CCG: August to
September 2019

Online materials

Programme Initiation Document, plain English
summary Helping local people live their best
life, easy read version and FAQs on STP and
all CCG websites.

Social media

Facebook and Twitter including Facebook
promoted content on single CCG survey and
our plans

Partner networks, including
Kent County Council, Medway
Council, Healthwatch Kent
and Healthwatch Medway

Email inviting people to give their views

on integrated care system including single
CCG, with links to the Programme Initiation
Document, plain English summary Helping
local people live their best life, easy read
version, FAQs and survey, sent to patient
networks across Kent and Medway, for
onward cascade.

Printed materials

Booklet and supporting slides of Helping
People Live their Best Life, shared with
patients and the public at meetings and
events along with FAQs.

Focus groups

July

¢ Healthwatch members, Canterbury,
Letraset Building

e Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley, West
Kent and Medway PPGs group

e Hawkinge and Elham Valley Patient
Participation Group

August

¢ Healthwatch members — West Kent, Angel
Centre, Tonbridge

¢ Healthwatch members Medway, Dragon
Community Hub

e Kent Community Health NHS Foundation
Trust patient experience group

Briefings with district councils,
MPs etc

¢ Ashford Borough Counci
¢ Dartford District Council
¢ Folkestone and Hythe District Council

e Kent County Council - Public Health
Cabinet Committee

Maidstone Borough Council - this was
extended to KCC divisional members and
also MPs

Sevenoaks District Council

e Swale Borough Council

¢ Tunbridge Wells Borough Council

Briefings with CCG and
STP staff

Monthly staff briefings to all CCG staff and
regular briefings to STP staff.

CCG and STP staff away day

Kent HOSC, Medway HASC,
Kent and Medway Health and
Wellbeing Board

Regular briefings throughout 2018 and 2019

Engaging with local people and our partners R ECI AT oA

Media coverage

Proactively placed media copy

Engaging with local people and our partners RCUEELL AN ]

Page 325

21



Our vision is for everyone in
Kent and Medway to have a
great quality of life by giving
them high-quality care.

Quality of life, quality of care

Thank you

We are very grateful to the Kent and Medway Patient and Public
Advisory Group, CCG lay members, Healthwatch Kent and
Healthwatch Medway for the support they gave in shaping and
undertaking the engagement, and co-producing our model for
future public and patient involvement.

The report has been prepared by the Kent and Medway
Sustainability and Transformation Partnership Communications and

Engagement Team. To find out more, or get it in a different format,

please contact comms.kentandmedway@nhs.net

Page 326

Engaging with local people and our partners’ R{ITEE AT

01221



healthwoatch

Kent

January 2020




healthwatch

Focus on Commiissioning : a Healthwatch Kent report Kent

Background

The way health and social care services are commissioned in Kent & Medway is changing.

Currently seven Clinical Commissioning Groups (CCGs) commission health services for their own
geographical areas. For Kent wide contracts, one CCG will take the lead to commission the service
onbehalf of the county.

Healthwatch Kent has a unique view of this system. We are one of the few organisations who
work across all the CCGs and so we are aware of the work that has been done to involve patients
in the commissioning process. We also hear directly from patients from all over Kent about their
experience of the services that have been commissioned. In addition, we sit on the Kent Health
Overview & Scrutiny Committee (HOSC) which scrutinises services in conjunction with our own
statutory role to scrutinise changes to services to ensure the public have been truly involved and
informed about service change.

From April 2020 there will be a new system of commissioning and partnership working, called an
Integrated Care System, made up of:

« A Single Strategic Commissioner, comprising of a single CCG for Kent & Medway, along with the
social care commissioning of Kent & Medway councils.

- Integrated Care Partnerships in East Kent, West Kent, North Kent, and Medway & Swale which
will commission and deliver acute and local care within those areas.

- Primary Care Networks delivering primary care and local care in clusters of GP practices
Thisnew structure means that a new process for how services are commissioned is being

developed. We believe that lessons can be learned from the current commissioning structure and
should be used to determine the new structure.

Page 328
Talktous | Tel 0808 8010102 | Email info@healthwatchkentcouk | wwwhealthwatchkentco.uk «2



healthwatch

Focus on Commissioning : a Healthwatch Kent report Kent

What have we done?

« We havereviewed a number of services that have recently been commissioned in Kent &
Medway.

- The majority of services we selected have been commissioned on a County wide level and which
have experienced challenges and caused disruption for patients.

« We havereviewed documents from HOSC which detail the challenges services have faced, the
disruption caused to patients and the debate at HOSC and any resulting actions.

« We have combined this literature review with feedback we have heard directly from patients.

« We have been able to link this to knowledge that we have about the commissioning process and
how patients and service users were involved and listened to during that process.

Wereviewed the following contracts

» Wheelchair Services « Integrated Community Equipment
« Kent and Medway Patient Transport « Children and Young People’s Mental
Health Services
« East Kent Out of Hours « North Kent Dermatology Service
Page 329

Talktous | Tel 0808 8010102 | Email info@healthwatchkentcouk | wwwhealthwatchkentco.uk -3



healthwatch

Focus on Commiissioning : a Healthwatch Kent report Kent

What did we find?

In each of these contracts, a number of issues came to light after the new provider has started to
deliver the new service including:

- Demand was often higher than predicted meaning patients immediately started to experience
longer waiting times

e The new service inherited a backlog of cases which added to the already growing waiting list
- Patient information was often not transferred effectively meaning patients ‘got lost’ in the system

- Contracts needed to be reviewed substantially within the first few months to ‘true-up’ the
contract with the actual demand

- Additional funding was often needed at short notice to meet the agreed demand

e Those contracts which had been comissioned through an integrated partnership approach
(predominantly the NHS and Kent County Council) were more successful

Weinvited key senior people from the new Integrated Care System to meet with us and explore our
findings. As aresult of this meeting, we have agreed a number of points.

We are grateful to Healthwatch for this report which highlights a number of key points and areas for
development. The Clinical Commissioning Groups regularly review systems and processes on the
basis of being learning organisations and we welcome the comments in this report. We will use them
to improve how we procure services for patients in Kent and Medway going forward.

By the nature of this report, the majority of the observations have been scrutinised previously by
the Kent Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee through the individual reports fed back to the
Committee. However, we recognise the benefit of pulling together generic issues from the reviewed
procurement examples. We would want this report to be read in the context that it covers larger
and more complex procurements reviewed by HOSC, and therefore is not representative of many
successful and smaller procurements delivered by the CCGs that have not come under the scrutiny
of the HOSC.

While we recognise the statements made in the ‘What did we find?’ section of the report there are two
points of clarity we would wish to make. In a number of the procurements scrutinised by the HOSC,
higher demand than predicted was a key issue but this was not the case in all. Also, where additional
funding was required, this invariably resulted from additional demand and service activity,and was
therefore a commissioning response to ensuring and maintaining timely levels of access to services.

Simon Perks | Director of System Transformation
Kent and Medway Sustainability and Transformation Partnership

Page 330
Talktous | Tel 0808 8010102 | Email info@healthwatchkentcouk | wwwhealthwatchkentco.uk o4



healthwatch

Focus on Commissioning : a Healthwatch Kent report Kent

As we work to implement the new Kent and
Medway CCG from 1st April 2020 we recognise that
there are anumber of lessons from this report that
we can take on board in the design and functioning
of the new commissioning organisation. As
Integrated Care Partnerships develop the nature
and purpose of procurement may change, but we
recognise it isimportant that the lessons of data
quality, analysis and procurement expertise that
arise from this report are reflected in how the new
CCG operates.

Simon Perks | Director of System Transformation
Kent and Medway Sustainability and
Transformation Partnership

Page 331
Talktous | Tel 0808 8010102 | Email info@healthwatchkentcouk | wwwhealthwatchkentco.uk




healthwatch

Focus on Commiissioning : a Healthwatch Kent report Kent

Summary of findings for each contract

Wheelchair Services

Millbrook Healthcare took over the Kent & Medway NHS Wheelchair contract on 1st April 2017.In
thefirst year, April 2017 to March 2018, several issues were identified:

« The quality of the initial data transfer at the start of the contract revealed some service user
records were missing, incomplete or inaccurate.

- Millbrook Healthcare inherited a backlog of people who had been waiting a long time. The case
load included more complex cases than they had expected.

« [t was estimated that 40% of people had been waiting for more than 18 weeks at that point in time.
« The higher complexity of cases affected the ability of the service to manage the ongoing referrals.

« The demand for specialist wheelchairs was 154% higher than expected although average costs
were lower than expected.

« There were also several issues linked to funding:

» The CCGs could not disregard the possibility that Millbrook Healthcare may have underbid
for the contract during the procurement.

- Millbrook Healthcare over-spent their equipment budget by 21% during the first year of the
contract from April 2017 to March 2018.

« Asaresult, additional funding (£1103,938) was released.

Page 332
Talktous | Tel 0808 8010102 | Email info@healthwatchkentcouk | wwwhealthwatchkentco.uk -6



healthwatch

Focus on Commissioning : a Healthwatch Kent report Kent

Summary of findings for each contract

East Kent Out of Hours

Primecare was awarded a contract in 2016 to provide an integrated NHS 111 and GP out of hours (GP
OOH) service across the four east Kent Clinical Commissioning Groups (CCGs).

The GP OOH service wentlive on 28 September 2016 with NHS 111 following shortly afterwardsin a
phased approach starting from November 2016.

The CQCinspected the service in May 2017 and published their findings on August 3rd. The report
stated:

- There was a failure to take into consideration the risks to the health and care of service users.
« The care needs of patients were not always assessed and delivered in a timely way.
« Staff reported that they could not access patient records.

« There were not enough staff to meet the needs of patients and there was a lack of induction and
mandatory training.

« Staff did not feel fully supported by management.
« When errors were made, not all staff knew how to report incidents.

« Investigations into incidents were found to be superficial and there was limited evidence of
learning from mistakes.

« There were long delays in dealing with patient complaints.

Primecare were owned by Allied Health Care who were going through financial difficulty at the time.
On July 7th 2018, it was announced that Primecare had left the contract early.

Page 333
Talktous | Tel 0808 8010102 | Email info@healthwatchkentcouk | wwwhealthwatchkentco.uk <7



healthwatch

Focus on Commiissioning : a Healthwatch Kent report Kent

Summary of findings for each contract

Patient Transport

G4S was awarded the three contracts in July 2016, which together cover every aspect of the non-emergency
patient transport service for Kent & Medway.

- During the commissioning process, the activity data was inaccurate.

- During the mobilisation phase, the London activity data provided was also not accurate. It was
then decided that the mobilisation of London journeys would be postponed until February 2017.

« None of the contract KPI's were met during the first 12 months of the contract.

- The average complaints per month were 138 representing 0.6% of total patient journeys.
Complaints were highest during the opening months of the contract.

- In February 2018, based on the KPIdata,
- Performance remained below the contracted levels of the 18 KPIs across all 3 contracts.

- In the six months to February 2018 complaints averaged 64 a month representing 0.2% of
total patient journeys.

« There wasa true up’ exercise undertaken in March 2018

« After the contract true-up exercise was completed in March 2018, it was concluded that the
patient journey mix was different from that set out in the tender process. The review exercise
identifies the following adjustments to the contract:

- Areductionin car journeys;

- Anincrease in ambulance journeys;

- Anincrease in therequirement for services with a patient escort; and
- Longer patient journeys

« Thisled to West Kent CCG proposing to rebase the contract according to revised activity levels
which, at the time (May 2018), was being considered by the eight CCGs.

- This would mean that the three lots were consolidated into one and the value of the contract
increased from the original £13.2 million a year to £17 million a year.

- [t also meant that the KPI targets would be recalibrated with target levels reduced from
between 90-95% to 80%.

« The commissioners had also recognised that whilst a KPI was a general measure of performance,
the standard of performance reporting was not indicative of the full service provided. As an
example:

- For June 2018, 81% of patients arrived for their appointments within the contractual KPI, and
93% of patients arrived within 30 minutes of their allocated appointment time.

Page 334
Talktous | Tel 0808 8010102 | Email info@healthwatchkentcouk | wwwhealthwatchkentco.uk -8



healthwatch

Focus on Commissioning : a Healthwatch Kent report Kent

Summary of findings for each contract

Integrated Community Equipment

Kent County Council awarded the contract to NRS Healthcare for five years starting on November
30th 2015. The total anticipated contract value for the life of the contract was £45 million. This was
one of the largest community equipment service contracts in the country.

« The mobilisation of the contract needed a considerable amount of resource, determination and
a strong project managed approach.

« Since NRS Healthcare took over the contract the financial visibility and performance monitoring
have greatly improved.
« A number of staff left despite TUPE applying to that transfer.

« A stable team have now been recruited with a continuous recruitment campaign to cover
natural attrition.

« Challenges were seen around operational efficiency, but they are reported to have settled down.
« Processes for the ordering and provision of equipment have greatly improved.

« Recyclingremains a challenge and as a result of the contract’s financial model, NRS Healthcare’s
financial viability has not been what was anticipated.

age
Talktous | Tel 0808 8010102 | Email info@healthwatchkentcouk | wwwhealthwatchkent.couk °9



healthwatch

Focus on Commiissioning : a Healthwatch Kent report Kent

Summary of findings for each contract

Children and Young People’s Mental Health Services

North East London NHS Foundation Trust (NELFT) was awarded the contract for the provision of
emotional wellbeing and mental health advice and support for young people and their families
across Kent. The contract started on September 1st 2017.

« Included in the invitation to tender documentation was data relating to known waiting lists
provided by Sussex Partnership Foundation Trust (SPFT) and PSCION.

« However, subsequent to service transfer it was apparent that this data was inaccurate.
» The tender did not include enough detail about assessments, decisions and referrals.

« There was a lack of vigorous information relating to patients that were being cared for by EKHUFT
and PSCION. This had an impact on these patients who were meant to transfer to NELFT from
April 1st 2018.

« Prior to the start of the contract, it was identified that the financial envelope to meet the
prescribing needs of children, particularly those in East Kent that were on the current prescribed
medication by PSCION and EKHUFT, may not have been accurate.

« The volume of need was not fully understood. There were 7000 children who needed specialist
care but this had not been planned for.

« There were not enough admin staff and clinicians to handle the volume of calls to the service. At
one pointin NELFT were taking 600 calls a day.

- Many of the calls were from people trying to complain. The volume of complaints meant they
became diverted dealing with complaints rather than addressing the issues within the service.

Page 336
Talktous | Tel 0808 8010102 | Email info@healthwatchkentcouk | wwwhealthwatchkentco.uk <10



healthwatch

Kent

Focus on Commissioning : a Healthwatch Kent report

Summary of findings for each contract

Dermatology

In September 2018 Medway Foundation Trust informed commissioners they were going to give
notice on their dermatology service. DMC Healthcare was awarded the contract for the North Kent
Dermatology Service from April 1st 2019.

Throughout this process a number of issues were identified including:

A short mobilisation period meaning things weren't ready in time.
« Difficulties finding suitable premises in the area.

« Uncertainty about staff transferring from the current contract to the new service which meantit
was challenging to plan clinics and staff rotas.

« Lack of clarity regarding the number of patients who were still waiting from the previous provider.

« Uncertainty about the arrangements for Multi Disciplinary Teams (MDTs) in the area.

« During this time DMC experienced a high number of calls which resulted in patients facing delays
contacting DMC.

« There was a problem with the transfer of scan results from MFT to DMC affecting 30 patients

WAITING ROOM

Page 337
Talktous | Tel 0808 8010102 | Email info@healthwatchkentcouk | wwwhealthwatchkentco.uk <11



This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda Item 8
Item 8: CCG Annual Assessment 2018/19 (Written Update)

By: Kay Goldsmith, Scrutiny Research Officer
To: Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee, 29 January 2020

Subject: CCG Annual Assessment 2018/19 (Written Update)

Summary: This report invites the Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee to
consider the information provided by the Kent CCGs.

It is a written briefing only and no guests will be present to speak
on this item.

1. Introduction

(@) NHS England has a statutory duty to undertake an annual assessment
of CCGs. This has been carried out under the auspices of the
Improvement and Assessment Framework (IAF), with the overall
assessment derived from CCGs’ performance against the IAF
indicators, including an assessment of CCG leadership and financial
management.*

(b)  The seven Kent CCGs have been asked to provide the key actions
from their improvement plans to the Committee. A written report is
attached for information.

2. Recommendation

RECOMMENDED that the report be noted, and the Kent CCGs be requested
to provide an update to the Committee annually.

Background Documents

NHS England (2018) ‘CCG Improvement and Assessment Framework
2018/19 (CCG IAF) (8/11/2018),
https://www.england.nhs.uk/publication/ccg-improvement-and-assessment-
framework-ccg-iaf-2018-19/

NHS England (2019) 'CCG Annual Assessment 2018/19 (11/07/2019)',
https://www.england.nhs.uk/publication/ccg-annual-assessment-report-2018-
19/

Contact Details

Kay Goldsmith

Scrutiny Research Officer
kay.goldsmith@kent.gov.uk
03000 416512

' NHS England (2019) CCG Annual Asse§§51§8t§§§8/19


https://www.england.nhs.uk/publication/ccg-improvement-and-assessment-framework-ccg-iaf-2018-19/
https://www.england.nhs.uk/publication/ccg-improvement-and-assessment-framework-ccg-iaf-2018-19/
https://www.england.nhs.uk/publication/ccg-annual-assessment-report-2018-19/
https://www.england.nhs.uk/publication/ccg-annual-assessment-report-2018-19/
mailto:kay.goldsmith@kent.gov.uk

This page is intentionally left blank



1.

Kent Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee (HOSC) Briefing: Annual assessment
2018/19 of Kent CCGs

January 2020

Introduction

The CCG annual assessment for 2018/19, carried out by NHS England (NHSE), provides each CCG with a
headline assessment against the indicators in the CCG improvement and assessment framework (CCG IAF).
The IAF aligns key objectives and priorities as part of delivering the Five Year Forward View.

The CCG IAF for 2018/19 comprises 58 indicators selected to track and assess variation across four domains
including Better Health, Better Care, Sustainability and leadership across the Integrated Care System (ICS).
See Appendix 1.

CCGs are rated in one of four categories: ‘Outstanding’, ‘Good’, ‘Requires Improvement’ and ‘Inadequate’.

Each CCG receives a letter detailing the assessment by NHSE and confirming the annual assessment, as well
as a summary of any areas of strength and where improvement is needed from a year-end review.

The 2018/19 annual assessments were published on the CCG Improvement and Assessment page of the NHS
England website in July 2019.

Kent CCG ratings

The headline rating for each of the CCGs is as follows.

CCG Headline rating

NHS Ashford CCG Inadequate

NHS Canterbury and Coastal CCG Inadequate

NHS Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley CCG Requires improvement
NHS South Kent Coast CCG Inadequate

NHS Swale CCG Requires improvement
NHS Thanet CCG Inadequate

NHS West Kent CCG Good

All CCGs rated Inadequate or Requires Improvement have improvement plans in place.

A summary of key actions from Kent CCGs’ improvement plans is included in Appendix 2.

Page 341



Appendix 1 — CCG Improvement and Assessment Framework indicators for 2018/19

Key:

¢ New indicators in the CCG Improvement and Assessment Framework 2018/19 are highlighted in

italics.

Better Health

1 Child obesity

Percentage of children aged 10-11 classified as overweight or obese

2 Diabetes

Diabetes patients that have achieved all the NICE recommended treatment
targets: three (HbAlc, cholesterol and blood pressure) for adults and one
(HbA1c) for children

3 People with diabetes diagnosed less than a year who attend a structured
education course
4 Falls Injuries from falls in people aged 65 and over
5 Personalisation Personal health budgets
and choice
6 Health Inequality in unplanned hospitalisation for chronic ambulatory care
inequalities sensitive and urgent care sensitive conditions
7 Antimicrobial Antimicrobial resistance: appropriate prescribing of antibiotics in primary
resistance care
8 Antimicrobial resistance: appropriate prescribing of broad spectrum
antibiotics in primary care
9 Carers The proportion of carers with a long term condition who feel

supported to manage their condition

Better Care

10 Provision of

high quality
11 | care

12

Provision of high quality care: hospitals

Provision of high quality care: primary medical services

Provision of high quality care: adult social care

13 Cancer

14

Cancers diagnosed at an early stage

People with urgent GP referral having first definitive treatment for cancer

within 62 days of referral

Page 342




15 One-year survival from all cancers

16 Cancer patient experience

17 | Mental health Improving Access to Psychological Therapies — recovery

18 Improving Access to Psychological Therapies — access

19 People with first episode of psychosis starting treatment with a NICE-
recommended package of care treated within two weeks of referral

20 Children and young people’s mental health services transformation

21 Mental health out of area placements

22 Mental health crisis team provision

23 Proportion of people on GP severe mental illness register receiving physical
health checks in primary care

24 Cardio-metabolic assessment in mental health environments

25 Delivery of the mental health investment standard

26 Quality of mental health data submitted to NHS Digital (DQMI)

27 | Learning Reliance on specialist inpatient care for people with a learning disability and/or

disability autism

28 Proportion of people with a learning disability on the GP register receiving
an annual health check

29 Completeness of the GP learning disability register

30 Maternity Maternal smoking at delivery

31 Neonatal mortality and stillbirths

32 Women'’s experience of maternity services

33 Choices in maternity services

34 | Dementia Estimated diagnosis rate for people with dementia

35 Dementia care planning and post-diagnostic support

Page 343




36 | Urgent and

emergency
37 | care

38

39

Emergency admissions for urgent care sensitive conditions

Percentage of patients admitted, transferred or discharged from A&E within
four hours

Delayed transfers of care per 100,000 population

Population use of hospital beds following emergency admission

40 End of life
care

Percentage of deaths with three or more emergency admissions in last three
months of life

41 Primary care

Patient experience of GP services

42 Primary care access — proportion of population benefitting from extended
access services

43 Primary care workforce

44 Count of the total investment in primary care transformation made by CCGs
compared with the £3 head commitment made in the General Practice
Forward View

45 | Elective Patients waiting 18 weeks or less from referral to hospital treatment

access

46 | 7 day services

Achievement of clinical standards in the delivery of 7 day services

47 NHS
Continuing
Healthcare

Percentage of NHS Continuing Healthcare full assessments taking place in an
acute hospital setting

48 | Patient safety

Evidence that sepsis awareness raising amongst healthcare
professionals has been prioritised by CCGs

49 | Diagnostics

Patients waiting six weeks or more for a diagnostic test

Sustainability

50 | Financial
sustainability

CCG in-year financial performance

51 | Paper-free at

Utilisation of the NHS e-referral service to enable choice at first routine

the point of elective referral
care

52 Demand Expenditure in areas with identified scope for improvement
management

Page 344




Leadership across the ICS

53 | Probity and
corporate
governance

Probity and corporate governance

54 Workforce

Staff engagement index

engagement
55

Progress against the Workforce Race Equality Standard

56 Local
relationships

Effectiveness of working relationships in the local system

57 Patient and
community
engagement

Compliance with statutory guidance on patient and public
participation in commissioning health and care

58 | Quality of
leadership

Quality of CCG leadership

Page 345




ot¢ abed

Appendix 2 - Summary of key actions in CCG improvement plans for Kent CCGs.

Kent Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee (HOSC) Briefing: Annual assessment 2018/19 of Kent CCGs

November 2019

CCG

Key actions

Current status

East Kent CCGs

NHS England has agreed to
oversee our 2019/20 financial
recovery plan (FRP) for east Kent
and support us by using statutory
directions. The financial recovery
plan will show how the CCGs
ensure they operate within their
annual budget in financial year
2019/20 and remains in recurrent
balance in subsequent four
financial years.

The financial recovery plan (FRP) for east Kent has been agreed and signed
off by regulators. The CCGs’ financial plan for 2019/20 aligns to the agreed
FRP and in delivering the financial plan the CCGs will deliver the FRP and
satisfy the lifting of legal directions relating to finance.

The FRP has been signed off through governing bodies following a series of
reviews, including clinically. The governing bodies have recently been
updated on the FRP in detail at a development session. The FRP is
monitored monthly through the contracting, finance and performance
committee, and performance against the FRP reported to boards monthly.
We have changed internal processes to make sure that actions are more
clinically driven and owned.

The east Kent CCGs are working closely with NHS England and
Improvement’s Intensive Support Team to give assurance against the
financial commitments and adherence to plan; improve the quality of
services; and bring about more effective east Kent-wide working to resolve
the challenges we face together in east Kent. Only efficiencies and
interventions that have a system benefit have been included within the FRP.
Significant steps have already been taken to address our financial situation




/1€ abed

and build a sustainable NHS which focuses on providing the very best, most
cost-effective patient care.

The FRP feeds into the jointly agreed System Plan, and will feed into
operational plans. CCGs are fully aligned with EKHUFT on activity, finance
and workforce, and have spent time to check the alignment between activity,
capacity and finance. The system’s response to the NHS Long Term Plan is
an improvement on the financial improvement trajectories set by regulators
as we work across the whole STP footprint to manage risk. We have
appointed a jointly funded director to coordinate the east Kent system
programme management approach.

Supporting the development of a
single CCG for Kent and Medway
with an integrated care
partnership (ICP) and primary
care networks (PCNs) in east
Kent as part of the overall STP
strategy.

GP members have approved the establishment of a single Kent and
Medway CCG, and together with the other CCGs in Kent and Medway, we
have submitted an application to establish a single CCG from 1 April 2020.

16 PCNs have been established across east Kent, giving full coverage for
east Kent.

Implementation of a digital
strategy to  support  new
workforce models.

East Kent has been selected to be part of the “Digital First Unscheduled
Care Accelerator” programme that will enable clinicians to make decisions
using real- time digital information.

The CCGs have continued to implement the Medical Interoperability
Gateway (MIG) programme, extending its coverage to all main providers.




8¢ abed

We have supported GPs to adopt EMIS and Vision clinical systems as well
as to implement software to facilitate the linking of these systems.

We are contributing to the Kent and Medway digital infrastructure refresh
programme.

Referral To Treatment (RTT)
improvement linked to
transforming outpatients,
pathway redesign and waiting list
reductions.

The numbers of patients waiting more than 52 weeks for their treatment at
EKHUFT has improved significantly in 2019/20. At the end of December
2019 there were five patients waiting for treatment over 52 weeks as
opposed to 80 patients at the end of December 2018.

The proportion of patients waiting less than 18 weeks has improved to 83%
and is exceeding the agreed improvement trajectory.

Our RTT Improvement Plan continues to be progressed, through the
Planned Care Task and Finish Group, with a focus on pathway redesign
within key specialties (gastroenterology, dermatology, MSK, chronic pain,
urology, rheumatology, ENT).

Improve A&E discharge and flow
including reducing the number of
Delay  Transfer of Cares
(DTOCs).

We have undertaken a system demand and capacity review. There is
agreement across the system that demand growth rates are higher than had
been predicted but that capacity could be managed better to improve flow.
We are working with EKHUFT, KCHFT and KCC to review flow across the




61€ abed

urgent care system. Further work to understand the levels of growth is
underway.

A number of key priorities have been agreed by the east Kent system leads
to address urgent care demand and flow.

The implementation of Urgent Treatment Centres (UTC) is within plan. The
providers issued with a direct award contract are in the process of reviewing
the contracts with a view to fully implement the service within the next few
weeks. However three of the five direct award sites have commenced a soft
launch. Procurement of the UTCs on the acute sites to be mobilised April
2020.

Continue work with STP on
Cancer Strategy.

We have established a joint committee across the Kent and Medway CCGs
to oversee implementation of the cancer strategy and continue to work on
developing capacity and capability.

The percentage of patients seen within two weeks for suspected cancer has
been on target throughout the year and we have delivered a sustained
improvement in the 62-day referral to treatment cancer standard with
performance in October reaching 88.45% (target 85%).

Dementia diagnosis rate
improvement to deliver national
target.

With the exception of Canterbury and Coastal CCG, dementia diagnosis
rates continue to remain below the national target. We continue to
implement our improvement plan including the following key actions:




0G¢ abed

Practices continue to be sent their diagnosis rates on a quarterly basis and
offered support to undertake data harmonisation. A programme of targeted
support is being developed following a survey of Thanet GPs which looked
to understand the gaps and challenges to diagnosis. A community
geriatrician is currently undertaking comprehensive geriatric assessments in
care homes in Thanet. Part of this process includes the diagnosis of
dementia, where appropriate.

A second GP education day, supported by the clinical network, is being
planned for Kent and Medway in March. In addition Dementia United in
Manchester who have successfully increased diagnosis rates have agreed
to facilitate a workshop early this year to share their experiences..

Focus on Improving Access to
Psychological Therapies (IAPT)
ensuring compliance with
national specification.

The percentage of people that wait six weeks or less from referral to
entering a course of IAPT treatment has remained above or close to the
national target of 75% for the past 12 months. Recovery rates continue to
exceed the national target. Access rates have dipped in Thanet and South
Kent Coast due to a reduction in provider capacity but capacity is expected
to increase now that tariff uplift has been agreed. In addition, work is
underway with the NHSE England IAPT transformation group to develop
workforce plans.

Development of safeguarding
strategy at STP level as a priority.

Governing bodies have approved a Kent and Medway-wide Safeguarding
Strategy and CCGs are continuing implementation and promoting the




TGE abed

sharing and spread of good practice across Kent and Medway.

Oversight and leadership of
quality improvements in
EKHUFT, with appropriate
escalation within CCGs and
EKHUFT.

Quality oversight is undertaken at joint contract management and Quality
Committee meetings. Escalation to NHS England and NHS Improvement-led
System Oversight Meeting — continues monthly.

Improve performance against
CHC target re: assessments out
of hospital.

We have met or exceeded the target for 85% of decision support tool (DST)
assessments being undertaken outside of acute hospitals since March 2019.
There is some variation in performance levels for referrals that originate from
community hospitals and we are working to address this.

Ensure delivery of special
educational needs and disability

(SEND) actions and share action
plan.

Together with the other Kent and Medway CCGs and Kent County Council,
a multi-million-pound investment programme has been identified.

CCGs have created a statement of action which makes more direct links
between planned actions and the outcomes for children and young people.
The statement of action has been shared with the CQC and Ofsted, and is
published on the KCC website.

CCGs have recruited a Designated Clinical Officer for Kent and Medway,
and established a Kent SEND Improvement Board.

The programme of improvement is driven and monitored by the Joint




2S¢ abed

Committee of Kent and Medway CCGs and SEND Improvement Board.

Ensure governing bodies are fully
sighted on main quality and
constitutional target
achievements including action
and improvement required.

Governing body agendas are aligned to assurance, key risks and system
recovery. CCGs have improved the integrated performance report which is
a standing report to our governing bodies to enable scrutiny of performance
and, where necessary, actions to address poor performance.

Quiality and constitutional target achievements are reviewed in further detail
through the quality committee and contracting, finance and performance
committee as sub groups of the governing bodies, this includes thorough
review of actions and improvements and escalation of key issues to the
governing bodies as required.

Submit pre-consultation business
case (PCBC) to NHSE within
required timelines.

The CCGs governing bodies and the EKHUFT board have established a
joint committee to oversee the development of the PCBC, and we continue
to work closely with NHS England regarding their assurance process.

We have continued to prioritise the east Kent transformation programme to
make sure we are planning for a health system that is sustainable and
delivers the very best patient care.

20% reduction in commissioning
system costs by March 2020

A recruitment control process now operates across the Kent and Medway
CCGs. The submitted Long Term Plan across Kent and Medway CCGs is
aligned to the admin allocations permitted by regulators, this is inclusive of
the expectation for CCGs to improve system costs by 20%.




£G¢ abed

CCG

Key actions

Current status

East Kent CCGs (NHS
Ashford, NHS
Canterbury and Coastal,
NHS South Kent Coast
and NHS Thanet CCGs)

NHS Dartford,
Gravesham and
Swanley CCG

Work with other CCGs to review current
patient engagement activities against the
domains of the NHSE Improvement
Assessment Framework and learn best
practice in preparation for transition to a
single CCG

Joint CCG submission of NHSE Annual Evaluation template in February
2020.

Ongoing

NHS Swale CCG

Work with other CCGs to review current
patient engagement activities against the
domains of the NHSE Improvement
Assessment Framework and learn best
practice in preparation for transition to a
single CCG

Joint CCG submission of NHSE Annual Evaluation template in February
2020.

Ongoing




This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda Item 9
Item 9: General Surgery Reconfiguration at MTW

By: Kay Goldsmith, Scrutiny Research Officer
To: Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee, 29 January 2020

Subject: General Surgery Reconfiguration at Maidstone and Tunbridge Well NHS
Trust

Summary: This report invites the Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee to
consider the information provided by NHS West Kent CCG and Maidstone
and Tunbridge Wells NHS Trust.

1) Introduction

a) According to The Royal College of Surgeons, General Surgeons “have a wide
range of knowledge and skills to deal with all kinds of surgical emergencies,
with an emphasis on acute abdominal problems.” They also carry out a large
number of elective operations and are essential in supporting A&E
departments.t

b) This item is included on today’s agenda at the request of the Maidstone and
Tunbridge Wells NHS Trust (MTW). It relates to a reconfiguration of services
across their two sites of Pembury and Maidstone.

C) NHS commissioners and providers are required to consult with the HOSC on
potential substantial variations of services affecting the population of the area
covered by the Committee.

2) Potential Substantial Variation of Service

a) The Committee is asked to consider whether MTW’s proposals relating to the
reconfiguration of general surgery constitute a substantial variation of service.

b) Where the Committee deems the proposed changes as not being substantial,
this shall not prevent the HOSC from reviewing the proposed changes at its
discretion and making reports and recommendations to the NHS.

! Royal College of Surgeons, https://www.rcsey fews-and-events/media-centre/media-
background-briefings-and-statistics/general-surgery/



https://www.rcseng.ac.uk/news-and-events/media-centre/media-background-briefings-and-statistics/general-surgery/
https://www.rcseng.ac.uk/news-and-events/media-centre/media-background-briefings-and-statistics/general-surgery/

Item 9: General Surgery Reconfiguration at MTW

3) Recommendation

If the proposals relating to the reconfiguration of general surgery are deemed
substantial:

RECOMMENDED that:

(a) the Committee deems that proposed changes to the configuration of general
surgery services across the Maidstone and Tunbridge Wells NHS Trust sites
are a substantial variation of service.

(b) NHS representatives be invited to attend this Committee and present an
update at an appropriate time.

If the proposals relating to the reconfiguration of general surgery are deemed not
substantial:

RECOMMENDED that:

(a) the Committee deems that proposed changes to the configuration of general
surgery services across the Maidstone and Tunbridge Wells NHS Trust sites
are not a substantial variation of service.

(b) NHS representatives be invited to attend this Committee and present an
update at an appropriate time.

Background Documents

No documents

Contact Details

Kay Goldsmith

Scrutiny Research Officer
kay.goldsmith@kent.gov.uk
03000 416512

Page 356



mailto:kay.goldsmith@kent.gov.uk

Subject: The reconfiguration of complex elective inpatient gastrointestinal
surgery at Maidstone and Tunbridge Wells Trust

To: HOSC

From: Dr Amanjit Singh Jhund, Director of Strategy, Planning and
Partnerships, Maidstone and Tunbridge Wells NHS Trust and Mr Adam
Wickings, Deputy Managing Director West Kent CCG

Date: 15" January 2020

Purpose: To outline the case for the reconfiguration of complex elective inpatient
gastrointestinal surgery, from the Maidstone Hospital site to the
Tunbridge Wells Hospital site, at MTW

Introduction:

Maidstone and Tunbridge Wells Trust (MTW) Trust provides a wide range of general and
specialist surgical services with two centres of expertise in surgery, one at Tunbridge Wells
Hospital at Pembury (TWH) and one at Maidstone Hospital (MH). Both sites provide surgical
outpatient consultations, endoscopy services, daycase and 23 hour stay elective surgical
procedures. However, inpatient complex surgery is split, with around 5,700 patients
admitted as a surgical emergency per year directed to TWH and around 600 patients per
year for complex elective gastrointestinal surgery directed to MH.

This split coincided with the opening of the TWH in 2011, and the rationale at the time was to
co-locate complex elective cancer surgery, including complex upper and lower Gl surgery,
with the cancer centre at MH. In 2013 a shared regional decision was taken that MTW would
no longer provide the complex upper Gl cancer surgery service.

In 2019, an internal strategic clinical service review of the surgery services at MTW identified
a number of challenges and safety concerns with the current service configuration. The
service review concluded it was a priority that a plan be developed to address the
challenges.

1. Why do services need to be reconfigured?
The Challenges:

Gaps in the continuity of care for the surgical patient

In the current surgical configuration, patients requiring complex gastrointestinal (GI) surgery
can face multiple handovers between surgical teams. The emergency surgical consultants
are based at TWH and the specialist upper and lower GI surgeons attend TWH to undertake
a block of on-call but then return to MH for to carry out their elective activity. Because of their
elective commitments at MH, the upper and lower GI surgeons cannot have ongoing
involvement with the patients they treated as an emergency at TWH. Patients who have had
planned surgery at MH whose condition deteriorates may experience delays to their
treatment awaiting emergency transfer to TWH. Patients who require emergency
readmission for post op complication following planned surgery at MH are re-admitted to
TWH. Both of these groups of patients, the deteriorating patient and the emergency re-
admission are high risk groups. They fall under the care of the on-call teams at TWH, not
under the consultant’s team who operated on them in the first instance. This can cause
significant issues with the continuity of care and puts significant pressure on the emergency

1
Page 357



surgical teams. The relatively high number of handovers between surgical teams leads to
frustrating repetition, additional risk, clinical delay and unnecessary increased length of stay
in hospital.

Fragmented systems of working that mean the service faces additional challenges
with recruitment, with training and barriers to multidisciplinary working

For all specialist staff, increasing demand, decline in numbers entering the professions and
an existing shortfall create a challenge for the service. Opportunities to recruit to gaps are
lost as the current fragmented service configuration is not attractive to potential recruits. Lost
opportunities to recruit do not help the surgery service that has a very high spend on locum
and agency staff. To put this in context, in 2018 -19 the service spent £2.8M on
locum/agency medical staff and £2M on bank/ agency nurses.

The surgery service at MTW provides training for the next generation of specialists. Trainee
doctors receive core and specialist training at MTW but recently the trainees have raised
issues with their experience to the Kent, Surrey and Sussex region of Health Education
England. Many of these issues are related to the challenges of the cross site configuration
and specifically, the view that the emergency block of the rotation is for service provision
rather than offering training opportunities.

Many units in England take what is regarded as a highly beneficial multidisciplinary approach
to the care of patients with gastroenterological conditions. They do this by forming a
Digestive Diseases Unit (DDU). A DDU is a combined medical and surgical ward where
patients with gastrointestinal conditions are looked after. Surgeons and physicians work
together to provide in house multidisciplinary care for all patients. This enables the team to
provide higher quality care for patients with conditions requiring Colorectal Surgery,
Gallstones, Hepatology, Inflammatory Bowel Disease (IBD), Lower Gl (medical), Oncology
with established diagnosis and Upper GI conditions including Dyspepsia. MTW does not
have a DDU as the current fragmented surgical service lacks the scale and concentration of
expertise required to set one up.

2. The solution
The surgical senior clinical management team, together with colleagues from other
disciplines, undertook a structured option appraisal on a set of options to establish a
preferred way forward. The options they explored were:

1 Status Quo Leave emergency general surgery at TW with the current cover provision.

2 Status quo plus Leave emergency general surgery at TW but increase the consultant workforce
covering the site.

3 Concentrate inpatient Leave emergency general surgery at TW and transfer planned cancer, major
service at TW and intermediate colo-rectal procedures (+/-UGI) from MS to TW.

4 Emergency and elective Provide Emergency general surgery and elective cancer and major surgery at
surgery at both sites. both sites.

5 Move Emergency surgery Change the provision of emergency surgery from TW to MS with only planned
to Maidstone minor surgery and day cases at TW.

6 Workforce based solution  Further review of surgical consultant workforce

Page 358



7 Split patient pathway “Northumbria model” Patients to move from TWH to MS when stable either
for surgery or rehab

The clinical group assessed the options against 16 criteria. The criteria were:

Patient pathway- Continuity of care

Patient pathway — The number of cross hospital site patient transfers

Patient pathway — Patient’s initial emergency access

Workforce — Ability to cover service commitments

Workforce — Recruitment and retention

Workforce — Training and supervision

Strategic — Opportunities to develop the surgical service

Strategic — Opportunities to further research and innovation

Operational — Impact on A&E and A&E access standard

Operational — Addresses the blocks to efficient day/ short stay surgery processes
Operational — Achievability assessment including time taken until option operational
Operational — Option supports whole hospital winter resilience

Operational — Option provides for continuing adequate surgical support for the
Trauma Centre

e Operational — Option can be supported by Theatres

e Operational — Option can be supported by Critical Care and Theatres

e Operational — Option can be supported by Imaging

Each of the options was scored by the clinical group on weighted criteria.

The highest scoring option was option 3: ‘Leave emergency general surgery at TW and
transfer planned cancer, major and intermediate colo-rectal procedures (+/-UGI) from MS to
T™W

The solution would affect around 600 patients a year, who live across our region who would
have had their surgery at MH but will in future have their surgery at TWH. The 5,700
emergency surgical patients a year at TWH are unaffected other than in future there will be a
greater surgical presence at TWH to care for them.

The 56,000 surgical outpatient consultations a year and the 9,000 patients admitted for day
case or endoscopy a year will be unaffected by the change.

The Trust then consulted west Kent CCG about the proposed approach and received the
CCG'’s endorsement.

The urgent clinical need for change and benefits of the proposed solution

Clinicians have identified an urgent clinical need for change and identified the following
benefits associated with the proposed solution:

Improved continuity of clinical personnel

Currently, clinical continuity is exceptionally poor with too many handovers, at times a lack of
clarity of the line of responsibility for some patients and delays to progressing care of the
sickest patients. The importance of this continuity and clear governance cannot be
overstated.

The Royal College of Surgeons standards® state: ‘Effective continuity of care is vital in
protecting patient safety. It is the duty of every surgeon to convey high quality and
appropriate clinical information to oncoming healthcare professionals to allow for the safe
transfer of responsibility for patients...whenever possible, ensure that there is a clear line of
responsibility for the patient’s care at any one time.... when transferring care to an oncoming

'The Royal College of Surgeons. Good Surgical Practice Royal College of Surgeons

Page 359


https://www.rcseng.ac.uk/standards-and-research/gsp/domain-3/3-4-continuity-and-coordination-of-care/

team, ensure that team members have access to all necessary clinical information about the
patient.’

In the past, local surgical services have been deemed unsafe and have been closed by the
Royal College of Surgery as a result of issues leading on from sub-standard governance and
poor continuity of care.

Co-location of complex elective with emergency surgery will; simplify governance, reduce
the number of handovers and avoid unnecessary changes of the team in charge of patient’s
care and simplify governance. These are issues which our clinicians recognise impact upon
the quality of care.

Co-location of complex elective with emergency surgery will allow continuity of involvement
and most effective use of our Clinical Nurse Specialist Team, giving patients best access to
specialist nursing care

Continuity of Clinical Information

When patients have been discharged from Maidstone and suffer a postoperative
complication they usually re-present to TWH and there have been problems with quality and
continuity of clinical information. For the most complex care clinical information is vital. The
paper records travel with the patient to Maidstone for elective surgery and are not
immediately available to clinicians at TWH in the event of any early need for reassessment.

Complex Care

Patients requiring the most complex care and/or with multiple conditions are not getting the
guality of service that clinicians know is possible. It is often challenging because of the
configuration of services to undertake combined diagnostic and therapeutic procedures
leading to a need for patients to have 2 separate anaesthetics and potential for pathway
delay in some cancer treatments. The availability of theatre team skilled in emergency and
complex routine surgery also has synergistic improvement on the quality of benign surgery

Excellent Perioperative Management

Dedicated surgical high dependency facilities can provide the best care available for the
perioperative patient. Without the critical mass of cases allowing centralisation of specialist
staff such a facility is unachievable. TWH will become a much stronger centre for
perioperative surgical management with some centralisation of complex surgical workload.
Enhanced operational efficiency associated with a consolidated unit which will reduce
incidence of cancellation for patients and reduce delays for both emergency and urgent
surgery.

Transfers for clinical reasons.

Too many patients currently have delays to their treatment pending transfer across hospital
sites. The proposal is expected to lead to a reduction in the requirement and the delay
caused by patient transfers from Maidstone to TWH and vice versa.

Other identified service benefits with include:

¢ Improved sustainability of the surgical service including improving compliance with
developing seven day service requirements

e Improved training experience for surgical trainees
Reduced reliance on the use of locum doctors. The reconfigured service will provide
the emergency service workforce with more support and make the surgical work
pattern considerably more attractive for hard to recruit and retain specialist clinical
staff.

¢ Consolidation will provide an opportunity to develop a digestive diseases unit with
medical gastroenterology co located with Gl surgery

Page 360



Patient involvement in the proposed changes

Given the urgent clinical case for change the proposed solution has been designed with
clinicians rather than patients. While there has been no formal consultation process patient
and staff representatives have been engaged and consulted informally. This informal
consultation included discussions with patients presenting through the PALS (Patient Advice
and Liaison Service) and complaints services with problems with the current service as well
as with Trust Patient representatives and former staff members. Although there has been no
formal co design process, in planning the Digestive Diseases Unit at Tunbridge Wells
patients are being engaged in it's design and will be involved from the start. Both patients
and the families of patients that have experienced problems with care have already been
asked to be involved in the co-design process.

Given the urgent clinical case for change, the patient engagement undertaken and the
numbers of patients affected, we recommend that HOSC agree that this is not a significant
change and that we should proceed with the planned change to clinical services without
formal public consultation.

The identified risks associated with the solution
The project group has identified the following risks, for which mitigation is planned
associated with the preferred solution.

e Arrisk of increasing the bed pressure at TWH leading to a risk of cancellation of
complex cancer elective patients. Mitigation plans include a new escalation policy to
ensure the beds identified for cancer patients are ‘ring fenced’ and not used for
escalation. A number of service changes and improvements to patient flow are
planned across the Trust. A senior operational ‘gateway decision’ will be made prior
to ‘go live’ that the planned changes have made the required and sustainable bed
capacity available.

e Arrisk of overloading the TWH critical care capacity was considered and investment
in enhanced post-operative surgical recovery, six additional enhanced care beds
together with measures designed to speed the flow of patients are planned that
mitigate the risk.

e Arrisk of inadequate surgical cover for the Maidstone site has been mitigated by
ensuring there would still be a consultant surgeon on call for the site and an RMO
covering the site.

e Arrisk that operating theatre capacity could be compromised was identified so the
project group worked with the critical care and theatres teams to produce a full
review of theatre schedules that has mitigated the risk

e Arrisk that surgical nurses may be lost to the Trust was identified. Subsequently,
senior nurse engagement with the nursing teams has clarified and mitigated the risk.

e Arisk was identified that appropriate consultation on medical job plans could take
some months. The service identified temporary mitigations were available should the
process be delayed.

Patient numbers

. _— . . TWH Maidstone
Patients visiting surgical services at MTW for
general surgery, gynae oncology and breast
surgery Current Future Current Future
Emergency surgical inpatient admissions 5700 5700 100 100
Day case admissions (includes patients for 4300 4300 4600 4600
endoscopy)

Page 361




. I . . TWH Maidstone
Patients visiting surgical services at MTW for

general surgery, gynae oncology and breast

surgery Current Future Current Future
Outpatients for general surgery 24000 24000 32000 32000
In patient (ordlnaltry) elective alldmlssmns for 100 100 600 600
general surgery 'non-complex

In patient (ordinary) elective admissions for 0 400 400 0
complex general surgery LGI procedures

In patient (ordinary) elective admissions for 0 200 200 0

complex general surgery UGI procedures

The proposed plan

The table above demonstrated that the planned change would mean different site of care for
600 patients per year (400 inpatient elective LGI plus 200 inpatient elective UGI,) Ten beds
are required for these 600 patients. The proposed plan is therefore that in March 2020,
following the easing of the pressures associated with winter, medical patient outliers in
surgical beds will have eased and the surgical service will be in a position to accommodate
the extra 10 beds in their current bed stock.

To assist the management of the patients there will be:

¢ An investment in an enhanced post-operative surgical recovery area of two beds
staffed by intensive care trained nurses at TWH. These beds will meet the needs of
the higher dependency care these patients require immediately post operatively.

e Six enhanced care beds will be introduced on Ward 32 to manage the pressure on
the TWH ITU/HDU, improve flow and ensure that the complex post-op patients
receive a higher level of monitoring.

e A streamlined operating theatre schedule has been developed and will be introduced
to coincide with the reconfiguration. The Critical Care team who manage the
operating theatres are using the opportunity to rationalise the whole operating theatre
schedule to increase productivity and balance capacity across multiple specialties
through the week.

e A senior surgeon and a resident medical officer will be rostered to provide
emergency surgical cover for the MH site.

Streamlined embedding of the complex Gl inpatient surgeries at TWH

¢ Change to the on-call structure and rotas allowing the consultant surgeon workforce
to remain responsible for both their emergency and elective inpatients.

e The longer term development of a DDU for multidisciplinary care of patients with
gastrointestinal conditions

The plans for the reconfiguration are developing and input from stakeholders is sought.
Approval and input from stakeholders is sought to enable detailed planning to progress. Due
to Winter Pressures the earliest that the service could be ready for a ‘go live’ date is March
2020. The Trust anticipates no change in overall patient flow to the Trust and no impact on
neighbouring Trusts.

Page 362



£9¢ abed

NHS

Maidstone and
Tunbridge Wells
NHS Trust

Clinical Commissiol

APPENDIX — SUPPORTING
PATIENT STORIES

NOTE THESE ARE NOT BASED ON
REAL PATIENTS BUT ARE
ILLUSTRATIVE



How will this be different for patients? (1/2) INHS

Maidstone and

Mary, requiring elective excision of rectal cancer Tunbridge Wells

NHS Trust

NHS|

West Kent

Clinical Commissioning Group

Before surgical reconfiguration,

Mary is a 78 year old woman who has been waiting for an operation ‘an anterior
resection’ for her rectal cancer. The surgeon at Maidstone removes the diseased area
of bowel laparoscopically and forms a temporary stoma to protect the join in the
bowel. The surgery and recovery went well and Mary is discharged on the 5t post-
operative day.

At home Mary becomes unwell and is re-admitted to Tunbridge Wells Hospital where
she ig?found to be in renal failure due to de-hydration. The surgical team (not her
origﬁal surgeon who is never made aware of her re-admission) ask the physicians to
look gfter her.

D

DISADVANTAGES OF CURRENT MODEL

They correct her electrolytes and discharge her. After a few days Mary becomes
dehydrated again and is re-admitted again and again discharged following fluid
treatment. She becomes dehydrated for a third time. Fortunately, on this occasion the
surgeon who performed Mary’s cancer surgery is on call at Tunbridge Wells. The
surgeon finds that Mary has been admitted and visits her on the ward. Immediately,
the surgeon diagnoses a ‘high output stoma’ which requires careful management. By
now Mary’s renal function is very poor and she requires a prolonged period of fluid
therapy for her to be fit enough to safely undergo corrective surgery.

* Limited access to sub specialist
opinion

* Unnecessary transfers across site
from TWH to Maidstone

* Multiple admissions and discharges

The surgeon arranges for Mary to be transferred back to Maidstone hospital for the
stoma to be closed the following week. Mary makes a good recovery and is
discharged home to complete her recovery.

* Multiple handovers, poor continuity
of care




How will this be different for patients? (2/2) INHS

Maidstone and

Mary, requiring elective excision of rectal cancer Tunbridge Wells

NHS Trust

NHS|

West Kent

Clinical Commissioning Group

After surgical reconfiguration

Mary is a 78 year old woman on the waiting list for and anterior
resection for cancer. The surgeon at Maidstone removes the

diseased area of bowel laparoscopically and forms a temporary
stoma to protect the join in the bowel. The surgery and recovery

went well and Mary is discharged on the 5t post-operative day.
Y

QD
At Iﬁ)me Mary becomes unwell and is re-admitted to Tunbridge
Wels Hospital where she is found to be in renal failure due to
. ADVANTAGES OF PROPOSED MODEL
de-hydration.

* Continuity of care under specialist
She is referred back to the surgeon who performed Mary’s
cancer surgery. They instantly they diagnose a high output
stoma and manage this in conjunction with the stoma nurses
using medication and diet to reduce the output.

* Specialist opinion allows for rapid
formulation of appropriate multi
disciplinary care plan

* Good multidisciplinary working

Despite maximal intervention, the stoma output continues to be
high and the consultant arranges for the stoma to be closed
later that week on his elective list at Tunbridge Wells Hospital.
Mary makes a good recovery and is discharged home to
complete her recovery.

* Due to effective treatment with diet
and medication although surgery is
required it is not delayed due to the
patients physical state




How will this be different for patients? (1/2) NHS

Maud presenting with acute cholecystitis

Before surgical reconfiguration,

Maud is a 59 year old woman who develops sudden pain in her upper abdomen.
She is admitted to Tunbridge Wells Hospital one Saturday and is diagnosed with
gallstones leading to acute cholecystitis. She is treated with antibiotics and
intravenous fluids. She appears to be making good progress and on Monday is
handed over to the care of the “red” acute team. The consultant covering this
team is on annual leave and the patients are covered by a locum middle grade
doctor. Maud becomes increasingly unwell over the next few days, the middle
grad%’arranges a scan which confirms an empyema (a collection of pus trapped in
the §8libladder). They ask for advice from the on call surgeon who is a colorectal

specflist.
>

The specialist advises asking the radiologists to place a drain, which successfully
relieves the abscess. Maud recovers slowly and is discharged after 7 days in
hospital with the drain in situ.

She is referred to an upper gastrointestinal surgeon who is able to see her in
clinic 8 weeks later. Maud has been in pain from the drain all of this time. The
surgeon removes the drain and arranges for her to be put on the waiting list for
elective cholecystectomy.

Whilst waiting for this procedure Maud is readmitted as an emergency with
further pain and fever which responds to antibiotics this time but necessitates a
further 5 day hospital stay.

She eventually undergoes her operation 4 months after presentation. This is
successful and she makes a good recovery.

Maidstone and
Tunbridge Wells

NHS Trust

NHS|

West Kent

Clinical Commissioning Group

DISADVANTAGES OF CURRENT MODEL

Lack of specialist upper Gl input into
the cases from an early stage

Delay in definitive treatment
(discharged home with drain in situ)
with a painful and prolonged wait
for treatment

Lack of options for definitive
surgical treatment in a timely
manner




How will this be different for patients? (2/2) NHS

Maidstone and

Maud presenting with acute cholecystitis Tunbridge Wells

NHS Trust

NHS|

West Kent

Clinical Commissioning Group

After surgical reconfiguration

Maud is a 59 year old woman who develops sudden pain
in her upper abdomen. She is admitted to Tunbridge
Wells Hospital one Saturday and is diagnosed with
gallstones leading to acute cholecystitis. She is treated
with antibiotics and intravenous fluids. She appears to
be@aking good progress and on Monday is handed over
to ﬂ,he upper gastrointestinal team who have an
emergency gallbladder operating list that day.

ADVANTAGES OF PROPOSED MODEL

* Care handed over straight to
specialist upper Gl team

Unfortunately, the list that day is already full but Maud is
placed on the “hot gallbladder” list for the following

day.

* Availability of hot gallbladder lists
provides immediate opportunity for
definitive surgical treatment

She undergoes an “emergency” cholecystectomy
performed by a senior trainee under the supervision of

* Rapid care and pain experienced by
the patient is kept to a minimum

an experienced consultant. The operations is a success
and she is discharged home the following day making a
full recovery.




How will this be different for patients? (1/2)

James presenting at Maidstone with Ulcerative Colitis

Before surgical reconfiguration, without a Digestive
Diseases Unit

James is a 48 year old man, with ulcerative colitis, who has been under the long term care of
a consultant gastroenterologists based at Maidstone Hospital. They have established a very
good relationship over the years. He experiences a flair up of his colitis and presents to the
gastroenterology clinic. James is admitted to Maidstone hospital and treatment with
intravenous steroids and infliximab is started. On this occasion, James does not respond well
to the treatment and becomes increasingly weak with his bowels opening up to 12 times a
day a@d his albumin levels falling.

®
Thereaare significant delays in the gastroenterology team being able to obtain senior
colorextal surgical opinion. James is finally seen on a Friday by a consultant colorectal
surgeon, 10 days after his admission, and needs to be transferred to Tunbridge Wells
Hospital for emergency surgery.

On arrival at Tunbridge Wells Hospital the surgical team on call, who are not colorectal
specialists, feel that James should wait for the colorectal team who will be taking over on
Monday. However, on Sunday James becomes increasingly unwell with severe abdominal
pain. He undergoes an emergency laparotomy and colectomy.

After surgery, James requires intensive care. Initially, he makes a good recovery and is
returned to the ward. On the 5t post-operative day however, he develops a wound infection
requiring the wound to be opened. He has a large wound from the emergency surgery and
requires extensive wound management, intravenous antibiotics and the placement of a VAC
dressing. He is eventually discharged with the VAC in place which remains for a further 3
weeks. Throughout the admission at Tunbridge Wells he has not seen the gastroenterologist
he knows or the surgical consultant who operated on him on Sunday.

NHS

Maidstone and
Tunbridge Wells

NHS Trust

'A\\\

& N0 \//)

DISADVANTAGES OF CURRENT MODEL

Delay in referral from
gastroenterologists to surgical team

Extended stay in hospital waiting for
plan

Gaps in specialist cover

The requirement for an emergency
transfer from Maidstone to TWH

Emergency operation required when
condition worsens

Unplanned surgery delays recovery

Multiple handovers, poor continuity of
care




How will this be different for patients? (2/2) NHS

James presenting at Maidstone with Ulcerative Colitis

Maidstone and
Tunbridge Wells

NHS Trust

After surgical reconfiguration with a Digestive Diseases
Unit

James is a 48 year old man, with ulcerative colitis, who has been under the long term care of
one of the consultant gastroenterologists based at Maidstone Hospital. They have established
a very good relationship over the years. He experiences a flair up of his colitis and presents to
the gastroenterology clinic and is admitted to the digestive diseases unit at Tunbridge Wells
Hospital.

He re@ains under the care of the gastroenterologist that he knows , who commences
trea@ent with intravenous steroids and infliximab. After 72 hours it is clear that James is not
respanding as well as would be hoped. The gastroenterologist promptly involves one of the
coIor%taI specialist consultant surgeons who visits James with the gastroenterologist. They
decide to closely watch and wait for another few days to see if things improve. They both keep
him under close observation but by the 7t day of his admission it is decided to perform
surgery. The consultant surgeon re-arranges a case from his elective operating list and is able
to promptly perform an “urgent” laparoscopic colectomy.

James is returned to ITU. Initially, he makes a good recovery and is returned to the ward. On
the 5t post-operative day he develops a wound infection. As the operation was laparoscopic
the wound is small and management is relatively simple. James is able to go home with
antibiotics the following day.

Throughout his admission the gastroenterologist and surgical consultant that James knows
have been involved in his care every day.

N7

ADVANTAGES OF DIGESTIVE DISEASES
UNIT

Continuity of care under specialist
Prompt care plan

Good multidisciplinary specialist cover
Urgent but planned elective operation
pathway available to manage urgent

conditions

Laparoscopic planned surgery enhances
recovery

Reduced stay in hospital




This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda Item 10
Item 10: Moorfields Eye Hospital

By: Kay Goldsmith, Scrutiny Research Officer
To: Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee, 29 January 2020

Subject: Moorfields Eye Hospital Relocation

Summary: This report invites the Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee to
consider the information provided by Camden CCG.

It provides background information which may prove useful to Members.

1) Introduction

a) Moorfields Eye Hospital NHS Foundation Trust provides eye health services
for adult and children patients, as well as a centre for excellence for
ophthalmic research and education.

b) The services provided by the Trust are commissioned by 77 CCGs as well as
NHS England Specialised Commissioning across 188 CCG areas. Of the 77
CCGs, only 14 in London and Hertfordshire hold contracts worth more than
£2m per annum.

C) According to 2017/18 data,' Kent CCGs had the following spend at

Moorfields:
Specialised Commissioning Clinical Commissioning
Group
CCG area
Spend Patient Spend Patient
numbers numbers
Ashford 24,457 76
Canterbury & Coastal 67,850 108
Dartford, Gravesham & | 216,742 1,020 625,918 3,278
Swanley
South Kent Coast 44,196 89
Swale 32,706 78 59,869 352
Thanet 24,188 44
West Kent 115,369 266 550,450 2,742

N _ Page 371 _
Letter from Sarah Mansuralli, Camden CCG, to STP Accountable Officers, dated 25 Feb 2019



Item 10: Moorfields Eye Hospital

2)

f)

9)

Oriel

Moorfields Eye Hospital, the UCL Institute of Ophthalmology, and Moorfields
Eye Charity have developed a proposal called “Oriel”, which would see the
Moorfields Eye Hospital move its City Road, London, services to the
St. Pancras Hospital site in Camden, where a new integrated facility housing
the three partners would be built.> The vision is for the new centre to bring
together “excellent eye care, ground-breaking research and world-leading

education in ophthalmology”.’

NHS Camden CCG, in partnership with NHS Specialised Commissioning, has
been leading the consultation on behalf of all CCGs.

A consultation on the proposal ran from 24 May to 16 September 2019.

HOSC members were given the opportunity to comment on the draft summary
of the consultation findings in October (via email).

On 2 January 2020 HOSC members were notified via email that the Joint
HOSC (comprised of five local authorities in north central London) would be
considering the findings of the consultation on 31 January.

The CCGs Committee-in-Common will consider the final Decision-Making
Business Case at its meeting on 12 February 2020.

Today’s meeting is the final opportunity for Kent HOSC members to provide
their comments to Camden CCG for inclusion in their decision-making case.

3.

Recommendation

RECOMMENDED that the Committee consider and comment on the report.

Background Documents

No documents

Contact Details

Kay Goldsmith
Scrutiny Research Officer
kay.goldsmith@kent.gov.uk

03000 416512

? https://www.moorfields.nhs.uk/news/consultation-launched-proposal-move-moorfields-eye-hospital-

King-s-cross Page 372
3 B : o .
https://oriel-london.org. uk/Wp-content/upIoads/§)19/05/0rlel-consuItatlon-summarv-l.pdf



mailto:kay.goldsmith@kent.gov.uk
https://www.moorfields.nhs.uk/news/consultation-launched-proposal-move-moorfields-eye-hospital-king-s-cross
https://www.moorfields.nhs.uk/news/consultation-launched-proposal-move-moorfields-eye-hospital-king-s-cross
https://oriel-london.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/05/Oriel-consultation-summary-1.pdf

HEALTH OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

WEDNESDAY 29 JANUARY 2020 x

Proposed move of Moorfields Eye Hospital’s City Road services

Author: Denise Tyrrell, Programme Director, denise.tyrrell@nhs.net

Recommendations:
The Kent County Council HOSC is asked to:

NOTE this update
NOTE the summary of findings from the public consultation on the proposal
PROVIDE feedback on summary of consultation findings

CONSIDER Kent HOSC representatives attend the scrutiny of the consultation
by the North Central London Joint Health and Oversight Scrutiny Committee on
31 January 2020.

1.2.

1.3.

2.2.

2.3.

Purpose of report

NHS Camden CCG and NHS England Specialised Commissioning, working in
partnership, are leading a public consultation on the proposal to create a hew centre
for eye care, research and education in King’s Cross with project partners UCL and
Moorfields Eye Charity.

This report provides an update on the progress on the formal public consultation
proposal to relocate Moorfields Eye Hospital from its site in City Road, Islington to St
Pancras. The report includes the summary of findings from the public consultation on
the proposal which highlights the key themes expressed through the consultation;
plans in place to respond to those views; and the next steps for decision-making.

For further information and consultation documentation and the consultation findings
report, please refer to the consultation website https://oriel-london.org.uk/consultation-
documents/ where you can read or download the consultation document, consultation
findings and other background information.

Introduction

On 24 May 2019, a consultation was launched to seek the views from as many people
as possible about the proposal to move services from Moorfields’ City Road site and
build a new centre bringing together excellent eye care, ground-breaking research and
world-leading education in ophthalmology.

This centre would be a multi-million pound development on land that has become
available on the site of St Pancras Hospital, just north of King’s Cross and St Pancras
stations in central London.

NHS Camden CCG, on behalf of all clinical commissioning groups with NHS
England/Improvement specialised commissioning, together with Moorfields Eye

1
Page 373


https://oriel-london.org.uk/consultation-documents/
https://oriel-london.org.uk/consultation-documents/

2.4,

2.5.

2.6.

Hospital, is leading the consultation, the outcome of which will influence and inform the
Decision-Making Business Case (DMBC).

The DMBC will be instrumental in gaining clinical commissioning group and NHS
England specialising commissioning support for the proposed relocation, which must
demonstrate that proposals for service change demonstrate evidence to meet four
tests before they can proceed. These tests include strong public and patient
engagement, patient choice, clinical evidence base and support from clinical
commissioners.

The Moorfields consultation programme received: 1,511 survey responses to the
consultation questions, 261 other forms of responses including emails, telephone and
social media; 29 formal responses; hundreds of comments from 99 open discussion
workshops, and other forms of meetings. Responses have been received from as far
as Devon and Dundee which indicates that the consultation approach has reached the
national patient/resident population.

In line with scrutiny regulations, the North Central London Joint Health Overview and
Scrutiny Committee is leading a joint scrutiny process for the consultation and
proposed move.

3. Case for change —the story so far

Clinical case for change

3.1

3.2.

3.3.

3.4.

Moorfields provides eye health services to more than 750,000 people each year. Its
main site at City Road in Islington has a 24-hour ophthalmic A&E and provides a range
of routine elective eye care for London residents and specialised services for patients
from all over the UK.

The current facilities at City Road date from the 1890s. There is very little space to
expand and develop new services; the lay-out of the buildings affects efficiency and
patient access, and the age of the estate creates difficulties for installing new
technologies.

The proposed centre would offer better care and significantly improve Moorfields’
ability to prevent eye disease, make early diagnoses and deliver effective new
treatments for more people for locally or in primary care, as well as in specialist
hospital clinics.

It would bring together excellent eye care with world-leading research, education and
training with the following benefits:

e Greater interaction between eye care, research and education — the closer
clinicians, researchers and trainees work, the faster they can find new treatments
and improve care

e More space to expand and develop new services and technology to improve care,
including at home or locally, without the need for a hospital visit

e A smoother hospital appointment process, particularly where there are several
different tests involved

e Shorter journeys between test areas and instantly shared results between
departments, reducing waiting times and improving communications between
patients and staff

Page 374



3.5

e Modern and comfortable surroundings that would provide easier access for
disabled people and space for information, counselling and support.

The independent London Clinical Senate has stated its support for the pre-consultation
business case and, in discussions with patients and public leading up to the
consultation, people were supportive of the proposed new centre, which would greatly
improve care and the patient experience.

Financial case for change

3.6.

3.7.

3.8.

3.9.

3.10.

3.11.

3.12.

Financial modelling for Moorfields undertaken at the time of developing the pre-
consultation business case (PCBC) demonstrated that the capital investment for the
proposal was affordable and the long-term financial position of the trust would remain
sustainable.

This was based on capital costs of £344m (which includes 19% of optimism bias as
well as normal planning and related contingencies), planned to be financed by a
combination of proceeds from the sale of the City Road site, STP capital funding,
philanthropy, and trust internal cash.

The commissioners considered the capital investment for this proposal to be affordable
on the basis of assumed annual activity growth of 3%, which is consistent with historic
growth levels at Moorfields based on the financial statements presented in the PCBC,
which showed the latest financial year (2018/19) plan and committed to updating the
baseline for the outline business case.

Additionally, projections for NHS income assume a capped income growth of 3%
following occupation of the new facility in 2025/26, which is consistent with the
commissioner assurance letters provided in support of the PCBC. Income growth up
until occupation is assumed at 2% falling to 1% from 2022/23 due to capacity
constraints at the City Road site.

Since approval of the PCBC, commissioners in partnership with Moorfields, appointed
an independent consultancy to provide analytical support to develop a detailed model
to show future demand, capacity and activity. This model also provides clarity on the
likely impact of known education, workforce and technological innovations that will
result in new models of care affecting the type and levels of service to be provided
within the Moorfields site with more granularity.

The scope of this work involves looking at trends in historic activity by clinical sub-
specialty and examining how new models of care could meet projected demand, both
in terms of service delivery changes planned by Moorfields, specialised commissioning
pathway changes and STP plans designed to shift activity from hospital to primary and
community settings. In addition, it looks at possible optimisation in workforce education
and technological advances.

The outputs of this updated demand, capacity and activity analysis informs the
financial and economic case and provide commissioners with further assurance about
the sustainability and affordability of the proposed relocation.

Commissioning of Moorfields services at City Road

3.13.

14 CCGs from London and Hertfordshire hold material (defined as >£2m per annum)
contracts with Moorfields for activity at City Road, accounting for 45% of all patient
activity in England. Services at Moorfields City Road are also commissioned by NHS
England Specialised Commissioning.

Page 375



3.14.

The spend by NHS England Specialised Commissioning for Kent residents and by
Kent CCGs on Kent patients that attended Moorfields Eye Hospital in 2017/18 (the
latest breakdown available) was:

, Kent CCGs’ NHSE Specialised NHSE Specialised
Kent CCGs : N . :
spend (£) patients Commissioning Commissioning patients
P (number) spend (£) (number)
£610,319 3,094 £358,426 864

4. The preferred way forward

4.1.

4.2.

4.3.

The main consultation document explains how Moorfields and its partners have
considered various options for developing a new centre, including rebuilding and
refurbishment at the City Road site.

For specialised services, London is the most accessible UK location for patients and
for recruiting and retaining specialists, technicians, researchers and students. There
are critical benefits from close links with other major specialist centres, research and
education facilities.

Of seven potential sites on the London property market that are close to public
transport hubs, the proposal for consultation puts forward the view that land available
at the current St Pancras Hospital site has greater potential benefits, including:

o Enough space for the size required and potential for future flexibility

e Proximity to two of the largest main line stations in London, King’'s Cross and St
Pancras, with Euston station also in the area

e Proximity to other major health and research centres, such as the Francis Crick
Institute, the main campus of UCL, and leading eye charities, such as Guide Dogs
and the Royal National Institute of Blind People (RNIB).

Accessibility

4.4,

4.5.

4.6.

4.7.

Insights from people have also raised potential challenges around the change to their
journey to the proposed new centre for people who have used Moorfields services for
many years.

Moorfields commissioned an independent travel analysis in September 2018 which
identified that for some patients travelling to the St Pancras Hospital site, rather than
the City Road site, travel times could increase on average by just over 3 minutes.

The analysis showed that overall a relatively small humber of patients would see
travel times increase by more than 20 minutes (less than 1.5%), with the maximum
increase being 25 minutes. Most of the increases are postcode areas that are to the
east of London, where access to the proposed new site could involve a longer route
for some people via bigger and more complicated rail and underground stations than
Old Street.

We recognise the need to engage widely with our patient community in respect of
patient access and wayfinding to and from the proposed site at St Pancras, and are
engaging with patients, carers, Transport for London, Network Rail, the Local
Borough of Camden and other stakeholders as we progress designs for the new site.

Page 376



https://oriel-london.org.uk/travel-times-documents/

4.8.

For more information on access and travel times to the proposed location at St
Pancras, please visit http://oriel-london.org.uk/public-consultation/travel-and-access/.

Consultation update —what we have learned so far

To ensure the findings of the consultation were interpreted and presented in an
objective way an independent third-party provider, Participate, was appointed to
manage the receipt of responses, analyse findings and produce an independent
report of the process and outcome of the consultation. The findings in the
consultation findings report from Participate can be found on the consultation website
https://oriel-london.org.uk/consultation-documents/ and summarised here.

Overview of consultation responses

5.2.

Between 24 May to 16 September 2019, the consultation programme received 1,511
survey responses to the consultation questions, of which 39 were from respondents
in Kent (2.5 per cent of the total number of responses received), as well as 261 other
forms of response including: emails, telephone, social media and formal responses.
Ninety-nine discussion groups were held and themes noted from those were also
recorded.

Who responded?

Figure 1: Respondents to the Moorfields consultation survey (all respondents)

5.3.

5.4.
5.5.

7%

8%

62%

= Current or former patients/service users = Carers or family members
Members of the public Moorfields/UCLH staff

= Other

The survey responses represent a high number of current or former service users at
62% (935). Additionally, a wide range of teams, groups and organisations responded;
many of which were health-related, had close links with Moorfields, or were charities
related to eyecare.

What do they think of the proposals?

Overall there was strong support for a new centre for Moorfields Eye Hospital, with
73% (1,098) of survey respondents agreeing with the statement. Eight per cent say
they don’t think a new centre is needed (Figure 2).

Page 377


http://oriel-london.org.uk/public-consultation/travel-and-access/
https://oriel-london.org.uk/consultation-documents/

Figure 2: Q4 — please select one of the following statements that most closely matches your view

0% 20% 40% 60% 80%
I
a. | think a new centre is = NEL
needed. mNCL
NWL
b. I don't think a new centre is

needed. m SEL
c. | don't have a view on SWL

whether a new centre is mOL

needed.

NA

Not answered Total

e The minority of responses not in favour of the move are concerned with losing a
historic building, loss of NHS assets and moving away from a facility and route with
which they are familiar

e Some concerns were also voiced about the new site relating to:

o The last half mile of the journey as public transport stops short of the site
entrance

o Accessibility, both in terms of travelling to the new hospital site, and in terms
of navigating around it

o A busy and heavily congested area meaning it could present difficulties for
visually impaired, elderly and disabled patients

e Staff and patients expressed an interest to be kept informed of the development of
the project and to have a voice in the design of the new hospital

e Stakeholders are generally positive about the move to the St Pancras site with
organisations such as Royal National Institute of Blind People (RNIB) keen to be
involved in the project

e 73% agree or strongly agree that it should be at the St Pancras Hospital Site with
10% stating they disagree or disagree strongly.

Page 378



Figure 3: Extent to which respondents agree/disagree with the proposal that the new centre
should be located at the St Pancras Hospital site (all respondents)

Agree strongly

Agree

Meither agree nor disagree

Disagree

Disagree strongly

Mot answered

e Additionally, 81% of staff respondents strongly agreed or agreed with the proposed
location, with just 7% strongly disagreeing/disagreeing that the centre should move to
St Pancras

o We received feedback on alternative locations. These were considered as part of the
options review process

e Stakeholders also provided an extensive list of suggestions relating to the
implementation of the new hospital

e Some stakeholders expressed a desire for ophthalmology services to be delivered
locally where possible, and were keen to seek reassurance around the future of
Moorfield’s network sites

e The relationship between the Oriel programme and Transport for London and
Camden Council were highlighted as key to the success of the project, especially
around integrated transport and planning permission.

Page 379



5.6 Key highlights for Kent

Out of a total 1,511 survey responses received, 39 of those were from Kent residents.

Figure 4: Kent residents who use Moorfields’ service at City Road

0%

= Yes
= No

= Prefer not to say

5.7 Nearly nine in 10 of those who responded (87%) think a new centre is needed, with six
per cent saying they disagreed, and only three per cent saying they did not have a
view whether a new centre is needed.

Figure 5: Kent residents who think a new centre is/is not needed

10%

= | think a new centre is
needed

= | don't think a new centre is
needed

= | don’t have a view on
whether a new centre is
needed

87%

Page 380



5.8 And 87% strongly agree, or agree, with the proposal to locate the new centre at the St
Pancras Hospital site, with only three per cent disagreeing or strongly disagreeing.

Figure 6: Kent respondents who agree/disagree with the proposal to locate the new centre at
the St Pancras Hospital site

5.9

6.2.

6.3.

09%8%

23%

m Agree strongly

= Agree

= Neither agree nor disagree
Disagree

= Disagree Strongly

Patients, staff and residents were contacted and engaged through various focus
group meetings and discussions, including a discussion on the proposal as part of a
wider clinical governance day for Moorfields staff at Darent Valley.

How we have engaged with people

Our approach has been an emphasis on
active participation, as well as seeking
written responses to the proposals. The
programme of consultation activities
included open discussion workshops,
discussions with key groups and meetings
on request.

We understand from listening to people
that they are apprehensive about how any
change would be managed with minimal
disruption, smooth transition and continuity
of service. To make sure that we address
these concerns we have considered how
issues of equality affect service users in
the proposed changes.

The Equalities Act 2010 places duties on
health and care organisations to reduce
health inequalities and ensure that service
design and communications should be
appropriate and accessible to meet the
needs of diverse communities.

Our consultation

a di
lgl 2 irr?te“r)views

99

events and
meetings

1,511

completed
surveys

direct letters
o patlents

articles in
newspapers

uuuuuuuuu 8 0 ﬁ
In one week } Fhone &
questions calls
we reached
Grie
33,000 8l ="
’ Hondwritten | —
responses
peaple on
social media 4 6
Sacial media
: : : comments
Ernails

Page 381



6.4.

6.5.

6.6.

6.7.

6.8.

To ensure that the NHS has paid ‘due regard’ to the matters covered by Public Sector
Equality Duty, we have undertaken an integrated health inequality and equality impact
assessment (HIEIA) process which is designed to ensure that a project, policy or
scheme does not discriminate against any disadvantaged or vulnerable people or
groups.

We have worked with organisations that led us to people with a range of protected
characteristics, so that we captured their views on the proposal itself and any potential
impact on equality. There were over 40 meetings and conversations with people with
protected characteristics and rare conditions. They included networks of children and
young people, older people, people with learning disabilities, mental health problems,
physical disabilities, multiple disabilities and sensory impairment. We also met people
from LGBTQ+ and BAME groups, including people with these characteristics and who
have sight loss.

Assessment of the impact of the proposals on these groups, as well as its ability to
reduce inequalities between patients, has been undertaken in two phases. Both have
been led by independent organisations and represent an objective assessment of the
likely impact of the proposals.

We have also engaged with partners in London, Essex, Hertfordshire and Kent, as well
as further afield; providing briefings to overview and scrutiny committees and
Healthwatch.

And we have heard from residents in north, south, east and west London, Essex,
Hertfordshire, Bedfordshire, Suffolk and Norfolk. Over a quarter of survey responses
have come from people who live outside London.

Main feedback from engagement

6.9.

6.10.

6.11.

6.12.

The main themes of feedback during this engagement have not changed during the
consultation, and remain as follows:

Clinical quality

The issue most highlighted as “very important” by people is high quality clinical
expertise. Overall, it was stated that clinical quality is more important than any travel
issue, which could be overcome.

Transport to and from the proposed St Pancras site

There were several aspects listed that were key concerns for people in regard to
travel and transport to and from the St Pancras site. The main themes included:

e Travelling the last half mile

e Engaging with Transport for London

e Help with travel

¢ Difficulties posed by King’s Cross being a busy area.

Accessibility to the proposed site

A number of suggestions and solutions were listed to help with accessibility to the
proposed new centre. For example, having a green line and tactile flooring, moving
bus stops, operating a meet and greet facility, installing better signage.

10
Page 382



6.13.

6.14.

6.15.

Accessibility around the proposed site
Improved accessibility around any potential new centre was identified as important. It
was considered crucial that staff, service users, carers and representatives from

supporting groups and charities are involved in the design and development of the
proposed centre to ensure it meets a wide range of needs.

Patient experience
Improving patient experience through:

e Good communication
o Better patient facilities for treating service users and allowing for improved
privacy.

There were comments on the benefits and drawbacks of gender specific wards,
toilets and non-gender specific areas.

Transition to the proposed new centre

Managing the transition to the proposed new centre included communicating
progress updates using a multi-channel communication approach. Some groups
expressed the need to include people with disabilities and other protected
characteristics in the design of the new centre. It was felt that no-one knows better
about what is accessible and what doesn’t work than the users themselves. The
breadth of involvement during the consultation was commended.

How we are responding to what people say

Since the consultation was launched in May 2019, we have been seeking responses
from a wide range of people from across the country, using both online and face-to-
face channels.

Co-production workstreams

7.2.

7.3.

7.4.

Given the repeating pattern of feedback, which has continued since January 2019, a
clear and consistent view is emerging about how the proposal could affect people.

To respond to this, we set up six co-production workstreams to help coordinate and
translate consultation feedback into proposed elements of programme delivery. These
six workstreams are as follows:

e Accessibility — getting to the proposed site

e Accessibility — getting around the proposed new centre
e Improving the patient experience

e Managing transition

e Innovation and research

o Options refresh — a task and finish group of patient and public representatives is
already involved in the options refresh.

These co-production workshops, whose membership includes representatives from the
Oriel Advisory Group (patient group), patients and residents, as well as experts from
RNIB, Transport for London, and other interested parties, began in July and continued
through into October and beyond.

11
Page 383



Integrated health inequalities and equality impact assessment

7.5. As part of the consultation process, we have commissioned a full integrated health
inequalities and equality impact assessment.

7.6. An integrated impact assessment
supports  decision-making by
evaluating the impact of a
proposal, informing public debate
and supporting decision makers to Equality
meet their Public Equality Sector Impact Health Impact
Duty. Assessment 0 sl

7.7. The assessment uses techniques ‘ " o

R Integrated
such as evidenced based Health &
research, engagement and impact Inequalities
analysis to understand the impact il
of change on the population, the
impact on groups with protective
characteristics and the impact on accessibility and quality of services.

7.8. The aim of the report is to understand and assess the consequences of change whilst
maximising positive impacts and minimising negative implications of the proposed
change.

Phase 1 ‘ Phase 2 Phase 3
A desktop review of “best| A  revised and final

A rapid scoping report to | practice evidence” to identify | Integrated Health and

identify potentially impacted | and develop relevant health | Inequalities Impact

groups to inform pre- | outcomes and understand | Assessment published to
engagement activities priorities and challenges for | reflect the results of the
key groups. public consultation

7.9. Phase 3 of the integrated impact assessment is now complete and published on

https://oriel-london.org.uk/consultation-documents/

Accessibility workshops

7.10.

7.11.

The first co-production workshop took place on 31 July. The group, was attended by
people with sight loss, carers and members of the Royal National Institute for the Blind
(RNIB), Guide Dogs, South East Vision, London Vision, Organisation for Blind African
and Caribbean’s, Thurrock CCG, Herts Vision and Beyond Sight Loss as well as
building designers AECOM. The group discussed the current routes to the proposed
new site, as well as some of the new technologies that could be used to support
people on their journey.

Further accessibility workshops have taken place in September and October designed
to build on these initial discussions.

12
Page 384


https://oriel-london.org.uk/consultation-documents/

Intensive engagement periods

7.12.

7.13.

7.14.

As a result of this earlier engagement, we have undertaken an intensive two-week
engagement period at Moorfields City Road site, with ‘talk to me’ volunteers, tasked
with one clear mission — to get visitors and staff talking about Oriel and the proposal.
A special Oriel information hub in the centre of the City Road site was set up, staffed
by the Oriel team with clinicians on hand to answer questions about the proposed
relocation and how it may affect patients was held. This was combined with increased
social media and media outreach work, as well as a mailing to stakeholders via the
Oriel mailing list and OAG as a final push for views and responses.

The inclusion of a letter about the proposal in all appointment letters continues to
generate a steady number of emails and phone calls to the consultation team from
people keen to provide their views.

This resulted in an impressive level of engagement despite the summer break. In just
one week, the number of survey responses rose significantly with 156 surveys
completed, plus an additional 100 conversations about Oriel had by colleagues with
patients, carers and staff throughout the week.

Stakeholder communications update

7.15.

7.16.

7.17.

7.18.

8.

In August, we issued a strategic update email to stakeholders across England, which
covered the main themes from consultation so far together with a summary of the
proposal. It also explained how we are engaging with people and gave information on
the co-production workstreams.

All STP and CCG leads were asked to forward it to their local authority/ OSC and
other local stakeholders, such as Healthwatch and other voluntary organisations to
provide an update on progress and reminding them of the end-date of the
consultation in writing, to ensure they responded within the timescales.

The 14 CCG communication and engagement leads were asked to arrange for an
agenda item on their patient and public reference groups and other representative
groups.

On 23 October, we published on our website, and issued an email to stakeholders
across England inviting them to share views on the findings in the draft Consultation
Findings Report, in particular highlighting anything that has not been captured in this
initial draft. Comments were received and incorporated into the consultation findings
report which can be found at https://oriel-london.org.uk/consultation-documents/

Assurance and scrutiny

Quality assurance

8.1.

8.2.

8.3.

The Consultation Institute (tCl) is a well-established not-for-profit best practice
institute, which promotes high-quality public and stakeholder consultation. It provides
an independent quality assurance service for consultations and was commissioned by
the consultation programme board to review documentation, plans and processes prior
to consultation, ensuring best practice standards are observed.

In July 2019, the tCI's quality assistance team undertook a mid-term review, which
confirmed the programme’s compliance with best practice standards at that stage.

Preparations for the review and the main meeting with the tCl involved members of the
consultation team from Moorfields, Camden and Islington CCGs and NHS England

13
Page 385


https://oriel-london.org.uk/consultation-documents/

8.4.

Specialised Commissioning. It was an opportunity to consider our reach, adapt our
approach and respond to feedback.

The tCl assessor commended our plan to develop the initial proposal for consultation
through the co-production workstreams.

The Secretary of State’s four tests

8.5.

8.6.

9.2.

9.3.

9.4.

9.5.

9.6.

The 2014/15 mandate from the Secretary of State to NHS England outlined that any
proposed service changes by NHS organisations should be able to demonstrate
evidence to meet four tests before they can proceed.

e Strong public and patient engagement
e Patient choice

¢ Clinical evidence base

e Support from clinical commissioners.

NHS England’s bed closures test: In April 2017, NHS England introduced a new test to
evaluate the impact of any proposal that includes a significant number of bed closures.
(Detail at Appendix A).

Post-consultation steps and decision-making process

The consultation closed on 16 September 2019 following an extensive 16 week
consultation period to offset any negative impact of running a consultation during the
month of August. Responses received have been independently analysed and a draft
consultation outcome report developed.

This draft report was published on 23 October 2019 and shared widely as we sought
feedback on the findings and any recommendations.The final consultation report was
published on 13 January 2020.

Following this, representatives from the Consultation Programme Board, CCG
Governing Body members and NHS England Specialised Commissioning will consider
the report in the context of the Decision Making Business Case, as well as other
influencing factors, such as the Secretary of four tests and the recommendations of the
London Clinical Senate.

These will then be summarised in the Decision-Making Business Case to assist CCGs,
through the Committee in Common to be held on 12 February 2020, in their decision-
making on the proposals. Specialised commissioners will follow NHS England’s
governance processes in their decision-making.

The outcomes of the consultation will also be presented to North Central London Joint
Health Oversight and Scrutiny Committee on 31 January 2020.

Subject to approval of the Decision-Making Business Case, Moorfields would then
proceed to develop its Outline Business Case. Feedback provided during the
consultation process will be used to inform the Trust’s proposals in the business case
and next steps. Should the Outline Business Case and Full Business Case receive
approval from NHS England/Improvement, Moorfields will go on to implement the
proposal, taking into consideration themes from the consultation and
recommendations from commissioners.

14
Page 386



9.7. NHS England/Improvement requires Moorfields to submit a Strategic Outline Case,
Outline Business Case and Full Business Case for approval for their capital investment
proposals.

10. Timeline

September 2019 Consultation closed

October 2019 Draft consultation outcome report published for feedback
to make sure the summary is an accurate reflection of
views
https://oriel-london.org.uk/consultation-documents

13 January 2020 Published:

¢ Proposed Move of Moorfields Eye Hospital's
City Road Services Consultation Findings
Report 24 May — 16 September 2019

e Report on consultation with people with
protected characteristics and rare conditions

¢ Integrated Health Inequalities and Equality
Impact Assessment (lIA)

These reports are published on https://oriel-
london.org.uk/consultation-documents/

31 January 2020 Presentation of the outcome of the consultation to the NCL
JHOSC

12 February 2020 Decision-making by the 14 CCGs Governing Bodies
Committees in Common

February Announcement of decision.

15
Page 387


https://oriel-london.org.uk/consultation-documents/
https://oriel-london.org.uk/consultation-documents/
https://oriel-london.org.uk/consultation-documents/

Appendix A

The Secretary of State’s four tests

The 2014/15 mandate from the Secretary of State to NHS England outlined that any
proposed service changes by NHS organisations should be able to demonstrate evidence to
meet four tests before they can proceed.

e Strong public and patient engagement: Robust and strategic stakeholder engagement
has been undertaken since 2013. Strengthening patient engagement for the project has
been a priority in 2018/19, hearing from more than 1,000 people, including people of
varying ages, interests and backgrounds; people living with mental health problems,
learning disabilities, physical disabilities and sensory impairment; and included
professionals such as optometrists, social care staff and sight care experts from the
voluntary sector.

e Patient choice: Access to the current care pathways would remain the same, with the
existing full range of services continuing to be delivered from a new site, including the
transfer of emergency surgery and ophthalmic A&E care. Based on the current proposals
to relocate the hospital from City Road to the St Pancras hospital site, there would be no
change to district hubs, local surgical centres and community-based outpatient clinics.
Patient choice would be improved from a quality perspective as the proposed
streamlined, modern and fit-for-purpose estate footprint would allow a more efficient
patient journey time through the hospital and provide a higher quality experience for
patients.

o Clinical evidence base: The proposal gives the opportunity for integration between
cutting-edge clinical care and cutting-edge research. This would have a huge impact on
the quality of clinical care with patients having more access to the research from UCL.
This will be central to the design of the proposed new hospital, providing a platform to
create more efficient clinical journeys and continue to deliver innovative care currently
hampered by the ageing estate. The London Clinical Senate has reviewed these
proposals and confirmed that the proposal has a clear clinical evidence base for the
proposed move from Moorfields’ City Road site to a new, purpose-built integrated facility
at the St Pancras hospital site.

e Support from clinical commissioners: Moorfields’ services are commissioned by 109
CCGs across the country and NHS England Specialised Commissioning. Some 14 CCG
commissioners hold significant contracts. NHS Islington CCG and NHS Camden CCG
have been significantly involved in the process to consult on the proposal to transfer
services to the St Pancras hospital site. NHS England specialised commissioners are the
single largest commissioner of services at the trust.

NHS England’s bed closures test: In April 2017, NHS England introduced a new test to
evaluate the impact of any proposal that includes a significant number of bed closures.
There are no plans to reduce beds, therefore this test does not apply.

ENDS

16
Page 388



Agenda Item 11
Item 11: Work Programme 2020

By: Kay Goldsmith, Scrutiny Research Officer
To: Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee, 29 January 2020

Subject: Work Programme 2020

Summary: This report gives details of the proposed work programme for the Health
Overview and Scrutiny Committee (HOSC).

1. Introduction

a. The proposed Work Programme has been compiled from actions arising from
previous meetings and from topics identified by Committee Members and the
NHS.

b. The HOSC is responsible for setting its own work programme, giving due

regard to the requests of commissioners and providers of health services to
bring an item to the HOSC’s attention, as well as taking into account the
referral of issues by Healthwatch and other third parties.

C. The HOSC will not consider individual complaints relating to health services.
All individual complaints about a service provided by the NHS should be
directed to the NHS body concerned.

d. The HOSC is requested to consider and note the items within the proposed
Work Programme and to suggest any additional topics to be considered for
inclusion on the agenda of future meetings.

2. Recommendation

The Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee is asked to consider and note the
report.

Background Documents

None

Contact Details

Kay Goldsmith

Scrutiny Research Officer
kay.goldsmith@kent.gov.uk
03000 416512

Page 389


mailto:kay.goldsmith@kent.gov.uk

This page is intentionally left blank



T6€ abed

Work Programme - Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee

1. Items scheduled for upcoming meetings

5 March 2020

Item Item background Substantial
Variation?

South East Coast Ambulance Service update To receive a general update, including an update on the -
procurement of the new 111 CAS service

East Kent Hospitals University NHS Foundation To receive a general update on the performance of the Trust -

Trust - CQC Inspection of Children's and Young

People's Hospital Services / general update

Children & Young People's Emotional Wellbeing | To receive an update on the CCG contract with NELFT -

& Mental Health Service

East Kent Orthopaedic services To receive a general update on the provision of services -

Kent and Medway STP — Publication of the For information, following publication of the strategy -

Primary Care strategy

The Maidstone and Tunbridge Wells Stroke To receive an update following the closure of the Tunbridge -

Service Wells stroke unit

Review of Frank Lloyd Unit, Sittingbourne To receive an update on the proposed closure of the mental Yes
health unit

Transforming Health and Care in East Kent To receive an update on the East Kent Transformation Yes *




Z6¢ abed

29 April 2020

ltem

Item background

Substantial
Variation?

Medway NHS Foundation Trust - performance
update

To receive a general update on the performance of the Trust

East Kent CCGs Financial Recovery Plan

To receive an update on the financial position of the East Kent
CCGs

* Formal scrutiny lies with the Kent & Medway JHOSC, but Kent HOSC Members will continue to receive updates for their

information

2. Items yet to be scheduled

Item Item Background Substantial
Variation?
Urgent Care provision in Swale To receive greater clarity around the plans for Urgent Care To be
provision in Swale determined
Pathology Services The changes were not deemed to be substantial, but Members | No

wanted to receive updates on the move toward a single service

Kent and Medway NHS and Social Care
Partnership Trust (KMPT)

Members requested an update at the “appropriate time” during
their meeting on 1 March 2019

Publication on the local Workforce Strategy

To discuss the Strategy once published




£6¢ abed

3. Items that have been declared a substantial variation of service and are under consideration by a joint committee

Kent and Medway Joint Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee

NEXT MEETING: 6 FEBRUARY 2020

Item Item Background Substantial
Variation?

Transforming Health and Care in East Kent Re-configuration of acute services in the East Kent area Yes

Assistive Reproductive Technologies Consideration of proposed changes to fertility services Yes

Specialist vascular services A new service for East Kent and Medway residents Yes

Changes to mental health provision (St. Martin’s | KMPT’s plans for the St Martin’s (west) former hospital site, Yes

Hospital) under their Clinical Care Pathways Programme

Bexley and Kent Urgent Care Review Joint Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee

NEXT MEETING: 29 JANUARY 2020

Item Item Background Substantial
Variation?

Urgent Care provision in Dartford, Gravesham Plans for Urgent Care provision in the Dartford, Gravesham and | Yes

and Swanley

Swanley area




This page is intentionally left blank



	Agenda
	3 Minutes from the meeting held on 16 December 2019
	4 NHS North Kent CCGs - Urgent Care Review Programme - Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley CCG
	Kent HOSC Urgent Care Update - DMBC and Governing Body Decision 20.01.20
	Final Urgent Care Decision Making Business Case 13.01.20
	APPENDIX A - Supplementary analysis vCOMPLETE
	APPENDIX A - Urgent Care Consultation - Independent Analysis - Verve Communications vCOMPLETEv02
	APPENDIX B - Urgent and Emergency Care Redesign - Refreshed Equality Impact Assessment.11.11.19. v2
	APPENDIX C- Independent Evaluation Report-Verve Communications vFINAL v01
	APPENDIX D - Summary of financial and activity modelling - Current Services
	APPENDIX E - Summary of financial and activity modelling - NMoC over two sites
	APPENDIX F - Summary of financial and activity modelling - UTC at Gravesham Community Hospital
	APPENDIX G - Summary of financial and activity modelling - UTC at Darent Valley Hospital

	5 Wheelchair Services in Kent
	Appendix A - Briefing from Thanet CCG
	Appendix B - Briefing from Millbrook Healthcare
	200129 HOSC Wheelchair Service Report Fv1
	Healthwatch Kent Impact Report - Wheelchair services

	6 Procurement of Kent and Medway Neurodevelopmental Health Service for Adults
	200129 HOSC ND December 2019 final version
	Appendix - Service Specification

	7 Strategic Commissioner Update
	System_Commissioner_Update_to_HOSC__January_2020
	HOSC - Appendix 1 - Merger Application incl Summary Case for Change
	HOSC - Appendix 2 - You said we did report - FINAL
	Focus on Commissioning Report Healthwatch

	8 CCG Annual Assessment (Written Update)
	200129 CCG Annual assessment 2019 (2)

	9 General Surgery reconfiguration at Maidstone and Tunbridge Wells NHS Trust
	20200114 Surgery Reorganisation -  Case for Change - HOSC briefng vf
	20200114 HOSC Patient Stories v1.0

	10 Proposed changes at Moorfields Eye Hospital (written update)
	200116_Kent HOSC Report

	11 Work Programme
	Work Programme - 16 December 2020


